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These Listing Particulars (the "Listing Particulars") comprise listing particulars in compliance with 
the listing rules made under Section 73A of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the 
"FSMA") by the UK Listing Authority (the "UKLA") for the purpose of giving information with 
regard to Vostok Energy Public Limited Company (the "Issuer"), the Issuer and its subsidiaries taken 
as a whole (the "Group") and the US$1,250,000 conditional convertible bonds due 2013 (the "Bonds")
(to be consolidated and form a single series with the US$50,000,000 conditional convertible bonds due 
2013 issued on 13 October 2010). Applications have been made for the Bonds to be admitted to the 
Official List of the UKLA and to be admitted to trading on the Professional Securities Market (the 
"PSM") of the London Stock Exchange plc (the "LSE"). References in these Listing Particulars to the 
Bonds being "listed" (and all related references) shall mean that the Bonds have been admitted to the 
Official List and have been admitted to trading on the PSM. The PSM is not regulated for the purposes 
of Directive 2004/39/EC (the "Markets in Financial Instruments Directive"). 

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in these Listing Particulars. To the best 
of the knowledge and belief of the Issuer (which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the 
case) the information contained in these Listing Particulars is in accordance with the facts and does not 
omit anything likely to affect the import of such information. 

These Listing Particulars do not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer to 
subscribe or purchase, any of the Bonds or the ordinary shares of the Issuer (the "Ordinary Shares"). 
The distribution of these Listing Particulars and the offering of the Bonds or the Ordinary Shares in 
certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession these Listing Particulars 
come are required by the Issuer to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. For a 
description of certain further restrictions on offers and sales of Bonds or the Ordinary Shares and on 
distribution of these Listing Particulars, see "Subscription and Sale". 

No person is authorised in connection with the Bonds to give any information or to make any 
representation not contained in these Listing Particulars and any information or representation not so 
contained must not be relied upon as having been authorised by or on behalf of the Issuer or Capita 
Trust Company Limited (the "Trustee").  Neither the delivery of these Listing Particulars nor any sale 
made in connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been 
no change in the affairs of the Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon which these Listing 
Particulars have been most recently amended or supplemented or that there has been no adverse change 
in the financial position of the Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon which these Listing 
Particulars have been most recently amended or supplemented or that the information contained in it or 
any other information supplied in connection with the Bonds is correct as of any time subsequent to the 
date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

The Bonds and the Ordinary Shares to be issued upon conversion of the Bonds have not been and will 
not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, (the "Securities Act"). 
The Bonds and the Ordinary Shares to be issued upon conversion of the Bonds may not be offered, sold 
or delivered within the United States (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act ("Regulation 
S")) except in certain transactions permitted by the Securities Act. For a more complete description of 
restrictions on offers and sales, see "Subscription and Sale". 

The Bonds are represented by a global bond in bearer form (the "Global Bond"), which was deposited 
with a common depositary (the "Common Depositary") on behalf of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. 
("Euroclear") or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme ("Clearstream, Luxembourg") or any other 
clearing system approved by the Trustee (the "Alternative Clearing System") on 13 January 2012. 
The Global Bond is exchangeable for definitive Bonds in bearer form in the denomination of US$1.00, 
only in certain limited circumstances set out in the Global Bond, all as further described in "Summary 
of Provisions Relating to the Bonds while in Global Form".

The Issuer is not providing any advice or recommendation in these Listing Particulars on the merits of 
the purchase, subscription for, or investment in, the Bonds or the Ordinary Shares or the exercise of 
any rights conferred by the Bonds or the Ordinary Shares.

The Bonds are securities which, because of their nature, are normally bought and traded by a limited 
number of investors who are particularly knowledgeable in investment matters. These Listing 
Particulars have been prepared on the basis that any purchaser of Bonds is a person or entity having 
sufficient knowledge and experience of financial matters as to be capable of evaluating the merits and 
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risks of the purchase. Before making any investment decision with respect to the Bonds, prospective 
investors should consult their own counsel, accountants or other advisers and carefully review and 
consider their investment decision in the light of the foregoing. An investment in the Bonds is only 
suitable for financially sophisticated investors who are capable of evaluating the merits and risks of 
such an investment and who have sufficient resources to be able to bear any losses which may result 
therefrom. Prospective investors should have regard to the factors described under the section entitled 
"Risk Factors".

These Listing Particulars are not intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and 
should not be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer that any recipient of these Listing 
Particulars should purchase the Bonds. Each potential purchaser of Bonds should determine for itself 
the relevance of the information set out in these Listing Particulars and its purchase of Bonds should be 
based upon such investigations as it deems necessary.

The Trustee may rely without liability to Bondholders or Couponholders on a report, confirmation or 
certificate of any financial advisers or investment bank, whether or not addressed to it and whether 
their liability in relation thereto is limited (by its terms or by any engagement letter relating thereto 
entered into by the Trustee or in any other manner) by reference to a monetary cap, methodology or 
otherwise. The Trustee shall be obliged to accept and entitled to rely on any such report, confirmation 
or certificate where the Issuer procures delivery of the same pursuant to its obligation to do so under 
the Terms and Conditions and such report, confirmation or certificate shall be binding on the Issuer, the 
Trustee, the Bondholders and the Couponholders (as defined herein) in the absence of manifest or 
proven error. 

Each potential investor in the Bonds must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own 
circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

(a) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Bonds, the 
merits and risk of investing in the Bonds and the information contained or incorporated by 
reference in this document;

(b) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its 
particular financial situation, an investment in the Bonds and the impact such investment will 
have on its overall investment portfolio;

(c) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the 
Bonds;

(d) understand thoroughly the terms of the Bonds and be familiar with the behaviour of the 
financial markets in which they participate; and

(e) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for 
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear 
the applicable risks.

The Bonds are complex financial instruments and such instruments may be purchased as a way to 
enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to an investor's overall 
portfolio. A potential investor should not invest in the Bonds unless it has the expertise (either alone or 
with the help of a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Bonds will perform under changing conditions, 
the resulting effects on the value of such Bonds and the impact this investment will have on the 
potential investor's overall investment portfolio.

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or 
review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to 
determine whether and to what extent (a) the Bonds are legal investments for it; (b) the Bonds can be 
used as collateral by it for various types of borrowing; and (c) other restrictions apply to its purchase or 
pledge of any Bonds. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate 
regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of the Bonds under any applicable risk-based capital 
or similar rules.

All references in these Listing Particulars to "US dollars" and "US$" are to the lawful currency of the 
United States, all references to "euro", "Euro" and "€" are to the lawful currency introduced on 1 
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January 1999 at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the 
Treaty establishing the European Communities, as amended from time to time. All references in these 
Listing Particulars to "Russian Rubles", "Rubles", "RR" or "RUB" are to the lawful currency of the 
Russian Federation and all references to "sterling", "pounds sterling", "pounds", "£", "p" or "pence" 
are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom. The Group prepares its consolidated financial 
information in US dollars.
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PRESENTATION OF INFORMATION

Information regarding forward-looking statements

These Listing Particulars include forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements 
involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond the Issuer's control and 
all of which are based on the current beliefs and expectations of the Issuer about future events. 
Forward-looking statements are sometimes identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such 
as "believe", "expects", "may", "will", "could", "should", "shall", "risk", "intends", "estimates", "aims", 
"plans", "predicts", "continues", "assumes", "positioned" or "anticipates" or the negative thereof, other 
variations thereon or comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements include all matters 
that are not historical facts. They appear in a number of places throughout these Listing Particulars and 
include statements regarding the intentions, beliefs and current expectations of the Issuer concerning, 
among other things, the results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, 
strategies and dividend policy of the Issuer and the industry in which it operates. 

These forward-looking statements and other statements contained in these Listing Particulars regarding 
matters that are not historical facts involve predictions. No assurance can be given that such future 
results will be achieved: actual events or results may differ materially as a result of risks and 
uncertainties facing the Issuer. Such risks and uncertainties could cause actual results to vary 
materially from the future results indicated, expressed or implied in such forward looking statements. 
Please refer to the section entitled "Risk Factors" for further confirmation in this regard. 

The forward-looking statements contained in these Listing Particulars speak only as of the date of these 
Listing Particulars.  The Issuer expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to update these 
forward-looking statements contained in the document to reflect any change in their expectations or 
any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which such statements are based unless required 
to do so by applicable laws and regulations. 

Market data

Market data used in these Listing Particulars has been extracted from official and industry sources and 
other sources the Issuer believes to be reliable including, without limitation, in the parts headed 
"Presentation of Information", "Risk Factors" and "Vostok Energy Public Limited Company". Such 
information, data and statistics may be approximations or estimates or use rounded numbers. The 
Issuer confirms that this information has been accurately reproduced and that as far as the Issuer is 
aware, and is able to ascertain from information published by these third parties, no facts have been 
omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

The following have been cited: Standard & Poor’s ("Standard & Poor's") RatingsDirect® on the
Global Credit Portal: 'Country Risks Cloud Future Prospects for Russian Corporates' published in 
March 2004, the World Bank Commodity Price Data and the Russian Federal Tariff Service ("FTS"). 
The Issuer confirms that this information has been accurately reproduced and that as far as the Issuer is 
aware and is able to ascertain from information published by these third parties, no facts have been 
omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

Presentation of reserves and resources information

These Listing Particulars present information concerning reserves on the basis of the Society of 
Petroleum Engineers Standards (the "SPE Standards"). These standards differ in certain material 
respects from the US Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") standards. Except where 
otherwise indicated, all reserves and resources information in these Listing Particulars is presented on 
the basis of the SPE Standards.

The information on reserves and resources in these Listing Particulars is based on economic 
assumptions that may prove to be incorrect. The Russian economy is more unstable and subject to more 
significant and sudden changes than the economies of many other countries and, therefore, economic 
assumptions in Russia are subject to a high degree of uncertainty.
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Definitions and glossary

Certain terms used in these Listing Particulars, including certain technical and other terms, are defined 
and explained in the "Glossary of Technical Terms".
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RISK FACTORS

Prospective investors should consider carefully the risks set forth below and the other information 
contained in these Listing Particulars prior to making any investment decision with respect to the 
Bonds.  Each of the risks highlighted below could have a material adverse effect on the business, 
operations, financial condition or prospects of the Issuer which, in turn, could affect its ability to fulfil 
its obligations under the Bonds.  In addition, each of the risks highlighted below could adversely affect 
the trading price of the Bonds or the Ordinary Shares or the rights of investors under the Bonds or the 
Ordinary Shares and, as a result, investors could lose some or all of their investment.

Prospective investors should note that the risks described below are not the only risks the Issuer faces.  
The Issuer has only described those risks to its operations that it considers to be material.  There may 
be additional risks that the Issuer currently considers not to be material or of which it is not currently 
aware, and any of these risks could have the effects set forth above.

Prospective investors should read the entire Listing Particulars.  Words and expressions defined in the 
Conditions below or elsewhere in these Listing Particulars have the same meanings in this section.

Investing in the Bonds involves certain risks.  Prospective investors should consider, among other 
things, the following:

Risks Relating to the Group's Business and Industry

The Group has a limited history of processing and selling gas

The Group is an established mineral extraction company which has been operating wells and producing 
oil since 2006 under a licence (the "Bortovoy Licence") held by the Group's Russian operating 
subsidiary, Diall Alliance LLC (a company incorporated in the Russian Federation with registered 
number 1026400818168) ("Diall"). As the production of oil and the flaring of the associated gas 
proved to be commercially and environmentally unattractive, the decision was taken to concentrate on 
the production and commercialisation of the gas found on the Bortovoy Licence area. The Group 
therefore suspended commercial production of gas and oil between September 2008 and November 
2010 while constructing a 17.6 bcfa (0.5 bcma) gas processing plant at Karpenskoye (the "Western 
Plant") in the western part of the Bortovoy Licence area comprising four gas fields, Karpenskoye, 
Zhdanovskoye, Krasnokutskoye and Mokrousovskoye (the "Western Fields").  Following an initial 
period of trial production and sales, the Western Plant has been operating commercially since January 
2011. The Group's prospects must be considered in light of the risks, expenses and difficulties 
frequently encountered by companies in the early stages of gas production, as are set out in this section 
"Risks Relating to the Group's Business and Industry". If the Group is unable to address or manage 
such risks, expenses or difficulties, this could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, 
prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group's success depends on its ability to locate, explore, appraise and develop gas and oil 
reserves and to commercially produce these reserves

The Group's long-term commercial success depends on its ability to explore, appraise, develop and 
commercially produce gas and oil reserves. If the Group is unsuccessful in locating and developing or 
acquiring new reserves to replace its existing reserves, its reserves (and hence production) will decline 
over time as its current reserves are depleted by production. Future increases in the Group's reserves 
will depend mainly on its ability to explore, appraise and develop its existing asset base.

Based on the results of an extensive seismic programme acquired by the Group, the results of 
exploration wells drilled to date and geological comparisons with known productive fields in the 
region, the Group believes that the fields in the Bortovoy Licence area have strong geological 
similarities with large fields in Kazakhstan. The Group's development strategy in the eastern part of the 
Bortovoy Licence area, which comprises six gas fields, Pavlovskoye, Kochkurovskoye, Timoninskaya, 
Lipovskoye, West Lipovskoye and Peschanaya (the "Eastern Fields") will involve exploration and 
appraisal drilling of the Permian geological horizons, with the aim of supplying gas to a gas processing 
plant that the Issuer intends to construct on the Eastern Fields with an initial production level of 17.6 
bcfa (0.5 bcma) and expected full production of 35.3 bcfa (1 bcma) during 2013 (the "Eastern Plant"). 
In the longer term, exploration and appraisal work will also be undertaken on the Devonian and 
Carboniferous horizons in the Eastern Fields and the expansion of the Group's production is dependent 
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on the success of this work. In addition, in the Western Fields, the Group will also undertake further 
exploration, including seismic acquisition, exploration, appraisal and development drilling with short 
term drilling and production growth focused on developing the oil rim found in the Karpenskoye field. 
There can be no assurance that that the Group's exploration and development strategy will be 
successful. There are many reasons why the Group may not be able to find gas and oil for 
commercially viable production. For example, despite the geological similarities with large Kazakh 
fields, the fields within the Bortovoy Licence area may not contain, or the Group may be unable to 
locate, proportionately similar levels of gas and oil reserves. In addition, the Group may be unable to 
obtain commercially reasonable terms for its exploration, appraisal, development or production 
activities. Factors such as adverse weather conditions, natural disasters, equipment or services 
shortages, procurement delays or difficulties arising from the political, environmental and other 
conditions in the areas where the reserves are located or through which the Group's products are 
transported may increase costs and make it uneconomical to develop potential reserves.

Without successful exploration, appraisal and development activities, the Group's reserves, production 
and revenues are likely to decline over the longer term, and the failure of these activities would have a 
material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group's business depends on an exploration and production licence issued by Russian 
authorities. If that licence is suspended, restricted, terminated prior to expiry or not extended this 
would have a material adverse effect on the Group

The licensing regime in Russia for the exploration, development and production of crude oil, natural 
gas and gas condensate is governed primarily by the Law "On Subsoil" No. 2395-1 dated 21 February 
1992 (the "Subsoil Law") and numerous regulations issued thereunder.

The Group conducts its gas and oil exploration and production activities under the Bortovoy Licence, a 
subsoil licence held by its Russian operating subsidiary, Diall, which was issued before the Group 
owned or controlled this entity. The rights of any holder of a subsoil licence may be challenged on the 
basis of defects in the process of its issuance. Vague and inconsistent requirements of the Subsoil Law 
and the regulations thereunder can make it difficult to conclude that any given subsoil licence has been 
issued in full compliance with the applicable law. Moreover, while the law may be read to permit 
revocation of a licence based only on defects relating to the issuance of that licence, a more aggressive 
interpretation of the law would suggest that defects in the issuance of any preceding licences could also 
constitute a basis for challenging an existing or subsequent licence.

The Group's compliance with the Bortovoy Licence is subject to periodic review by the regional and 
federal authorities, and these Russian licensing authorities have a degree of discretion to determine 
whether or not licence holders are in compliance with their legal obligations. The discretion that 
Russian licensing authorities have, together with the vagueness and inconsistency of the relevant 
legislation, carries with it an increased risk (as compared to other jurisdictions) that the Bortovoy 
Licence will be subject to challenge or revocation. If a licence is issued in violation of Russian law, it 
may be challenged by any person whose rights or lawful interests are harmed by the violation within 
three months after the claimant learns of the breach of its rights or lawful interests. There are historic 
examples of the certain minor breaches of the terms of the Bortovoy Licence by the Issuer, such as 
delays in bringing certain fields onto production and drilling certain wells within the prescribed 
timeframes. although these were cured by an amendment to the licence in December 2009. 
Furthermore, the licence has not been subject to challenge and the Issuer believes that is currently 
unlikely given that it is not aware of any existing grounds for challenge going forward. However, if the 
validity of the Bortovoy Licence were to be challenged, it may be subject to suspension or revocation. 
The suspension or loss of the Bortovoy Licence would require the Group to stop its production of gas 
and oil from the fields covered by the Bortovoy Licence, which comprise all of its current exploration 
and production operations, and if the Group were unsuccessful in lifting such suspension or re-
obtaining the Bortovoy Licence, the Group would lose its right to extract gas and oil from the field 
altogether. Accordingly, although the Issuer believes the probability of the suspension or loss of the 
Bortovoy Licence to be low, any such suspension or loss of the Bortovoy Licence would materially 
adversely affect the Group's business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and the 
trading price of the Bonds and the Ordinary Shares (once issued).

The Bortovoy Licence expires in 2025 and the Subsoil Law, as currently in effect, allows for the 
extension of a production licence at the request of the licence holder if such extension is necessary to 
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finish production in the fields covered by the licence, provided that the licence holder has not violated 
the terms of the licence. Although the Group plans on or prior to its scheduled expiry, to extend the 
Bortovoy Licence to the end of the currently estimated economic life of the fields to which it relates, if 
the licensing authorities were to determine that the Group has not complied with the terms of the 
Bortovoy Licence, the authorities may refuse to extend it.

In addition, private individuals and the public at large have the right to comment on and may seek to 
influence the licensing process, which may include court intervention and political pressure. Moreover, 
requirements imposed by the applicable regulatory authorities, including requirements to comply with 
numerous industrial standards, recruit qualified personnel and subcontractors, maintain necessary 
equipment and quality control systems, monitor the operations of the Group, maintain appropriate 
filings and, upon request, submit appropriate information to the licensing or other regulatory authorities 
may also be costly and time-consuming and may result in delays in the commencement or continuation 
of exploration or production operations.

Competitors of the Group may also seek to impede the rights of the Group to develop certain natural 
resource deposits by challenging the Group's compliance with the terms of the Bortovoy Licence. Any 
alleged non-compliance by the Group with licensing regulations and the terms of the Bortovoy Licence 
could lead to the suspension, restriction or termination of the Bortovoy Licence and to administrative, 
civil and criminal liability for the Group, all of which would have a material adverse effect on the 
Group's business prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

A material decline in gas and oil prices globally or an increase in domestic Russian gas prices which 
is slower than currently expected may adversely affect the Group's business, prospects, financial 
condition and results of operations

The Group's revenues, profitability and future rate of growth will depend substantially on prevailing 
gas and oil prices, both of which can be volatile and subject to fluctuation. Changes in gas and oil 
prices will directly affect the Group's revenues and net income.

Prices for gas and oil are subject to fluctuations in response to a variety of factors beyond the Group's 
control, including, but not limited to:

• changes in the global and regional supply and demand for gas and oil and expectations 
regarding future supply and demand;

• the condition of the world economy and geopolitical events;

• the impact of recessionary economic conditions on the Group's customers, including 
reductions in demand for gas and oil;

• the worldwide military and political environment and uncertainty or instability resulting from 
an escalation or additional outbreak of armed hostilities or further acts of terrorism, including 
in the United States, the Middle East, Russia or other regions which produce gas and oil;

• actions taken by governments and international cartels, including the Organisation of 
Petroleum Exporting Countries;

• other actions taken by certain major gas and oil producing or consuming countries or 
companies;

• Russian and foreign governmental regulations and actions, including export restrictions, price 
regulation (in the case of gas) and taxes;

• technological advances affecting energy consumption;

• the development, availability, price and acceptance of alternative fuels and competition from 
other energy souces; and

• weather conditions and natural disasters.
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Domestic gas prices in Russia are regulated by the Russian Federal Service for Tariffs ("FST") and are 
currently, and have historically been, significantly lower than European gas prices. Although the 
Russian Government has stated its intention to liberalise industrial gas prices in Russia with the aim of 
achieving a domestic parity price, after adjusting for export duty of 30 per cent. and transport costs 
("Net Back Parity") with European gas prices and the regulated price has been consistently rising in 
Russia since that policy objective was announced, it is still significantly below levels prevailing in 
international markets. Although the Group anticipates that Russian gas prices will gradually increase 
towards Net Back Parity, there can be no assurance that the liberalisation of industrial gas prices in 
Russia will continue or that the domestic price of gas in Russia will increase at the rate currently 
expected by the Group.

Domestic oil prices in Russia are generally linked to international prices, although domestic prices 
often deviate from international prices for a number of reasons including variances in the levels of 
regional supply and demand for oil. As a result, domestic gas and oil prices are, and in the future are 
expected to continue to be, generally lower than international prices.

The Group's profitability is determined in large part by the difference between the income received for 
gas and oil the Group sells and its operating costs, taxation costs upon extraction (assessable 
irrespective of sales) and costs incurred in transporting and selling its gas and oil. Therefore, a decline 
in gas and oil prices may reduce the amount of gas or oil that the Group is able to produce 
economically and, to the extent that production costs exceed anticipated revenue from the sale of gas 
produced, may reduce the economic viability of the production levels of specific wells or of projects 
planned or in development. Any decline in gas or oil prices could result in a reduction in net income, 
impair the Group's ability to make planned discretionary capital expenditures, incur costs necessary for 
the further development of the Group's fields and the construction of the Eastern Plants and could 
materially adversely affect the Group's business, prospects, financial condition and results of 
operations.

Gas and oil production companies, including the Issuer, may be adversely affected by current global 
economic conditions

The recent global recessionary environment and the volatility of international markets have caused 
governments and central banks to undertake unprecedented intervention designed to stabilise global 
and domestic financial systems, stimulate new lending and support structurally important industries and 
institutions such as banks which are at risk of failing. Many developed economies have experienced 
recession over the past three years and growth has slowed in many emerging economies with 
continuing serious adverse consequences for asset values, employment levels, consumer confidence 
and levels of economic activity. Commodity prices, including prices for gas and oil, have been volatile, 
interest rate yield curves have flattened, interest rates have fallen in absolute terms in many markets, 
and trade flows have contracted. Global equity markets have experienced severe declines and various 
currencies, including the Ruble, have fluctuated significantly against the US dollar. Numerous
governments and central banks, including those in Russia, have responded to these economic 
conditions by proposing programmes to make substantial funds and guarantees available to boost 
liquidity and confidence in their financial systems and support industries such as gas and oil, as well as 
cutting taxes and lowering interest rates. The impact of the reversal or withdrawal of such programmes 
as the economic climate changes is uncertain. A further deterioration of these conditions and of the 
global economic environment could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, 
financial condition and results of operations.

The Group must make significant capital expenditures in order to increase its production levels and 
improve overall well productivity, and the inability to finance these and other expenditures could 
have a material adverse effect on the Group

The Group's business is highly capital intensive and the Issuer expects that the Group's activities will 
require significant capital expenditures for the foreseeable future with respect to exploration, appraisal 
and development of the Eastern Fields, including the construction and commissioning of the Eastern 
Plant. The Issuer believes that the net proceeds of the Bonds together with existing cash resources and 
revenues generated by the Group will be sufficient to fund the Group's current capital expenditure 
plans. However additional capital expenditure may be required in the longer term and the Group's 
ability to arrange financing for such expenditure and the cost of financing generally, depends on many 
factors, including: 
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• global and local economic and capital markets conditions;

• investor confidence in the gas and oil industry in Russia and in the Group;

• the business performance of the Group;

• regulatory developments;

• credit available from banks and other lenders; and

• provisions of tax and securities laws that are conducive to raising capital.

The terms and conditions on which future funding or financing may be made available may not be 
acceptable or funding or financing may not be available at all. Banks and capital markets globally have 
experienced a significant disruption since August 2008 that has been characterised by severe reductions 
in liquidity, greater volatility, general widening of spreads and, in some cases, lack of price 
transparency in money and capital markets interest rates. As a result, many lenders have reduced or 
ceased providing funding to borrowers, particularly in the emerging markets, and there has been a 
general increase in the cost of borrowing for private-sector borrowers. The continuation or worsening 
of this market disruption may adversely impact the Group's ability to borrow in the banking or capital 
markets and may further increase the cost of such borrowing from the levels seen either in 2007 or 
currently. Moreover, if additional funds are raised in the longer term by incurring debt without 
repayment of existing debt, the Group will become more leveraged and may be subject to additional or 
more restrictive financial covenants and ratios. If additional funds are raised in the longer term by 
issuing new Ordinary Shares after an offering and sale to investors of Ordinary Shares in the Issuer 
and/or any one or more shareholders for subscription or sale for cash as set out in the Conditions (a 
"QIPO"), existing holders of Ordinary Shares may be diluted. Any inability by the Group in the longer 
term to procure sufficient funding to finance the continued growth of its business could adversely affect 
its ability to expand its business and meet its production targets, may result in the Group facing 
unexpected costs and delays in relation to the implementation of its project development plans and, if 
the reductions in financing levels are severe enough, could adversely affect the Group's ability to 
maintain its production levels, all of which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's 
business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group depends on a state-owned monopoly provider of gas transportation services and it has no 
control over the infrastructure Gazprom maintains or the fees it charges

Gazprom, the state-owned gas pipeline monopoly, owns virtually all of the gas pipeline network in 
Russia and the Russian Government regulates access to this network. Pursuant to the Natural 
Monopolies Law, the Ministry of Industry and Energy allocates Gazprom pipeline network capacity to 
gas producers on a quarterly basis, based on information provided by the Federal Energy Agency. The 
Ministry of Industry and Energy also establishes export quotas for the Gazprom system.

Although it is currently envisaged that all of the gas produced by the Group which is intended for sale 
will be sold to Gazprom, in the medium to long term the Group may seek additional customers for the 
sale of gas it produces. In order to do so, the Group or the relevant customer will need to negotiate 
access to the pipeline network in order to transport the gas.

Under existing legislation, Gazprom must provide access to its pipeline network to all independent 
suppliers on a non-discriminatory basis provided there is available capacity. A right of priority to enter 
into natural gas supply agreements is given to those companies that purchase natural gas for re-sale to 
the Russian Government, utility companies, consumers and households and to certain other off-take 
companies wishing to extend their existing natural gas supply agreements. In practice, Gazprom 
exercises considerable discretion over access to its pipeline network because it has exclusive access to 
the information relating to its capacity. There can be no assurances that this legislation will remain in 
place, that Gazprom will comply with this legislation going forward or continue to provide independent 
suppliers with access to its pipeline network, or that the terms of access offered will be commercially 
reasonable. In the past Gazprom has denied access to certain providers on the basis that the relevant 
pipelines were full. The Issuer believes that Gazprom is unlikely to deny it access to the pipelines in the 
Saratov region in the future, as such pipelines have high levels of capacity and the Group has been 
selling gas to Gazprom for approximately sixteen months without any concerns being raised. However, 
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should the Group be denied access to the Gazprom pipeline network, the impact would be considerable, 
as the Group would need to find an alternative method of transporting its gas. Gazprom could terminate 
or restrict the delivery of gas by giving the Issuer a minimum of three days notice or, in the case of an 
emergency (as so deemed by Gazprom) such termination or restriction could take immediate effect on 
notification. As Gazprom owns and operates the pipeline system in the Saratov region, the Group 
would need to construct its own pipelines to end users, which the Group views as significantly less 
attractive economically than using Gazprom's network. As a result, any change in the existing 
legislation, a failure by Gazprom to comply with the legislation such that Gazprom no longer provides 
access to its pipeline network on a non-discriminatory or commercially reasonable basis, or other 
action by Gazprom which decreases the likelihood that the Group will have access to transportation 
capacity would have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition 
and results of operation.

Although Gazprom has generally avoided serious disruptions in the transport of gas through its pipeline 
system, the system may experience outages or capacity constraints during required maintenance 
periods, and it is likely that maintenance work will increase in the future. During these maintenance 
periods, the Group could experience delays in or be prevented from accessing the pipeline system. Any 
significant disruption in the Gazprom pipeline system could disrupt the Group's ability to deliver its gas 
into Gazprom pipelines which could adversely affect the Group's business, prospects, financial 
condition and results of operations.

The output of independent gas producers, such as the Issuer, may also be adversely affected by 
Gazprom's response to declines in international demand for gas. For example, in May 2009 Gazprom 
asked independent gas producers in northern Russia to reduce their gas output as a result of significant 
declines in demand for gas in Europe following a relatively mild winter.

The Group currently relies on a single contractual counterparty in relation to the sale of its gas 
production volume and supplies a market in which there are limited competing purchasers

Although the Issuer intends to seek additional customers for its gas in the medium to long-term, it has 
entered into an agreement with Gazprom through its regional subsidiary, Saratovskoya Gazovaya 
Kompaniya LLC, pursuant to which the Group has the right to supply gas to Gazprom up to December 
2015. The Group started supplying gas to Gazprom in November 2010 and its current intention is to 
supply all the gas it produces for sale to Gazprom. The Gazprom contract provides that annual sales 
volumes are to be agreed between the Group and Gazprom each year. The Group is currently reliant on 
Gazprom for all of its gas revenues and hence subject to the increased risk of delayed payment for 
delivered production volumes, counterparty default or termination of the sales agreement by Gazprom. 
Pursuant to the agreement, Gazprom is not required to purchase a minimum volume of gas and is only 
required to pay the Group for gas actually supplied. As a result of these factors, there is a risk that 
Gazprom may not purchase all or any of the gas produced for sale by the Group. A significant 
reduction in the amount of gas purchased by Gazprom could have an adverse effect on the Group's 
business, prospects, financial condition and results of operation. Further, if Gazprom was to terminate 
the sales agreement with the Issuer, the Group would need to enter into a new contract with another 
purchaser for the sale of its gas, either a purchaser with access to the Gazprom pipeline or a purchaser 
without such access, in which case the Issuer would have to negotiate and enter into a new contract 
with Gazprom for the transportation of its gas. During any such negotiations, which may take a 
significant amount of time, the Group may not be able to sell any of its gas, which in turn may have an 
adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition and results of operation. The 
absence of alternative purchasers for the gas produced by the Group may also expose it to adverse 
pricing or other contractual terms. There can also be no assurance that the Group would be able to 
negotiate and enter into agreements with purchasers for the sale of its gas or, if necessary, with 
Gazprom for the transportation of the gas it produces for sale, on favourable terms or at all. Such 
delays, defaults, reduction in gas volumes purchased or adverse pricing or other contractual terms 
could adversely affect the Group's business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.



9

Current reserves, prospective resources and forward production data available to the Issuer are only 
estimates and are inherently uncertain; the Group's total reserves may decline in the future and the 
Group may not achieve estimated production levels

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating the quantity and the quality of reserves and 
prospective resources and in projecting future rates of production, including many factors beyond the 
Group's control.

The reserves data and production targets available to the Issuer are estimates only and cannot be
construed as representing exact quantities. Estimating the amount and quality of gas and oil reserves is 
a subjective process, and estimates made by different experts often vary significantly. These estimates 
are based on a number of assumptions, including assumptions relating to production levels, future gas 
and oil prices, operating costs (which ignore any costs for the decommissioning of any wells or of the 
Western Plant), ownership rights, and the interpretation of geological and engineering data, all of 
which may vary significantly from what actually occurs in the future. The estimates also assume that 
the future development of the Group's fields and the future marketability of the Group's gas and oil will 
be similar to past development and marketability, that the Group's assumptions as to its capital 
expenditure and operating costs are accurate, that the capital expenditure strategy of the Group is 
successfully implemented by it, and that the Eastern Plant will be completed in accordance with the 
current planned timetable. There can be no assurance that the actual capital expenditure will not vary 
significantly from current estimates or that the Group will be able to implement its capital expenditure 
strategy to the timetable currently envisaged. In general, results of drilling, testing and production 
subsequent to the date of an estimate may result in revisions to these estimates, especially in cases such 
as these where reserves are estimated on volumetric calculations or analogies, which are not as reliable 
as extrapolation of historical production trends based on long-term performance data.  There is 
therefore no guarantee the Group will maintain its current flow rates.  Reserves estimates may be 
different from the quantity or quality of oil and/or gas that is ultimately recovered and consequently, 
the revenue derived therefrom could be less than that currently expected which could have a material 
adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

Special uncertainties exist with respect to the estimation of prospective resources in addition to those 
set forth above that apply to reserves. Prospective resources are defined as those resources that are 
estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from as yet undiscovered accumulations. 
The probability that prospective resources will be discovered, or be economically recoverable, is 
considerably lower than that for proved, probable and possible reserves.

The Russian reserves system differs significantly from SPE Standards

Although the information presented in these Listing Particulars conforms to SPE Standards prepared
under the Petroleum Resources Management System ("PRMS"), the Issuer files with the Russian 
authorities reserves data prepared in accordance with Russian standards. The Russian reserves system 
differs significantly from SPE Standards and the standards applied by the SEC, in particular with 
respect to the manner in which and the extent to which commercial factors are taken into account in 
calculating reserves. As a result, prospective investors should be aware that the reserves data filed by 
the Group according to Russian standards may differ from the information otherwise presented by the 
Group in conformity with SPE Standards prepared under the PRMS. Prospective investors should only 
consider the information presented in these Listing Particulars in connection with their decision relating 
to an investment in the Bonds.

Failure to acquire the appropriate land use rights by the Issuer may have an adverse effect on its 
business, prospects or financial condition

Although the Group is entitled to explore the land covered by the Bortovoy Licence for mineral 
deposits, the Group does not own the surface rights to the land covered by the Bortovoy Licence. The 
land and the pre-existing wells on the land are owned either by the Federal Government or by local 
farmers.  For the purpose of conducting its business operations, and in particular the production of 
natural resources on a plot of land, the Group is therefore required to acquire appropriate land use 
rights on the Bortovoy Licence area. Although the Group has appropriate land use rights for its current 
operations, including the land use rights relating to the Western Plant and wells currently used by the 
Group on both the Western Fields and the Eastern Fields, failure to acquire such rights in relation to its 
operations in the future, even though the Group already holds the Bortovoy Licence for the use of 
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mineral deposits located on the land covered by the Bortovoy Licence could restrict the Group's ability 
to expand its operations and further develop the Bortovoy Licence. In particular, the Group does not 
currently own the land on which the Eastern Plant is proposed to be constructed and, although the 
Issuer believes that the risk of failing to secure such land as is required for the construction of the 
second Eastern Plant and further development of the Eastern Fields at the appropriate time to be low, 
such failure would have a material adverse effect on the growth of the Group's future revenues and 
profitability. The use of mineral deposits without valid land use rights may also result in the revocation 
of the Bortovoy Licence and although the Issuer believes the probability of revocation on this basis to 
be low, such revocation would have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, 
financial condition and results of operations. In practice, the Group seeks to acquire land use rights 
only in relation to the part of the area covered by a licence which it does or intends to utilise, and in 
particular to the area of land on which the production operations will be carried out, the access areas 
and the area where other production works are underway. Most of the land in the Russian Federation is 
owned by federal, district or urban authorities with a smaller proportion of the land owned by local 
farmers. The land is leased, sold or has rights granted over it through public auctions, tendering 
procedures or through private negotiations. Should the Group be unsuccessful in negotiating acceptable 
prices for the purchase, leasing or use of the land and wells located within the Bortovoy Licence area or 
should the Group be otherwise unable to acquire or retain the land use rights necessary to conduct and 
expand its operations, this could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, 
financial condition and results of operations.  

Future litigation could adversely affect the Group's business, prospects, financial condition or 
results of operations

Although the Group is not currently involved in any material litigation, damages claimed under any 
litigation are difficult to predict, and may be material. The outcome of such litigation may materially 
impact the Group's business, results of operations or financial condition. While the Group will assess 
the merits of each lawsuit and defend itself accordingly, it may be required to incur significant 
expenses or devote significant resources to defending itself against such litigation. In addition, adverse 
publicity surrounding such claims may have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, 
prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group may be subject to claims, liabilities and ongoing costs under environmental, health, 
safety and other laws and regulations, which could be significant

The Group's operations, which are often potentially hazardous, are subject to the risk of liability arising 
from various environmental, health, safety and other laws and regulations, including those inherent to 
gas and oil exploration and production industries. In particular, gas and oil operations are subject to 
extensive federal and regional environmental laws and regulations. These laws and regulations set 
various standards for health and environmental quality, provide for penalties and other liabilities for the 
violation of such standards, and establish, in certain circumstances, obligations to compensate for 
environmental damage and to restore environmental conditions. In particular, subsoil users are 
generally subject to obligations concerning the decommissioning of operational facilities and the 
remediation of soil or groundwater at their facilities when they cease operations. Issues of 
environmental protection in Russia are regulated primarily by the Federal Law No. 7-FZ "On 
Environmental Protection" dated 10 January 2002, as amended (the "Environmental Protection 
Law"), as well as by a number of other federal laws and regulations.

The Group's operations are subject to periodic inspection by the authorities responsible for compliance 
with such environmental and health and safety laws and regulations. Although the Group endeavours to 
comply with all environmental and health and safety laws and regulations at all times and there are no 
material ongoing claims, lawsuits or administrative proceedings related to environmental or health and 
safety matters, the Group or a member of the Group may become involved in such claims, lawsuits and 
administrative proceedings in the future. An adverse outcome in any of these could have a significant 
negative impact on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and may 
include the imposition of civil, administrative or criminal liability on the Group or its officers.

New or amended laws and regulations, increasingly strict enforcement of, or changes in the 
interpretation of, existing laws, regulations, enforcement policies and licences, or the discovery of 
previously unknown contamination may require significant expenditures to:
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• modify operations;

• install pollution control equipment;

• perform site clean-ups;

• curtail or cease certain operations; or

• pay fees or fines or make other payments for pollution, discharges or other breaches of 
environmental requirements.

The Group incurs, and expects to continue to incur, capital and operating costs in order to comply with 
health, safety and environmental laws and regulations. However, despite such endeavours, the Group 
may not always be in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Although the costs of the 
measures taken to comply with regulations have not had a material adverse effect on the Group to date, 
in the future, the costs of such measures and non-compliance related liabilities may increase, and this 
could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, financial conditions and results 
of operations.

The Group's subsidiaries must also maintain, extend and/or obtain from time to time other permits and 
authorisations including land and mining allotments, approvals of design and feasibility studies, pilot 
production projects and development plans and permits for the construction of facilities, as well as the 
various environmental and health and safety permits mentioned above. If the Group's subsidiaries fail 
to receive the necessary permits and authorisations, or they are terminated, the Group may have to 
delay investment or development programmes, which could materially adversely affect the Group's 
business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group faces drilling, exploration and production risks and hazards that may prevent the Group 
from achieving its planned production targets and realising profits and could result in substantial 
losses

The Group's production operations are subject to risks associated with natural catastrophe, fire, 
explosion, blowouts, encountering formations with abnormal pressure, the level of water cut, cratering, 
ruptures and spills, each of which could result in substantial damage to wells, production facilities, 
other property and the environment or in personal injury. Any of these risks could result in loss of sales 
or could lead to environmental pollution and other damage to the Group's properties or surrounding 
areas and increased costs. An increase in production costs as a consequence of these risks could reduce 
the Issuer's profitability and any of these drilling, exploration and production risks and hazards could 
have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition and results of 
operations.

Furthermore, the Group's future success will depend, in part, on its ability to develop gas and oil 
reserves in a timely and cost-effective manner and achieve its production targets. As part of its strategy, 
the Group is targeting an increase in its annual production capacity from 17.6 bcfa (0.5 bcma) of gas in 
2011 up to 70.4 bcfa (2.0 bcma) in 2015. This increase is expected to be achieved following the 
construction of the Eastern Plants and by increasing the number of wells drilled and re-entered per 
year, building additional infrastructure and by enhancing production technology and production 
optimisation. The Group is continuing to develop its assets and the Group's ability to increase 
production will depend on many factors, some of which are beyond the Group's control. In particular, 
the Group may be required to curtail, delay or suspend drilling operations because of a variety of 
factors, including unexpected drilling conditions, pressure or irregularities in geological formations, 
equipment failures or accidents, premature declines in reservoirs, blowouts, uncontrollable flows of 
crude oil, natural gas or well fluids, pollution and other environmental risks, adverse weather 
conditions, compliance with governmental requirements and shortages or delays in the availability and 
delivery of equipment. The Group may not be able to respond to, or successfully integrate, advances in 
industry technology and there can be no assurance that the Group will achieve its production targets or 
that it will successfully implement new infrastructure or technologies in a timely manner or that they 
will yield the expected improvements in efficiency. In addition, the Group's exploration may involve 
unprofitable efforts, not only from dry wells, but also from wells that are productive but do not produce 
sufficient net revenues to return a profit after drilling, operating and other costs. Drilling hazards or 
environmental damage could greatly increase the cost of operations and delay the implementation of 
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new infrastructure technologies. Various field operating conditions may adversely affect the production 
from successful wells. The occurrence of any of these events could negatively affect the Group's ability 
to meet its production targets and comply with the production plans under the Bortovoy Licence and 
could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition and results 
of operations.

The Group is dependent on employees and senior management personnel who are qualified and 
have gas and oil experience

The Group's ability to maintain a competitive position and to implement its business strategy depends 
to a large degree on the services of the Group's senior management team and of employees having 
relevant gas and oil experience. Competition in Russia for personnel with relevant expertise is intense 
due to the limited number of qualified individuals, which may affect the Group's ability to retain 
existing specialised personnel and senior management or attract additional qualified senior 
management and/or gas and oil personnel, which will be particularly important as the Group expands. 
In addition, the retention of personnel may become costlier in the future as competition intensifies. The 
Group does not maintain, nor does it plan to obtain, key person insurance against the loss of any of its 
key personnel. The loss of or diminution in the services of qualified gas and oil specialists or of 
members of the Group's senior management team or an inability to attract and retain additional senior 
management and/or gas and oil personnel could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

The Issuer has experienced turnover of three members of its senior management over the past year, 
consisting of its Chief Executive Officer, its Chief Operating Officer and an Executive Vice President. 
The new officers filling the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer vacancies assumed 
their roles on 1 September 2011 and 1 April 2011, respectively. The Issuer does not see a need to fill 
the Executive Vice President position at present. The Directors believe that the new officers are well 
qualified and bring with them experience and expertise that will be very useful to the Group. 
Nonetheless, the integration of a new Chief Executive Officer and other members of management 
involves risks to the Issuer, including risks that the performance and expertise of the persons hired will 
fall short of expectations or that the new team will not integrate effectively with each other and with 
the Group.

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates may materially and adversely affect the Group's financial 
condition and results of operations

The Ruble-US dollar exchange rate in the Russian Federation affects the Group's results of operations 
because the Group's revenues are generated in Rubles, while the Group's reporting currency is the US
dollar. Accordingly, fluctuations in the exchange rate of the US dollar against the Ruble could 
adversely affect the Group's translated results of operations.  In addition, while the Group's debt 
financing is denominated in US dollars, some of its intra-Group debt is denominated in Rubles.  As the 
Group's revenues are generated in Rubles and its debt financing is denominated in US dollars, currency 
fluctuations may make it more expensive for the Group to service its debt financing.  Fluctuations in 
the Ruble-US dollar exchange rate could therefore adversely affect the Group's ability to fund future 
capital expenditure, the majority of which is denominated in Rubles.  The Group does not currently 
enter into hedging contracts to protect against its exposure to fluctuations in the Ruble-US dollar 
exchange rate. 

The Group relies on the services of third parties to implement its growth and development

The Group relies to a large extent on external contractors to carry out drilling activities and seismic 
acquisition as well as the construction, operation and maintenance of its facilities. As a result, the 
Issuer is dependent on external contractors performing satisfactorily and fulfilling their obligations. 
Any such failure by an external contractor may lead to delays or curtailment of the production, 
transportation, refining or delivery of gas and oil and related products. In addition, the costs of third 
party operators may increase, leading to higher production and transportation expenses for the Group. 
Any such failure in performance or increase in costs could have an adverse effect on the Group's results 
of operations.

The Group has experienced significant growth and development in a relatively short period of time. 
The Group now has extensive plans to develop the Eastern Fields, including the construction of the 
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Eastern Plants together with a connecting pipeline to the Gazprom trunk line and the construction of 
further gathering pipelines to connect the Eastern Fields to the Eastern Plants. The Group also intends 
to construct additional gathering pipelines to connect fields in the Western Fields to the Western Plant 
(other than the Karpenskoye field which is already connected to that plant). Management of this future 
growth requires, amongst other things: implementation and continued development of financial and 
other reporting procedures and information technology, as well as hiring, training, motivating and 
retaining quality personnel as well as third party service providers.

Some of the services required for the Group's operations and strategic developments are currently only 
available on commercially reasonable terms from a limited number of providers. These operations and 
developments may be interrupted or otherwise adversely affected by failure to supply, or delays in the 
supply of services that meet the Group's quality requirements. If the Group is forced to change a 
provider of such services, there is no guarantee that this would not result in the Group experiencing 
additional costs, interruptions to supply continuity or other adverse effects on its business. There is also 
no guarantee that the Group will be able to find adequate replacement services on a timely basis or at 
all. Any failure in performance by third party service providers, external contractors or consultants, 
increase in costs or inability to find adequate replacement services on a timely basis, if at all, could 
have a material adverse effect on the Group's business prospects, financial condition and results of 
operations. See also "The Group depends on a state-owned monopoly provider of gas transportation 
services and it has no control over the infrastructure Gazprom maintains or the fees it charges" above.

The Group cannot accurately predict its future decommissioning liabilities

The Group, through its licence interests, has assumed certain obligations in respect of the 
decommissioning of its fields and related infrastructure. These liabilities are derived from legislative 
and regulatory requirements concerning the decommissioning of wells and production facilities and 
require the Group to make provision for and/or underwrite the liabilities relating to such 
decommissioning. Although the Group's accounts make a provision for such decommissioning costs, 
there can be no assurances that the costs of decommissioning will not exceed the value of the long-term 
provision set aside to cover such decommissioning costs. It is therefore difficult to forecast accurately 
the costs that the Group will incur in satisfying its decommissioning obligations and the Group may 
have to draw on funds from other sources to bear such costs. Any significant increase in the actual or 
estimated decommissioning costs that the Group incurs could have an adverse effect on the Group's 
business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group operates in a competitive industry

The Issuer believes that the Group operates in a competitive industry and the maintenance of its 
competitive position depends on its ability to sell the gas and oil it produces. While there are currently 
only a limited number of independent gas producers in the Saratov region, there can be no assurance 
that other operators will not seek to compete directly with the Group by undertaking gas and oil 
exploration and production activities in the same region. In addition, any surplus of gas within the 
Gazprom system, resulting either from an increase in supply from other gas producers within the 
Saratov region or elsewhere in Russia, or from a reduction in demand for gas on the domestic and 
international markets, could result in Gazprom, or any purchasers of gas, seeking to reduce the amount 
of gas it or they from the Group. Any such reduction or any other failure by the Group to compete 
successfully with other operators could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, 
prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group does not carry insurance against all potential risks and losses and its insurance might be 
inadequate to cover all losses or liabilities arising from potential operational hazards and unforeseen 
interruptions

The Group considers that the extent of its insurance cover is reasonable based on the costs of cover, the 
risks associated with its business and industry practice although such insurance cover may differ from 
other exploration and development companies. The Group's insurance currently includes cover for 
damage to or loss of Group assets, including business interruption insurance should an insurable 
incident result in a shut-down of the Western Plant for an extended period of time, insurance for out-of-
control wells and environmental damage caused thereby, third party liability coverage (including 
employer's liability insurance) and directors' and officers' liability insurance, in each case subject to 
excesses, exclusions and limitations. There can be no assurance that such insurance will be adequate to 
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cover losses or exposure for liability or that the Group will continue to be able to obtain insurance to 
cover such risks. The Group is unable to give any guarantee that expenses relating to losses or 
liabilities will be fully covered by the proceeds of applicable insurance. Consequently, the Group may 
suffer material losses from uninsurable or insured risks or insufficient insurance coverage which could 
have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition and results of 
operations.

The Issuer's operating and financial flexibility may be restricted by the terms of its financing 
agreements

The construction of the Western Plant has been, and the construction of the first Eastern Plant is 
expected to be, capital intensive and the Issuer therefore has significant debt facilities currently in 
place. For the purposes of building and commissioning the Western Plant, the Group, inter alia, entered 
into a convertible loan agreement with the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 
("EBRD") on 18 September 2009 (the "Convertible Loan Agreement"). In connection with this 
financing agreement, the Issuer granted security by way of a charge over 50 per cent. of the issued 
share capital held by the Issuer in its subsidiary, Royal Atlantic Energy (Cyprus) Limited, (a company 
incorporated in Cyprus with registered number 173074) ("RAECL"). In addition, the agreements 
contain a number of restrictive covenants which limit the Group's operating and financial flexibility. 
The covenants and other provisions in the financing agreements may have important consequences 
including:

• limiting the flexibility of the Group in planning for, or reacting to, changes in market 
conditions and competitive pressures;

• placing the Group at a competitive disadvantage compared to its competitors that may be less 
leveraged or restricted by financial covenants;

• limiting the Group's ability to raise debt and/or equity finance in the future; and

• increasing the Group's vulnerability to both general and industry-specific adverse economic 
conditions.

The above factors could limit the Group's financial and operating flexibility, including its ability to 
obtain further debt or equity capital in the longer term, which could have a material adverse effect on 
its business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and the ability of the Issuer to pay 
dividends.

The Group may be subject to labour disruptions

Whilst the Group's workforce is not unionised and the Group generally enjoys good labour relations 
with its employees, its operations may be affected by labour disruptions involving its own employees 
and/or the employees of third parties, including employees of contractors retained by the Group and the 
employees of operators of transportation infrastructure needed to run the Group's operations.

Risks Relating to Russia

There are general risks associated with doing business in countries with a history of difficulties 
relating to security, enforcement of obligations, fraud, bribery and corruption

All of the Group's operational assets are located in, and its revenues derived from, Russia. There are 
certain risks associated with an investment in developing markets, including Russia, which may be 
greater than risks inherent in more developed markets. Generally, investing in Russia is only suitable 
for sophisticated investors who fully appreciate the significance of the risks involved in, and are 
familiar with investing in, the Russian market. Investors should also note that the Russian market is 
subject to rapid change and as a result, the information set out in these Listing Particulars may become 
outdated relatively quickly. Companies that operate in Russia can face severe liquidity constraints as 
foreign funding sources are withdrawn. Accordingly, economic and/or political instability in Russia or 
an increase in the perceived risks associated with investing in Russia could have a material adverse 
effect on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations. See also 
"Economic instability in Russia could adversely affect the Group's business".
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Political and governmental instability could adversely affect the value of investments in Russia as 
well as the value of the Ordinary Shares (once issued) and the Bonds

Political conditions in the Russian Federation were highly volatile in the 1990s, as evidenced by the 
frequent conflicts amongst the executive, legislative and judicial authorities, which negatively impacted 
the Russian Federation's business and investment climate. However, starting from 2000, governmental 
stability generally increased and the continued economic reform process has made the political and 
economic situation in Russia more conducive to investment. Nevertheless, shifts in governmental 
policy and regulation in Russia may be less predictable than in many western democracies and could 
disrupt or reverse political, economic and regulatory reforms. Current and future changes in the 
Russian Government, major policy shifts or lack of consensus between the President of Russia, the 
Russian Government, Russia's parliament and powerful economic groups could lead to political 
instability, which could have a material adverse effect on the value of investments in Russia generally 
and the Bonds and Ordinary Shares in particular. The Group's prospects could be harmed if there is 
renewed governmental instability or if the course of reform policies initiated by the Russian 
Government in the last decade does not continue. The emergence of any new or escalated tensions in 
Russia or its neighbouring countries, particularly Kazakhstan, could negatively affect the economy of 
the Saratov region or Russia as a whole and of the other countries that are involved. Such tensions or 
conflicts may have a negative effect on the price of the Bonds and the Ordinary Shares as well as on
the Group's ability to raise debt or equity capital in the international capital markets.

In addition, ethnic, religious, historical and other divisions have on occasion given rise to tensions and, 
in certain cases, military conflict and terrorist attacks in certain regions of Russia. For example, a 
military conflict in August 2008 between Russia and Georgia involving South Ossetia and Abkhazia 
against a weak economic background resulted in significant overall price declines in the Russian stock 
exchanges and capital outflow from Russia for a short period of time. Such tensions, military conflict 
or terrorist activities could have significant political consequences, including the imposition of a state 
of emergency in some or all of Russia or heightened security measures, which could cause disruption to 
domestic commerce and exports from Russia, disrupt normal economic activity in Russia and 
materially adversely affect the Group's business, prospects, financial condition and results of 
operations.

Actions by the Russian legislative, executive and judicial authorities can affect the price of securities 
issued by overseas entities with substantial assets in Russia. In particular, the events surrounding 
claims brought by the Russian authorities against several major Russian and foreign companies 
(including JSC NK Yukos, TNK-BP Finance S.A. and Shell plc) have led to questions being raised 
regarding the progress of market and political reforms in Russia and have had a negative impact on 
foreign direct and portfolio investment in the Russian economy. Any further actions by the Russian 
authorities that result in a negative effect on investor confidence in Russia's business or legal 
environment could have a material adverse effect on the prices of securities issued by overseas entities 
such as the Issuer with substantial assets in Russia.

Economic instability in Russia could adversely affect the Group's business

Since the dissolution of the Soviet Union, the Russian economy has experienced at various times:

• significant declines in gross domestic product;

• hyperinflation;

• an unstable currency;

• high state debt relative to gross domestic product;

• a weak banking system providing limited liquidity to Russian enterprises;

• a large number of loss-making enterprises that continued to operate due to the lack of effective 
bankruptcy proceedings;

• significant use of barter transactions and illiquid promissory notes to settle commercial 
transactions;



16

• widespread tax evasion;

• the growth of "black" and "grey" market economics;

• high levels of capital flight;

• high levels of corruption and the penetration of organised crime into the economy;

• significant increases in unemployment and underemployment; and

• the impoverishment of a large portion of the Russian population.

The Russian economy has been subject to abrupt downturns. In particular, in 1998 the Russian state 
defaulted on its Ruble denominated securities and imposed a temporary moratorium on certain hard 
currency payments. These actions resulted in an immediate and severe devaluation of the Ruble and a 
sharp increase in the rate of inflation; a dramatic decline in the prices of Russian debt and equity 
securities; and an inability of Russian groups to raise funds in the international capital markets. In 
2004, several Russian banks experienced a sharp reduction in liquidity and the licences of a few 
midsized banks were withdrawn. Throughout the second half of 2008, the Russian financial markets 
were characterised by extreme volatility in both the debt and equity segments and reductions in foreign 
investment. Furthermore, the first half of 2009 saw a substantial decrease in gross domestic product as 
the real sector of the Russian economy experienced a sharp decline in production levels. In light of 
these developments, international rating agencies have downgraded Russia's sovereign credit rating, 
which reflects an assessment by such agencies that there is an increased credit risk that the government 
may default on its obligations. These assessments may lead to a further reduction in foreign investment 
and an increased cost of borrowing for the Russian Government. Although the Russian stock markets 
experienced a rebound during the second half of 2009, there can be no assurance that this trend will 
continue in the future or that it will have a positive impact on the Russian economy in the long-term.

As Russia produces and exports large quantities of crude oil, gas and other commodities, the Russian 
economy is particularly vulnerable to fluctuations in the prices of crude oil, gas and other commodities 
on the world market, which reached record levels in the first half of 2008 and have since experienced 
significant decreases, particularly in the price of crude oil. Although since the beginning of 2009 there 
has been a substantial upward adjustment in the global price of oil, there can be no assurance that such 
trend will continue in the long-term. Russian banks, and the Russian economy generally, have been 
adversely affected by the global financial crisis. Throughout 2008 and 2009, the Russian Government 
implemented various emergency financial assistance measures in order to ease taxes, refinance foreign 
debt and encourage lending. There can be no assurance that these or other measures will result in a full-
scale recovery of the Russian economy. Any further disruption of the Russian economy, its financial 
markets and a decline in the prices of gas and oil may materially adversely affect the Group's business, 
prospects, financial condition and results of operations.  

Crime and corruption could disrupt the Group's ability to conduct its business and could materially 
adversely affect its business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations

Among the risks faced by the Issuer are those of bribery and corruption.  A number of former 
officers/employees of the Issuer are, or have been, under investigation by the City of London Police in 
connection with two separate allegations of corrupt activity.  Further details of these criminal 
investigations are set out in the section entitled "Vostok Public Energy Company".  The Issuer has 
received confirmation from the City of London Police that, unless further evidence comes to light, in 
respect of the first investigation, no further action will be taken against the Issuer and its current 
employees or officers and, in respect of the second investigation, criminal charges will not be 
recommended against the Issuer in the file which will be submitted to the Crown Prosecution Service 
upon the conclusion of the investigation.  As regards the Issuer's former officers/employees, who were 
the subjects of one or both investigations, although the City of London Police have recommended that 
no further action will be taken in relation to the first investigation, such individuals remain suspects in 
the second investigation.  Additionally, the Issuer understands that the US federal authorities are 
conducting a parallel investigation in relation to the first investigation and the Issuer's former 
officers/employees are assisting the US authorities in relation to the same (but are not suspects).  The 
Issuer has not been contacted by the US federal authorities and has no reason to believe that it is 
implicated in their investigation.
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The Issuer has over the past two years implemented a number of measures that it believes further 
enhance the Issuer's corporate governance and ethics systems and procedures, and highlight its 
commitment to the highest ethical standards.  These measures include the adoption of an enhanced 
code of ethics that complies with the UK Corporate Governance Code, the adoption of an anti-fraud 
policy, the adoption of an anti-bribery policy that complies with the new UK Bribery Act 2010, and the 
conducting of specialised anti-fraud and anti-bribery training for the Issuer's Directors and senior 
officers.

Nonetheless, these investigations and any subsequent prosecutions could involve considerable 
management time or unbudgeted expense, complicate the Issuer's relationship with its contract parties, 
create unfavourable publicity for the Issuer, and/or result in possible enforcement proceedings, 
debarment from certain finance projects and/or events of default under certain finance documents 
(including possible cross-defaults).  In addition, if unfavourable facts surface that were not discovered 
in the investigations by the Issuer and the City of London Police, or if authorities in other jurisdictions, 
such as the United States, engage in their own investigation and enforcement actions, there can be no 
assurance that those additional facts or additional investigations will not result in claims against the 
Issuer with adverse legal, financial and reputational consequences.

High levels of inflation in Russia may have an adverse effect on the Group's results due to a 
substantial portion of its expenses being payable in Rubles

As a substantial portion of the Group's expenses (including operating costs and capital expenditures) 
are denominated in Rubles, while the Group's reporting currency is the US dollars, the relative 
movement of inflation affects the Group's results of operations. The effects of inflation could cause 
some of the Group's costs to rise. Russia has experienced high levels of inflation since the early 1990s. 
Inflation increased dramatically after the 1998 financial crisis, reaching a rate of 84.4 per cent, in that 
year. According to Russian Government estimates, the inflation rate ("CPI") in the Russian Federation 
was 13.3 per cent, in 2008, 8.8 per cent, in 2009, 8.8 per cent in 2010 and 8.4 per cent in 2011.

The Group tends to experience inflation-driven increases in certain of its costs, such as salaries and 
locally purchased supplies, that are linked to the general price level in Russia. To the extent inflation 
causes these costs to increase, such inflation may materially adversely affect the Group's business, 
prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Russia's physical infrastructure is in poor condition, which could disrupt normal business activity

Russia's physical infrastructure largely dates back to the Soviet period and in certain respects has not 
been adequately funded and maintained. Although Gazprom has generally avoided serious disruptions 
in the transport of gas through its pipeline system, the system may experience outages or capacity 
constraints during required maintenance periods, and it is likely that maintenance work will increase in 
the future. In some areas the rail and road networks, power generation and transmission, 
communication systems and building stock are particularly affected by the lack of funding and 
maintenance. Road conditions throughout areas of Russia are poor, with many roads not meeting 
minimum requirements for usability and safety. Breakdowns and failures of any part of Russia's 
physical infrastructure may disrupt the Group's normal business activity as the oil it produces is 
generally transported on trucks by road.

In addition to having restructured and substantially privatised the electricity sector, the Russian 
Government is also seeking to reorganise its railway and telephone systems, as well as the public 
utilities sector. The recent economic downturn may delay these reorganisation plans which could lead 
to further deterioration in Russia's physical infrastructure. Moreover, the restructuring of the electricity 
sector has not yet yielded the anticipated capital investment that is needed to repair, maintain and 
improve the existing power generating facilities and supply routes.

Further deterioration of Russia's physical infrastructure may harm the national economy, disrupt the 
transportation of goods and supplies, add costs to doing business in Russia and interrupt business 
operations, any or all of which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, 
financial condition and results of operations.
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Changes in the foreign policy of the Russian Government and changes in its key global relationships 
could adversely affect the Russian political and economic environment in general

Russia's exports are commodity driven and are heavily oriented toward developed nations and nations 
with fast-growing economies. Nevertheless, Russia's foreign policy interests have sometimes diverged 
from the interests and goals of its main trading partners. There can be no assurance that Russia's 
political relationships with key trading partners will remain at the level where they currently stand. Any 
deterioration in relations with any one or more nations could result in a lower volume of exports and a 
lower volume of inbound investment and other transfers. Changes in the Russian Government's policy 
or deterioration in key global relationships with Russia could have a material adverse effect on the 
Group's business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

The Issuer would be subject to restrictions on foreign ownership if, in the future, the subsoil plots 
that it owns are regarded as being of federal importance

In May 2008, the Federal Law FZ-57 "On the Procedure for Making Foreign Investments in Business 
Entities of Strategic Significance for the National Defence and Security of the Russian Federation", 
dated 29 April 2008 (the "Strategic Investment Law"), and the associated amendments to the Subsoil 
Law came into force. This law regulates the access of foreign investors to certain sectors of the Russian 
economy, including the development of major gas and oil fields above 50 billion cubic metres of 
proved reserves of gas and/or over 70 million tonnes of recoverable oil reserves and other mineral 
deposits that fall under the category of strategic deposits and introduced a requirement for a Foreign 
Investor (as defined below) to obtain, in certain cases, an approval from the Russian Government prior 
to acquiring shares or participatory interests in strategically important enterprises. In addition to foreign 
governments and international organisations, the Strategic Investment Law applies to any foreign 
investor (individual or corporate, including a Russian company under foreign control), or a group that 
includes a foreign investor (each a "Foreign Investor"), carrying out transactions which would 
ultimately give a Foreign Investor a certain stake in, or control (as defined in the Strategic Investment 
Law) over, a strategic entity. A Foreign Investor interested in purchasing a ten per cent, or larger stake 
(or five per cent, in cases where the Foreign Investor is a foreign state, an international organisation or 
an organisation under the control of the aforementioned entities) in the share capital of any of the 
companies holding a subsoil plot of federal importance or in obtaining control over such company, 
directly or indirectly, will need to obtain an approval of the Russian Government prior to entering into 
a respective transaction.

In accordance with the Strategic Investment Law, a "strategically important enterprise" is a Russian 
registered commercial entity which engages in at least one activity of strategic importance, as defined 
in that law. The list of the activities set forth in the Strategic Investment Law includes, inter alia, 
conducting geological surveys, exploration and development of subsoil resources on the "subsoil plots 
of federal importance". A list of these plots was published on 5 May 2008.

At the date of these Listing Particulars, none of the Group's fields is regarded as a strategic deposit and 
none of the Group's subsidiaries is engaged in any other activities of strategic importance envisaged by 
the Strategic Investment Law. Although the Group estimates that the possibility of the future discovery 
of such deposit at one of its current fields or the acquisition of such deposit is low, given that the 
provisions of the Strategic Investment Law have not been widely tested, there is a risk that in case of 
acquisitions of strategic fields or a discovery of a strategic deposit in an existing field, the Group may 
be subject to the restrictions established by the Strategic Investment Law. 

The Issuer's assets may be expropriated and nationalised by the Russian Government which would 
have a material adverse effect on the Group

As a consequence of the international financial crisis and the resulting downturn in the Russian 
economy, an increased presence of the Russian state has been observed in the private sector. On a 
number of occasions, the state has (through its relevant governmental bodies or state-owned 
enterprises) acquired, directly or indirectly, controlling interests in various companies experiencing 
financial difficulties or facing insolvency. It has been speculated in the press that in some of these cases 
state intervention was not only aimed at assisting ailing businesses but also at furthering the aims of 
business groups closely associated with the state. In some instances, the price of such distressed 
acquisitions was unilaterally imposed by the state on the sellers. Although Russian Government 
officials, including the Russian Prime Minister, have on several occasions in the past noted that state 
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intervention measures are temporary and limited to companies with significant social obligations, the 
scope and scale of the Russian state's further intervention in the private sector during the economic 
downturn may not be predicted with certainty. The Russian state may enact laws applicable to oil 
companies in particular, including limits on the price of oil or restrictions on export or sale.

The Russian Government has enacted legislation to protect property against expropriation and 
nationalisation. Furthermore, in the event that the Group's property is expropriated or nationalised, 
legislation provides for fair compensation to be paid to the Group. However, there can be no certainty 
that such protections will be enforced. This uncertainty is due to several factors, including the lack of 
an independent judicial system, sufficient mechanisms to enforce judgments and corruption among 
Russian state officials.

The concept of property rights is not well developed in the Russian Federation and there is a lack of 
experience in enforcing legislation enacted to protect private property against nationalisation and 
expropriation. As a result, the Group may not be able to obtain proper redress in the courts and may not 
receive adequate compensation if, in the future, the Russian Government decides to nationalise or 
expropriate some or all of the Group's assets. The expropriation or nationalisation of any of the Group's 
or its subsidiaries' assets without fair compensation may have a material adverse effect on the Group's 
business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Social instability caused by weakening economic conditions as well as high levels of crime in Russia 
could increase support for renewed centralised authority, nationalism or violence and thus 
materially adversely affect the Group's ability to conduct its business effectively

The relatively weak economic conditions and turmoil in the financial markets in Russia may result in 
high unemployment or the failure of state and private enterprises to pay full salaries on time and the 
failure of salaries and benefits generally to keep pace with the increasing cost of living. These 
conditions have already led to certain labour and social unrest that may continue or escalate in the 
future. Such labour and social unrest may have widespread political, social and economic 
consequences, such as increased support for a renewal of centralised authority, increased nationalism, 
including restrictions on foreign involvement in the Russian economy and increased tension between 
the Russian Government and the Russian population. Any of these consequences could restrict the 
Group's operations and have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, financial 
condition and results of operations.

Unlawful, selective or arbitrary government action may have an adverse effect on the Group's 
business

Governmental authorities have a high degree of discretion in Russia and at times appear to act 
selectively or arbitrarily, without a hearing or prior notice, and in a manner that is contrary to law or 
influenced by political or commercial considerations. Moreover, the Russian Government also has the 
power in certain circumstances, by regulation or government act, to interfere with the performance of, 
nullify or terminate contracts. Unlawful, selective or arbitrary governmental actions have reportedly 
included denial or withdrawal of licences, sudden and unexpected tax audits, criminal prosecutions and 
civil actions and the expropriation of property. Federal and local government entities also appear to 
have used common defects in matters surrounding share issuances and registration as pretexts for court 
claims and other demands to invalidate the issuance or registrations or to void transactions, seemingly 
for political purposes. Standard & Poor's, in 'Country Risks Cloud Future Prospects for Russian 
Corporates' published in RatingsDirect® on the Global Credit Portal in March 2004, expressed 
concerns that "Russian companies and their investors can be subjected to government pressure through 
selective implementation of regulations and legislation that is either politically motivated or triggered 
by competing business groups". In this environment, the Group's competitors could receive preferential 
treatment from the Russian Government, potentially giving them a competitive advantage. Unlawful, 
selective or arbitrary governmental action, if directed at the Group's operations in Russia, could lead to 
its business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations being materially adversely affected. 
Arbitrary governmental actions directed against other Russian companies or overseas companies with 
assets in Russia (or the consequence of such actions) may have a general impact on the Russian 
economy which could also result in a material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, 
financial conditions and results of operations.
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The Russian legal system and Russian legislation are still being developed and this may create an 
uncertain environment for investment and for business activity

The Russian Federation is still developing an adequate legal framework required for the proper 
functioning of a market economy. Several fundamental Russian laws have only recently become 
effective. The recent nature of much Russian legislation and the rapid evolution of the Russian legal 
system place the enforceability and underlying constitutionality of laws in doubt and result in 
ambiguities, inconsistencies and anomalies in their application. In addition, Russian legislation
sometimes leaves substantial gaps in the regulatory infrastructure.

Among the possible risks of the current Russian legal system are:

• inconsistencies among (i) federal laws, (ii) decrees, orders and regulations issued by the 
Russian President, the Russian Government, federal ministries and regulatory authorities and 
(iii) regional and local laws, rules and regulations;

• limited judicial and administrative guidance on interpreting Russian legislation;

• limited court personnel with the ability to interpret new principles of Russian legislation, 
particularly business and corporate law;

• gaps in the regulatory structure due to delay in legislation or absence of implementing 
legislation;

• a high degree of discretion on the part of governmental authorities;

• the inadequacy of bankruptcy procedures and certain violations in bankruptcy proceedings; 
and

• relatively frequent changes to existing Russian law as is currently in effect that make it more 
difficult for the Group to conduct its business or prevent it from completing certain 
transactions.

Russian laws regulating ownership, bankruptcy control and corporate governance of Russian 
companies are relatively new and, by and large, have not yet been tested in the courts. Disclosure and 
reporting requirements do not guarantee that material information will always be available and 
antifraud and insider trading legislation is generally rudimentary. The concept of fiduciary duties on the 
part of the management or directors to their companies or the shareholders is not well developed.

Many Russian laws are structured in a way that provides for significant administrative discretion in 
interpretation, application and enforcement. Consequently, good relations with central and regional 
governmental authorities are essential to ensure that the Group is able to run its business efficiently. 
Reliable texts of laws and regulations at regional and local level may not be available, and are not 
usually updated or catalogued. As a result, the applicable law is often difficult to ascertain and apply, 
even after reasonable effort. In addition, the laws are subject to different and changing interpretations 
and administrative applications. As a result of these factors, even the best efforts to comply with the 
laws may not always result in full compliance.

All of these factors make judicial decisions in the Russian Federation difficult to predict and effective 
redress uncertain. Additionally, court claims are often used to further political aims. The Group may be 
subject to these claims and may not be able to receive a fair hearing. Additionally, court judgments are 
not always enforced or followed by law enforcement agencies. All of these weaknesses could affect the 
Group's ability to enforce its rights or to defend itself against claims by others, which could have a 
material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and 
the trading price of the Ordinary Shares (once issued) and the Bonds and could also reduce the 
protections available to investors.
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The difficulty of enforcing court decisions and the discretion of governmental authorities to file and 
join claims and enforce court decisions could prevent the Group or investors from obtaining 
effective redress in court proceedings

The independence of the judicial system and its immunity from economic and political influences in 
Russia is continuing to develop. The court system is understaffed and underfunded. Russia is a civil 
law jurisdiction and as such, judicial precedents generally have no binding effect on subsequent 
decisions. Additionally, court claims can be used in furtherance of personal aims different from the 
formal substance of the claims. The Group may be subject to such claims, and courts may render 
decisions with respect to those claims that are adverse to the Group and its investors.

Russia is not party to any multilateral or bilateral treaties with most western jurisdictions (including the 
United Kingdom) for the mutual enforcement of court judgments. Consequently, should a judgment be 
obtained from a court in any such jurisdiction, it is difficult to predict whether a Russian court would 
give direct effect to such judgment. While Russia (as successor to the Soviet Union) is a party to the 
1985 New York Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Arbitral Awards (the 
"New York Conventions"), the recognition and enforcement by a Russian court of a foreign arbitral 
award obtained in a state that is party to the New York Convention is subject to the qualifications 
provided for therein and compliance with Russian civil procedure regulations and other procedures and 
requirements established by Russian legislation and non-violation of Russian public policy. There is 
also a risk that Russian procedural legislation will be changed by way of introducing further grounds 
preventing foreign court judgments and arbitral awards from being recognised and enforced in Russia. 
However, the Group is aware of one instance in which Russian courts have recognised and enforced a 
judgment of a court of a country with which Russia does not have an international treaty to that effect 
(the United Kingdom). The basis for this was a combination of the principle of reciprocity and the 
existence of a number of bilateral and multilateral treaties to which both countries were parties. In the 
absence of established court practice, however, it is difficult to predict whether a Russian court will be 
inclined in any particular instance to recognise and enforce a foreign court judgment on these grounds. 
In practice, reliance upon international treaties may meet with resistance or a lack of understanding on 
the part of Russian courts or other officials, thereby introducing delays and unpredictability into the 
process of enforcing any foreign judgment or any foreign arbitral award in the Russian Federation.

Consequently, judgments against Russian subsidiaries of the Group and their officers or directors 
predicated upon the civil liability provisions of foreign securities laws may not be enforced against 
such subsidiaries of the Group and such persons in the courts of the Russian Federation without re-
examination of the issues in the Russian Federation whether they are brought in original actions or in 
actions to enforce judgments. Moreover, a court of the Russian Federation may refuse or limit 
enforcement of a foreign judgment, inter alia, on public policy grounds.

Russian tax law and practice are not fully developed and are subject to frequent changes, which 
could have an adverse effect on the Group

The Group is subject to a broad range of taxes and other compulsory payments imposed at federal, 
regional and local levels, including, but not limited to, profits tax, export duties, VAT, natural 
resources production tax, property tax and social taxes. Tax laws, such as the Tax Code of the Russian 
Federation (the "Russian Tax Code"), have been in force for a short period relative to tax laws in more 
developed market economies and the implementation of these tax laws is often unclear or inconsistent. 
Historically, the system of tax collection has been relatively ineffective, resulting in continuous 
changes to the interpretation of existing laws.  Although the quality of Russian tax legislation has 
generally improved with the introduction of the first and second parts of the Russian Tax Code, the 
possibility exists that Russia may impose arbitrary or onerous taxes and penalties in the future, which 
could adversely affect the Group's business prospects, financial condition and results of operations. 

Since Russian federal, regional and local tax laws and regulations are subject to frequent change and 
some of the sections of the Russian Tax Code are comparatively new, interpretation of these laws and 
regulations is often unclear or non-existent. Taxpayers and the Russian tax authorities often interpret 
tax laws differently.  Differing interpretations of tax regulations exist both among and within Russian 
Government ministries and organisations at the federal, regional and local levels, creating uncertainties 
and inconsistent enforcement. Furthermore, in the absence of binding precedent, court rulings on tax or 
other related matters by different courts relating to the same or similar circumstances may also be 
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inconsistent or contradictory. Taxpayers often have to resort to court proceedings to defend their 
position against the tax authorities.

In some instances, changes in tax regulations have been given retroactive effect. In its decision of 25 
July 2001, the Constitutional Court of the Russian Federation (the "Constitutional Court") also 
introduced the concept of "a taxpayer acting in bad faith" without clearly stipulating the criteria for it. 
This concept is not defined in Russian tax law. Nonetheless, this concept has been used by the tax 
authorities to disallow, for instance, tax recovery of VAT and/or tax deductions for profits tax purposes 
and to deny taxpayers' the right to rely on the letter of the tax law. In 2006 the "bad faith taxpayer" 
doctrine was amended to the concept of "unjustified economic benefits" pursuant to Resolution No. 53 
of the Russian Supreme Arbitrazh Court dated 12 October 2006. Similarly, this concept has been used 
by the Russian tax authorities to impose additional liabilities on taxpayers and reject taxpayers' rights to 
rely on the letter of the tax law. The tax authorities and courts often exercise significant discretion in 
interpreting the concepts described above in a manner that is unfavourable to taxpayers. 

In addition, on 14 July 2005, the Constitutional Court issued a decision that allows the statute of 
limitations for taxes and related penalties and fines to be extended beyond the three-year term set forth 
in the tax laws if a court determines that a taxpayer has obstructed or hindered a tax inspection. 
Moreover, amendments introduced to the first part of the Russian Tax Code which came into effect on 
1 January 2007, provide for the extension of the three year statute of limitations for tax liabilities if the 
actions of the taxpayer create insurmountable obstacles for the tax audit. Because the terms 
"obstructed", "hindered" and "insurmountable obstacles" are not specifically defined in Russian law, 
the tax authorities may attempt to interpret these terms broadly, effectively linking any difficulty 
experienced in the course of their tax audit with obstruction by the taxpayer and use that as a basis to 
seek tax adjustments and penalties beyond the three-year term. Therefore, the statute of limitations is 
not entirely effective.

Tax declarations together with related documentation are subject to review and investigation by a 
number of authorities, which are enabled by Russian law to impose substantial fines and interest 
charges. Generally, tax declarations remain open and subject to inspection by the tax authorities for a 
period of three years immediately preceding the year in which the tax inspection is carried out. The fact 
that a year has been reviewed by the tax authorities does not close that year, or any tax declarations 
applicable to that year, from further review during the three-year limitation period. 

Transfer pricing legislation in Russia allows the tax authorities to make transfer pricing adjustments 
and impose additional tax liabilities in respect of all "controlled" transactions (except for those 
conducted at state regulated prices and tariffs) if the transaction price deviates from the market price by 
more than 20 per cent. "Controlled" transactions include transactions with related parties, barter 
transactions, foreign trade transactions and transactions with unrelated parties with significant price 
fluctuations (that is, if the price of such transaction differs from the prices applied in similar 
transactions within a short period of time by more than 20 per cent.). Special transfer pricing rules 
apply to securities transactions and derivatives. The transfer pricing rules are vaguely drafted, generally 
leaving wide scope for interpretation by the tax authorities and courts. Moreover, in the event that a 
transfer pricing adjustment is assessed by the tax authorities, the transfer pricing rules do not provide 
for an offsetting adjustment to the related counterparty in the transaction. The Russian Parliament is in 
the process of renewing amendments proposed by the Government to the transfer pricing legislation, 
which may come into force in the near future. Such amendments, if adopted, are expected to result in 
stricter transfer pricing rules.

It should also be noted that Russian law does not provide for the possibility of group relief or fiscal 
unity. Consequently, tax losses of any Russian legal entity in a group may not be surrendered to reduce 
the tax liability of any other Russian legal entity of such group.

Russian tax legislation in effect as of the date of these Listing Particulars does not contain a concept of 
corporate tax residency. Russian companies are taxed on their worldwide income whilst foreign entities 
are taxed in Russia on income attributable to a permanent establishment and on Russian source income. 
In the "Main Directions of Russian Tax Policy for 2009-2011", the Russian Government has proposed 
to introduce the concept of tax residency for legal entities into domestic law. According to these 
proposals, foreign group companies would be deemed a Russian tax resident based on the place of its 
effective management and control and/or based on the residence of its shareholders. No assurance can 
be currently given as to whether and when these amendments will be enacted, their exact nature, their 
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potential interpretation by the tax authorities and the possible impact on the Group. The Group cannot 
rule out the possibility that, as a result of the introduction of these changes to Russian tax legislation, 
certain Group companies established outside Russia might be deemed to be Russian tax residents, 
subject to all applicable Russian taxes.  There is a risk that some of the foreign group companies may 
be treated as having permanent establishments in Russia and be subject to Russian taxes and 
obligations to withhold Russian taxes.

As a result of the above factors, the Group could face tax liabilities (both going forward and liabilities 
which take effect retroactively) which are larger than the Group currently anticipates and there can be 
no assurance that the Group would not be required to make substantially larger tax payments in the 
future, which may materially adversely affect its financial results. In addition to creating a substantial 
tax burden, these risks and uncertainties complicate the Group's tax planning and related business 
decisions, potentially exposing it and its Russian affiliates to significant fines and penalties and 
enforcement measures, which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, 
financial condition and results of operations.

Shareholder liability under Russian legislation could cause the Issuer to become liable for the 
obligations of its Russian subsidiaries

Russian law generally provides that shareholders in a Russian company are not liable for the 
obligations of the company and bear only the risk of loss of their investment. This may not be the case, 
however, when one person or entity is capable of determining decisions made by another person or 
entity. The person or entity capable of determining such decisions is deemed an "effective parent". An 
entity whose decisions are capable of being so determined is deemed an "effective subsidiary." Under 
Russian law, such an effective parent bears joint and several responsibility for transactions concluded 
by the effective subsidiary in accordance with mandatory instructions of an effective parent if such 
effective parent has the right to give such instructions under a contract with the subsidiary or otherwise.

In addition, an effective parent is secondarily liable for an effective subsidiary's debts if an effective 
subsidiary becomes insolvent or bankrupt resulting from the wilful action or inaction of an effective 
parent. This is the case no matter how the effective parent's ability to determine decisions of the 
effective subsidiary arises. For example, this liability could arise through ownership of voting securities 
or by contract. Although the immediate parent of Diall is RAECL, the Issuer could be liable in some 
cases for the debts of its subsidiaries. This liability, which is secondary in the case of the subsidiary's 
insolvency or bankruptcy and several with the liability of the subsidiary in the case of responsibility for 
transactions concluded by the subsidiary in accordance with the Issuer's mandatory instructions, could 
have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Relating to the Bonds

A QIPO may not take place prior to the Original Maturity Date

The Bonds may be converted into Ordinary Shares at the option of the holders of the Bonds (the 
"Bondholders") following the occurrence of a QIPO, in accordance with the procedures set out in the 
Conditions. 

The timing and location of any QIPO is uncertain. In addition, the ability of the Issuer to effect a QIPO 
will be subject to a variety of factors, including stock exchange listing approval and financial market 
conditions. Also, the Issuer may effect a transaction which is similar in effect to a QIPO but does not 
meet the relevant criteria set out in the Conditions. Accordingly, such a transaction would not give rise 
to conversion rights on the part of the Bondholders and may also reduce the likelihood of a QIPO 
occurring in the future.

Therefore there can be no assurance that a QIPO will take place during the life of the Bonds. In these 
circumstances no conversion right will arise and the Bonds will be redeemed at their principal amount 
on the maturity date in respect of the Bonds. 

There is currently no trading market for the Ordinary Shares

Prior to the occurrence of a QIPO, there will be no trading market for the Ordinary Shares. There is no 
assurance that a QIPO will occur or that a trading market for the Ordinary Shares will develop or be 
sustained after the QIPO, or that the price at which the Ordinary Shares will trade in the public market 
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subsequent to the QIPO will not be lower than the price at which the Ordinary Shares are offered in the 
QIPO. Even if a QIPO occurs, if no active trading market develops for the Ordinary Shares, investors 
may experience difficulty selling the Ordinary Shares issued on conversion of the Bonds.

No active trading market for the Bonds

The liquidity of any market for the Bonds will depend upon the number of holders of the Bonds and 
other factors. In addition, the liquidity of the trading market in the Bonds, and any market price quoted 
for the Bonds, may be adversely affected by changes in the financial markets and by changes in the 
Group's financial performance or in the prospects for companies in its industry generally. There can be 
no assurance that an active trading market will develop for the Bonds.

Share price volatility and liquidity may affect the performance of investments in the Issuer

The share price of listed companies can be highly volatile and their shares may have limited liquidity. 
An active trading market for the Ordinary Shares following any QIPO may not develop and the trading 
price for the Ordinary Shares may fluctuate significantly. Investors may be unable to recover their 
original investment. In addition, equity market conditions may affect the price and market liquidity for 
Ordinary Shares regardless of the performance of the Issuer . Equity market conditions are affected by 
many factors, such as the general economic, political or regulatory outlook, movements in or outlook 
on interest rates and inflation rates, currency fluctuations, commodity prices, changes in investor 
sentiment towards particular market sectors and the demand for and supply of capital. Trading in the 
Ordinary Shares by other investors, such as large purchases or sales of Ordinary Shares may also affect 
the share price. Accordingly, the market price of Ordinary Shares may not reflect the underlying value 
of the Issuer's investments and the price at which investors may dispose of their Ordinary Shares at any 
point in time may be influenced by a number of factors, only some of which may pertain to the Issuer 
while others may be outside the Issuer's control. Investors should not expect that they will necessarily 
be able to realise, within a period that they would otherwise regard as reasonable, their investment in 
Ordinary Shares issued on conversion of the Bonds. The Issuer's results and prospects from time to 
time may be below the expectations of market analysts and investors.

Future sales, or the real or perceived possibility of sales, of a significant number of Ordinary Shares 
in the public market could adversely affect the prevailing trading price of the Ordinary Shares

The Issuer cannot predict the effect, if any, that sales of the Ordinary Shares, or the availability of the 
Ordinary Shares for future sale, will have on the market price of the Ordinary Shares, but the 
availability of Ordinary Shares that are eligible for public sale could adversely affect the trading price 
of the Ordinary Shares. Any sales of any large quantities of Ordinary Shares could adversely affect the 
trading price of the Ordinary Shares and the Bonds.

Security sharing arrangements in respect of the Bonds

The obligations of the Issuer under the Bonds and the trust deed in respect of the Bonds are secured by 
a second priority security over 50 per cent. of the shareholding of the Issuer in RAECL (the "Pledged 
Shares") and certain other assets (such as any further shares which the Issuer may hold in RAECL in 
the future together with any dividends and other distributions) (the "Charged Assets") pursuant to a 
deed of pledge entered into between the Issuer and the Trustee on 13 October 2010 (the "Bond Deed of 
Pledge"). The obligations of the Issuer under the Convertible Loan Agreement and certain other 
financing agreements referred to therein are secured by a first priority security over the Pledged Shares 
and the Charged Assets pursuant to a separate deed of pledge between the Issuer and EBRD (the 
"EBRD Deed of Pledge"). The Issuer, the Trustee and EBRD entered into a deed of priority on 13 
October 2010 (the "Deed of Priority") pursuant to which the security granted under the EBRD Deed of 
Pledge and the Bond Deed of Pledge is equally and rateably shared as between EBRD and the Trustee 
and the Bondholders in respect of the obligations secured by the EBRD Deed of Pledge and the Bond 
Deed of Pledge in the manner described in the Deed of Priority. The Deed of Priority contains 
provisions for the application of moneys recovered in the event of an enforcement of the security 
created pursuant to the Bond Deed of Pledge and the EBRD Deed of Pledge. These provisions will 
allow for the payment of certain costs and expenses to the Trustee and EBRD ahead of payment of any 
amounts to Bondholders. There can be no assurance that the moneys recovered in the event of 
enforcement of the security in respect of the Bonds will be sufficient to satisfy the claims of 
Bondholders.
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Enforcement of security in respect of the Bonds

The security created by the Bond Deed of Pledge and the EBRD Deed of Pledge is over the Pledged 
Shares and certain other Charged Assets. RAECL is an unlisted company which in turn holds 100 per 
cent. of the shares in Diall, the Russian company that holds the Bortovoy Licence. There can be no 
assurance that the realisation of the security in the event of enforcement of the security will be able to 
be effected without difficulty, and no assurance can be given as to the amounts recoverable in the event 
of enforcement of the security.

The Bonds may be redeemed prior to maturity

The Conditions provide that the Bonds are redeemable at the Issuer's option in certain limited 
circumstances and, accordingly, the Issuer may choose to redeem the outstanding Bonds at times when 
prevailing interest rates may be relatively low. In such circumstances, an investor may either be 
compelled to exercise its conversion rights earlier than it might otherwise have chosen to do so or, if it 
does not so convert its Bonds, may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a comparable 
security bearing an effective interest rate as high as that of the Bonds and/or containing a conversion 
right.

Risks attached to the exercise of conversion rights

Investors should be aware that the Bonds, which are convertible into Ordinary Shares, bear certain 
additional risks. Depending on the performance of the underlying Ordinary Shares, the value of the 
underlying Ordinary Shares may be substantially lower than when the Bonds were initially purchased. 
In addition, the value of the Ordinary Shares to be delivered upon conversion of the Bonds may vary 
substantially between the date on which the rights of conversion are exercised under the Bonds and the 
date on which such Ordinary Shares are delivered. 

Bondholders have limited anti-dilution protection

The Bonds are convertible into Ordinary Shares. The conversion price at which the Bonds may be 
converted into Ordinary Shares will be adjusted in the event that there is a consolidation, 
reclassification or subdivision, capitalisation of profits or reserves, dividend (as defined in the 
Conditions), rights issue or grant of other subscription rights or other adjustment, including a spin-off 
event, which affects the Ordinary Shares, but only in the situations and only to the extent provided 
under the Conditions. There is no requirement that there should be an adjustment for every corporate or 
other event that may affect the value of the Ordinary Shares. Events in respect of which no adjustment 
is made may adversely affect the value of the Ordinary Shares and, therefore, adversely affect the value 
of the Bonds.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The Bonds are being issued by the Issuer to satisfy its obligations of payment of additional interest in 
accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds and therefore the net proceeds of the offering 
of the Bonds will be zero.
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VOSTOK ENERGY PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY 

Vostok Energy Public Limited Company (for the purposes of this section, the "Issuer" and together 
with its subsidiary undertakings, the "Group") was incorporated and registered in England and Wales 
on 4 May 2006 under the Companies Act 1985 as a private limited company with the name Atlantic 
Energy Group Limited and registered number 5806076. On 4 August 2006, it changed its name to 
Vostok Energy Limited and it re-registered as a public limited company on 9 September 2010. The 
principal legislation under which the Issuer operates is the Companies 2006 Act and its Ordinary 
Shares have been created under the Companies Act 1985 and the Companies Act 2006.

The registered office of the Issuer in the United Kingdom is Masters House, 107 Hammersmith Road, 
London, England W14 0QH (telephone number 0207 603 1515 or, if dialling from outside the United 
Kingdom, +44(0)20 7603 1515), and its international headquarters is at 4/5 Park Place, London SW1A 
1LP.

Overview

The Issuer is an independent, upstream gas and oil exploration, development and production company 
by gas reserves in the Saratov region of South Western Russia.

In June 2006, the Issuer acquired Diall, the holder of the Bortovoy Licence, via the acquisition of 
Diall’s parent company, RAECL, from a group of companies controlled by Sergey Alafinov. The 
Bortovoy Licence area is the principal asset of the Issuer, with an area covering over 3,000 km2. The 
site of the Bortovoy Licence area is located close to the border with Kazakhstan and along the northern 
margin of the Pre-Caspian basin, at its boundary with the Volga Ural platform. The Pre-Caspian basin 
is one of the largest hydrocarbon basins in the Commonwealth of Independent States (the "CIS"), 
extending from Kazakhstan into South Western Russia.

The following map illustrates the Saratov region and the surrounding area and the Bortovoy Licence 
area’s position within it.

At the time of the Issuer's acquisition of Diall, the Bortovoy Licence area had more than 130 previously 
drilled wells, mainly drilled during the Soviet period. Historically, production efforts had focused on 
oil rather than gas because (i) oil production was easier and less capital intensive than processing gas 
and (ii) the relatively low regulated price for domestic gas in Russia and the lack of transparency in 
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obtaining access to transmission pipelines undermined the commercial viability of gas production. 
However, the increasing demand in Russia for the domestic consumption and export of gas, together 
with the Russian Government’s commitment to liberalise industrial gas prices in Russia, led the Group 
to conclude that the development of the significant gas reserves on the Bortovoy Licence area would be 
more profitable than maintaining a narrow commercial focus on oil production. The Group also 
believed (and continues to believe) that there was substantial exploration potential for further gas
reserves.

The Group is headquartered in London and supported by operational offices in Saratov and Moscow. 

History and Development of the Bortovoy Licence Area and the Group

The Issuer was incorporated in England and Wales in May 2006 with the intention of identifying and 
acquiring underdeveloped, underfunded or otherwise overlooked acreage with significant hydrocarbon 
potential. The Group acquired Diall, which held the Bortovoy Licence, in June 2006. The land covered 
by the Bortovoy Licence area was owned during Soviet times by the Russian Government and 
extensive geological exploration work aimed at finding large deposits of hydrocarbons was conducted 
across the entire region starting in the 1930s. However, after the first gas discoveries in the early 1940s, 
the Saratov region became increasingly overshadowed by much larger hydrocarbon finds in 
neighbouring regions. With primary exploration focus shifting towards oil in Western Siberia, the 
Saratov region has seen very little activity since the 1970s. Nonetheless, as a result of this earlier 
exploration work, the Bortovoy Licence area has more than 130 old wells which were drilled over the 
past 40 years and more than 1,000 km of 2D seismic geophysical data acquired prior to the Issuer’s 
acquisition of Diall.

The acreage that now forms the Bortovoy Licence area was won in a government auction by Diall in 
1999. Diall proceeded with the exploration and production of oil with commercial production of oil 
commencing in 2003. At the time, the known and potential gas reserves in the Bortovoy Licence area 
were perceived to represent limited commercial value due to the level of domestic gas prices in Russia 
and the need for capital intensive processing facilities. As a result, these gas reserves were not 
developed further.

At the time of its acquisition by the Issuer in June 2006, Diall was producing on average 50 bbl/d of oil 
and condensate. The Issuer immediately began analysing existing seismic and well data to develop a 
better understanding of the geology and hydrocarbon prospectivity of the Bortovoy Licence area. In 
mid-2007, in addition to obtaining encouraging results from well re-entries and the re-processing and 
interpretation of seismic data, the Issuer conducted a trial production of oil at three Western Fields 
(Karpenskoye, Zhdanovskoye and Mokrousovskoye) in order to ascertain the long-term productivity of 
the existing wells. During this trial period, the Issuer was able to achieve average liquid production 
rates of over 300 bbl/day. In conjunction with this oil and condensate production, however, a 
significant quantity of the associated gas was flared, as the Group did not have the necessary facilities 
to process this gas for transportation and sale. The increasing demand in Russia for gas, together with 
the continued increase in Russian domestic gas prices, led the Group to shift its focus from oil 
production to gas development and production. The Issuer took the decision to acquire a gas processing 
plant from Chevron in 2007 which was refurbished, re-engineered, shipped to Saratov and re-
assembled on the Karpenskoye Field. In mid-2008, the Group decided to suspend oil production in 
order to avoid the adverse economic and environmental consequences of flaring the gas while it 
established the necessary facilities and infrastructure to produce gas on a commercial basis. Production 
of gas from the gas processing plant in the Western Fields commenced on 23 November 2010, at which 
point the Group began selling gas to Gazprom. Sales of gas to Gazprom continued throughout 2011 
along with associated condensate and in addition, the Group resumed production and sale of oil in early
2011.

The Group's Operations

The Group’s operations are currently focused on the exploration, development and production of 
onshore assets located in the Saratov region in South Western Russia.
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Overview of the Bortovoy Licence

The Group holds the Bortovoy Licence, which is a sub-soil licence for the geological exploration and 
extraction of gas and oil and which is valid until 2025, although the Issuer can apply for this to be 
extended. The Bortovoy Licence was acquired by the Issuer through its acquisition of Diall in June 
2006 and is located on the pronounced edge of the Caspian depression, which hosts a number of other 
well-known large gas and oil fields. The Bortovoy Licence area is geographically and commercially 
divided into two distinct areas: the more advanced Western Fields, on which the Western Plant is 
located; and the Eastern Fields which is to be developed further using revenues generated by sales of 
gas from the Western Plant.

The Bortovoy Licence area is conveniently bisected by Gazprom’s CAC trunkline, which has enabled 
the Group to tie-in its gas processing plant to Russia’s principal gas distribution network. In addition, 
the Bortovoy Licence area is in close proximity to domestic heavy industry, which provides a potential 
gas and oil market. The Group’s gas is sold to Gazprom at the tie-in point to the Gazprom CAC 
trunkline and then transported by Gazprom via its pipeline system. Oil produced by the Group is sold 
on-site to end-users.

Field Descriptions 

The Western Fields

There are four established gas and oil fields in the Western Fields, as illustrated by the map below: the 
Karpenskoye field; the Zhdanovskoye field; the Krasnokutskoye field; and the Mokrousovskoye field.

The Karpenskoye field

The Karpenskoye field is defined structurally by the interpretation of a conventional seismic grid 
acquired in 2002 and by more than 20 wells drilled during the 1970s on or adjacent to the main 
hydrocarbon bearing area of the field. The field is an elongated northeast—southwest trending 
anticlinal structure approximately ten km in length and two to three km in width that is interpreted to 
be a Lower Permian biostromal reef with a total hydrocarbon bearing area of over 20 km2 under 
closure. The Karpenskoye field contains four separate reservoir intervals developed within Lower 
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Permian carbonates, although the majority of the reserves attributed to the field are contained within 
the lowest stratigraphic reservoir interval, which contains gas with oil present in association. Subsidiary 
reservoirs occurring within the field are of limited distribution, occurring only in the westernmost 
portion of the field and are of relatively minor economic importance.

Diall commenced a programme to re-enter a number of pre-existing wells in 2006 pursuant to a trial 
production programme for oil production, as well as drilling two of three appraisal wells required to be 
drilled under the trial production programme. The new appraisal wells drilled were unsuccessful in 
identifying the oil rim and were suspended by the Issuer as potential water disposal wells. In 2007 and 
2008, the Issuer re-completed an additional eight Soviet-era wells, of which three were placed into 
intermittent trial production for oil, producing an average total of about 30 m3d/210 bpd of oil with the 
associated gas being flared. In 2009, the Issuer acquired the rights to three additional wells within the 
Karpenskoye field.

Four reservoir intervals have been identified in the Karpenskoye field which contain various quantities 
of gas and oil. The main reservoir, which contains mainly gas with some associated oil, holds almost 
all of the economic reserves of this field and the other reservoir intervals are of relatively minor 
economic importance. The main reservoir has a gas bearing area of 19.8 km2 and a peripheral oil 
bearing rim area of 6.1 km2 under closure. Of the 14 wells which tap into this reservoir, two are 
completed as potential oil producing wells, but will also produce associated gas. Three further wells are 
pending re-completion and testing during the second half of 2010, of which two are considered as 
potential gas production wells and one as a potential oil production well. The remaining nine wells 
have been completed as Lower Permian gas production wells and were suspended pending completion 
of the Western Plant.

Three development wells were drilled and completed for natural gas deliverability during 2009. Initial 
testing and completion of these three wells demonstrated a combined production potential of 180 km3/d 
of gas, including one well testing 10 km3/d of gas, together with 90 m3/d of oil, which is therefore 
considered as a potential oil production well.

In October 2009, the Issuer undertook an acid matrix stimulation and fracturing programme on three 
wells in the Karpenskoye field to determine the effectiveness of such treatments in increasing 
production capability. The programme, which was conducted by the Russian subsidiary of 
Schlumberger Inc., an international oilfield service contractor, increased well flow capability by two to 
four times in individual wells, increasing the combined flow rates in the three wells from a total of 211 
km3/d (6.0MMscfd) to approximately 590 km3/d (16.7MMscfd).

Based upon the successful results of this programme, an additional six wells in the Karpenskoye field 
were selected for acid matrix stimulation and fracturing. Results from this programme indicate that 
overall gas production capability at Karpenskoye has been increased and, as a result, the total gas 
production potential of the Karpenskoye field exceeds the 17.6 bcfa (0.5 bcma) maximum capacity of 
the Western Plant.

The Zhdanovskoye field

The Zhdanovskoye field contains four reservoirs within the Lower Permian horizon and is comprised 
of two separate structural closures developed on a southwest—northeast trending elongated structure 
12.5 km in length and one to two km in width. The principal reservoir in this field was originally 
identified in two wells, both of which flow tested gas upon their completion in the 1970s. The Issuer
drilled an additional three wells in the area in 2008 and 2009 which successfully established the 
reservoir as hydrocarbon bearing and flow tested gas at rates up to 80 km3/d (2.25MMscfd). In total, 
five wells have been completed in respect of this reservoir as potential Lower Permian gas production 
wells and have been suspended pending future tie-ins into the Western Plant. A further two Lower 
Permian reservoirs were identified. The East Lower Permian reservoir identified by well 30 is 
classified as a single well gas post and was placed in trial production in 2007 and 2008 pursuant to the 
Issuer’s commitments under the Bortovoy Licence, producing an average rate of approximately 15 
km3/d (105 bpd) of oil and 55 km3/d (1.5MMscfd) of gas which was flared. The West Lower Permian 
reservoir contains one well, which was successfully re-entered and completed by the Issuer in 2009, 
flow testing gas of up to 25 km3/d (0.7MMscfd) and is assigned as a gas bearing area of 4.65 km2 under 
closure.
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The Krasnokutskoye field 

The Krasnokutskoye field is located at the westernmost tip of the Bortovoy Licence area and is 
comprised of two fields made up of a number of separate pools. These fields had already been 
discovered prior to 1990 during the Soviet phase of exploration and were further explored using 
additional 2D seismic programmes acquired by the Issuer in 2007. Three separate gas pools were 
identified in the Devonian horizon using the seismic data, but the four wells reaching this layer were 
abandoned following completion and testing, despite findings of hydrocarbon potential. Three 
additional separate gas pools are located in the Lower Permian layer of this field and three wells have 
been identified as potential gas producing wells.

The Mokrousovskoye field

The Mokrousovskoye field was delineated by 3D seismic acquired in 2005 and is comprised of four 
separate structural closures developed on a southwest—northeast trending elongated structural trend 
approximately nine km in length and one to two km in width and which are interpreted to be individual 
culminations that built up along a Lower Permian biohermal reef. The principal reservoir is developed 
within the Lower Permian interval which is developed over the entire field and was identified in eight 
wells drilled during the early 1970s, five of which flow tested gas on completion at various rates up to 
198 km3/d (5.6MMscfd) and were conserved.

The Eastern Fields

There are six gas and oil fields in the Eastern Fields, as illustrated by the map below: the Pavlovskoye 
field; the Kochkurovskoye field; the Timoninskoye field; the Lipovskoye field; the West Lipovskoye 
field; and the Peschanaya field.

The Pavlovskoye field

The Pavlovskoye field was defined by a conventional 2D seismic grid acquired in 2002 and by 
supplemental seismic programmes acquired by the Issuer in 2008 as part of its wider exploration work 
of the Bortovoy Licence area. The Pavlovskoye field comprises a large elongated Lower Permian 
biohermal reef structure approximately nine km in length and one to three km in width, which is 
delineated by 11 wells drilled during the late 1970s and early 1980s. The reservoir interval within the 
Lower Permian has a hydrocarbon bearing area of 20.2 km2 under closure that is delineated by six 
wells drilled into the reservoir, which flow tested gas at various rates of up to 215 km3/d (6MMscfd) 
often also containing small amounts of oil. A total of seven wells were conserved following completion 
and testing and are considered to be capable of being re-completed and brought into eventual 
production. All reserves in the Pavlovskoye field are considered as proved.

The Lipovskoye field

The Lipovskoye field was discovered by a well drilled in 1984 which tested gas at rates of up to 431 
km3/d (15.2MMscfd) and 65 km3/d (2.3MMscfd) from two porous dolomite intervals in the Lower 
Permian horizon. Three additional wells were drilled and flow tested gas at comparable rates of up to 
484.8 km3/d (17.1MMscfd) from up to three separate reservoir intervals within the Lower Permian 
horizon. An additional well encountered the Lower Permian reservoir interval on the south flank of the 
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field outside the hydrocarbon bearing area and was wet. The field was further delineated by the 2D 
seismic programme acquired by the Issuer in 2007 and is interpreted to be an east—west trending
Lower Permian P1 biostromal reef structure some five km in length and one to two km in width with a 
hydrocarbon bearing area of almost six km2 under closure. The Lipovskoye field lies within the area of 
the 3D seismic programme acquired by the Issuer in 2009, which is currently undergoing reprocessing; 
once the interpretation of this data is completed, it will be used for a re-evaluation of the field. 
Following completion and testing, the four wells contained within this field were conserved and are 
considered as being capable of being re-entered and re-completed as gas production wells. All reserves 
within the Lipovskoye field are considered proved based upon these four existing wells whilst reserves 
in the eastern and westernmost portions of the Lipovskoye field are categorised equally as probable and 
possible as a function of drainage radius from those wells.

The West Lipovskoye field

The West Lipovskoye field was discovered by a well drilled in 1984 which flow tested gas at a rate of 
29.1 km3/d (1.0MMscfd) from a porous dolomite interval in the Lower Permian horizon.

The West Lipovskoye field was further delineated by a grid of conventional 2D seismic programme 
recorded by the Issuer in 2007 and is an east—west trending anticlinal feature interpreted to be a Lower 
Permian biostromal reef structure approximately seven km in length and one to two km in width with a 
hydrocarbon bearing area of 8.2 km2 under closure. Reserves in the central portion of this field are 
considered as proved, whilst the eastern and western portions of the field more removed from the 
existing well are assigned reserves in the probable category. Following completion and testing, the well 
was conserved and is considered as being capable of being re-entered and re-completed as a gas 
production well.

The Kochkurovskoye field

The Kochkurovskoye field was discovered by an exploration well drilled by the Issuer in 2007. Upon 
completion and testing, this well flow tested gas from a Lower Permian reservoir interval at rates of up 
to 20.6 km3/d (0.7MMscfd), and low gravity oil/condensate at rates of up to 28 km3/d (190 bpd) with 
gas of up to 9.5 km3/d (0.3MMscfd) per day from a stratigraphically higher Lower Permian reservoir 
interval.

The Kochkurovskoye-1 well was placed upon trial production for seven months following its 
completion by the Issuer in 2008, during which time it produced low gravity oil at a constrained rate of 
approximately 10m3/d (70bpd). Following the trial production period, the well was shut-in and 
suspended as a potential Lower Permian oil and gas well.

The Timoninskoye field

The Timoninskoye field was discovered by one well, drilled in 1985, which flow tested gas at a rate of 
11.74 km3/d (0.4MMscfd) from a porous dolomite interval in the Lower Permian horizon. The 
Timoninskoye structure is a domal anticline delineated by a grid of conventional 2D seismic data 
recorded by the Issuer in 2007 and is interpreted to be a Lower Permian P1 biohermal reef mound with 
a hydrocarbon bearing area of 8.8 km2 under closure. During the first quarter of 2010, the Issuer drilled 
an appraisal well. A hydrocarbon saturated interval in the Lower Permian horizon was identified by the 
Timoninskoye-44 well, but completion and testing of the interval is pending. Reserves in the 
Timoninskoye field are assigned in the probable category pending the results of completion and testing 
of the Timoninskoye-44 well.

The Peschanaya field

The Peschanaya field was discovered by two wells drilled during 1991 which were open hole tested in 
the Lower Permian carbonates, producing some quantities of gas and oil with formation water at a rate 
calculated at 4.5 km3/d (31 bpd) of oil equivalent. A follow-up well encountered two hydrocarbon 
bearing intervals which were identified on well logs in that portion of the section, but the results of the 
testing were inconclusive.

The Peschanaya structure is currently being re-defined based upon the interpretation of the 2D seismic 
programme undertaken by the Issuer in 2007. The field also lies within the area of the 3D seismic 
programme acquired by the Issuer in 2009 which is currently undergoing specialised reprocessing. 
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Once the interpretation of this reprocessed data is complete, it will be used for a re-evaluation of the 
field. One of the abandoned wells is considered to be within the oil leg of an indicated gas 
accumulation contained within a large closed domal anticline interpreted to be a Lower Permian 
biohermal reef located to the north and is assigned oil reserves totalling 27,000 bbl based upon a 0.25 
km2 drainage area. The closed structure to the north of the well has an area of 8.6 km2 under closure 
and is assigned gas reserves in the probable category.

Exploration activity 

Historic exploration activity

Initial work on the Bortovoy Licence area was undertaken during the Soviet era. During the 1970s and 
1980s approximately 1,000 km of seismic data were acquired and over 130 wells were drilled. The 
focus of early exploration on the Bortovoy Licence area was on the Lower Permian interval at the 
Caspian margin, this being the shallowest prospective interval. This resulted in seven Lower Permian 
field discoveries, designated from west to east: Krasnokutskoye, Zhdanovskoye, Karpenskoye, 
Mokrousovskoye, Pavlovskoye, West Lipovskoye and Lipovskoye. The Carboniferous and Devonian 
intervals are the main producing reservoirs in the Volga Ural platform, however, only limited 
exploration was undertaken in the Bortovoy Licence area for these deeper targets, partially due to the 
limited capability of seismic data of that era. Five deep wells, four of which were drilled within the 
westernmost area of the Bortovoy Licence area in the Krasnokutskoye field, successfully tested oil and 
gas from Middle and Upper Devonian intervals.

The Bortovoy Licence was subsequently won in a government auction by Diall in 1999. Between 2000 
and the acquisition of Diall by the Issuer in June 2006, Diall reprocessed more than 1,000 km of 
existing Soviet era seismic data covering primarily the Western Fields and acquired almost 700 km of 
new 2D seismic and 55 km2 of 3D seismic data covering the Mokrousovskoye and Zhdanovskoye 
fields.

The Issuer's exploration activities—2007 – 2011

The acquisition of Diall by the Issuer in June 2006 was made upon recognition that Diall’s major assets 
were the natural gas reserves and potential resources of the Bortovoy Licence. Trial production for oil 
was ongoing at the time of the acquisition, but production was limited and the flaring of associated gas, 
which was both environmentally and economically undesirable, would have been permitted only for a 
limited period of time. The Issuer decided to develop and exploit the natural gas reserves and resources 
and to suspend oil production temporarily. In order to process the gas for sale and transportation, 
including dehydrating the gas and removing the hydrogen sulphide, which makes up less than one per 
cent. of the gas volume, preparations were made for the construction of the 17.6 bcfa (0.5 bcma) 
Western Plant. At the same time, a plan to evaluate the reserves in the Western Fields and to identify 
the resource potential from the entire Bortovoy Licence area was adopted.

The first phase of the plan implemented during 2007 and 2008 was to concentrate on the identification 
and verification of sufficient economic reserves of natural gas in the Western Fields to provide an 
adequate supply of gas for the Western Plant. The objective was to demonstrate that by new 
exploration and appraisal drilling together with re-completion and refurbishment of existing wells, 
sufficient natural gas deliverability existed in the Western Fields to sustain the Western Plant 
throughout its economic life.

The second part of the plan, implemented at the same time as the Western Fields appraisal programme, 
was to investigate the prospectivity and exploration potential of the entire Bortovoy Licence area. 
Between January 2007 and March 2008, the Issuer acquired 3,590 km of new 2D seismic data. The 
majority of this data was acquired in the eastern and central areas of the Bortovoy Licence area where 
little or no older seismic was available. The purpose of this programme was to develop a better 
understanding of the nature of the Pre-Caspian margin as it related to the entire Paleozoic sequence in 
the east and central areas of the Bortovoy Licence area and to identify the potential resources of these 
portions of the Licence area in order to guide future exploration and exploitation strategy. Additionally, 
interpretation of this newly acquired data provided a framework to demonstrate more accurately the 
nature and configuration of traps relating to existing wells that had successfully encountered 
hydrocarbon-bearing reservoirs.



34

In conjunction with seismic acquisition, existing seismic data acquired during the Soviet era and by 
Diall was reprocessed in order to make this data more compatible with the acquisition and processing 
parameters used in newly acquired data.

During the winter of 2008/2009, 320 km2 of 3D seismic data was acquired covering the easternmost 
portion of the Bortovoy Licence area in order to acquire further detail of the potential resources of both 
deep and shallower prospects as a guide to future exploration drilling. A further 124 km2 of 3D seismic 
data was acquired during 2009 and 2010 immediately to the west of, and as a continuation of, the 2008-
2009 3D programme.  In 2010 to 2011 a further 180 km2 of 3D seismic data was acquired further to the 
west as a continuation of the 2009 to 2010 programme. Interpretation of this data set was ongoing 
during 2011 however the preliminary Interpretation confirms continued prospectivity of the Devonian 
exploration plays on the licence. 

Details of the Group’s wells

The map below illustrates the location of the exploration, appraisal, development and production wells 
on the Bortovoy Licence area.

The terms of the Bortovoy Licence entitle the Issuer to exploit the subsoil of the Bortovoy Licence 
area, but the Group does not own the land covered by the Bortovoy Licence. The land and pre-existing 
wells on the land are owned either by the federal government or by local farmers. The Group therefore 
enters into lease agreements with the federal government or local farmers in relation to pre-existing 
wells which the Group intends to re-enter and in relation to the land upon which the Group intends to 
drill new wells. The Issuer therefore only seeks to acquire appropriate land use rights over those parts 
of the Bortovoy Licence area which the Group actually uses, together with land use rights required to 
facilitate access to these parts.

Gas processing facilities 

Western Plant

The Issuer’s development of the acreage in the Western Fields since 2007 has been focused on the 
construction and commissioning of the Western Plant. An existing gas processing plant which was 
located in California was purchased from Chevron in the US in late 2007 and the Issuer engaged 
Ventech Engineers International Corporation to refurbish and upgrade this plant (which would become 
the Western Plant) to meet Russian technical and safety standards, as well as to add a sulphur stripping 
capability. The Western Plant, which has a capacity of 17.6 bcfa or 0.5 bcma, was shipped to Russia in 
early 2009. Commissioning of the Western Plant was completed with production of gas commencing 
on 23 November 2010 and production at full capacity was achieved in 2011. The start-up of the 
Western Plant was a key milestone for the Issuer, providing processing capacity for gas, oil, methane, 
sulphur granulates and condensate products to support the Group’s growth.

The Western Plant is physically connected to Gazprom’s CAC trunkline via the Group’s gas sales 
pipeline and gas metering unit and all of the gas currently sold by the Issuer is transported using 
Gazprom’s pipeline. The Issuer has entered into a technical agreement with Gazprom for testing and 
commissioning of the Western Plant during which period gas is allowed to flow into the pipeline.

Proposed Eastern Plant

Construction of the Eastern Plant (primarily site work) together with the accompanying pipeline 
connections and other infrastructure is planned to commence in 2011. Part of the funding for the 
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Eastern Plant is expected to be provided through internally generated cash flow from revenues of sales 
of gas produced from the Western Plant. The Eastern Plant is expected to commence commercial 
production of gas at a level of 17.6 bcfa (0.5 bcma) by early 2015, with a full production level of 35.3 
bcfa (1 bcma) expected during 2015 should the Group’s exploration and development of the Eastern 
Fields generate sufficient reserves. Based on previous production tests, the medium- to long-term 
growth of the Group is expected to be driven by the development of the Eastern Fields, where well 
deliverability rates are on average between two and four times greater than those of wells tested in the 
Western Fields.

The Gazprom Contract

On 11 August 2010, the Issuer entered into an agreement with Gazprom pursuant to which the Group 
committed to supply agreed volumes of gas to Gazprom between September 2010 and December 2015. 
The Group’s current intention is to supply all the gas it produces for sale to Gazprom. The Group will 
therefore be reliant on Gazprom for a significant portion of its revenues. Selling prices are based on 
contracts linked to domestic and industrial gas prices in Russia as regulated by the FST, and the gas is 
sold at the Group’s tie-in point to the Gazprom network. As a result, the Group does not incur material 
transportation costs in respect of its gas sales. Pursuant to the agreement, Gazprom is not required to 
purchase a minimum volume of gas and is only required to pay the Issuer for gas actually supplied. In 
addition, if the gas produced by the Group does not comply with Russian quality requirements, 
Gazprom may refuse to purchase and transport such gas.

Group Structure

The Issuer acts as the holding company of the Group, the principal activities of which are the 
exploration, development and production of hydrocarbons. The Issuer has the following significant 
subsidiary undertakings all of which are save as described below private limited companies, wholly 
owned, incorporated in England and Wales:

Name
Proportion of 

ownership interest Country of operation Principal activity

Active Subsidiaries

Royal Atlantic Energy (Cyprus) Limited............ 100 Cyprus Holding company

Diall Alliance LLC (Diall is a wholly owned 
subsidiary of RAECL) ......................................... 100 Russia Operating company

Vostok Energy Ltd ............................................... 100 United States

Management and 
administration 

company

Vostok Energy Resources Limited...................... 100 England and Wales Financing company

Inactive Subsidiaries

Vostok Energy Company, CJSC ......................... 100 Russia Administration centre

Zhaikinvest Ltd LLP ............................................ 75 Kazakhstan Holding company

Vostok Energy (Cyprus) Limited ........................ 100 Cyprus Holding company

Competition

The Group produces a commodity pursuant to a licence and the price at which the Group sells its 
product is determined by regulated pricing structures as well as market supply and demand. The key 
activities in which the Group faces competition are:

• acquisition of exploration and production licences at auctions or tenders run by Russian 
governmental authorities;

• acquisition of other Russian companies that may already own licences or existing assets;
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• engagement of leading third-party service providers whose capacity to provide key services 
may be limited;

• purchase of capital equipment that may be scarce;

• employment of the best-qualified and most experienced staff;

• acquisition of or access to gas processing capacity; and

• a diversified customer base for sale of gas.

There are a number of other independent operators producing oil from licences also located within the 
Saratov region. However, the Issuer believes that these operators mainly focus on the production of oil 
and the construction of the Western Plant by the Issuer, gives the Group a significant competitive 
advantage in terms of the production of gas, particularly given the level of capital expenditure a 
competitor would have to incur in order to enter the market.

Many of the Group’s other competitors, such as Saratov Neftegas, have substantially greater financial 
resources and have been operating in a market-based, competitive environment for much longer than 
the Group has. Nevertheless, based on historically low production levels of gas in the Saratov region, 
the Group does not expect any significant constraints as a result of this competition and does not expect 
it to become a significant problem in the future.

Investigations

The Issuer has been co-operating with two separate investigations concerning allegations of bribery and 
corruption involving a number of its former officers and employees and the European Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development (the "EBRD").

Investigations concerning Chestnut Consulting Inc. and the EBRD

In May 2009, the Issuer retained US consulting firm, Chestnut Consulting Inc. ("Chestnut"), to assist 
the Issuer in its application process for EBRD funding.  The Issuer understands that the EBRD has 
subsequently commenced an internal investigation in relation to Chestnut and, as part of this 
investigation, the EBRD asked the Issuer to engage an independent consultant to review and report on 
the Issuer's engagement of Chestnut.  The EBRD approved the engagement of Ashurst LLP for this 
purpose.

The EBRD, having reviewed the report produced by Ashurst LLP (the "Chestnut Report") as well as 
other information available to it, has confirmed to the Issuer that, unless new information comes to 
light, it does not intend to investigate further the matter insofar as it relates to the Issuer, nor does it 
intend to issue any notice of acceleration or default to the Issuer in respect of the USD 60,000,000 
convertible loan agreement between the EBRD and the Issuer (the "Convertible Loan") as a result of 
the Chestnut investigation.  The statement from the EBRD does not constitute a waiver or imply any 
modification of any of EBRD's legal or other rights.

The Issuer also understands that the events which gave rise to the EBRD investigation have given rise 
to an ongoing criminal investigation.  However, on 29 June 2011, the Issuer received confirmation 
from the City of London Police that, unless further information should come to light, no further action 
will be taken against the Issuer or any of its current or former employees or officers.

The Issuer understands that the US Federal Bureau of Investigation ("FBI") is conducting a parallel 
investigation in relation to Chestnut and that the City of London Police and the FBI have been 
cooperating in this regard and sharing evidence with one another.  The Issuer further understands that 
certain officers/employees have been named as "subjects" in the FBI's investigation (this means that the 
FBI has determined that these individuals are involved in the matter under investigation but are not 
themselves "Targets" (i.e., suspects)).  The Issuer has not been contacted by the FBI in relation to its 
investigation and has no reason to believe that it is implicated in the same.
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Further investigations concerning the EBRD

The Issuer understands that, in July 2010, the EBRD commenced an internal investigation in relation to 
alleged corrupt activities by a number of its Russian employees in London.  The Issuer understands that 
the events which gave rise to the EBRD investigation have given rise to an ongoing criminal 
investigation.

In April 2011, the City of London Police informed the Issuer that, as part of their enquiries, they were 
investigating the Issuer's application for EBRD funding.  The Issuer has fully co-operated with the 
investigation.  

Certain former officers/employees of the Issuer were interviewed by the City of London Police "under 
caution".  None of these individuals continues to hold any position within the Issuer.

On 11 August 2011, the Issuer received confirmation from the City of London Police that, on the basis 
of the evidence it has obtained to date, they do not intend to recommend criminal action against the 
Issuer.  On 14 March 2012, the City of London Police confirmed to the Issuer that, whilst the 
investigation is ongoing, no further evidence relating to the Issuer has come to light in the seven month 
period since August 2011 and that the City of London Police's position remains as described in their 
letter dated 11 August 2011.  The City of London Police have not confirmed whether they intend to 
recommend criminal action in relation to certain of the former officers/employees who were 
interviewed "under caution".  The Issuer understands that the City of London Police will be submitting 
a file to the Crown Prosecution Service in due course.

Various steps have been taken by the City of London Police since August 2011, but these have not 
given rise to any new material information that could reasonably have caused the City of London 
Police to alter their position as stated on 11 August 2011.  The Directors have co-operated extensively 
and fully with the City of London Police and have ensured that a thorough and comprehensive 
investigation of the Issuer, its records and its personnel has been carried out.  All available evidence 
has been handed over to the City of London Police and the Issuer has received independent legal advice 
that this evidence would not support charges being brought against the Issuer by the Crown Prosecution 
Service.

Finally, the EBRD has informed the Issuer that it has not yet determined whether to commence a 
further investigation into the alleged corrupt activities, in the context of the Issuer's application for 
EBRD funding, pursuant to the EBRD's Enforcement Policy and Procedures (the "EPP").  Such 
proceedings could ultimately result in the Issuer's debarment from any new EBRD projects and/or the 
EBRD calling an event of default under the Convertible Loan, which could have a material adverse 
effect on the financial position of the Issuer.

Litigation

Except as provided above under "Investigations" there are no governmental, legal or arbitration 
proceedings, including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer is 
aware, during the 12 months prior to the date of these Listing Particulars, which may have, or have had 
in the recent past, significant effects on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer and/or the 
Group.

Insurance

The Group currently maintains all mandatory insurance required by law and has enhanced its policies 
with respect to medical insurance and accidents. The Group maintains property and operational 
insurance including third-party liability coverage for accidents and environmental damage.  See "Risks 
Relating to the Group's Business and Industry" in the section headed "Risk Factors".  The Issuer 
believes that the Group also carries insurance coverage customary in Western countries for a business 
of its size and nature, however, a significant event could materially adversely affect the Group's 
business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and the trading price of the Bonds and 
(once issued) the Ordinary Shares.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Directors 

The Issuer's Directors, and their position, as at the date of these Listing Particulars were as follows:

Name Position Principal activities outside the Group

Yuri Samsonov……………... Chief Executive Officer Chairman, Kama-Oil Joint Stock Company

Charles Jamieson…...………. Non-Executive Chairman Chairman, Salamander Energy plc

Blaine Karst ................................ Finance Director None

Roger Cagle ................................ Non-Executive Director Deputy Chief Executive Officer, SOCO 

International plc

Non-Executive Chairman, Dominion 

Petroleum Ltd.

Robert Cathery ................................Non-Executive Director Director, SOCO International plc

Director, Salamander Energy plc

Director, Central Asia Metals plc

Ronald Harris................................ Non-Executive Director None

John Orange ................................ Non-Executive Director Non-Executive Director, Premier Oil plc

Mark Sadykhov................................Non-Executive Director Director, Wilson Eurasia

President, MMS Holdings

Steven Stinemetz…………… Non-Executive Director Partner, The Stinemetz Law Firm

Corporate Secretary, Eurasia Drilling 

Company Limited

Jacob Ulrich………………… Non-Executive Director None

The business address of each of the Directors is 4/5 Park Place, London SW1A 1LP.

Senior Managers

The Issuer's senior managers ("Senior Managers") as at these date of these Listing Particulars were as 
follows:

Name Position
Dr. Ivor Bond…………………………………. VP Exploration & Development

Kevin Burns…………………………………... VP of Operations

Vadim Okunev…………………………….….. General Director

Conflicts of Interest

At the date of these Listing Particulars, none of the Directors or Senior Managers has any potential 
conflicts of interests between their duties to the Issuer and their private interests or other duties.

Aggregate Ownership of Securities

The table below sets out the interests of the Directors and Senior Managers (all of which are beneficial 
or interests of a person connected with the indicated Director or Senior Manager) in the share capital of 
the Issuer as at 4 April 2012 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of these Listing 
Particulars):

Director/Senior Managers(1) Number of Ordinary 
Shares 

Percentage of existing 
issued share capital 

Charles Jamieson.................................................... 6,450,000 3.346
Roger Cagle ........................................................... 3,200,000 1.660
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Robert Cathery ....................................................... 6,325,000 3.281
Ronald Harris......................................................... 9,850,000 5.110
Mark Sadykhov...................................................... 2,000,000 1.037
Blaine Karst ........................................................... 1,090,000 0.565
Ivor Bond............................................................... 820,000 0.425
Steven Stinemetz…………………………………… 125,000 0.065
Yuri Samsonov……………………………………... 50,000 0.026
John Orange………………………………………... 25,000 0.013
Kevin Burns........................................................... 10,000 0.005
______________________________
(1) This table sets out the entire beneficial interest of the Directors and Senior Managers including any Ordinary Shares in which they are 

interested by virtue of their participation in the Issuer's Employee Benefit Trust.
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PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

The Issuer is not aware of any person, who at the date of these Listing Particulars, exercises, or could 
exercise, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, control over the Issuer.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE ORDINARY SHARES

The following summarises certain provisions in respect of the Issuer's Ordinary Shares and articles of 
association (the "Articles"). 

Share Capital

As at 4 April 2012, being the last practicable date before the publication of these Listing Particulars, 
the Issuer has an issued and fully paid share capital of (a) US$194,069,427 comprising 194,069,427
Ordinary Shares of US$0.01 each; and (b) £50,000 comprising 50,000 redeemable shares of £1.00 
each.

The principal legislation under which the issued Ordinary Shares have been and will be created is the 
Companies Act 1985 and the Companies Act 2006 and the regulations made thereunder.

Summary of the Articles of Association

This summary of the Articles does not purport to be complete and is subject to and is qualified in its 
entirety by references to the Articles.  The Articles contain provisions, inter alia, to the following 
effect:

Object of the Issuer

The objects for which the Issuer is established are unrestricted.

Voting rights in respect of Ordinary Shares

Shareholders shall have the right to receive notice of, to attend and to vote at all general meetings of 
the Issuer. Save as otherwise provided in the Articles, on a show of hands each holder of shares present 
in person and entitled to vote shall have one vote and upon a poll each such holder who is present in 
person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall have one vote in respect of every share held by him.

No member shall be entitled to vote at any general meeting if any call or other sum presently payable 
by him in respect of shares remains unpaid or if a member has been served by the Directors with a 
restriction notice in the manner described in the Articles below under "Restrictions on Ordinary 
Shares".

Restrictions on Ordinary Shares

If a member or any person appearing to be interested in shares in the Issuer has been duly served with a 
notice pursuant to section 793 of the Companies Act 2006 and is in default in supplying to the Issuer
information thereby required within 14 days from the date of service of such notice the Issuer may 
serve on such member or on any such person a notice (a "restriction notice") in respect of the shares in 
relation to which the default occurred ("Default Shares") and any other shares held at the date of the 
restriction notice directing that the member shall not be entitled to be present or to vote at any general 
meeting or class meeting of the Issuer. Where the Default Shares represent at least 0.25 per cent. in 
nominal value of the issued shares of the Issuer of the same class the restriction notice may in addition 
direct, inter alia, that any dividend or other money which would otherwise be payable on the Default 
Shares shall be retained by the Issuer without liability to pay interest; where the Issuer has offered the 
right to elect to receive shares instead of cash in respect of any dividends any election by such member 
of such restricted shares will not be effective; and no transfer of any of the shares held by the member 
shall be registered unless the member is not himself in default in supplying the information requested 
and the transfer is part only of the member's holding and is accompanied by a certificate given by the 
member in a form satisfactory to the Directors to the effect that after due and careful enquiry the 
member is satisfied that none of the shares which is the subject of the transfer is a restricted share.

Variation of Class Rights

If at any time the share capital of the Issuer is divided into different classes of shares, the rights 
attached to any class of shares may, subject to the Companies Act 2006, the Uncertificated Securities 
Regulations 2001 (the "Regulations") and every other statute or subordinate legislation for the time 
being in force concerning companies and affecting the Issuer (the "Statutes"), be abrogated or varied 
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either with the consent in writing of the holders of three fourths in nominal value of the issued shares of 
that class (excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares) or with the sanction of a special 
resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of the shares of that class. To every such 
separate general meeting the provisions of Chapter 3 of part 13 of the Companies Act 2006 (save as 
stated in sections 334(2) and (3)) and the provisions of the Articles relating to general meetings shall 
apply, mutatis mutandis, but so that the necessary quorum at any such meeting other than an adjourned 
meeting shall be two persons holding or representing by proxy at least one third in nominal value of the 
issued shares of the relevant class (excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares) and at an 
adjourned meeting one person holding shares of the class or his proxy. Any holder of shares of the 
relevant class present in person or by proxy may demand a poll upon which every holder of shares of 
that class shall be entitled to one vote for every such share held by him. The rights attached to any class
of shares shall, unless otherwise expressly provided by the terms of issue of such shares or by the terms 
upon which such shares are for the time being held, be deemed not to be abrogated or varied by the 
creation or issue of further shares ranking pari passu therewith.

Alteration of capital

The Issuer may subject to the passing of a resolution authorising it to do so in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006 consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital into shares of larger amount, 
sub-divide all or any of its shares into shares of smaller amount.

Subject to the provisions of the Statutes, the Issuer may by special resolution reduce its share capital, 
any capital redemption reserve and any share premium account and any redenomination reserve in any 
way.

Subject to the provisions of the Statutes, any shares may be issued on terms that they are redeemed or 
liable to be redeemed at the option of the Issuer or the shareholders and on the terms and in the manner 
provided for by the Articles.

Subject to the provisions of the Statutes, the Issuer may purchase its own shares (including any 
redeemable shares).

Transfer of Shares

Subject to the provisions of the Articles relating to shares held in uncertificated form, as described 
below, the instrument of transfer of a certificated share shall be signed by or on behalf of the transferor 
(and, in the case of a share which is not fully paid, by or on behalf of the transferee) and the transferor 
shall be deemed to remain the holder of the share until the name of the transferee is entered in the 
register in respect thereof. All transfers of certificated shares shall be effected by instrument in writing 
in any usual or common form or any other form which the Directors may approve. The Directors may, 
in their absolute discretion and without giving any reason, refuse to register the transfer of a share 
which is not fully paid (whether certificated or uncertificated) provided that where such shares are 
admitted to the Official List, such discretion may not be exercised in a way which the Financial 
Services Authority or London Stock Exchange regards as preventing dealings in the shares of the 
relevant class or classes from taking place on an open and proper basis. The Directors may likewise 
refuse to register any transfer of a share (whether certificated or uncertificated), whether fully paid or 
not in favour of more than four persons jointly. In relation to certificated shares, the Directors may 
decline to recognise any instrument of transfer unless it is left at the registered office of the Issuer or 
such other place as the Directors may determine, accompanied by the relevant certificate and such 
other evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to make the 
transfer (and, if the instrument of transfer is executed by some other person on his behalf, the authority 
of that person so to do), and unless the instrument is in respect of only one class of share. If the 
Directors refuse to register a transfer they shall, in the case of certificated shares, within two months 
send to the transferee notice of the refusal and (except in the case of fraud) return to him the instrument 
of transfer, or except that, in the case of uncertificated shares, the Directors will have to notify such 
person as may be required by the Regulations.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Articles to the contrary, unless otherwise determined by the 
Directors, any shares in the Issuer may be held in uncertificated form and title to shares may be 
transferred by means of a relevant system (in each case as defined in the Regulations) such as CREST.
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General Meetings

An annual general meeting shall be called by not less than 21 clear days' notice, and a meeting of the 
Issuer other than an annual general meeting shall be called by not less than 14 clear days' notice. The 
notice shall specify the place, the day and time of meeting and, the general nature of the business. A 
notice calling an annual general meeting shall specify the meeting as such and a notice convening a 
meeting to pass a special resolution shall specify the intention to propose the resolution as such.

The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting, or to issue an invitation to appoint a proxy with a 
notice where required by the Articles, to any person entitled to receive notice, or the non-receipt of 
notice of a meeting or of an invitation to appoint a proxy by any such person, shall not invalidate the 
proceedings at that meeting.

All shareholders present in person or by duly appointed corporate representative, and their duly 
appointed proxy or proxies shall be entitled to attend all general meetings of the Issuer.

Directors

Unless and until the Issuer in general meeting shall otherwise determine, the number of Directors shall 
be not less than two. A Director shall not be required to hold any shares in the capital of the Issuer. A 
Director who is not a member shall nevertheless be entitled to receive notice of and attend and speak at 
all general meetings of the Issuer and all separate general meetings of the holders of any class of shares 
in the capital of the Issuer.

No Director shall be disqualified by his office from entering into any contract, arrangement, or 
transaction with the Issuer either with regard to his tenure of any other office or place of profit or acting 
in a professional capacity for the Issuer. Subject to the provisions of the Statutes and save as therein 
provided, no such contract, arrangement or transaction entered into by or on behalf of the Issuer in 
which any Director or person connected with him is in any way interested, whether directly or 
indirectly, shall be liable to be avoided, nor shall any Director who enters into any such contract, 
arrangement or transaction or who is so interested be liable to account to the Issuer for any profit or 
other benefit realised by any such contract, arrangement or transaction by reason of such Director 
holding that office or of the fiduciary relationship thereby established, but such Director shall declare 
the nature of his interest in accordance with the Statutes.

A Director shall (in the absence of some other material interest than is indicated below) be entitled to 
vote (and be counted in the quorum) in respect of any resolution concerning any of the following 
matters, namely:

• the giving of any guarantee, security or indemnity in respect of money lent or obligations 
incurred by him or by any other person at the request of or for the benefit of the Issuer or any 
of its subsidiary undertakings;

• the giving of any guarantee, security or indemnity in respect of a debt or obligation of the 
Issuer or any of its subsidiary undertakings for which he himself has assumed responsibility in 
whole or in part under a guarantee or indemnity or by the giving of security;

• any proposal concerning an offer of securities of or by the Issuer or any of its subsidiary 
undertakings in which offer he is, or may be entitled to, participate as a holder of securities or 
in the underwriting or sub underwriting of which he is to participate;

• any contract, arrangement or transaction concerning any other body corporate in which he is 
interested, directly or indirectly and whether as an officer or shareholder or otherwise 
howsoever, provided that he does not hold an interest (within the meaning of sections 820-825 
of the Companies Act 2006) in one per cent. or more of any class of the equity share capital of 
such body corporate or of the voting rights available to members of the relevant body 
corporate;

• any contract, arrangement or transaction for the benefit of employees of the Issuer which does 
not accord him any privilege or advantage not generally accorded to the employees to whom 
the scheme relates; and
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• any contract, arrangement or transaction concerning any insurance which the Issuer is to 
purchase and/or maintain for the benefit of Directors or for the benefit of persons who include 
Directors.

If any question shall arise at any meeting as to an interest or as to the entitlement of any Director to 
vote and such question is not resolved by his voluntarily agreeing to abstain from voting, such question 
shall be referred to the chairman of the meeting and his ruling in relation to any Director other than 
himself shall be final and conclusive except in a case where the nature or extent of the interests of the 
Director concerned have not been fairly disclosed.

Save as provided in the Articles, a Director shall not vote or be counted in the quorum present on any 
motion in respect of any contract, arrangement or transaction or any other proposal in which he has an 
interest which is to his knowledge a material interest otherwise than by virtue of his interests in shares 
or debentures or other securities of, or otherwise in or through the Issuer.

Each of the Directors shall be paid a fee at such rate as may from time to time be determined by the 
Directors and such sums (if any) shall be divided between the Directors as they shall agree or, failing 
agreement, equally. Such remuneration shall be deemed to accrue from day to day. Any Director who 
is appointed to any executive office or who serves on any committee or who devotes special attention 
to the business of the Issuer, or who otherwise performs services which in the opinion of the Directors 
are outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a Director, may be paid such extra remuneration 
(whether by way of salary, percentage of profits or otherwise) as the Directors may determine. Each 
director may be paid his reasonable travelling, hotel and other expenses incurred in attending and 
returning from meetings of the Directors, or any committee of the Directors or of the Issuer or of the 
holders of any class of shares or debentures of the Issuer or otherwise in connection with the business 
of the Issuer. The Articles do not permit a Director to vote on, or be counted in the quorum in relation 
to, any resolution of the Board concerning his own appointment.

There shall be no age limit for Directors.

Each Director shall have the power at any time to appoint as an alternate Director either (A) another 
Director or (B) any other person approved for that purpose by a resolution of the Directors, and, at any 
time, to terminate such appointment.

Each Director shall retire from office at the third annual general meeting after the annual general 
meeting at which he was last appointed. A retiring Director shall be eligible for appointment.

The Directors may exercise all the powers of the Issuer to give or award pensions, annuities, gratuities 
or other retirement, superannuation, death or disability allowances or benefits to, inter alia, any 
Directors, ex Directors, or directors or ex directors, employees or ex employees of the Issuer of any 
subsidiary undertaking or parent undertaking of the Issuer or to the wives, widows, children, other 
relations and dependants of any such person and may establish, maintain, support, subscribe to and 
contribute to all kinds of schemes, trusts and funds for the benefit of any such persons

Borrowing Powers

The Directors may, exercise all the powers of the Issuer to borrow money and to mortgage or charge its 
undertaking, property, assets (present and future) and uncalled capital, or any part thereof, and, subject 
to the provisions of the Statutes, to issue debentures, debenture stock and other securities whether 
outright or as security for any debt, liability or obligation of the Issuer or of any third party.

Dividends and Distributions on Liquidation to Shareholders

The Issuer in general meeting may declare dividends, but no dividend shall exceed the amount 
recommended by the Directors. Subject to the Statutes and any priority, preference or special rights, all 
dividends shall be declared and paid according to the amounts paid up on the shares and shall be 
apportioned and paid proportionately to the amounts paid up on the relevant shares during any portion 
of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid.

Subject to the provisions of the Statutes, the Directors may pay such interim dividends as they think fit 
and may pay the fixed dividends payable on any shares of the Issuer half yearly or otherwise on fixed 
dates.
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The Directors may, with the sanction of an ordinary resolution of the Issuer in general meeting, offer 
the shareholders the right to elect to receive new Ordinary Shares credited as fully paid instead of cash 
in respect of the whole or part of any dividend.

Any dividend unclaimed for a period of 12 years after it became due for payment shall be forfeited and 
shall revert to the Issuer.

On a liquidation, the liquidator may, subject to the Statutes, and with the sanction of a special 
resolution of the Issuer divide amongst the members in specie or in kind the whole or any part of the 
assets of the Issuer and may, for such purpose, set such value as he deems fair upon any property to be 
divided and may determine how such division shall be carried out.

Non-United Kingdom Shareholders

There are no limitations in the Articles on the rights of non-United Kingdom Shareholders to hold, or 
to exercise voting rights attached to, the Ordinary Shares. However, non-United Kingdom Shareholders 
are not entitled to receive notices or other documents or information unless they have given an address 
in the United Kingdom to which such notices may be sent.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE BONDS

The issue of the US$50,000,000 Conditional Convertible Bonds due 2013 (the "Initial Bonds") were
authorised by a resolution of the board of directors of Vostok Energy Public Limited Company (the 
"Issuer") passed on 6 May 2010 and a resolution of a committee of the board of directors of the Issuer 
passed on 9 September 2010. The issue of the US$1,250,000 Conditional Convertible Bonds due 2013 
(the "First Tranche of Additional Bonds") were authorised by a resolution of a committee of the 
board of directors of the Issuer passed on 12 January 2012.  The First Tranche of Additional Bonds is 
to be consolidated and form a single series with the Initial Bonds and is constituted by a supplemental 
trust deed dated 13 January 2012 (the "First Supplemental Trust Deed") between the Issuer and 
Capita Trust Company Limited (the "Trustee", which expression shall include all persons for the time 
being appointed as the trustee or trustees under the Trust Deed) (as defined below) as trustee for the 
holders of the Bonds (as defined below)). The First Supplemental Trust Deed is supplemental to a trust 
deed dated 13 October 2010 by which the Initial Bonds are constituted (the "Original Trust Deed") 
between the Issuer and the Trustee. The First Supplemental Trust Deed and the Original Trust Deed are 
together referred to as the "Trust Deed". The statements set out in these Terms and Conditions (the 
"Conditions") are summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed, which 
includes the forms of the Bonds and the interest coupons relating to them (the "Coupons"). The 
Bondholders and Couponholders (each as defined below) are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, 
and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Trust Deed and those provisions applicable 
to them which are contained in the Paying and Conversion Agency Agreement dated 13 October 2010 
(the "Agency Agreement") relating to the Bonds between the Issuer, the Trustee and Deutsche Bank 
AG, London Branch (the "Principal Paying and Conversion Agent", which expression shall include 
any successor as Principal Paying and Conversion Agent under the Agency Agreement) and the Paying 
and Conversion Agents for the time being (such persons, together with the Principal Paying and 
Conversion Agent, being referred to below as the "Paying and Conversion Agents", which expression 
shall include their successors as Paying and Conversion Agents under the Agency Agreement). 

Copies of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Bond Deed of Pledge, the Convertible Loan 
Agreement, the Deed of Priority, the EBRD Deed of Pledge, the EBRD Share Retention Agreement, 
the Escrow Deed and the Share Retention Agreement are available for inspection at the office of the 
Trustee at 4th Floor, 40 Dukes Place, London, EC3A 7HN and at the specified offices of the Paying and 
Conversion Agents.

Capitalised terms used but not defined in these Conditions shall have the meanings attributed to them 
in the Trust Deed unless the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated.

1. Form, Denomination, Title and Status 

(a) Form and Denomination

The Bonds are in bearer form in principal amounts of US$1.00 each with Coupons attached on 
issue.

The aggregate principal amount of the Initial Bonds is US$50,000,000. 

The aggregate principal amount of the First Tranche of Additional Bonds is US$1,250,000.

The total aggregate principal amount of the Bonds is US$51,250,000.

Additional Bonds ("Additional Bonds") may be issued pursuant to Condition 4(b) and shall 
be consolidated and form a single series with the then outstanding Bonds, and constituted by a 
deed supplemental to the Trust Deed. Additional Bonds will have the same terms and 
conditions in all respects as the Initial Bonds except that interest on Additional Bonds will 
accrue from (and including) the PIK Interest Payment Date on which the relevant Additional 
Bonds are issued rather than from the Closing Date. 

Bonds may only be converted by a holder in aggregate principal amounts of not less than 
US$100,000.

References herein to "Bonds" shall, unless otherwise indicated, include the Initial Bonds, any 
Further Bonds and any Additional Bonds.
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The Initial Bonds on issue will be represented by a global bond in bearer form and without 
Coupons (the "Global Bond") deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear Bank 
N.V./S.A. ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme ("Clearstream, 
Luxembourg").  The Global Bond will be exchangeable for Bonds in definitive form only in 
the limited circumstances specified in the Global Bond. 

The First Tranche of Additional Bonds on issue will be represented by a further global bond in 
bearer form and without Coupons deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear  and 
Clearstream, Luxembourg. The further global bond will be exchangeable for Bonds in 
definitive form only in the limited circumstances specified in the further global bond.

(b) Title

Title to the Bonds and Coupons will pass by delivery. The holder of any Bond or Coupon will 
(except as otherwise required by law or as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction) be 
treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not it is overdue and regardless of 
any notice of ownership, trust or any interest in it or its theft or loss or anything written on it)) 
and no person will be liable for so treating the holder.

(c) Status 

The Bonds and Coupons constitute direct, unconditional and unsubordinated obligations of the 
Issuer, secured in the manner provided in Condition 2, and rank pari passu and rateably, 
without any preference among themselves. 

2. Security

The obligations of the Issuer under the Bonds and the Trust Deed are secured by a second 
priority security over the Pledged Shares and the other Charged Assets pursuant to the Bond 
Deed of Pledge.

The obligations of the Issuer under the Convertible Loan Agreement and the other Financing 
Agreements (as defined in the Convertible Loan Agreement) are secured by a first priority 
security over the Pledged Shares and the other Charged Assets pursuant to the EBRD Deed of 
Pledge. 

The Trustee and Royal Atlantic have entered into the Share Retention Agreement pursuant to 
which, inter alia, Royal Atlantic shall not sell, or agree to sell, or otherwise dispose of or grant 
any interest in or over, all or any part of the shares it holds in Diall Alliance. EBRD and Royal 
Atlantic entered into an equivalent agreement (the "EBRD Share Retention Agreement") on 
18 September 2009.

The Issuer, EBRD and the Trustee have entered into the Deed of Priority pursuant to which 
the security granted under the EBRD Deed of Pledge and the Bond Deed of Pledge (and 
permitted under the Share Retention Agreement and the EBRD Share Retention Agreement) 
will be shared as between EBRD and the Trustee and the Bondholders in respect of the 
obligations secured by the EBRD Deed of Pledge and the Bond Deed of Pledge in the manner 
described in the Deed of Priority and summarised below. 

The security constituted by the Bond Deed of Pledge shall become enforceable upon the 
occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, subject as provided in the Deed of 
Priority.  

Subject to the terms of the Deed of Priority, if the security constituted by the Bond Deed of 
Pledge becomes enforceable, the Trustee may at its discretion and without further notice or 
formality and shall, if so requested in writing by Bondholders holding at least one-quarter in 
principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary 
Resolution (subject in each case to being indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its 
satisfaction) enforce all or any of such security, subject to and in the manner provided in the 
Trust Deed, the Bond Deed of Pledge and the Deed of Priority, and take such other action as 
required pursuant to the Deed of Priority, and provided that the Trustee shall not be required to 
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take any action or step that would involve any personal liability or exposure without first 
being indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction.

The Deed of Priority provides that all Recoveries shall be applied in the following order:

(a) first, in or towards pari passu payment of (i) all Enforcement Expenses, and (ii) all 
Trustee Expenses;

(b) second, in or towards payment to the First Creditor for application towards the balance 
of the First Creditor Debt, up to an amount equal to the amount of the Trustee Expenses 
claimed by the Second Creditor;

(c) third, in or towards payment to the First Creditor and the Second Creditor for 
application towards the balance of their respective Creditor Debt, in a pro rata
proportion equal to the proportion of the then-outstanding amount of First Creditor 
Debt and Second Creditor Debt, respectively, to the total aggregate outstanding amount 
of Creditor Debt; and

(d) fourth, in payment of the surplus (if any) to the Issuer or other person entitled to it.

3. Definitions

In these Conditions, unless otherwise provided:

"Additional Bonds" has the meaning provided in Condition 1(a).

"Additional Interest Rate" means 10 per cent. per annum.

"Additional Ordinary Shares" has the meaning provided in Condition 5(c).

"Applicable Date" means each Quarter Date commencing 31 December 2010 and ending on 
the Quarter Date immediately preceding the QIPO Effective Date in respect of a QIPO.

"Bond Deed of Pledge" means the Deed of Pledge dated 13 October 2010 between the Issuer 
and the Trustee.

"Bondholder" means the holder of any Bond.

"business day" means, in relation to any place, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on 
which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in that place.

"Business Day" means a day which is a business day in both London and New York City.

"Cash" means cash on hand and demand deposits.

a "Change of Control" shall occur if an offer is made to all (or as nearly as may be 
practicable all) Shareholders (or all (or as nearly as may be practicable all) such Shareholders 
other than the offeror and/or any associate (as defined in Section 988(1) of the Companies 
Act) of the offeror), to acquire all or a majority of the issued ordinary share capital of the 
Issuer or if any person proposes a scheme with regard to such acquisition (other than an 
Exempt Newco Scheme) and (such offer or scheme having become or been declared 
unconditional in all respects or having become effective) the right to cast more than 50 per 
cent. of the votes which may ordinarily be cast on a poll at a general meeting of the Issuer has 
or will become unconditionally vested in any person and/or any associate of that person (as 
defined in Section 988(1) of the Companies Act). 

"Change of Control Notice" has the meaning provided in Condition 5(g).

"Change of Control Period" means the period commencing on the occurrence of a Change of 
Control and ending 60 calendar days following the Change of Control or, if later, 60 calendar 
days following the date on which a Change of Control Notice is given to Bondholders as 
required by Condition 5(g).
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"Change of Control Put Date" has the meaning provided in Condition 6(e)(i).

"Change of Control Put Exercise Notice" has the meaning provided in Condition 6(e)(i).

"Closing Date" means 13 October 2010.

"Charged Assets" has the meaning provided in the EBRD Deed of Pledge and the Bond Deed 
of Pledge.

"Companies Act" means the Companies Act 2006. 

"Conversion Date" has the meaning provided in Condition 5(h).

"Conversion Notice" has the meaning provided in Condition 5(h).

"Conversion Period" has the meaning provided in Condition 5(a).

"Conversion Price" has the meaning provided in Condition 5(a).

"Conversion Right" has the meaning provided in Condition 5(a).

"Convertible Loan Agreement" means the convertible loan agreement dated 18 September 
2009 between the Issuer and EBRD.

"Couponholder" means the holder of any Coupon.

"Creditor" means each of the First Creditor and the Second Creditor.

"Creditor Debt" means any First Creditor Debt or Second Creditor Debt.

"Current Market Price" means, in respect of an Ordinary Share at a particular date, the 
average of the daily Volume Weighted Average Price of an Ordinary Share on each of the five 
consecutive dealing days ending on the dealing day immediately preceding such date; 
provided that if at any time during the said five-dealing-day period the Volume Weighted 
Average Price shall have been based on a price ex-Dividend (or ex- any other entitlement) and 
during some other part of that period the Volume Weighted Average Price shall have been 
based on a price cum-Dividend (or cum- any other entitlement), then:

(a) if the Ordinary Shares to be issued or transferred and delivered do not rank for the 
Dividend (or entitlement) in question, the Volume Weighted Average Price on the
dates on which the Ordinary Shares shall have been based on a price cum-Dividend (or 
cum- any other entitlement) shall for the purpose of this definition be deemed to be the 
amount thereof reduced by an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of any such 
Dividend or entitlement per Ordinary Share as at the Effective Date relating to such 
Dividend or entitlement, in any such case, determined on a gross basis and disregarding 
any withholding or deduction required to be made on account of tax, and disregarding 
any associated tax credit; or

(b) if the Ordinary Shares to be issued or transferred and delivered do rank for the 
Dividend (or entitlement) in question, the Volume Weighted Average Price on the 
dates on which the Ordinary Shares shall have been based on a price ex-Dividend (or 
ex- any other entitlement) shall for the purpose of this definition be deemed to be the 
amount thereof increased by an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of any such 
Dividend or entitlement per Ordinary Share as at the Effective Date relating to such 
Dividend or entitlement, in any such case, determined on a gross basis and disregarding 
any withholding or deduction required to be made on account of tax, and disregarding 
any associated tax credit, 

and provided further that if on each of the said five dealing days the Volume Weighted 
Average Price shall have been based on a price cum-Dividend (or cum- any other entitlement) 
in respect of a Dividend (or other entitlement) which has been declared or announced but the 
Ordinary Shares to be issued or transferred and delivered do not rank for that Dividend (or 
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other entitlement) the Volume Weighted Average Price on each of such dates shall for the 
purposes of this definition be deemed to be the amount thereof reduced by an amount equal to 
the Fair Market Value of any such Dividend or entitlement per Ordinary Share as at the 
Effective Date relating to such Dividend or entitlement, in any such case, determined on a 
gross basis and disregarding any withholding or deduction required to be made on account of 
tax, and disregarding any associated tax credit, 

and provided further that, if the Volume Weighted Average Price of an Ordinary Share is not 
available on one or more of the said five dealing days (disregarding for this purpose the 
proviso to the definition of Volume Weighted Average Price), then the average of such 
Volume Weighted Average Prices which are available in that five-dealing-day period shall be 
used (subject to a minimum of two such prices) and if only one, or no, such Volume Weighted 
Average Price is available in the relevant period the Current Market Price shall be determined 
by an Independent Financial Adviser. 

"dealing day" means a day on which the Relevant Stock Exchange or relevant stock exchange 
or securities market is open for business and on which Ordinary Shares, Securities, Spin-Off 
Securities options, warrants or other rights (as the case may be) may be dealt in (other than a 
day on which the Relevant Stock Exchange or relevant stock exchange or securities market is 
scheduled to or does close prior to its regular weekday closing time).

"Debt" means, with respect to any person, all obligations of such person, whether incurred as 
principal or surety and whether present, future, actual or contingent, for the payment or 
repayment of money, including:

(a) any amounts payable by such person under leases or similar arrangements over their 
respective periods;

(b) any credit to such person from a supplier of goods or under any instalment purchase or
other similar arrangement; and

(c) any liabilities and obligations of third parties to the extent that they are guaranteed by 
such person or such person has otherwise assumed or become liable for the payment of 
such liabilities or obligations or to the extent that they are secured by any Lien upon 
property owned by such person whether or not such person has assumed or become 
liable for the payment of such liabilities or obligations.

"Deed of Priority" means the deed of priority dated 13 October 2010 between the Issuer, the 
Trustee and EBRD.

"Diall Alliance" means Diall Alliance LLC, a company incorporated in the Russian 
Federation with registered number 1026400818168.

"Dividend" means any dividend or distribution to Shareholders (including a Spin-Off) 
whether of cash, assets or other property, and however described and whether payable out of 
share premium account, profits, retained earnings or any other capital or revenue reserve or 
account, and including a distribution or payment to holders upon or in connection with a 
reduction of capital (and for these purposes a distribution of assets includes without limitation 
an issue of Ordinary Shares or other Securities credited as fully or partly paid up by way of 
capitalisation of profits or reserves), provided that:

(a) where:

(1) a Dividend in cash is announced which is to be, or may at the election of a 
Shareholder or Shareholders be, satisfied by the issue or delivery of Ordinary 
Shares or other property or assets, or where a capitalisation of profits or reserves 
is announced which is to be, or may at the election of a Shareholder or 
Shareholders be, satisfied by the payment of cash, then the Dividend in question 
shall be treated as a cash Dividend of an amount equal to the greater of (i) the 
Fair Market Value of such cash amount and (ii) the Current Market Price of 
such Ordinary Shares or, as the case may be, the Fair Market Value of such 
other property or assets, in any such case as at the date of the first public 
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announcement of such Dividend or capitalisation (as the case may be) or, if 
later, the date on which the number of Ordinary Shares (or amount of such other 
property or assets, as the case may be) which may be issued or delivered is 
determined; or 

(2) there shall be any issue of Ordinary Shares by way of capitalisation of profits or 
reserves (including any share premium account or capital redemption reserve) 
where such issue is or is expressed to be in lieu of a Dividend (whether or not a 
cash Dividend equivalent or amount is announced or would otherwise be 
payable to Shareholders, whether at their election or otherwise), the Dividend in 
question shall be treated as a cash Dividend of an amount equal to the Current 
Market Price of such Ordinary Shares as at the first date on which the Ordinary 
Shares are traded ex- the relevant capitalisation on the Relevant Stock Exchange 
or, if later, the date on which the number of Ordinary Shares to be issued or 
transferred and delivered is determined;

(b) any issue of Ordinary Shares falling within Condition 5(b)(ii) shall be disregarded; 

(c) a purchase or redemption or buy back of share capital of the Issuer by or on behalf of 
the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries shall not constitute a Dividend unless, in the case of 
a purchase or redemption or buy back of Ordinary Shares by or on behalf of the Issuer 
or any of its Subsidiaries, the weighted average price per Ordinary Share (before 
expenses) on any one day (a "Specified Share Day") in respect of such purchases or 
redemptions or buy backs (translated, if not in the Relevant Currency, into the Relevant 
Currency at the Prevailing Rate on such day) exceeds by more than 5 per cent. the 
average of the daily Volume Weighted Average Price of an Ordinary Share on the five 
dealing days immediately preceding the Specified Share Day or, where an 
announcement (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt for these purposes, any general 
authority for such purchases, redemptions or buy backs approved by a general meeting 
of Shareholders or any notice convening such a meeting of Shareholders) has been 
made of the intention to purchase, redeem or buy back Ordinary Shares at some future 
date at a specified price or where a tender offer is made, on the five dealing days 
immediately preceding the date of such announcement or the date of first public 
announcement of such tender offer (and regardless of whether or not a price per 
Ordinary Share, a minimum price per Ordinary Share or a price range or formula for 
the determination thereof is or is not announced at such time), as the case may be, in 
which case such purchase, redemption or buy back shall be deemed to constitute a 
Dividend in the Relevant Currency to the extent that the aggregate price paid (before 
expenses) in respect of such Ordinary Shares purchased, redeemed or bought back by 
the Issuer or, as the case may be, any of its Subsidiaries (translated where appropriate 
into the Relevant Currency as provided above) exceeds the product of (i) 105 per cent. 
of the daily Volume Weighted Average Price of an Ordinary Share determined as 
aforesaid and (ii) the number of Ordinary Shares so purchased, redeemed or bought 
back; 

(d) if the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries shall purchase, redeem or buy back any
depositary or other receipts or certificates representing Ordinary Shares, the provisions 
of paragraph (c) above shall be applied in respect thereof in such manner and with such 
modifications (if any) as shall be determined in good faith by an Independent Financial 
Adviser; 

(e) where a dividend or distribution is paid or made to Shareholders pursuant to any plan 
implemented by the Issuer for the purpose of enabling Shareholders to elect, or which 
may require Shareholders, to receive dividends or distributions in respect of the 
Ordinary Shares held by them from a person other than, (or in addition to the Issuer, 
such dividend or distribution shall for the purposes of these Conditions be treated as a 
dividend or distribution made or paid to Shareholders by the Issuer, and the foregoing 
provisions of this definition and the provisions of these Conditions shall be construed 
accordingly, and any such determination shall be made on a gross basis and 
disregarding any withholding or deduction required to be made on account of tax, and 
disregarding any associated tax credit; and
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(f) a dividend or distribution that is a Spin-Off shall be deemed to be a Dividend paid or 
made by the Issuer.

"EBRD" means the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development.

"EBRD Deed of Pledge" means the instrument dated 18 September 2009 pursuant to which 
the Issuer:

(a) pledges in favour of EBRD, 50% of the shares held by the Issuer in Royal Atlantic; and 

(b) provides undertakings in relation to share retention and a negative pledge commitment 
in each case to EBRD in respect of the remainder of its shares in Royal Atlantic.

"EEA Regulated Market" means a market as defined by Article 4.1(14) of Directive 
2004/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial 
instruments. 

"Effective Date relating to such Dividend or entitlement" means the first date on which the 
Ordinary Shares are traded ex- the relevant Dividend or entitlement on the Relevant Stock 
Exchange.

"Enforcement Expenses" means all costs, losses, liabilities and out-of-pocket expenses of or 
incurred by or on behalf of either Creditor under or in connection with, or in contemplation of, 
the enforcement of its rights in relation to, or any security securing, any Creditor Debt 
(including, without limitation, the security created by the Bond Deed of Pledge and the EBRD 
Deed of Pledge), including the fees, disbursements and other costs of any legal or financial 
advisors and all costs, losses, liabilities and expenses of and incidental to the appointment of 
any receiver or delegate of that Creditor and all outgoings paid by him, provided however that
(i) any remuneration, internal management costs and any unpaid sums or liabilities which are 
unrelated to the enforcement of a Creditor’s rights under any security securing any Creditor 
Debt and (ii) any costs and expenses associated with (a) any notifications or communications 
from the Second Creditor to the Bondholders or (b) any consents to be obtained by the Second 
Creditor from the Bondholders (including, in the case of (a) and (b), any printing fees or any 
legal, banking and other advisory fees incurred in connection therewith), shall not be 
considered "Enforcement Costs" for the purposes of the Deed of Priority.

"Environment" means humans, animals, plants and all other living organisms including the 
ecological systems of which they form part and the following media:

(a) air (including, without limitation, air within natural or man-made structures, whether 
above or below ground);

(b) water (including, without limitation, territorial, coastal and inland waters, water under 
or within land and water in drains and sewers); and

(c) land (including, without limitation, land under water).

"Environmental Law" means any applicable law or regulation which relates to:

(a) the pollution or protection of the Environment;

(b) the conditions of the workplace; or

(c) the generation, handling, storage, use, release or spillage of any substance which, alone 
or in combination with any other, is capable of causing harm to the Environment, 
including, without limitation, any waste.

"Environmental Permits" means any permit and other authorisation, consent, approval, 
resolution, licence, exemption, filing, notarisation or registration and the filing of any 
notification, report or assessment required under any Environmental Law for the operation of 
the Issuer or any Relevant Party conducted on or from the properties owned or used by the 
Issuer or any Relevant Party.
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"Escrow Deed" means the escrow deed dated 13 October 2010 between the Issuer and 
Deutsche Bank AG pursuant to which the Issuer has agreed to deposit on the Closing Date the 
sum of US$45,281,000 into an escrow account with Deutsche Bank AG (the "Escrow 
Account"), and has agreed that sums may only be withdrawn from that account as provided in 
the escrow deed. The operation of and access to the Escrow Account shall be outside the 
control of the Trustee. Any moneys held in the Escrow Account shall not be subject to 
Security. The Trustee shall have no control over the Escrow Account and no power to hold 
any moneys held therein as trust monies before or after the occurrence of an Event of Default 
or otherwise. Bondholders shall have no recourse to the Trustee whatsoever in respect of the 
Escrow Deed or the Escrow Account. The Trustee shall have no liability to Bondholders or 
any other person in respect of the Escrow Deed, the Escrow Account, its proceeds or the terms 
on which moneys held in the Escrow Account are released.

"Exempt Newco Scheme" means a Newco Scheme where, immediately after completion of 
the relevant Scheme of Arrangement, the ordinary shares or units or equivalent of Newco (or 
depositary or other receipts or certificates representing ordinary shares or units or equivalent 
of Newco) are (1) admitted to trading on the Relevant Stock Exchange or (2) admitted to 
listing on such other regulated, regularly operating, recognised stock exchange or securities 
market as the Issuer or Newco may determine.

"Extended Maturity Date" has the meaning provided in Condition 6(a)(ii).

"Extraordinary Resolution" has the meaning provided in the Trust Deed.

"Fair Market Value" means, with respect to any property on any date, the fair market value 
of that property as determined by an Independent Financial Adviser provided that (i) the Fair 
Market Value of a cash Dividend shall be the amount of such cash Dividend; (ii) the Fair 
Market Value of any other cash amount shall be the amount of such cash; (iii) where 
Securities, Spin-Off Securities, options, warrants or other rights are publicly traded on a stock 
exchange or securities market of adequate liquidity (as determined by an Independent 
Financial Adviser), the Fair Market Value of such Securities, Spin-Off Securities options, 
warrants or other rights shall equal the arithmetic mean of the daily Volume Weighted 
Average Prices of such Securities, Spin-Off Securities, options, warrants or other rights during 
the period of five dealing days on the relevant stock exchange or securities market 
commencing on such date (or, if later, the first such dealing day such Securities, Spin-Off 
Securities, options, warrants or other rights are publicly traded) or such shorter period as such 
Securities, Spin-Off Securities, options, warrants or other rights are publicly traded; (iv) where 
Securities, Spin-Off Securities, options, warrants or other rights are not publicly traded on a 
stock exchange or securities market of adequate liquidity (as aforesaid), the Fair Market Value 
of such Securities, Spin-Off Securities, options, warrants or other rights shall be determined 
by an Independent Financial Adviser, on the basis of a commonly accepted market valuation 
method and taking account of such factors as it considers appropriate, including the market 
price per Ordinary Share, the dividend yield of an Ordinary Share, the volatility of such 
market price, prevailing interest rates and the terms of such Securities, Spin-Off Securities, 
options, warrants or other rights, including as to the expiry date and exercise price (if any) 
thereof. Such amounts shall, in the case of (i) above, be translated into the Relevant Currency 
(if declared or paid or payable in a currency other than the Relevant Currency) at the rate of 
exchange used to determine the amount payable to Shareholders who were paid or are to be 
paid or are entitled to be paid the cash Dividend in the Relevant Currency; and in any other 
case, shall be translated into the Relevant Currency (if expressed in a currency other than the 
Relevant Currency) at the Prevailing Rate on that date. In addition, in the case of (i) and (ii) 
above, the Fair Market Value shall be determined on a gross basis and disregarding any 
withholding or deduction required to be made on account of tax, and disregarding any 
associated tax credit.

"Financial Debt" means, with respect to any person, any indebtedness of such person for or in 
respect of:

(a) moneys borrowed;

(b) any amount raised by acceptance under any acceptance credit facility;
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(c) any amount raised pursuant to any note purchase facility or the issue of bonds, notes, 
debentures, loan stock or any similar instrument;

(d) the amount of any liability in respect of any lease or hire purchase contract which 
would in accordance with IFRS, be treated as a finance or capital lease;

(e) receivables sold or discounted (other than any receivables to the extent they are sold on 
a non-recourse basis);

(f) any amount raised under any other transaction (including any forward sale or purchase 
agreement) having the commercial effect of borrowing;

(g) any derivative transaction entered into in connection with protection against or benefit 
from fluctuation in any rate or price (and, when calculating the value of any derivative 
transaction, only the marked to market value shall be taken into account); 

(h) any counter-indemnity obligation in respect of a guarantee, indemnity, bond, standby 
or documentary letter of credit or any other instrument issued by a bank or financial 
institution; and

(i) the amount of any liability in respect of any guarantee or indemnity for any of the items 
referred to in paragraphs (a) to (h) above.

"Financial Statements" means the consolidated financial statements (including balance sheet, 
income statement, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and notes, comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes) of the Issuer and its 
Subsidiaries prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

"Financial Year" means the period commencing each year on 1 January and ending on the 
following 31 December, or such other period as the Issuer may from time to time give notice 
to the Bondholders (in accordance with Condition 16) and the Trustee as the accounting year 
of the Issuer.

"Financing Agreements" has the meaning provided in the Convertible Loan Agreement.

"First Call Date" has the meaning provided in Condition 6(b)(i).

"First Creditor" means EBRD.

"First Creditor Debt" means all present and future moneys, debts and liabilities due, owing 
or incurred from time to time by the Issuer to the First Creditor under or in connection with 
the First Creditor Documents.

"First Creditor Documents" means the Convertible Loan Agreement, the First Creditor 
Share Retention Agreement and the EBRD Deed of Pledge.

"First Creditor Share Retention Agreement" means the share retention agreement dated 18 
September 2009 between the First Creditor and Royal Atlantic, relating to the shares owned 
by Royal Atlantic in the share capital of Diall Alliance.

"Further Bonds" means any further Bonds issued pursuant to Condition 17 and consolidated 
and forming a single series with the then outstanding Bonds.

"Governmental Authority" means the government of any country, or of any political 
subdivision thereof, whether state, regional or local, and any agency, authority, branch, 
department, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, 
legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to 
government or any subdivision thereof (including any supra-national bodies), and all officials, 
agents and representatives of each of the foregoing.

"Group" means the Issuer and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole.
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"IFRS" means International Financial Reporting Standards issued or adopted by the 
International Accounting Standards Board and consistently applied.

"Illegality Event" has the meaning provided in Condition 6(e)(ii).

"Independent Financial Adviser" means an independent financial institution of international 
repute appointed at its own expense by the Issuer and approved in writing by the Trustee or, if 
the Issuer fails to make such appointment and such failure continues for a reasonable period 
(as determined by the Trustee in its sole discretion) and the Trustee is indemnified and/or 
secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction against the costs, fees and expenses of such adviser 
and otherwise in connection with such appointment, appointed by the Trustee (without 
liability for so doing) following notification to the Issuer. 

"Initial Conversion Price" has the meaning provided in Condition 5(a).

"Interest Payment Date" has the meaning provided in Condition 4(e).

"Interest Rate" means 10 per cent. per annum.

"International Finance Corporation" means International Finance Corporation, a member of 
the World Bank Group.

"Law on Foreign Ownership Restrictions" means Russian federal law No. 57-FZ "On the 
procedure of making foreign investments in commercial entities of strategic significance for 
the national security of the Russian Federation".

"Licences" means the material certificates, licences, permits, consents and approvals from all 
appropriate authorities necessary for the operation of the Issuer or any Relevant Party, 
including, but not limited to, the Bortovoye oil and gas licence number SRT-10848NR granted 
on 13 January 2000 in the Saratov region of the Russian Federation to Diall Alliance together 
with all addenda to that licence granted on or before 28 April 2008.

"Lien" means any mortgage, pledge, charge, privilege, priority, hypothecation, encumbrance, 
assignment, lien, attachment, set-off or other security interest of any kind or any other 
agreement or arrangement having the effect of conferring security upon or with respect to, or 
any segregation of or other preferential arrangement with respect to, any present or future 
assets, revenues or rights.

"Loan" means the outstanding principal amount of the loan made available to the Issuer at any 
time under the Convertible Loan Agreement together with accrued but unpaid interest thereon.

"London Stock Exchange" means the London Stock Exchange plc.

"Material Adverse Effect" means: 

(a) an adverse effect on the ability of any Relevant Party to perform or comply with any of 
its material obligations under any Transaction Document, the Trust Deed, the Bonds or 
the Bond Deed of Pledge; or

(b) a material adverse effect on:

(i) the ability of EBRD and/or the Trustee or the Bondholders to enforce any 
Security;

(ii) the legality, validity, enforceability and binding nature of any Transaction 
Document, the Trust Deed, the Bonds or the Bond Deed of Pledge or the 
Licences or the legal rights, remedies and priorities of EBRD and/or the Trustee 
or the Bondholders under any of the Transaction Documents, the Trust Deed, 
the Bonds or the Bond Deed of Pledge;
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(iii) the ability of any Relevant Party to implement or operate the Project 
substantially in the manner contemplated by the Financing Agreements or the 
Licences; or

(iv) the business, operations or financial condition of any Relevant Party.

The Trustee shall have no duty to enquire or satisfy itself as to the existence or occurrence of 
an event which may have a Material Adverse Effect. When considering whether a Material 
Adverse Effect (or like circumstance) has arisen, the Trustee may obtain such expert advice 
and/or directions from Bondholders as it considers appropriate and rely thereon, without 
responsibility or liability to any person for any delay occasioned by so doing.

"Maturity Extension" has the meaning provided in Condition 6(a)(ii).

"Newco Scheme" means a scheme of arrangement or analogous proceeding ("Scheme of 
Arrangement") which effects the interposition of a limited liability company ("Newco") 
between the Shareholders of the Issuer immediately prior to the Scheme of Arrangement (the 
"Existing Shareholders") and the Issuer; provided that (i) only ordinary shares or units or 
equivalent of Newco or depositary or other receipts or certificates representing ordinary shares 
or units or equivalent of Newco are issued to Existing Shareholders; (ii) immediately after 
completion of the Scheme of Arrangement the only holders of ordinary shares, units or 
equivalent of Newco or, as the case may be, the only holders of depositary or other receipts or 
certificates representing ordinary shares or units or equivalent of Newco, are Existing 
Shareholders holding in the same proportions as immediately prior to completion of the 
Scheme of Arrangement; (iii) immediately after completion of the Scheme of Arrangement, 
Newco is (or one or more wholly-owned Subsidiaries of Newco are) the only shareholder of 
the Issuer; (iv) all Subsidiaries of the Issuer immediately prior to the Scheme of Arrangement 
(other than Newco, if Newco is then a Subsidiary of the Issuer) are Subsidiaries of the Issuer 
(or of Newco) immediately after completion of the Scheme of Arrangement; and (v) 
immediately after completion of the Scheme of Arrangement the Issuer (or Newco) holds, 
directly or indirectly, the same percentage of the ordinary share capital and equity share 
capital of those Subsidiaries as was held by the Issuer immediately prior to the Scheme of 
Arrangement.

"Optional Redemption Date" has the meaning provided in Condition 6(b).

"Optional Redemption Notice" has the meaning provided in Condition 6(b).

"Ordinary Shares" means fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of the Issuer currently with 
a par value of US$0.01 each.

"Original Maturity Date" means 13 April 2013.

"Parity Value" means, in respect of any dealing day, the amount calculated as follows:

PV = N x VWAP

where

PV = the Parity Value

N = the number of Ordinary Shares that would fall to be issued or delivered 
on the exercise of Conversion Rights in respect of Bonds in the aggregate 
principal amount of US$100,000, assuming the Conversion Date to be 
such dealing day and determined as if the Conversion Price on each such 
dealing day were the Reference Price (adjusted pro rata for any 
adjustments to the Conversion Price made pursuant to the provisions of 
Condition 5(b))

VWAP = the Volume Weighted Average Price of an Ordinary Share on such
dealing day (provided that if on any such dealing day the Ordinary 
Shares shall have been quoted cum-Dividend or cum-any other 
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entitlement, the Volume Weighted Average Price of an Ordinary Share 
on such dealing day shall be deemed to be the amount thereof reduced by 
an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of any such Dividend or 
entitlement per Ordinary Share as at the Effective Date relating to such 
Dividend or entitlement) translated, if not in US dollars, into US dollars 
at the Prevailing Rate on such dealing day.

a "person" includes any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture, 
undertaking, association, organisation, trust, state or agency of a state (in each case whether or 
not being a separate legal entity).

"Pledged Shares" has the meaning provided in the EBRD Deed of Pledge and the Bond Deed 
of Pledge.

"Presentation Date" means a day which:

(a) is or falls after the relevant due date for payment, but, if the due date for payment is not 
or was not a business day in both London and New York City, is or falls after the next 
following such business day; and

(b) is a business day in the place of the specified office of the Paying and Conversion 
Agent at which the Bond or Coupon is presented for payment.

"Prevailing Rate" means, in respect of any currencies on any day, the spot rate of exchange 
between the relevant currencies prevailing as at or about 12 noon (London time) on that date 
as appearing on or derived from the Relevant Page or, if such a rate cannot be determined at 
such time, the rate prevailing as at or about 12 noon (London time) on the immediately 
preceding day on which such rate can be so determined.  

"Project" means the development of an oil field and the production of natural gas and oil in 
the western part of the Bortovoye licence area, located in the Saratov region of the Russian 
Federation, including the construction of a gas processing plant as well as the exploration and 
appraisal drilling study work and the engineering and construction costs of the gas processing 
plant to progress the eastern part of the Bortovoye licence development to the development 
phase.

"Quarter Date" means 31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 31 December.

"Recoveries" means any amounts paid to, recovered or received by either Creditor from or on 
behalf of the Issuer as a result of, inter alia, the enforcement of the security conferred by the 
Bond Deed of Pledge or the EBRD Deed of Pledge and any insolvency or liquidation 
procedure in respect of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries.

"Reference Date" means, in relation to a Retroactive Adjustment, the date as of which the 
relevant Retroactive Adjustment takes effect or, in any such case, if that is not a dealing day, 
the next following dealing day.

"Relevant Currency" means sterling or, if at the relevant time or for the purposes of the 
relevant calculation or determination, the London Stock Exchange is not the Relevant Stock 
Exchange, the currency in which the Ordinary Shares are quoted or dealt in on the Relevant 
Stock Exchange at such time.

"Relevant Date" means, in respect of any Bond or Coupon, whichever is the later of:

(a) the date on which payment in respect of it first becomes due; and 

(b) if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused the date on 
which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date on 
which notice is duly given by the Issuer to the Bondholders in accordance with 
Condition 16 that, upon further presentation of the Bond or Coupon, where required 
pursuant to these Conditions, being made, such payment will be made, provided that 
such payment is in fact made as provided in these Conditions.
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a "Relevant Event" shall occur if:

(a) any event described and defined as a "Change of Control" in the Convertible Loan 
Agreement shall occur;

(b) the Issuer ceases to hold directly 100 per cent. of the issued share capital of Royal 
Atlantic; 

(c) Royal Atlantic ceases to hold directly 100 per cent. of the issued share capital of Diall 
Alliance; 

(d) prior to the QIPO Effective Date in respect of a QIPO, there is no Investor Director (as 
defined in the Shareholders Agreement); 

(e) prior to the QIPO Effective Date in respect of a QIPO, there is no New Investor 
Director (as defined in the Shareholders Agreement); 

(f) prior to the QIPO Effective Date in respect of a QIPO, EBRD transfers or assigns all or 
any part of the Loan or any of its rights under the Convertible Loan Agreement to any
other party;

(g) prior to the QIPO Effective Date in respect of a QIPO, EBRD ceases to be a 
Shareholder; 

(h) prior to the QIPO Effective Date in respect of a QIPO, International Finance 
Corporation ceases to be a Shareholder; or

(i) Diall Alliance may be deemed to be engaged in an activity of "strategic significance" 
for purposes of the Law on Foreign Ownership Restrictions.

"Relevant Event/Illegality Notice" has the meaning provided in Condition 7(j).

"Relevant Event/Illegality Period" means the period commencing on the date on which 
EBRD shall give an Illegality Prepayment Request or, as the case may be, on which a 
Relevant Event shall occur and ending 60 calendar days following such date or, if later, 60 
calendar days following the date on which a Relevant Event/Illegality Notice is given to 
Bondholders as required by Condition 7(j).

"Relevant Event/Illegality Put Date" has the meaning provided in Condition 6(e)(ii).

"Relevant Event/Illegality Put Exercise Notice" has the meaning provided in Condition 
6(e)(ii).

"Relevant Page" means the relevant page on Bloomberg or such other information service 
provider that displays the relevant information.   

"Relevant Party" means the Issuer, Royal Atlantic and Diall Alliance.

"Relevant Stock Exchange" means the London Stock Exchange or if at the relevant time the 
Ordinary Shares are not at that time listed and admitted to trading on the London Stock 
Exchange, the principal stock exchange or securities market on which the Ordinary Shares are 
then listed, admitted to trading or quoted or dealt in.

"Retroactive Adjustment" has the meaning provided in Condition 5(c).

"Royal Atlantic" means Royal Atlantic Energy (Cyprus) Limited, a company incorporated in 
Cyprus with registered number 173074.

"Scheme of Arrangement" has the meaning provided in the definition of "Newco Scheme".

"Second Creditor" means the Trustee.
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"Second Creditor Debt" means all present and future moneys, debts and liabilities due, 
owing or incurred from time to time by the Issuer to the Second Creditor under or in 
connection with the Second Creditor Documents.

"Second Creditor Documents" means the Trust Deed, the Deed of Priority, the Share 
Retention Agreement and the Bond Deed of Pledge.

"Securities" means any securities including, without limitation, shares in the capital of the 
Issuer, or options, warrants or other rights to subscribe for or purchase or acquire shares in the 
capital of the Issuer. 

"Security" means the security created, expressed to be created or agreed to be created 
pursuant to the Security Documents to secure all amounts owing to EBRD under the 
Transaction Documents and/or the Trustee and the Bondholders under the Trust Deed and the 
Bonds.

"Security Documents" means the EBRD Deed of Pledge, the Bond Deed of Pledge and any 
other document entered into from time to time granting Security in favour of EBRD and/or the 
Trustee and the Bondholders.

"Share Retention Agreement" means the agreement dated 13 October 2010 between Royal 
Atlantic and the Trustee pursuant to which Royal Atlantic agrees not to effect any change in 
its equity interest in, or transfer or pledge (or otherwise grant any Lien over), any of its shares 
in the capital of, Diall Alliance without the prior written consent of the Trustee or with the 
approval of an Extraordinary Resolution. 

"Shareholders" means the holders of Ordinary Shares.

"Shareholders Agreement" means the agreement dated 23 September 2009 between the 
Issuer and the Founders, the Investors, the New Investors and the Optionholders (as referred to 
therein). 

"Specified Date" has the meaning provided in Conditions 5(b)(vii) and (viii).

"Spin-Off" means:

(a) a distribution of Spin-Off Securities by the Issuer to Shareholders as a class; or

(b) any issue, transfer or delivery of any property or assets (including cash or shares or 
other securities of or in or issued or allotted by any entity) by any entity (other than the 
Issuer) to Shareholders as a class or, in the case of or in connection with a Newco 
Scheme, Existing Shareholders as a class (but excluding the issue and allotment of 
ordinary shares by Newco to Existing Shareholders as a class), pursuant in each case to 
any arrangements with the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries.

"Spin-Off Securities" means equity share capital of an entity other than the Issuer or options, 
warrants or other rights to subscribe for or purchase equity share capital of an entity other than 
the Issuer.

"Subordinated Debt" means Debt of the Issuer which is subordinated, on terms satisfactory 
to the Trustee or approved by an Extraordinary Resolution, to the payment of all amounts 
payable by the Issuer under the Bonds and the Trust Deed.

"Subsidiary" has the meaning provided in Section 1159 of the Companies Act.

"Tax" or "Taxes" means any tax, royalty, stamp or other duty, assessment, levy, charge, value 
added tax, or impost of any nature whatsoever (including any related penalty or interest) 
imposed under any law.

"Tax Redemption Date" has the meaning provided in Condition 6(c). 

"Tax Redemption Notice" has the meaning provided in Condition 6(c). 



60

"Transaction Documents" means the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Bond Deed of 
Pledge, the Share Retention Agreement, the Escrow Deed and the Deed of Priority.

"Trustee Expenses" means all costs, losses, liabilities and expenses of or incurred by or on 
behalf of the Second Creditor in its role as Trustee under the Trust Deed (including any 
remuneration owing to the Second Creditor) and which are not Enforcement Expenses.

"UK Listing Authority" means the Financial Services Authority in its capacity as competent 
authority for the purposes of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

"Volume Weighted Average Price" means, in respect of an Ordinary Share, Security or, as 
the case may be, a Spin-Off Security on any dealing day, the order book volume-weighted 
average price of an Ordinary Share, Security or, as the case may be, a Spin-Off Security 
published by or derived (in the case of an Ordinary Share) from Bloomberg page VAP or (in 
the case of a Security (other than Ordinary Shares), Spin-Off Security options, warrants or 
other rights) from the principal stock exchange or securities market on which such Securities, 
Spin-Off Securities options, warrants or other rights  are then listed or quoted or dealt in, if 
any or, in any such case, such other source as shall be determined to be appropriate by an 
Independent Financial Adviser on such dealing day, provided that if on any such dealing day 
such price is not available or cannot otherwise be determined as provided above, the Volume 
Weighted Average Price of an Ordinary Share, Security, a Spin-Off Security option, warrant 
or other right, as the case may be, in respect of such dealing day shall be the Volume 
Weighted Average Price, determined as provided above, on the immediately preceding dealing 
day on which the same can be so determined.

"£" and "sterling" means the lawful currency for the time being of the United Kingdom.

"US dollars" and "US$" means the lawful currency of the United States of America.

References to "ordinary share capital" has the meaning provided in Section 1119 of the 
Corporation Tax Act 2010 and "equity share capital" has the meaning provided in Section 
548 of the Companies Act. 

References to any act or statute or any provision of any act or statute shall be deemed also to 
refer to any statutory modification or re-enactment thereof or any statutory instrument, order 
or regulation made thereunder or under such modification or re-enactment.

References to any issue or offer or grant to Shareholders or Existing Shareholders "as a class" 
or "by way of rights" shall be taken to be references to an issue or offer or grant to all or 
substantially all Shareholders or Existing Shareholders, as the case may be, other than 
Shareholders or Existing Shareholders, as the case may be, to whom, by reason of the laws of 
any territory or requirements of any recognised regulatory body or any other stock exchange 
or securities market in any territory or in connection with fractional entitlements, it is 
determined not to make such issue or offer or grant.

In making any calculation or determination of Current Market Price or Volume Weighted 
Average Price, such adjustments (if any) shall be made as an Independent Financial Adviser 
considers appropriate to reflect any consolidation or sub-division of the Ordinary Shares or 
any issue of Ordinary Shares by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves, or any like or 
similar event.

For the purposes of Conditions 5(a), (b), (c), (h) and (i) and Condition 10 only, (a) references 
to the "issue" of Ordinary Shares or Ordinary Shares being "issued" shall include the transfer 
and/or delivery of Ordinary Shares, whether newly issued and allotted or previously existing 
or held by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries, and (b) Ordinary Shares held by 
or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its respective Subsidiaries (and which, in the case of 
Condition 5(b)(iv) and (vi), do not rank for the relevant right or other entitlement) shall not be 
considered as or treated as "in issue" or "issued" or entitled to receive the relevant Dividend, 
right or other entitlement.
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4. Interest

(a) Interest Rate

The Bonds bear interest from (and including) the Closing Date at the Interest Rate, 
calculated by reference to their principal amount. Interest shall be payable quarterly in 
arrear in equal instalments on each Interest Payment Date.

The amount of interest (including any Additional Interest) in respect of any Interest 
Period shall be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of 12 months of 30 
days each, and in the case of an incomplete month, the actual number of days elapsed 
during that month.

Interest accrued pursuant to this Condition 4(a) shall be payable in cash in US dollars.

(b) Additional Interest Rate

If the QIPO Effective Date shall not have occurred on or prior to 13 October 2011 (the 
"PIK Interest Commencement Date") then the Bonds will (in addition to continuing 
to bear interest at the Interest Rate as provided in Condition 4(a)), bear additional 
interest ("Additional Interest") at the Additional Interest Rate, calculated by reference 
to their principal amount, from and including the PIK Interest Commencement Date up 
to the Interest Payment Date falling on or immediately following the QIPO Effective 
Date.

Additional Interest accrued on the Bonds in respect of each relevant Interest Period 
ending on a PIK Interest Payment Date shall, unless such PIK Interest Payment Date is 
also the due date for redemption or repayment of the relevant Bonds, be satisfied upon 
presentation and surrender of the relevant Coupon(s) by the issuance of Additional 
Bonds to the holders of the Bonds on the relevant PIK Interest Payment Date in an 
aggregate principal amount equal to the Additional Interest accrued on such Bonds in 
respect of the Interest Period ending on such PIK Interest Payment Date. 

Where Bonds are to be redeemed or repaid pursuant to these Conditions, any 
Additional Interest accrued on such Bonds from the Interest Payment Date immediately 
preceding the due date for redemption or repayment up to such due date for redemption 
or repayment shall be payable in cash in US dollars.

The aggregate principal amount of Additional Bonds to be issued to each holder on a 
PIK Interest Payment Date will be determined by reference to the aggregate principal 
amount of Bonds held by such holder on the relevant PIK Interest Payment Date, 
provided that for so long as the Bonds are represented by the Global Bond, the 
aggregate principal amount of Additional Bonds to be issued on a PIK Interest Payment 
Date shall be determined by reference to the aggregate principal amount of Bonds 
represented by the Global Bond.  

Fractions of an Additional Bond will not be issued and any Additional Bonds to be 
issued pursuant to these Conditions, either to a particular holder in circumstances 
where the Bonds are not represented by the Global Bond or in respect of the Global 
Bond where the Bonds are represented by the Global Bond, shall (if necessary) be 
rounded down to the nearest whole number of Additional Bonds.  

Where the Bonds are represented by the Global Bond, any Additional Bonds will be 
represented by a further global bond in bearer form and without Coupons which shall 
be delivered to a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, and 
references in these Conditions to the Global Bond shall be deemed to include any and 
all such further global bonds.  Where the Bonds are not represented by the Global 
Bond, any Additional Bonds to be issued to a holder will be delivered to such holder 
upon presentation by such Bondholder of the Bonds held by it on the relevant PIK 
Interest Payment Date at the specified office of any Paying and Conversion Agent at 
any time on or after the relevant PIK Interest Payment Date, provided that such date of 
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presentation is a business day in the place of the specified office of the relevant Paying 
and Conversion Agent.

(c) Accrual of Interest

Each Bond will cease to accrue interest pursuant to Condition 4(a) and, if applicable, 
4(b) (i) where the Conversion Right shall have been exercised by a Bondholder, from 
the Interest Payment Date immediately preceding the relevant Conversion Date or, if 
none, the Closing Date (subject in any such case as provided in Condition 5(j)) or (ii) 
where such Bond is redeemed or repaid pursuant to Condition 6 or Condition 9, from 
the due date for redemption or repayment thereof unless, upon due presentation thereof, 
payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused, in which event such interest 
will continue to accrue at the Interest Rate and, if applicable, the Additional Interest 
Rate (both before and after judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (a) the day on 
which all sums due in respect of such Bond up to that day are received by or on behalf 
of the relevant Bondholder; and (b) the day falling seven days after the Trustee or the 
Principal Paying and Conversion Agent has notified Bondholders of receipt of all sums 
due in respect of all the Bonds up to that seventh day (except to the extent that there is 
failure in the subsequent payment to the relevant holders under these Conditions). 

If interest shall accrue on the Bonds at the Additional Interest Rate pursuant to 
Condition 4(b), such interest will cease to accrue on the relevant Bonds (in addition to 
the circumstances provided in Condition 4(c)(i) or (ii), as applicable) from the PIK 
Interest Payment Date falling on or immediately following the QIPO Effective Date.  

(d) Notice

The Issuer shall notify Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16 and the Trustee 
by not later than five London business days prior to each PIK Interest Payment Date of 
the aggregate principal amount of Additional Bonds to be issued on such PIK Interest 
Payment Date and of the aggregate principal amount of Bonds, as increased by such 
Additional Bonds. 

(e) Definitions

"Interest Payment Date" means:

(i) each Quarterly Interest Date in each year (commencing with the Quarterly 
Interest Date falling on 13 January 2011 and ending on the Original Maturity 
Date or, if there is a Maturity Extension and the Extended Maturity Date does 
not fall on a Quarterly Interest Date, ending on the Quarterly Interest Date 
immediately preceding the Extended Maturity Date); and

(ii) if there is a Maturity Extension, the Extended Maturity Date.

"Interest Period" means the period beginning on (and including) the Closing Date and 
ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period 
beginning on (and including) an Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) 
the next succeeding Interest Payment Date.

"PIK Interest Payment Date" means, if the QIPO Effective Date shall not have 
occurred on or prior to the PIK Interest Commencement Date, each Interest Payment 
Date falling after the PIK Interest Commencement Date up to and including the Interest 
Payment Date falling on or immediately following the QIPO Effective Date.

"Quarterly Interest Date" means 13 January, 13 April, 13 July and 13 October in each 
year.

References in these Conditions to "interest" shall include interest accrued at the 
Interest Rate and, where applicable, interest accrued at the Additional Interest Rate.
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5. Conditional Conversion Rights 

(a) Conversion Period and Conversion Price

Subject to and as provided in these Conditions, if the QIPO Effective Date in respect of 
a QIPO shall occur, then each Bond shall be convertible at the option of the holder 
thereof into fully-paid Ordinary Shares at the prevailing conversion price (the 
"Conversion Price") at any time during the Conversion Period (a "Conversion 
Right").

The number of Ordinary Shares to be issued or transferred and delivered on exercise of 
a Conversion Right shall be determined by dividing the principal amount of the 
relevant Bonds to be converted by the Conversion Price (determined as at the relevant 
Conversion Date) in effect on the relevant Conversion Date.

The initial Conversion Price (the "Initial Conversion Price") shall be determined as 
follows:

(i) if the QIPO Effective Date shall occur on or before 13 October 2011, 100 per 
cent. of the Reference Price;

(ii) if the QIPO Effective Date shall occur after 13 October 2011 and on or before 
13 April 2012, 95 per cent. of the Reference Price;

(iii) if the QIPO Effective Date shall occur after 13 April 2012 and on or before 13 
October 2012, 92.5 per cent. of the Reference Price; and

(iv) if the QIPO Effective Date shall occur after 13 October 2012, 90 per cent. of the 
Reference Price,

in each case rounded (if necessary) to four decimal places with US$0.00005 being 
rounded up and provided that the Initial Conversion Price shall not be less than the 
lower of US$3.05 and the Reference Price.

The Conversion Price is subject to adjustment in the circumstances described in 
Condition 5(b).

The Issuer shall notify Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16 and the Trustee as 
soon as reasonably practicable of the QIPO Effective Date. Such notice shall also 
specify the commencement of the Conversion Period, the Reference Price, the Initial 
Conversion Price, the Gross Proceeds in respect of the QIPO and the Free Float Value 
on the QIPO Effective Date.

A Bondholder may exercise the Conversion Right in respect of a Bond by delivering 
such Bond, together with a duly completed Conversion Notice, to the specified office 
of any Paying and Conversion Agent in accordance with Condition 5(h) whereupon the 
Issuer shall (subject as provided in these Conditions) procure the delivery, to or as 
directed by the relevant Bondholder, of Ordinary Shares credited as paid up in full as 
provided in this Condition 5. 

Conversion Rights may not be exercised (i) following the giving of notice by the 
Trustee pursuant to Condition 9 or (ii) in respect of a Bond in respect of which the 
relevant Bondholder has exercised its right to require the Issuer to redeem that Bond 
pursuant to Condition 6(e).

Conversion Rights may only be exercised by a holder in respect of an aggregate 
principal amount of Bonds of not less than US$100,000. 

Fractions of Ordinary Shares will not be issued or delivered on exercise of Conversion 
Rights or pursuant to Condition 5(c) and no cash payment or other adjustment will be 
made in lieu thereof. However, if the Conversion Right in respect of more than one 
Bond is exercised at any one time such that Ordinary Shares to be delivered on 
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conversion or pursuant to Condition 5(c) are to be registered in the same name, the 
number of such Ordinary Shares to be delivered in respect thereof shall be calculated 
on the basis of the total principal amount of such Bonds (determined as at the relevant 
Conversion Date) being so converted and rounded down to the nearest whole number 
of Ordinary Shares.

The Issuer will procure that Ordinary Shares to be issued or delivered on exercise of 
Conversion Rights will be issued or delivered to the holder of the Bonds completing 
the relevant Conversion Notice or his nominee. Such Ordinary Shares will be deemed 
to be issued or delivered as of the relevant Conversion Date. Any Additional Ordinary 
Shares to be issued or transferred and delivered pursuant to Condition 5(c) will be 
deemed to be issued or delivered as of the relevant Reference Date.

"Conversion Period" means the period commencing 7 days after the QIPO Effective Date 
and ending on the close of business (at the place where the relevant Bond is delivered for 
conversion) on the date falling 7 days prior to the Original Maturity Date, or if there is a 
Maturity Extension, the Extended Maturity Date (both days inclusive) or, if such Bond is to be 
redeemed pursuant to Condition 6(b) or 6(c), then up to (and including) the close of business 
(at the place aforesaid) on the 7th day before the date fixed for redemption thereof pursuant to 
Condition 6(b) or 6(c) unless there shall be a default in making payment in respect of such 
Bond on such date fixed for redemption, in which event the Conversion Right shall extend up 
to (and including) the close of business (at the place aforesaid) on the date on which the full 
amount of such payment becomes available for payment and notice of such availability has 
been duly given to Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16 or, if earlier, the Original 
Maturity Date, or if there is a Maturity Extension, the Extended Maturity Date or, if not a 
London business day, the immediately preceding London business day; provided that, in each 
case, if such final date for the exercise of Conversion Rights is not a business day at the place 
aforesaid, then the period for exercise of Conversion Rights by Bondholders shall end on the 
immediately preceding business day at the place aforesaid.

"Free Float" means all issued and outstanding Ordinary Shares on the QIPO Effective Date 
less the aggregate of those Ordinary Shares that, as at the QIPO Effective Date, are held by 
any person or persons and/or any associate (as defined in Section 988(1) of the Companies 
Act) of such person or persons holding more than 5 per cent. of such number of Ordinary 
Shares (other than, in any such case, Ordinary Shares held by any unit trust, investment trust 
or other collective investment undertaking or entity).

"Free Float Value" means the amount determined in accordance with the following formula:

A x RP

where:

A means the number of Ordinary Shares comprising the Free Float on the QIPO Effective 
Date.

RP means the Reference Price in relation to the QIPO.

"Gross Proceeds" means, in respect of a QIPO, the aggregate gross offer or sale price before 
deduction of or in respect of commissions, fees and expenses and disregarding any greenshoe 
or over-allotment or other option to the extent not exercised prior to the relevant Pricing Date, 
and disregarding any discount, rebate, or other allowance to retail investors or employees or 
any other class of investor.

"Pricing Date" means the date on which the offer or sale price of the Ordinary Shares in 
respect of the QIPO is first publicly announced by the Issuer.

"QIPO" means an offering and sale to investors of Ordinary Shares by the Issuer and/or any 
one or more Shareholders for subscription or sale for cash, and if and to the extent that the 
issued and outstanding Ordinary Shares are not already admitted to a premium listing on the 
Official List of the UK Listing Authority and admitted to trading on the EEA Regulated 
Market of the London Stock Exchange, accompanied by the grant of such listing and 
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admission to trading, and which complies with the following conditions (or such other 
conditions as may be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution or the Trustee, at the request of 
holders of at least one-quarter in principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding provided that 
it is indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction in respect thereof, within 
12 months after the date of the admission to trading of any Ordinary Shares offered and sold 
as aforesaid which would, but for conditions (ii) or (iii) below, otherwise constitute a QIPO):

(i) the QIPO Effective Date occurs prior to the QIPO Cut-off Date;

(ii) the Gross Proceeds receivable by the Issuer (translated to the extent not in US dollars, 
into US dollars at the Prevailing Rate as at the Pricing Date) of the offering and sale are 
not less than US$100,000,000;

(iii) the Free Float Value on the QIPO Effective Date is not less than US$150,000,000.  

"QIPO Cut-off Date" means the date falling 14 London business days prior to the Original 
Maturity Date.

"QIPO Effective Date" means, in the case of a QIPO, the date on which the Ordinary Shares 
the subject of the QIPO are admitted to a premium listing on the Official List of the UK 
Listing Authority and admitted to trading on the EEA Regulated Market of the London Stock 
Exchange.

"Reference Price" means the price at which the Ordinary Shares are offered in the QIPO, 
before deduction of or in respect of any discount, rebate or other allowance to reach investors, 
employees or any other class of investor and, if not in US dollars, translated into US dollars at 
the Prevailing Rate as at the relevant Pricing Date (such translation being rounded, if 
necessary to four decimal places, with US$0.00005 being rounded up).

(b) Adjustment of Conversion Price

Upon the happening of any of the events described below, the Conversion Price shall 
be adjusted as follows:

(i) If and whenever there shall be a consolidation, reclassification or subdivision in 
relation to the Ordinary Shares, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by
multiplying the Conversion Price in force immediately prior to such 
consolidation, reclassification or subdivision by the following fraction:

B

A

where:

A is the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares in issue immediately before 
such consolidation, reclassification or subdivision, as the case may be; 
and

B is the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares in issue immediately after, 
and as a result of, such consolidation, reclassification or subdivision, as 
the case may be.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date the consolidation, 
reclassification or subdivision, as the case may be, takes effect.

(ii) If and whenever the Issuer shall issue any Ordinary Shares credited as fully paid 
to the Shareholders by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves (including any 
share premium account or capital redemption reserve) other than (1) where any 
such Ordinary Shares are or are to be issued instead of the whole or part of a 
Dividend in cash which the Shareholders would or could otherwise have elected 
to receive, (2) where the Shareholders may elect to receive a Dividend in cash in 



66

lieu of such Ordinary Shares or (3) where any such Ordinary Shares are or are 
expressed to be issued in lieu of a Dividend (whether or not a cash Dividend 
equivalent or amount is announced or would otherwise be payable to 
Shareholders, whether at their election or otherwise), the Conversion Price shall 
be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in force immediately prior to 
such issue by the following fraction:

B
A

where:

A is the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares in issue immediately before 
such issue; and

B is the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares in issue immediately after 
such issue.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date of issue of such Ordinary 
Shares.

(iii)  (A) If and whenever the Issuer shall pay or make any Dividend to 
Shareholders, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying 
the Conversion Price in force immediately prior to the Effective 
Date by the following fraction:

A

BA −

where:

A is the Current Market Price of one Ordinary Share on the 
Effective Date; and

B is the portion of the Fair Market Value of the aggregate Dividend 
attributable to one Ordinary Share, with such portion being 
determined by dividing the Fair Market Value of the aggregate 
Dividend by the number of Ordinary Shares entitled to receive the 
relevant Dividend (or, in the case of a purchase, redemption or 
buy back of Ordinary Shares or any depositary or other receipts or 
certificates representing Ordinary Shares by or on behalf of the 
Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer, by the number of Ordinary 
Shares in issue immediately following such purchase, redemption 
or buy back, and treating as not being in issue any Ordinary 
Shares, or any Ordinary Shares represented by depositary or other 
receipts or certificates, purchased, redeemed or bought back).

Such adjustment shall become effective on the Effective Date or, if later, 
the first date upon which the Fair Market Value of the relevant Dividend 
is capable of being determined as provided herein. 

"Effective Date" means, in respect of this sub-paragraph (b)(iii)(A), the 
first date on which the Ordinary Shares are traded ex-the relevant 
Dividend on the Relevant Stock Exchange or, in the case of a purchase, 
redemption or buy back of Ordinary Shares or any depositary or other 
receipts or certificates representing Ordinary Shares, the date on which 
such purchase, redemption or buy back is made or, in the case of a Spin-
Off, on the first date on which the Ordinary Shares are traded ex-the 
relevant Spin-Off on the Relevant Stock Exchange.
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(B) For the purposes of the above, Fair Market Value shall (subject as 
provided in paragraph (a) of the definition of "Dividend" and in the 
definition of "Fair Market Value") be determined as at the Effective 
Date.

(C) For the purposes of the above, Fair Market Value shall (subject as 
otherwise provided above or in paragraph (a) of the definition of 
"Dividend" or in the definition of "Fair Market Value") be determined as 
at the Effective Date.

(D) In making any calculations for the purposes of this Condition 5(b)(iii), 
such adjustments (if any) shall be made as an Independent Financial 
Adviser may determine in good faith to be appropriate to reflect any 
consolidation or sub-division of any Ordinary Shares or the issue of 
Ordinary Shares by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves (or any 
like or similar event) or any increase in the number of Ordinary Shares in 
issue in relation to the fiscal year of the Issuer in question.

(iv) If and whenever the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer or (at the direction or 
request or pursuant to any arrangements with the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the 
Issuer) any other company, person or entity shall issue Ordinary Shares to 
Shareholders as a class by way of rights, or shall issue or grant to Shareholders 
as a class by way of rights, any options, warrants or other rights to subscribe for 
or purchase Ordinary Shares, or any Securities which by their terms of issue 
carry (directly or indirectly) rights of conversion into, or exchange or 
subscription for, any Ordinary Shares (or shall grant any such rights in respect 
of existing Securities so issued), in each case at a price per Ordinary Share 
which is less than 95 per cent. of the Current Market Price per Ordinary Share 
on the Effective Date, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the 
Conversion Price in force immediately prior to the Effective Date by the 
following fraction: 

CA
BA

+
+

where:

A is the number of Ordinary Shares in issue on the Effective Date;

B is the number of Ordinary Shares which the aggregate consideration (if 
any) receivable for the Ordinary Shares issued by way of rights, or for 
the Securities issued by way of rights, or for the options or warrants or 
other rights issued by way of rights and for the total number of Ordinary 
Shares deliverable on the exercise thereof, would purchase at such 
Current Market Price per Ordinary Share on the Effective Date; and

C is the number of Ordinary Shares to be issued or, as the case may be, the 
maximum number of Ordinary Shares which may be issued upon 
exercise of such options, warrants or rights calculated as at the date of 
issue of such options, warrants or rights or upon conversion or exchange 
or exercise of rights of subscription or purchase in respect thereof at the 
initial conversion, exchange, subscription or purchase price or rate.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the Effective Date. 

"Effective Date" means, in respect of this sub-paragraph (b)(iv), the first date 
on which the Ordinary Shares are traded ex-rights, ex-options or ex-warrants on 
the Relevant Stock Exchange.

(v) If and whenever the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer or (at the direction or 
request or pursuant to any arrangements with the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the 
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Issuer) any other company, person or entity shall issue any Securities (other than 
Ordinary Shares or options, warrants or other rights to subscribe for or purchase 
any Ordinary Shares) to Shareholders as a class by way of rights or grant to 
Shareholders as a class by way of rights any options, warrants or other rights to 
subscribe for or purchase any Securities (other than Ordinary Shares or options, 
warrants or other rights to subscribe for or purchase Ordinary Shares), the 
Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in force 
immediately prior to the Effective Date by the following fraction:

A
BA −

where:

A is the Current Market Price of one Ordinary Share on the Effective Date; 
and

B is the Fair Market Value on the Effective Date of the portion of the rights 
attributable to one Ordinary Share.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the Effective Date.

"Effective Date" means, in respect of this sub-paragraph (b)(v), the first date on 
which the Ordinary Shares are traded ex- the relevant Securities or ex-rights, ex-
option or ex-warrants on the Relevant Stock Exchange.

(vi) If and whenever the Issuer shall issue (otherwise than as mentioned in sub-
paragraph (b)(iv) above) wholly for cash or for no consideration any Ordinary 
Shares (other than Ordinary Shares issued on conversion of the Bonds or on the 
exercise of any rights of conversion into, or exchange or subscription for or 
purchase of, Ordinary Shares) or if and whenever the Issuer or any Subsidiary of 
the Issuer or (at the direction or request or pursuant to any arrangements with 
the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer) any other company, person or entity 
shall issue or grant (otherwise than as mentioned in sub-paragraph (b)(iv) 
above) wholly for cash or for no consideration any options, warrants or other 
rights to subscribe for or purchase any Ordinary Shares (other than the Bonds,
which term shall for this purpose include any Further Bonds and any Additional 
Bonds), in each case at a price per Ordinary Share which is less than 95 per 
cent. of the Current Market Price per Ordinary Share on the date of the first 
public announcement of the terms of such issue or grant, the Conversion Price 
shall be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in force immediately prior 
to such issue or grant by the following fraction:

CA
BA

+
+

where:

A is the number of Ordinary Shares in issue immediately before the issue of 
such Ordinary Shares or the grant of such options, warrants or rights;

B is the number of Ordinary Shares which the aggregate consideration (if 
any) receivable for the issue of such Ordinary Shares or, as the case may
be, for the Ordinary Shares to be issued or otherwise made available 
upon the exercise of any such options, warrants or rights, would purchase 
at such Current Market Price per Ordinary Share on the date of such first 
public announcement; and 

C is the number of Ordinary Shares to be issued pursuant to such issue of 
such Ordinary Shares or, as the case may be, the maximum number of 
Ordinary Shares which may be issued upon exercise of such options, 
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warrants or rights calculated as at the date of issue of such options, 
warrants or rights. 

Such adjustment shall become effective on the Effective Date.

"Effective Date" means, in respect of this sub-paragraph (b)(vi), the date of 
issue of such Ordinary Shares or, as the case may be, the grant of such options, 
warrants or rights.

(vii) If and whenever the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer or (at the direction or 
request of or pursuant to any arrangements with the Issuer or any Subsidiary of 
the Issuer) any other company, person or entity (otherwise than as mentioned in 
sub-paragraphs (b)(iv), (b)(v) or (b)(vi) above) shall issue wholly for cash or for 
no consideration any Securities (other than the Bonds which term shall for this 
purpose exclude any Further Bonds and any Additional Bonds) which by their 
terms of issue carry (directly or indirectly) rights of conversion into, or 
exchange or subscription for, Ordinary Shares (or shall grant any such rights in 
respect of existing Securities so issued) or Securities which by their terms might 
be redesignated as Ordinary Shares, and the consideration per Ordinary Share 
receivable upon conversion, exchange, subscription or redesignation is less than 
95 per cent. of the Current Market Price per Ordinary Share on the date of the 
first public announcement of the terms of issue of such Securities (or the terms 
of such grant), the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the 
Conversion Price in force immediately prior to such issue or grant by the 
following fraction:

CA
BA

+
+

where: 

A is the number of Ordinary Shares in issue immediately before such issue 
or grant (but where the relevant Securities carry rights of conversion into 
or rights of exchange or subscription for Ordinary Shares which have 
been issued, purchased or acquired by the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the 
Issuer (or at the direction or request or pursuant to any arrangements with 
the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer) for the purposes of or in 
connection with such issue, less the number of such Ordinary Shares so 
issued, purchased or acquired);

B is the number of Ordinary Shares which the aggregate consideration (if 
any) receivable for the Ordinary Shares to be issued or otherwise made 
available upon conversion or exchange or upon exercise of the right of 
subscription attached to such Securities or, as the case may be, for the 
Ordinary Shares to be issued or to arise from any such redesignation 
would purchase at such Current Market Price per Ordinary Share on the 
date of such first public announcement; and

C is the maximum number of Ordinary Shares to be issued or otherwise 
made available upon conversion or exchange of such Securities or upon 
the exercise of such right of subscription attached thereto at the initial 
conversion, exchange or subscription price or rate or, as the case may be, 
the maximum number of Ordinary Shares which may be issued or arise 
from any such redesignation;

provided that if at the time of issue of the relevant Securities or date of grant of 
such rights (as used in this sub-paragraph (b)(vii), the "Specified Date") such 
number of Ordinary Shares is to be determined by reference to the application of 
a formula or other variable feature or the occurrence of any event at some 
subsequent time (which may be when such Securities are converted or 
exchanged or rights of subscription are exercised or, as the case may be, such 
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Securities are redesignated or at such other time as may be provided), then for 
the purposes of this sub-paragraph (b)(vii), "C" shall be determined by the 
application of such formula or variable feature or as if the relevant event occurs 
or had occurred as at the Specified Date and as if such conversion, exchange, 
subscription, purchase or acquisition or, as the case may be, redesignation had 
taken place on the Specified Date. 

Such adjustment shall become effective on the Effective Date.

"Effective Date" means, in respect of this sub-paragraph (b)(vii), the date of 
issue of such Securities or, as the case may be, the grant of such rights.

(viii) If and whenever there shall be any modification of the rights of conversion, 
exchange, subscription, purchase or acquisition attaching to any such Securities 
(other than the Bonds, which term shall for this purpose include any Further 
Bonds and any Additional Bonds) as are mentioned in sub-paragraph (b)(vii) 
above (other than in accordance with the terms (including terms as to 
adjustment) applicable to such Securities upon issue) so that following such 
modification the consideration per Ordinary Share receivable has been reduced
and is less than 95 per cent. of the Current Market Price per Ordinary Share on 
the date of the first public announcement of the proposals for such modification, 
the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in 
force immediately prior to such modification by the following fraction:

CA

BA

+
+

where:

A is the number of Ordinary Shares in issue on the dealing day immediately 
before such modification (but where the relevant Securities carry rights 
of conversion into or rights of exchange or subscription for, or purchase 
or acquisition of, Ordinary Shares which have been issued, purchased or 
acquired by the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer (or at the direction 
or request or pursuant to any arrangements with the Issuer or any 
Subsidiary of the Issuer) for the purposes of or in connection with such 
Securities, less the number of such Ordinary Shares so issued, purchased 
or acquired);

B is the number of Ordinary Shares which the aggregate consideration (if 
any) receivable for the Ordinary Shares to be issued or otherwise made 
available upon conversion or exchange or upon exercise of the right of 
subscription, purchase or acquisition attached to the Securities so 
modified would purchase at such Current Market Price per Ordinary 
Share on the date of such first public announcement or, if lower, the 
existing conversion, exchange, subscription, purchase or acquisition 
price or rate of such Securities; and

C is the maximum number of Ordinary Shares which may be issued or 
otherwise made available upon conversion or exchange of such 
Securities or upon the exercise of such rights of subscription, purchase or 
acquisition attached thereto at the modified conversion, exchange, 
subscription, purchase or acquisition price or rate but giving credit in 
such manner as an Independent Financial Adviser shall consider 
appropriate for any previous adjustment under this sub-paragraph 
(b)(viii) or sub-paragraph (b)(vii) above; 

provided that if at the time of such modification (as used in this sub-paragraph 
(b)(viii), the "Specified Date") such number of Ordinary Shares is to be 
determined by reference to the application of a formula or other variable feature 
or the occurrence of any event at some subsequent time (which may be when 
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such Securities are converted or exchanged or rights of subscription, purchase or 
acquisition are exercised or at such other time as may be provided), then for the 
purposes of this sub-paragraph (b)(viii), "C" shall be determined by the 
application of such formula or variable feature or as if the relevant event occurs 
or had occurred as at the Specified Date and as if such conversion, exchange, 
subscription, purchase or acquisition had taken place on the Specified Date.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the Effective Date. 

"Effective Date" means, in respect of this sub-paragraph (b)(viii), the date of 
modification of the rights of conversion, exchange, subscription, purchase or 
acquisition attaching to such Securities.

(ix) If and whenever the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer or (at the direction or 
request of or pursuant to any arrangements with the Issuer or any Subsidiary of 
the Issuer) any other company, person or entity shall offer any Securities in 
connection with which Shareholders as a class are entitled to participate in 
arrangements whereby such Securities may be acquired by them (except where 
the Conversion Price falls to be adjusted under sub-paragraphs (b)(ii), (b)(iii), 
(b)(iv), (b)(v), (b)(vi) or (b)(vii) above or (b)(x) below (or, where applicable, 
would fall to be so adjusted if the relevant issue or grant was at less than 95 per 
cent. of the Current Market Price per Ordinary Share on the relevant day)), the 
Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in force 
immediately before the making of such offer by the following fraction:

A
BA −

where:

A is the Current Market Price of one Ordinary Share on the Effective Date; 
and

B is the Fair Market Value on the Effective Date of the portion of the 
relevant offer attributable to one Ordinary Share.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the Effective Date.

"Effective Date" means, in respect of this sub-paragraph (b)(ix), the first date 
on which the Ordinary Shares are traded ex-rights on the Relevant Stock 
Exchange.

(x) If a Change of Control shall occur, then upon any exercise of Conversion Rights 
where the Conversion Date falls during the Change of Control Period, the 
Conversion Price shall be adjusted by dividing the Conversion Price in effect 
immediately prior to such Change of Control by a figure calculated in 
accordance with the following formula and subsequent proviso set out below:

B
C

xA

where:

A is the average of the Bond Price, expressed as a percentage of the 
principal amount of a Bond, on each dealing day in the Calculation 
Period;

B is the average of the Volume Weighted Average Price of an Ordinary 
Share on each dealing day in the Calculation Period, translated, if not 
expressed in US dollars, into US dollars at the Prevailing Rate on such 
dealing day; and
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C is the average of the Conversion Price in effect (or deemed to be in 
effect) on each dealing day in the Calculation Period,

provided that no increase of the Conversion Price shall be made pursuant to this 
Condition 5(b)(x) and provided that the Conversion Price, as so adjusted, shall 
also be subject to any subsequent adjustment required to be made pursuant to 
the foregoing provisions of this Condition 5(b), following the occurrence of the 
Change of Control.

"Bond Price" means, in respect of any dealing day, the average of the midpoint 
of the bid/ask prices per Bond as appearing on Bloomberg under page ALLQ (of 
if such page is not available, such other screen based page that provides such 
information) as at or about 19.00 (London time) on such dealing day that are 
determined by Deutsche Bank AG or any of its affiliates in good faith to reflect 
"live" market prices, or if no such prices appear, the fair market value of such 
Bond as determined by Deutsche Bank AG or any of its affiliates in good faith;

"Calculation Period" means a period of 15 consecutive dealing days ending on 
the fifth dealing day prior to the Commencement Date; 

"Commencement Date" means the commencement of an offer period (as 
determined in accordance with the Takeover Code and being an offer period in 
respect of which or in relation to which a Change of Control occurs, provided 
that if the Commencement Date would otherwise have occurred less than 90 
days after the end of a previous offer period (as determined in accordance with 
the Takeover Code), then the Commencement Date shall be the commencement 
of such previous offer period (determined as above); and

"Takeover Code" means the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers issued by 
the United Kingdom Panel on Takeovers and Mergers.

(xi) If the Issuer (after consultation with the Trustee) determines that an adjustment 
should be made to the Conversion Price as a result of one or more circumstances 
not referred to above in this Condition 5(b) (even if the relevant circumstance is 
specifically excluded from the operation of sub-paragraphs (b)(i) to (x) above), 
the Issuer shall, at its own expense and acting reasonably, request an 
Independent Financial Adviser to determine as soon as practicable what 
adjustment (if any) to the Conversion Price is fair and reasonable to take 
account thereof and the date on which such adjustment (if any) should take 
effect and upon such determination such adjustment (if any) shall be made and 
shall take effect in accordance with such determination, provided that an 
adjustment shall only be made pursuant to this sub-paragraph (b)(xi) if such 
Independent Financial Adviser is so requested to make such a determination not 
more than 21 days after the date on which the relevant circumstance arises and 
if the adjustment would result in a reduction to the Conversion Price.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions: 

(a) where the events or circumstances giving rise to any adjustment pursuant 
to this Condition 5(b) have already resulted or will result in an 
adjustment to the Conversion Price or where the events or circumstances 
giving rise to any adjustment arise by virtue of any other events or 
circumstances which have already given or will give rise to an 
adjustment to the Conversion Price or where more than one event which 
gives rise to an adjustment to the Conversion Price occurs within such a 
short period of time that, in the opinion of the Issuer, a modification to 
the operation of the adjustment provisions is required to give the 
intended result, such modification shall be made to the operation of the 
adjustment provisions as may be advised by an Independent Financial 
Adviser to be in its opinion appropriate to give the intended result; and
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(b) such modification shall be made to the operation of these Conditions as 
may be advised by an Independent Financial Adviser to be in its opinion 
appropriate (i) to ensure that an adjustment to the Conversion Price or the 
economic effect thereof shall not be taken into account more than once 
and (ii) to ensure that the economic effect of a Dividend is not taken into 
account more than once.

For the purpose of any calculation of the consideration receivable or price 
pursuant to sub-paragraphs (b)(iv), (b)(vi), (b)(vii) and (b)(viii), the following 
provisions shall apply:

(a) the aggregate consideration receivable or price for Ordinary Shares 
issued for cash shall be the amount of such cash;

(b) (x) the aggregate consideration receivable or price for Ordinary Shares to 
be issued or otherwise made available upon the conversion or exchange 
of any Securities shall be deemed to be the consideration or price 
received or receivable for any such Securities and (y) the aggregate 
consideration receivable or price for Ordinary Shares to be issued or 
otherwise made available upon the exercise of rights of subscription 
attached to any Securities or upon the exercise of any options, warrants 
or rights shall be deemed to be that part (which may be the whole) of the 
consideration or price received or receivable for such Securities or, as the 
case may be, for such options, warrants or rights which are attributed by 
the Issuer to such rights of subscription or, as the case may be, such 
options, warrants or rights or, if no part of such consideration or price is 
so attributed, the Fair Market Value of such rights of subscription or, as 
the case may be, such options, warrants or rights as at the relevant date of 
first public announcement as referred to in paragraph (b)(vi), (b)(vii) or 
(b)(viii), as the case may be, plus in the case of each of (x) and (y) above, 
the additional minimum consideration receivable or price (if any) upon 
the conversion or exchange of such Securities, or upon the exercise of 
such rights of subscription attached thereto or, as the case may be, upon 
exercise of such options, warrants or rights and (z) the consideration 
receivable or price per Ordinary Share upon the conversion or exchange 
of, or upon the exercise of such rights of subscription attached to, such 
Securities or, as the case may be, upon the exercise of such options, 
warrants or rights shall be the aggregate consideration or price referred to 
in (x) or (y) above (as the case may be) divided by the number of 
Ordinary Shares to be issued upon such conversion or exchange or 
exercise at the initial conversion, exchange or subscription price or rate; 

(c) if the consideration or price determined pursuant to (a) or (b) above (or 
any component thereof) shall be expressed in a currency other than the 
Relevant Currency, it shall be converted into the Relevant Currency at 
the Prevailing Rate on the relevant Effective Date (in the case of (a) 
above) or the relevant date of first public announcement (in the case of 
(b) above); 

(d) in determining the consideration or price pursuant to the above, no 
deduction shall be made for any commissions or fees (howsoever 
described) or any expenses paid or incurred for any underwriting, placing 
or management of the issue of the relevant Ordinary Shares or Securities 
or options, warrants or rights, or otherwise in connection therewith; and

(e) the consideration or price shall be determined as provided above on the 
basis of the consideration or price received, receivable, paid or payable, 
regardless of whether all or part thereof is received, receivable, paid or 
payable by or to the Issuer or another entity.
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(c) Retroactive Adjustments

If the Conversion Date in relation to the conversion of any Bond shall be after the 
record date in respect of any consolidation, reclassification or sub-division as is 
mentioned in Condition 5(b)(i), or after the record date or other due date for the 
establishment of entitlement for any such issue, distribution, grant or offer (as the case 
may be) as is mentioned in Condition 5(b)(ii), (iii) (iv), (v) or (ix), or after the date of 
the first public announcement of the terms of any such issue or grant as is mentioned in 
Condition 5(b)(vi) and (vii) or of the terms of any such modification as is mentioned in 
Condition 5(b)(viii), but before the relevant adjustment to the Conversion Price 
becomes effective under Condition 5(b) (such adjustment, a "Retroactive 
Adjustment"), then the Issuer shall (conditional upon the relevant adjustment 
becoming effective) procure that there shall be issued or transferred and delivered to 
the converting Bondholder, in accordance with the instructions contained in the 
Conversion Notice, such additional number of Ordinary Shares (if any) (the 
"Additional Ordinary Shares") as, together with the Ordinary Shares issued or to be 
transferred and delivered on conversion of the relevant Bonds (together with any 
fraction of an Ordinary Share not so issued or delivered), is equal to the number of 
Ordinary Shares which would have been required to be issued or delivered on 
conversion of such Bond if the relevant adjustment to the Conversion Price had been 
made and become effective immediately prior to the relevant Conversion Date. 

(d) Decision of an Independent Financial Adviser

If any doubt shall arise as to whether an adjustment falls to be made to the Conversion 
Price or as to the appropriate adjustment to the Conversion Price, and following 
consultation between the Issuer and an Independent Financial Adviser, a written 
opinion of such Independent Financial Adviser in respect thereof shall be conclusive 
and binding on the Issuer, the Bondholders and the Trustee, save in the case of manifest 
error.

(e) Share Option Schemes, Dividend Reinvestment Plans

No adjustment will be made to the Conversion Price where Ordinary Shares or other 
Securities (including rights, warrants and options) are issued, offered, exercised, 
allotted, purchased, appropriated, modified or granted to, or for the benefit of, 
employees or former employees (including Directors holding or formerly holding 
executive office or the personal service company of any such person) or their spouses 
or relatives, in each case, of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries or any associated 
company or to a trustee or trustees to be held for the benefit of any such person, in any 
such case pursuant to any share or option scheme or pursuant to any dividend 
reinvestment plan or similar plan or scheme.

(f) Rounding Down and Notice of Adjustment to the Conversion Price

On any adjustment, the resultant Conversion Price, if not an integral multiple of 
US$0.01, shall be rounded down to the nearest whole multiple of US$0.01. No 
adjustment shall be made to the Conversion Price where such adjustment (rounded 
down if applicable) would be less than one per cent. of the Conversion Price then in 
effect. Any adjustment not required to be made and/or any amount by which the 
Conversion Price has been rounded down, shall be carried forward and taken into 
account in any subsequent adjustment, and such subsequent adjustment shall be made 
on the basis that the adjustment not required to be made had been made at the relevant 
time and/or, as the case may be, that the relevant rounding down had not been made. 

Notice of any adjustments to the Conversion Price shall be given by the Issuer to 
Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16 and to the Trustee and the Paying and 
Conversion Agents as soon as reasonably practicable after the determination thereof.

The Conversion Price shall not in any event be reduced to below the nominal value of 
the Ordinary Shares. The Issuer undertakes that it shall not take any action, and shall 
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procure that no action is taken, that would otherwise result in an adjustment to the
Conversion Price to below such nominal value or any minimum level permitted by 
applicable laws or regulations. 

(g) Notice of Change of Control

Within 5 calendar days following the occurrence of a Change of Control, the Issuer 
shall give notice thereof to the Trustee and the Paying and Conversion Agents and to 
the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16 (a "Change of Control Notice"). 
The Change of Control Notice shall contain a statement informing Bondholders of their 
entitlement to exercise their Conversion Rights as provided in these Conditions and 
their entitlement to exercise their rights to require redemption of their Bonds pursuant 
to Condition 6(e)(i).

The Change of Control Notice shall also specify:

(i) all information material to Bondholders concerning the Change of Control;

(ii) the Conversion Price immediately prior to the occurrence of the Change of 
Control and the Conversion Price applicable pursuant to Condition 5(b)(x) 
during the Change of Control Period on the basis of the Conversion Price in 
effect immediately prior to the occurrence of the Change of Control;

(iii) the closing price of the Ordinary Shares as derived from the Relevant Stock 
Exchange as at the latest practicable date prior to the publication of the Change 
of Control Notice;

(iv) the last day of the Change of Control Period; 

(v) the Change of Control Put Date; and

(vi) such other information relating to the Change of Control as the Trustee may 
require.

The Trustee shall not be required to monitor or take any steps to ascertain whether a 
Change of Control or any event which could lead to a Change of Control has occurred 
or may occur and will not be responsible or liable to Bondholders or any other person 
for any loss arising from any failure by it to do so.

(h) Procedure for exercise of Conversion Rights

Conversion Rights may be exercised by a Bondholder during the Conversion Period by 
delivering the relevant Bonds to the specified office of any Paying and Conversion 
Agent, during its usual business hours, accompanied by a duly completed and signed 
notice of conversion (a "Conversion Notice") in the form (for the time being current) 
obtainable from any Paying and Conversion Agent. Conversion Rights shall be 
exercised subject in each case to any applicable fiscal or other laws or regulations 
applicable in the jurisdiction in which the specified office of the Paying and 
Conversion Agent to whom the relevant Conversion Notice is delivered is located. 

If such delivery is made after the end of normal business hours or on a day which is not 
a business day in the place of the specified office of the relevant Paying and 
Conversion Agent, such delivery shall be deemed for all purposes of these Conditions 
to have been made on the next following such business day.

Any determination as to whether a Conversion Notice has been duly completed and 
properly delivered shall be made by the relevant Paying and Conversion Agent and 
shall, save in the case of manifest error, be conclusive and binding on the Issuer, the 
Trustee, the Paying and Conversion Agents and the relevant Bondholder.

A Conversion Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable.
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The conversion date in respect of a Bond (the "Conversion Date") shall be the 
business day in London immediately following the date of the delivery of the relevant 
Bond and the Conversion Notice as provided in this Condition 5(h) and, if applicable, 
the making of any payment to be made as provided below.

Where Conversion Rights shall have been exercised in respect of any Bonds, all 
Coupons relating to such Bonds in respect of Interest Payment Dates falling on or after 
the relevant Conversion Date (whether or not attached to the relevant Bond) shall 
become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them.

A Bondholder exercising Conversion Rights must pay directly to the relevant 
authorities any capital, stamp, issue and registration and transfer taxes and duties 
arising on conversion (other than any capital, stamp, issue, registration and transfer 
taxes and duties payable in the United Kingdom in respect of the issue or transfer and 
delivery of any Ordinary Shares in respect of such exercise (including any Additional 
Ordinary Shares), which shall be paid by the Issuer).  If the Issuer shall fail to pay any 
taxes and capital, stamp, issue and registration and transfer taxes and duties payable for 
which it is responsible as provided above, the relevant holder shall be entitled to tender 
and pay the same and the Issuer as a separate and independent stipulation, covenants to 
reimburse and indemnify each Bondholder in respect of any payment thereof and any 
penalties payable in respect thereof.

The Trustee shall not be responsible for determining whether any such taxes or capital, 
stamp, issue and registration and transfer taxes and duties are payable or the amount 
thereof and it shall not be responsible or liable for any failure by the Issuer to pay such 
taxes or capital, stamp, issue and registration and transfer taxes and duties.

Such Bondholder must also pay all, if any, taxes imposed on it and arising by reference 
to any disposal or deemed disposal of a Bond or interest therein in connection with the 
exercise of Conversion Rights by it. 

The Ordinary Shares will not be available for issue (i) to, or to a nominee or agent for, 
Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme or any other 
person providing a clearance service within the meaning of Section 96 of the Finance 
Act 1986 of the United Kingdom or (ii) to a person, or nominee or agent for a person, 
whose business is or includes issuing depositary receipts within the meaning of Section 
93 of the Finance Act 1986 of the United Kingdom, in each case at any time prior to 
the "abolition day" as defined in Section 111(1) of the Finance Act 1990 of the United 
Kingdom.

Ordinary Shares to be delivered on exercise of Conversion Rights (including any 
Additional Shares) will be delivered by or on behalf of the Issuer in uncertificated form 
through the dematerialised securities trading system operated by Euroclear UK & 
Ireland Limited, known as CREST, unless at the relevant time the Ordinary Shares are 
not a participating security in CREST. Where Ordinary Shares are to be delivered 
through CREST, they will be delivered by or on behalf of the Issuer to the account 
specified by the relevant Bondholder in the relevant Conversion Notice by not later 
than seven London business days following the relevant Conversion Date (or, in the 
case of any Additional Ordinary Shares, not later than seven London business days 
following the Reference Date). Where Ordinary Shares are to be delivered in 
certificated form, a certificate in respect thereof will be dispatched by mail free of 
charge (but uninsured and at the risk of the recipient) to the relevant Bondholder or as 
it may direct in the relevant Conversion Notice within 28 days following the relevant 
Conversion Date or, as the case may be, the Reference Date.

(i) Ordinary Shares

(i) Ordinary Shares issued or transferred and delivered on exercise of Conversion 
Rights will be fully paid and will in all respects rank pari passu with the fully 
paid Ordinary Shares in issue on the relevant Conversion Date or, in the case of 
Additional Ordinary Shares, on the relevant Reference Date, except in any such 



77

case for any right excluded by mandatory provisions of applicable law and 
except that such Ordinary Shares or, as the case may be, Additional Ordinary 
Shares will not rank for (or, as the case may be, the relevant holder shall not be 
entitled to receive) any rights, distributions or payments the record date or other 
due date for the establishment of entitlement for which falls prior to the relevant 
Conversion Date or, as the case may be, the relevant Reference Date.

(ii) Save as provided in Condition 5(j), no payment or adjustment shall be made on 
exercise of Conversion Rights for any interest which otherwise would have 
accrued on the relevant Bonds since the last Interest Payment Date preceding 
the Conversion Date relating to such Bonds (or, if such Conversion Date falls 
before the first Interest Payment Date, since the Closing Date).

(j) Interest on Conversion

If any notice requiring the redemption of the Bonds is given pursuant to Condition 6(b) 
on or after the fifteenth London business day prior to a record date which has occurred 
since the last Interest Payment Date (or in the case of the first Interest Period, since the 
Closing Date) in respect of any Dividend or distribution payable in respect of the 
Ordinary Shares where such notice specifies a date for redemption falling on or prior to 
the date which is 14 days after the Interest Payment Date next following such record 
date, interest shall accrue at the Interest Rate and, where applicable, the Additional 
Interest Rate on Bonds in respect of which Conversion Rights shall have been 
exercised and in respect of which the Conversion Date falls after such record date and 
on or prior to the Interest Payment Date next following such record date in respect of 
such Dividend or distribution, in each case from and including the preceding Interest 
Payment Date (or, if such Conversion Date falls before the first Interest Payment Date, 
from the Closing Date) to but excluding such Conversion Date. The Issuer shall pay 
any such interest by not later than 14 days after the relevant Conversion Date by 
transfer to a sterling account with a bank in London in accordance with instructions 
given by the relevant Bondholder in the relevant Conversion Notice.

(k) Purchase or Redemption of Ordinary Shares

The Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer may exercise such rights as it may from time 
to time enjoy to purchase or redeem or buy back any shares of the Issuer (including 
Ordinary Shares) or any depositary or other receipts or certificates representing the 
same without the consent of the Bondholders or Couponholders.

(l) No Duty to Monitor

The Trustee shall not be under any duty to monitor whether any event or circumstance 
has happened or exists or may happen or exist and which requires or may require an 
adjustment to be made to the Conversion Price and will not be responsible or liable to 
the Bondholders for any loss arising from any failure by it to do so, nor shall the 
Trustee be responsible or liable to any person for any determination of whether or not 
an adjustment to the Conversion Price is required or should be made nor as to the 
determination or calculation of any such adjustment.

6. Redemption and Purchase

(a) Final Redemption

(i) Unless previously purchased and cancelled, redeemed or converted as herein 
provided and subject as provided in Condition 6(a)(ii), the Bonds will be 
redeemed on the Original Maturity Date at their principal amount as at such 
date. 

(ii) If the QIPO Effective Date in respect of a QIPO shall occur after 13 April 2012 
but on or prior to the QIPO Cut-off Date, then the maturity of the Bonds shall be 
extended (a "Maturity Extension") and unless previously purchased and 
cancelled, redeemed or converted as provided herein will be redeemed on the 
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date falling 12 months after the QIPO Effective Date (the "Extended Maturity 
Date") at their principal amount as at such date.

(iii) The Bonds may only be redeemed at the option of the Issuer prior to the 
Original Maturity Date or, as the case may be, the Extended Maturity Date in 
accordance with Condition 6(b) or 6(c). 

(b) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer

On giving not less than 45 nor more than 60 days’ notice (an "Optional Redemption 
Notice") to the Trustee and to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16, the 
Issuer may redeem all but not some only of the Bonds on the date (the "Optional 
Redemption Date") specified in the Optional Redemption Notice at their principal 
amount as at such date, together with accrued but unpaid interest to such date:

(i) at any time on or after the date falling 180 days after the QIPO Effective Date 
(the "First Call Date"), if the Parity Value on each of at least 20 dealing days in 
any period of 30 consecutive dealing days ending not earlier than 7 days prior to 
the giving of the relevant Optional Redemption Notice, shall have exceeded 
US$150,000 on such dealing day; or

(ii) at any time after the First Call Date if prior to the date the relevant Optional 
Redemption Notice is given, Conversion Rights shall have been exercised 
and/or purchases (and corresponding cancellations) and/or redemptions effected 
in respect of 90 per cent. or more in principal amount of the Bonds originally 
issued (which shall for this purpose include any Further Bonds and any 
Additional Bonds).

(c) Redemption for Taxation Reasons

At any time after the Bonds are admitted to the Official List of the UK Listing 
Authority and admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange the Issuer may, 
having given not less than 45 nor more than 60 days’ notice (a "Tax Redemption 
Notice") to the Bondholders redeem (subject to the second following paragraph) all but 
not some only of the Bonds for the time being outstanding on the date (the "Tax 
Redemption Date") specified in the Tax Redemption Notice at their principal amount 
as at such date, together with accrued but unpaid interest to such date, if (i) the Issuer 
satisfies the Trustee immediately prior to the giving of such notice that the Issuer has or 
will become obliged to pay additional amounts in respect of payments of interest on the 
Bonds pursuant to Condition 8 as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws 
or regulations of the United Kingdom or any political subdivision or any authority 
thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the general application or 
official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or amendment 
becomes effective on or after the 11 October 2010, and (ii) such obligation cannot be 
avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it, provided that no such 
notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on 
which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in 
respect of the Bonds then due. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption 
pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee (a) a certificate signed 
by two directors of the Issuer stating that the obligation referred to in (i) above cannot 
be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it and (b) an opinion 
of independent legal or tax advisers of recognised international standing to the effect 
that such change or amendment has occurred and that the Issuer has or will be obliged 
to pay such additional amounts as a result thereof (irrespective of whether such 
amendment or change is then effective) and the Trustee shall accept without any 
liability for so doing such certificate and opinion as sufficient evidence of the matters 
set out in (i) and (ii) above in which event it shall be conclusive and binding on the 
Bondholders.
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On the Tax Redemption Date the Issuer shall (subject to the next following paragraph) 
redeem the Bonds at their principal amount as at the Tax Redemption Date, together 
with accrued interest to such date.

If the Issuer gives a Tax Redemption Notice, each Bondholder will have the right to 
elect that his Bonds shall not be redeemed and that the provisions of Condition 8 shall 
not apply in respect of any payment of interest at the Interest Rate to be made on such 
Bonds which falls due after the relevant Tax Redemption Date, whereupon no 
additional amounts shall be payable in respect thereof pursuant to Condition 8 and 
payment of all amounts of such interest on such Bonds shall be made subject to the 
deduction or withholding of any United Kingdom taxation required to be withheld or 
deducted. To exercise such right, the holder of the relevant Bond must complete, sign 
and deposit at the specified office of any Paying and Conversion Agent a duly 
completed and signed notice of election, in the form for the time being current, 
obtainable from the specified office of any Paying and Conversion Agent together with 
the relevant Bonds on or before the day falling 10 days prior to the Tax Redemption 
Date. 

(d) Optional Redemption and Tax Redemption Notices 

Any Optional Redemption Notice or Tax Redemption Notice shall be irrevocable. Any 
such notice shall specify (i) the Optional Redemption Date or, as the case may be, the 
Tax Redemption Date, which shall be a London and New York City business day, (ii) 
the Conversion Price, the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds outstanding and the 
closing price of the Ordinary Shares as derived from the Relevant Stock Exchange, in 
each case as at the latest practicable date prior to the publication of the Optional 
Redemption Notice or, as the case may be, the Tax Redemption Notice; (iii) the last 
day on which Conversion Rights may be exercised by Bondholders; and (iv) if the 
Issuer is electing to make payment in sterling pursuant to Condition 6(f), that such 
election is being made.

(e) Redemption at the Option of Bondholders

(i) Upon a Change of Control

If, a Change of Control shall occur, the holder of each Bond will have the right 
to require the Issuer to redeem that Bond on the Change of Control Put Date at 
its principal amount as at such date, together with accrued and unpaid interest to 
such date. To exercise such right, the holder of the relevant Bond must deliver 
such Bond, together with all Coupons relating to it which mature after the 
Change of Control Put Date, to the specified office of any Paying and 
Conversion Agent, together with a duly completed and signed notice of exercise 
in the form for the time being current obtainable from the specified office of any 
Paying and Conversion Agent (a "Change of Control Put Exercise Notice"), at 
any time during the Change of Control Period. The "Change of Control Put 
Date" shall be the fourteenth London business day after the expiry of the 
Change of Control Period. 

Payment in respect of any such Bond shall be made by transfer to a US dollar 
account with a bank in New York City as specified by the relevant Bondholder 
in the relevant Change of Control Put Exercise Notice.

A Change of Control Put Exercise Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable 
and the Issuer shall redeem all Bonds the subject of Change of Control Put 
Exercise Notices delivered as aforesaid on the Change of Control Put Date.

(ii) Upon a Relevant Event or Repayment of Loan on Illegality

If:

(a) it is or becomes unlawful in any jurisdiction for EBRD to make or 
maintain the Loan or perform any of its obligations under the Convertible 
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Loan Agreement or for any participant (as defined in the Convertible 
Loan Agreement) to maintain or fund its Participation (defined as 
aforesaid) (an "Illegality Event") and EBRD shall request (an "Illegality 
Prepayment Request") the Issuer to prepay all or part of the Loan; or

(b) a Relevant Event shall occur, 

then the holder of each Bond will have the right to require the Issuer to redeem 
that Bond on the Relevant Event/Illegality Put Date at its principal amount as at 
such date, together with accrued and unpaid interest to such date.  To exercise 
such right, the holder of the relevant Bond must deliver such Bond, together 
with all Coupons relating to it which mature after the Relevant Event/Illegality 
Put Date, to a specified office of any paying and conversion agent, together with 
a duly completed and signed notice of exercise in the form for the time being 
current, obtainable from the specified office of any paying and conversion agent 
(a "Relevant Event/Illegality Put Exercise Notice"), at any time during the 
Relevant Event/Illegality Period. The "Relevant Event/Illegality Put Date" 
shall be the 14th London business day after the expiry of the Relevant 
Event/Illegality Period.

Payment in respect of any such Bond shall be made by transfer to a US dollar 
account with a bank in New York City as specified by the relevant Bondholder 
in the Relevant Event/Illegality Put Exercise Notice.  

A Relevant Event/Illegality Put Exercise Notice, once delivered, shall be 
irrevocable and the Issuer shall redeem all Bonds the subject of Relevant 
Event/Illegality Put Exercise Notices delivered as aforesaid on the Relevant 
Event/Illegality Put Date.

(iii) Redemption on a Maturity Extension

If there shall be a Maturity Extension, the holder of each Bond will have the 
right to require the Issuer to redeem that Bond on the Original Maturity Date at 
its principal amount as at such date.  To exercise such right, the holder of the 
relevant Bond must deliver such Bond, together with all Coupons relating to it 
which mature after the Original Maturity Date, to the specified office of any 
Paying and Conversion Agent, together with a duly completed and signed notice 
of exercise in the form for the time being current obtainable from the specified 
office of any Paying and Conversion Agent (the "Optional Put Exercise 
Notice") not less than five London and New York City business days prior to 
the Original Maturity Date. 

Payment in respect of any such Bond shall be made by transfer to a US dollar 
account with a bank in New York City as specified by the relevant Bondholder 
in the relevant Optional Put Exercise Notice.

An Optional Put Exercise Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable and the 
Issuer shall redeem all Bonds the subject of Optional Put Exercise Notices 
delivered as aforesaid on the Original Maturity Date.

(f) Issuer option to redeem in sterling

The amount (including accrued interest) to be paid by the Issuer (the "Redemption 
Amount") on the due date for redemption of the Bonds ("Redemption Date") in 
accordance with Condition 6(a) will be payable in US dollars unless the Issuer elects to 
make payment in sterling, in which case the Issuer shall give not less than 20 nor more 
than 60 days notice prior to the Original Maturity Date or, as the case may be, the 
Extended Maturity Date to the Trustee and the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent 
and to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16.

The sterling amount payable shall in respect of each Bond be calculated by multiplying 
the Redemption Amount in US dollars by 1.005 and converting such US dollars 
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amount into sterling at the Prevailing Rate on the second London business day prior to 
the relevant Redemption Date and rounding the resulting figure, if necessary, to the 
nearest £0.01, with £0.005 being rounded upwards.

(g) Purchase

Subject to the requirements (if any) of any stock exchange on which the Bonds may be 
admitted to listing and trading at the relevant time and subject to compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer may at any 
time purchase any Bonds (provided that all unmatured Coupons relating to them are 
purchased therewith or attached thereto) in the open market or otherwise at any price.

(h) Cancellation

All Bonds which are redeemed or in respect of which Conversion Rights are exercised 
will be cancelled (together with all relative unmatured Coupons attached to the Bonds 
or surrendered with the Bonds) and may not be reissued or resold. Bonds purchased by 
the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries shall be surrendered to the Principal Paying and 
Conversion Agent for cancellation and may not be reissued or re-sold. 

(i) Multiple Notices

If more than one notice of redemption is given pursuant to this Condition 6, the first of 
such notices to be given shall prevail.

7. Payments

(a) Principal

Payment in respect of the Bonds (including accrued interest, other than due on an 
Interest Payment Date) will be made against presentation and surrender (or in the case 
of partial payment only, endorsement) of the relevant Bond, at the specified office of 
any Paying and Conversion Agent.

(b) Interest and other amounts

(i) Payments of interest due on an Interest Payment Date will be made against 
presentation and surrender (or in the case of partial payment only, endorsement) 
of the relevant Coupons, at the specified office of any of the Paying and 
Conversion Agents.

(ii) Payments of all amounts other than as provided in Condition 7(a) and (b)(i) will 
be made as provided in these Conditions.

(c) Coupons 

Upon the due date for redemption of any Bond, unmatured Coupons relating to such 
Bond (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in 
respect of them. 

(d) Payments 

Each payment in respect of the Bonds pursuant to Condition 7(a) and (b)(i) will be 
made by transfer to a US dollar account maintained by the payee with a bank in New 
York City or, if  the Issuer elects to make payment in sterling pursuant to Conditions 
6(f), by transfer to a sterling account maintained by the payee with a bank in London. 

(e) Payments subject to fiscal laws

All payments in respect of the Bonds are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or 
other laws and regulations, but without prejudice to Condition 8. 
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(f) Presentation Date

A holder shall be entitled to present a Bond or Coupon for payment only on a 
Presentation Date and shall not be entitled to any further interest or other payment if 
the due date for payment is not a Presentation Date or if the relevant Bond or Coupon is 
presented for payment after the due date.

(g) Paying and Conversion Agents, etc.

The initial Paying and Conversion Agents and their initial specified offices are listed 
below. The Issuer reserves the right under the Agency Agreement at any time, with the 
prior written approval of the Trustee, to vary or terminate the appointment of any 
Paying and Conversion Agent and appoint additional or other Paying and Conversion 
Agents, provided that it will (i) maintain a Principal Paying and Conversion Agent and 
(ii) maintain a Paying and Conversion Agent (which may be the Principal Paying and 
Conversion Agent) with a specified office in a European Union member state that will 
not be obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to European Council Directive 
2003/48/EC or any other European Union Directive implementing the conclusions of 
the ECOFIN council meeting of 26-27 November 2000 on the taxation of savings 
income or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform 
to, such Directive. Notice of any change in the Paying and Conversion Agents or their 
specified offices will promptly be given by the Issuer to the Bondholders in accordance 
with Condition 16. 

(h) No Charges

None of the Paying and Conversion Agents shall make or impose on a Bondholder any 
charge or commission in relation to any payment or conversion in respect of the Bonds.

(i) Fractions

When making payments to Bondholders, if the relevant payment is not of an amount 
which is a whole multiple of the smallest unit of the relevant currency in which such 
payment is to be made, such payment will be rounded down to the nearest unit. 

(j) Notice of Relevant Event or Repayment of Loan on Illegality

Within five calendar days following an Illegality Prepayment Request or, as the case 
may be, following the occurrence of a Relevant Event, the Issuer shall give notice 
thereof to the Trustee and to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16 (a 
"Relevant Event/Illegality Notice"). The Relevant Event/Illegality Notice shall 
contain a statement informing Bondholders of their entitlement to exercise their rights 
to require redemption of their Bonds pursuant to Condition 6(e) (ii) and, if given after 
the QIPO Effective Date, of their entitlement to exercise their Conversion Rights as 
provided in these Conditions.  

The Relevant Event/Illegality Notice should also specify:

(i) all information material to Bondholders concerning the Relevant Event or 
Illegality Event, as the case may be;

(ii) (where applicable) the Conversion Price immediately prior to the occurrence of 
the Relevant Event or Illegality Event, as the case may be;

(iii) (where applicable) the closing price of the Ordinary Shares as derived from the 
Relevant Stock Exchange as at the latest practicable date prior to the publication 
of the Relevant Event/Illegality Notice;

(iv) the last day of the Relevant Event/Illegality Period;

(v) the Relevant Event/Illegality Put Date; and
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(vi) such other information relating to the Relevant Event or Illegality Event, as the 
case may be as the Trustee may require.

The Trustee shall not be required to monitor or take any steps to ascertain whether a 
Relevant Event or Illegality Event or any event which could lead to a Relevant Event or 
Illegality Event has occurred or may occur or to ascertain whether an Illegality 
Prepayment Request has been given or to ascertain the accuracy or completeness of the 
content of any Relevant Event/Illegality Notice and shall not be responsible or liable to 
Bondholders or any other person for any loss arising from any failure by it to do so.

8. Taxation 

All payments made by on or behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Bonds and Coupons and all 
issues of Additional Bonds will be made free from any restriction or condition and be made 
without deduction or withholding for or on account of any present or future taxes, duties, 
assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed or levied by or on behalf of 
the United Kingdom or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having 
power to tax, unless deduction or withholding of such taxes, duties, assessments or 
governmental charges is required to be made by law. 

In the event that any such withholding or deduction is required to be made, the Issuer will pay 
such additional amounts or, in the case of an issue of Additional Bonds, issue such further 
Additional Bonds as will result in the receipt by the Bondholders of the amounts or, as the 
case may be, the number of Additional Bonds which would otherwise have been receivable 
had no such withholding or deduction been required, except that, so long as the Bonds are 
listed on the Official List of the UK Listing Authority and admitted to trading on the London 
Stock Exchange or are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, no such additional amount 
shall be payable or, as the case may be, no such further Additional Bonds will be issued in 
respect of interest on any Bond or Coupon:

(a) presented for payment by or on behalf of a holder who is subject to such taxes, duties, 
assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Bond or Coupon by reason of 
his having some connection with the United Kingdom otherwise than merely by 
holding the Bond or Coupon or by the receipt of amounts or, as the case may be, 
Additional Bonds in respect of the Bond or Coupon; or

(b) if such Bond or Coupon is surrendered more than 30 days after the Relevant Date, 
except to the extent that the holder would have been entitled to such additional amount 
or, as the case may be, such further Additional Bonds on surrendering the relevant 
Bond or Coupon for payment on the last day of such period of 30 days; or

(c) where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an individual and is 
required to be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other 
Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26-27 
November 2000 on the taxation of savings income or any law implementing or 
complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive; or

(d) presented for payment by or on behalf of a holder who would have been able to avoid 
such withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Bond or Coupon to another 
Paying and Conversion Agent in a Member State of the European Union.

References in these Conditions to the principal amount and/or interest and/or any other 
amounts payable in respect of the Bonds and/or Additional Bonds to be delivered shall be 
deemed also to refer to any additional amounts which may be payable or, as the case may be, 
such further Additional Bonds which may be required to be issued under this Condition or any 
undertaking or covenant given in addition thereto or in substitution therefor pursuant to the 
Trust Deed.

9. Events of Default 

If any of the following events (each an "Event of Default") occurs and is continuing, the 
Trustee at its discretion may, and if so requested by the holders of at least one-quarter in 
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principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary 
Resolution and provided in each case that it is indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to 
its satisfaction shall, give notice to the Issuer at its registered office that the Bonds are, and 
they shall accordingly immediately become due and repayable at their principal amount as at 
such date together with accrued interest (if any) to the date of payment: 

(a) Payments. the Issuer fails to pay when due any principal of, or interest on, or any other 
amount payable in respect of, the Bonds or any of them when due and such failure 
continues for a period of seven days in the case of principal and 14 days in the case of 
interest and any other amount payable in respect of the Bonds; or

(b) Conversion. the Issuer fails to deliver Ordinary Shares as and when such Ordinary 
Shares are required to be delivered following the exercise of Conversion Rights and 
such failure continues for a period of seven days; or 

(c) Breach of other Obligations. the Issuer or any Relevant Party fails to perform or 
comply with any of its other obligations under the Transaction Documents or the Bonds 
and, if in the opinion of the Trustee capable of remedy, is not in the opinion of the 
Trustee remedied within 30 days or any such longer period as the Trustee may agree in 
its absolute discretion after notice thereof has been given to the Issuer by the Trustee; 
or

(d) Licences. Diall Alliance fails to perform or comply with any of its obligations in 
relation to the Licences, and such failure would entitle any person to terminate or 
suspend or materially and adversely amend the terms of the Licences, and, if in the 
opinion of the Trustee capable of remedy, is not in the opinion of the Trustee remedied 
within 30 days or any such longer period as the Trustee may agree in its absolute 
discretion after notice thereof has been given to the Issuer by the Trustee; or

(e) Nationalisation. any Governmental Authority condemns, nationalises, seizes or 
otherwise expropriates all or any substantial part of the property or other assets of any 
Relevant Party or of the share capital thereof, or assumes custody or control of such 
property or other assets or of the business or operations of any Relevant Party or of the 
share capital thereof, or takes any action for the dissolution or disestablishment of any 
Relevant Party or any action that would prevent any Relevant Party or any of the 
officers of any Relevant Party from carrying on the business or operations of any 
Relevant Party or a substantial part thereof; or

(f) Bankruptcy. a decree or order by a competent court is entered against any Relevant 
Party adjudging that Relevant Party bankrupt or insolvent or ordering its winding up or 
liquidation; or a petition is filed seeking reorganisation (save where such reorganisation 
is on terms previously approved in writing by the Trustee or an Extraordinary 
Resolution), administration, arrangement, adjustment, composition or liquidation of or 
in respect of any Relevant Party under any applicable law; or a receiver, administrator, 
liquidator,  trustee, sequestrator or other similar official is appointed over or in respect 
of any Relevant Party or any substantial part of its property or assets; or any Relevant 
Party institutes proceedings to be adjudicated bankrupt or insolvent, or consents to the 
institution of bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings against it, or files a petition or 
answer or consent seeking reorganisation (save in respect of a solvent reorganisation 
the terms of which have been previously approved in writing by the Trustee or an 
Extraordinary Resolution), administration, relief or liquidation under any applicable 
law, or consents to the filing of any such petition or to the appointment of a receiver, 
administrator, liquidator, trustee, sequestrator or other similar official of that Relevant 
Party or of any substantial part of its property, or makes an assignment for the benefit 
of creditors, or admits in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they fall due; 
or any other event occurs which under any applicable law would have an effect 
analogous to any of the events listed in this paragraph (g) except for any petitions 
presented or proceedings commenced which are discharged or struck out within 30 
days; or
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(g) Financial Debt.

(i) any Financial Debt of a Relevant Party is not paid when due or within any 
applicable grace period; or

(ii) any creditor of a Relevant Party declares any Financial Debt of such Relevant 
Party due and payable prior to its specified maturity as a result of an event of 
default (however described); or

(iii) any commitment for any Financial Debt of any Relevant Party is cancelled or 
suspended by a creditor of such Relevant Party as a result of an event of default 
(however described); 

in each case in an aggregate amount exceeding US$10,000,000 or its equivalent in any 
other currency; or

(h) Material Adverse Effect. any circumstance or event occurs which is reasonably likely 
to have a Material Adverse Effect,

provided that in the case of paragraphs (c) and (d) the Trustee shall have certified that in its 
opinion such event is materially prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders.

10. Undertakings 

(A) General Covenants

For so long as any of the Bonds remain outstanding, save with the approval of an 
Extraordinary Resolution or with the approval of the Trustee where, in its opinion, it is not 
materially prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders to give such approval:

(a) Dividends of Issuer: if the QIPO Effective Date in respect of a QIPO shall not have 
occurred then the Issuer shall not declare or pay any dividends.

(b) Capital Expenditures: if the QIPO Effective Date in respect of a QIPO shall not have 
occurred then the Issuer shall not, and shall procure that each Relevant Party shall not, 
incur expenditures or commitments for expenditures for fixed and other non-current 
assets in an aggregate amount in excess of US$5,000,000 (or the equivalent thereof in 
other currencies at then current rates of exchange) in any Financial Year, and 
determined by reference to the annual Financial Statements for such Financial Year 
(other than expenditures required for carrying out the Project or for maintenance, 
repairs or replacements for the operation of the Project in an aggregate amount in 
respect of any Financial Year not exceeding the amount specified below in respect of 
such Financial Year (or the equivalent thereof in other currencies at then current rates 
of exchange)).

Financial Year Amount

2010: US$90,000,000;

2011: US$25,000,000;

2012: US$15,000,000;

2013: US$55,000,000.

(c) Financial Debt: 

(i) if the QIPO Effective Date in respect of a QIPO shall not have occurred then the 
Issuer shall not, and shall procure that each Relevant Party shall not, incur, 
assume or permit to exist any Financial Debt except:

(1) the Bonds;
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(2) the Loan and any refinancing or replacement of the Loan, provided the 
outstanding principal amount shall not at any time exceed 
US$60,000,000 (or the equivalent thereof in other currencies at then 
current rates of exchange); 

(3) Subordinated Debt; 

(4) Short-term Debt in an aggregate amount not to exceed US$10,000,000 
(or the equivalent thereof in other currencies at then current rates of 
exchange); and

(5) Financial Debt due from one Relevant Party to another Relevant Party.

(ii) the Issuer shall not, and shall procure that each Relevant Party shall not, enter 
into any agreement or arrangement to guarantee or, in any way or under any 
condition, to become obligated for all or any part of any financial or other 
obligation of another person other than a Relevant Party.

(d) Debt service coverage - Group: the Issuer shall ensure that Cash as at each Applicable 
Date, as shown in and derived from the Financial Statements prepared as at and for the 
3 months ended on such Applicable Date, shall be not less than the aggregate of all 
scheduled payments of principal, premium and interest due and payable in the 6 
months following such Applicable Date. 

(e) Debt service coverage - Issuer: the Issuer shall ensure that Cash as at each Applicable 
Date, as shown in and derived from its management accounts, shall be not less than the 
aggregate of all scheduled payments of principal, premium and interest due and 
payable in the 3 months following such Applicable Date. 

(f) Liens: the Issuer shall not, and shall procure that each Relevant Party shall not, create 
or permit to exist any Lien to secure Financial Debt on any property, revenues or other 
assets, present or future, of the Issuer or a Relevant Party (including without limitation 
the shares held by the Issuer in Royal Atlantic and the shares held by Royal Atlantic in 
Diall Alliance), except:

(1) the Security;

(2) any Tax or other non-consensual Lien arising by operation of law or other 
statutory Lien arising in the ordinary course of business, provided that such Lien 
(other than a Lien for a sum which is not yet delinquent) is discharged within 30 
days after the date it is created or, if the validity or amount of such Lien or the 
sum secured by such Lien is being contested in good faith and by proper 
proceedings and adequate reserves have been set aside for the payment of such 
sum, within 30 days after final adjudication;

(3) any renewal, extension or replacement in whole or in part of the Security;

(4) retention of title arrangements having the effect of creating a Lien on industry 
standard terms and conditions;

(5) any security existing at the time of its acquisition on any asset acquired after the 
issue of the Bonds and not created in contemplation of that acquisition and any 
substitute security created on that asset in connection with the refinancing of the 
indebtedness secured on that asset; and

(6) following the QIPO Effective Date in respect of a QIPO, any Lien securing any 
Financial Debt having a maximum aggregate amount outstanding at any time 
not exceeding US$40,000,000 (or the equivalent thereof in other currencies at 
then current rates of exchange).

(g) Arm's Length Transactions: the Issuer shall not, and shall procure that each Relevant 
Party shall not, enter into any transaction with any person except in the ordinary course 
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of business, on ordinary commercial terms and on the basis of arm's-length 
arrangements, or enter into any transaction whereby the Issuer or a Relevant Party 
would pay more than the ordinary commercial price for any purchase or would receive 
less than the full ex-works commercial price (subject to normal trade discounts) for its 
products, services or assets.

(h) Licences: 

(i) the Issuer shall not, and shall procure that Diall Alliance shall not amend any 
provision of the Licences save where such amendment would not have a 
Material Adverse Effect;

(ii) the Issuer shall, and shall procure that Diall Alliance shall:

(1) maintain the Licences in full force and effect without modification, save 
where such modification would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

(2) perform its obligations under, and not commit any breach of or default 
under the Licences which would result in the Licence being terminated, 
suspended or the terms of the Licence being materially or adversely 
amended.

(3) not terminate nor assign or transfer any Licence or any of its rights under 
or in relation to any Licence to any other party.

(i) Sale of Assets; Merger:

(i) the Issuer shall not, and shall procure that each Relevant Party shall not, sell, 
transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of all or a substantial part of its assets 
(whether in a single transaction or in a series of transactions, related or 
otherwise) but, for the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Condition 10(A)(i) 
shall prevent the Issuer from disposing of produced oil and gas in the ordinary 
course of its business.

(ii) the Issuer shall not, and shall procure that each Relevant Party shall not, 
undertake or permit any merger, consolidation or reorganisation (save in respect 
of a solvent reorganisation the terms of which have been previously approved in 
writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution).

(j) Change of business: the Issuer shall not, and shall procure that each Relevant Party 
shall not:

(i) make material changes, or permit material changes to be made, to the nature of 
its present business or operations or change in any material respect the nature or 
scope of the Project; or

(ii) if the QIPO Effective Date in respect of a QIPO has not occurred, carry out any 
business or activity other than businesses or activities substantially related to the 
Project.

(k) Environmental compliance: the Issuer shall, and shall procure that each Relevant 
Party shall:

(i) comply with all Environmental Law;

(ii) obtain, maintain and ensure compliance with all requisite Environmental 
Permits; and

(iii) implement procedures to monitor compliance with, and to prevent liability 
under, any Environmental Law.
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(l) Conduct of business:

(i) The Issuer shall, and shall procure that each Relevant Party shall:

(1) maintain its corporate existence in compliance with all applicable laws;

(2) conduct its business with due diligence and efficiency, in accordance 
with sound engineering, financial and business practices and in 
compliance with all applicable laws, including all money laundering 
laws; and

(3) use procurement methods which ensure a sound selection of goods and 
services at fair market value and that it is making its capital investments 
in a cost effective manner.

(ii) The Issuer shall, and shall procure that each Relevant Party shall, apply and be 
committed to good corporate governance practices based on general principles 
of fairness, disclosure and transparency, management accountability, separation 
of responsibility and sound internal controls, in compliance with all applicable 
laws.

(m) Insurance: The Issuer shall, and shall procure that each Relevant Party shall, maintain 
insurances with reputable independent insurance companies or underwriters on and in 
relation to its business and assets against those risks and to the extent as is usual for 
companies carrying on the same or substantially similar business. 

(n) Taxes: the Issuer shall, and shall procure that each Relevant Party shall:

(i) pay when due all of its Taxes, including any Taxes against any of its properties, 
other than Taxes which are being contested in good faith and by proper 
proceedings and as to which adequate reserves have been set aside for the 
payment thereof; and

(ii) make timely filings of all Tax returns and governmental reports required to be 
filed or submitted in relation to such Taxes under any applicable law.

(o) Profit-sharing and Management Arrangements: the Issuer shall not, and shall 
procure that each Relevant Party shall not:

(i) enter into any partnership, profit-sharing or royalty agreement or other similar 
arrangement whereby the Issuer’s or a Relevant Party’s income or profits are, or 
might be, shared with any other person; and

(ii) enter into any management contract or similar arrangement whereby its business 
or operations are managed by any other person.

(p) Prepayment of Loan: the Issuer shall not voluntarily prepay all or any part of the 
Loan.

(q) Diall Alliance: the Issuer shall give notice to the Bondholders (in accordance with 
Condition 16) and the Trustee if Diall Alliance may be deemed to be engaged in an 
activity of "strategic significance" for purposes of the Law on Foreign Ownership 
Restrictions.

(r) Use of Proceeds: the Issuer shall use the net proceeds from the issue of the Bonds 
solely in connection with the development of an oil field and the production of natural 
gas and oil in the western part of the Bortovoye Licence area, located in the Saratov 
region of the Russian Federation, including reasonable administrative and related 
expenses.
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(s) Furnishing of Information:

(i) As soon as available, but in any event within 45 days after each Quarter Date, 
the Issuer shall furnish to the Trustee and, prior to the QIPO Effective Date in 
respect of a QIPO only, the Bondholders two copies of the Financial Statements 
for the three months ending on such Quarter Date, certified by two directors of 
the Issuer.

(ii) As soon as available, but in any event within 120 days after the end of each 
Financial Year, the Issuer shall furnish to the Trustee and, prior to the QIPO 
Effective Date in respect of a QIPO only, the Bondholders two copies of the 
audited Financial Statements of the Group (prepared in accordance with IFRS) 
for the relevant Financial Year.

(iii) The Issuer shall furnish to the Trustee, with each set of Financial Statements 
delivered pursuant to paragraph (i) and (ii) above and also within 14 days of any 
request of the Trustee, a certificate of two directors of the Issuer as to there not 
having occurred any breach of Conditions 10(A)(a) to 10(A)(r) since the date of 
the last such certificate (or if such breach has occurred as to the details of such 
breach) and, if so requested by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution no 
later than 15 days after the relevant Quarter Date (in the case of (i) above) or 30 
days after the relevant Financial Year (in the case of (ii) above) setting out (in 
reasonable detail) computations as to compliance with Conditions 10(A)(b) to 
10(A)(g) and Condition 10(A)(r) as at the date at which the relevant Financial 
Statements were drawn up and, in relation to Condition 10(A)(e), setting out the 
amount of Cash in each account of the Issuer and each of its Subsidiaries as at 
the relevant Applicable Date and details of all scheduled payments of principal, 
premium and interest due and payable in the 3 months after the relevant 
Applicable Date, and confirmation that the recoverable reserves of Diall 
Alliance will not result in Diall Alliance being deemed to be engaged in an 
activity of "strategic significance" for purposes of the Law on Foreign 
Ownership Restrictions. The Trustee will be entitled to rely on such certificate 
and shall not be obliged to independently monitor compliance by the Issuer with 
the covenants set forth in this Condition 10(A) or to ascertain or enquire as to 
the accuracy or completeness of the content of any such certificate, nor be liable 
to any person for not so doing.

(iv) The Issuer shall furnish to the Trustee, with each set of Financial Statements 
delivered pursuant to paragraph (i) (in respect of the 30 June and 31 December 
Quarter Dates only) and (ii) above and also within 14 days of any request of the 
Trustee, all information and documentation that may be required from time to 
time in connection with the Issuer obtaining any necessary consent from the 
Federal Anti-Monopoly Service of the Russian Federation.  

For so long as the Bonds are represented by the Global Bond, the delivery of 
information required to be furnished to Bondholders pursuant to paragraphs (i) and (ii) 
above may be satisfied by delivery of the relevant information to Bondholders through 
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

(B) Undertakings in respect of Conversion Rights

Whilst any Conversion Right remains exercisable, the Issuer will, save with the approval of an 
Extraordinary Resolution or with the prior written approval of the Trustee where, in its 
opinion, it is not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders to give such 
approval: 

(a) other than in connection with a Newco Scheme, not issue or pay up any Securities, in 
either case by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves, other than:

(i) by the issue of fully paid Ordinary Shares or other Securities to Shareholders 
and other holders of shares in the capital of the Issuer which by their terms 
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entitle the holders thereof to receive Ordinary Shares or other shares or 
Securities on a capitalisation of profits or reserves; or

(ii) by the issue of Ordinary Shares paid up in full (in accordance with applicable 
law) and issued wholly, ignoring fractional entitlements, in lieu of the whole or 
part of a Dividend in cash; or

(iii) by the issue of fully paid equity share capital (other than Ordinary Shares) to the 
holders of equity share capital of the same class and other holders of shares in 
the capital of the Issuer which by their terms entitle the holders thereof to 
receive equity share capital (other than Ordinary Shares); or

(iv) by the issue of Ordinary Shares or any equity share capital to, or for the benefit 
of, any employee or former employee, director or executive holding or formerly 
holding executive office of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries or any associated 
company or to trustees or nominees to be held for the benefit of any such 
person, in any such case pursuant to an employee, director or executive share or 
option scheme whether for all employees, directors, or executives or any one or 
more of them,

unless, in any such case, the same constitutes a Dividend or otherwise gives rise (or 
would, but for the provisions of Condition 5(f) relating to roundings and minimum 
adjustments or the carry forward of adjustments, give rise) to an adjustment to the 
Conversion Price; 

(b) not modify the rights attaching to the Ordinary Shares with respect to voting, 
dividends or liquidation nor issue any other class of equity share capital carrying 
any rights which are more favourable than the rights attaching to the Ordinary 
Shares but so that nothing in this Condition 10(b) shall prevent:

(i) any consolidation, reclassification or subdivision of the Ordinary Shares; or

(ii) any modification of such rights which is not, in the opinion of an Independent 
Financial Adviser, materially prejudicial to the interests of the holders of the 
Bonds; or

(iii) any issue of equity share capital where the issue of such equity share capital 
results, or would, but for the provisions of Condition 5(f) relating to roundings 
and minimum adjustments or the carry forward of adjustments or, where 
comprising Ordinary Shares, the fact that the consideration per Ordinary Share 
receivable therefor is at least 95 per cent. of the Current Market Price per 
Ordinary Share, otherwise result, in an adjustment to the Conversion Price; or

(iv) without prejudice to any rule of law or legislation (including regulations made 
under Sections 783, 784(3), 785 and 788 of the Companies Act or any other 
provision of that or any other legislation), the conversion of Ordinary Shares 
into, or the issue of any Ordinary Shares in, uncertificated form (or the 
conversion of Ordinary Shares in uncertificated form to certificated form) or the 
amendment of the Articles of Association of the Issuer to enable title to 
securities (including Ordinary Shares) to be evidenced and transferred without a 
written instrument or any other alteration to the Articles of Association of the 
Issuer made in connection with the matters described in this Condition 10(b) or 
which is supplemental or incidental to any of the foregoing (including any 
amendment made to enable or facilitate procedures relating to such matters and 
any amendment dealing with the rights and obligations of holders of Securities, 
including Ordinary Shares, dealt with under such procedures); or 

(v) any issue of equity share capital or modification of rights attaching to the 
Ordinary Shares, where prior thereto the Issuer shall have instructed an 
Independent Financial Adviser to determine what (if any) adjustments should be 
made to the Conversion Price as being fair and reasonable to take account 
thereof and such Independent Financial Adviser shall have determined either 



91

that no adjustment is required or that an adjustment resulting in a decrease in the 
Conversion Price is required and, if so, the new Conversion Price as a result 
thereof and the basis upon which such adjustment is to be made and, in any such 
case, the date on which the adjustment shall take effect (and so that the 
adjustment shall be made and shall take effect accordingly);

(c) procure that no Securities (whether issued by the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer 
or procured by the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer to be issued or issued by any 
other person pursuant to any arrangement with the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the 
Issuer) issued without rights to convert into, or exchange or subscribe for, Ordinary 
Shares shall subsequently be granted such rights exercisable at a consideration per 
Ordinary Share which is less than 95 per cent. of the Current Market Price per Ordinary 
Share at the close of business on the last dealing day preceding the date of the first 
public announcement of the proposed inclusion of such rights unless the same gives 
rise (or would, but for the provisions of Condition 5(f) relating to roundings and 
minimum adjustments or the carry forward of adjustments, give rise) to an adjustment 
to the Conversion Price and that at no time shall there be in issue Ordinary Shares of 
differing nominal values, save where such Ordinary Shares have the same economic 
rights;

(d) not make any issue, grant or distribution or take or omit to take any other action if the 
effect thereof would be that, on the exercise of Conversion Rights, Ordinary Shares 
could not, under any applicable law then in effect, be legally issued as fully paid;

(e) not reduce its issued share capital, share premium account, or any uncalled liability in 
respect thereof, or any non-distributable reserves, except:

(i) pursuant to the terms of issue of the relevant share capital; or

(ii) by means of a purchase or redemption of share capital of the Issuer to the extent 
permitted by applicable law; or

(iii) as permitted by Section 610 (2) and (3) of the Companies Act; or 

(iv) where the reduction does not involve any distribution of assets to Shareholders; 
or 

(v) solely in relation to a change in the currency in which the nominal value of the 
Ordinary Shares is expressed; or 

(vi) a reduction of its share premium account to facilitate the writing off of goodwill 
arising on consolidation which requires the confirmation of the High Court and 
which does not involve the return, either directly or indirectly, of an amount 
standing to the credit of the share premium account of the Issuer and in respect 
of which the Issuer shall have tendered to the High Court such undertaking as it 
may require prohibiting, so long as any of the Bonds remains outstanding, the 
distribution (except by way of capitalisation issue) of any reserve which may 
arise in the books of the Issuer as a result of such reduction; or 

(vii) to create distributable reserves; or 

(viii) pursuant to a Newco Scheme; or

(ix) by way of transfer to reserves as permitted under applicable law; or

(x) where the reduction is permitted by applicable law and the Trustee is advised by 
an Independent Financial Adviser, acting as an expert, that the interests of the 
Bondholders will not be materially prejudiced by such reduction; or

(xi) where the reduction is permitted by applicable law and results in (or would, but 
for the provisions of Condition 5(f) relating to roundings or the carry forward of 
adjustments, result in) an adjustment to the Conversion Price or is otherwise 
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taken into account for the purposes of determining whether such an adjustment 
should be made,

provided that, without prejudice to the other provisions of these Conditions, the Issuer 
may exercise such rights as it may from time to time be entitled pursuant to applicable 
law to purchase, redeem or buy back its Ordinary Shares and any depositary or other 
receipts or certificates representing Ordinary Shares without the consent of 
Bondholders;

(f) if any offer is made to all (or as nearly as may be practicable all) Shareholders (or all 
(or as nearly as may be practicable all) Shareholders other than the offeror and/or any 
associates (as defined in Section 988(1) of the Companies Act) of the offeror to acquire 
the whole or any part of the issued Ordinary Shares, or if any person proposes a scheme 
with regard to such acquisition (other than a Newco Scheme), give notice of such offer 
or scheme to the Bondholders at the same time as any notice thereof is sent to the 
Shareholders (or as soon as practicable thereafter) that details concerning such offer or 
scheme may be obtained from the specified offices of the Paying and Conversion 
Agents and, where such an offer or scheme has been recommended by the board of 
directors of the Issuer, or where such an offer has become or been declared 
unconditional in all respects or such scheme has become effective, use all reasonable 
endeavours to procure that a like offer or scheme is extended to the holders of any 
Ordinary Shares issued during the period of the offer or scheme arising out of the 
exercise of the Conversion Rights by the Bondholders and/or to the holders of the 
Bonds;

(g) in the event of a Newco Scheme, take (or shall procure that there is taken) all necessary 
action to ensure that (to the satisfaction of the Trustee) immediately after completion of 
the Scheme of Arrangement, at its option, either (a) Newco is substituted under the 
Bonds and the Trust Deed as principal obligor in place of the Issuer (with the Issuer 
providing a guarantee) subject to and as provided in the Trust Deed; or (b) Newco 
becomes a guarantor under the Bonds and the Trust Deed and, in either case, that (i) 
such amendments are made to these Conditions and the Trust Deed as are necessary, in 
the opinion of the Trustee, to ensure that the Bonds may be converted into or 
exchanged for ordinary shares or units or the equivalent in Newco mutatis mutandis in 
accordance with and subject to these Conditions and the Trust Deed and (ii) the 
ordinary shares or units or the equivalent of Newco are:

(A) admitted to a premium listing on the Official List of the UK Listing Authority 
and admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s EEA Regulated 
Market; or

(B) admitted to listing on another regulated, regularly operating, recognised stock 
exchange or securities market.

(h) use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that the Ordinary Shares issued upon exercise 
of Conversion Rights will, as soon as is practicable, be admitted to listing and to 
trading on the Relevant Stock Exchange and will be listed, quoted or dealt in, as soon 
as is practicable, on any other stock exchange or securities market on which the 
Ordinary Shares may then be listed or quoted or dealt in;

(i) with effect from the QIPO Effective Date, for so long as any Bond remains 
outstanding, use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that its issued and outstanding 
Ordinary Shares shall be admitted to listing on the Relevant Stock Exchange; and

(j) procure that it shall not become domiciled or resident in or subject generally to the 
taxing authority of any jurisdiction (other than the United Kingdom) unless it would 
not thereafter be required pursuant to then current laws and regulations to withhold or 
deduct for or on account of any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of 
whatever nature imposed or levied by or on behalf of such jurisdiction or any 
applicable sub-division thereof or therein having power to tax in respect of any 
payment on or in respect of the Bonds. 
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The Issuer has undertaken in the Trust Deed to deliver to the Trustee annually a certificate of 
two directors of the Issuer, as to there not having occurred, inter alia, an Event of Default or 
Potential Event of Default since the date of the last such certificate or if such event has 
occurred as to the details of such event. The Trustee will be entitled to rely on such certificate 
and shall not be obliged to independently monitor compliance by the Issuer with the 
undertakings set forth in this Condition 10, nor be liable to any person for not so doing.

11. Prescription

Claims against the Issuer for payment in respect of the Bonds or Coupons shall be prescribed 
and become void unless made within 10 years (in the case of the principal amount) or five 
years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect of such payment.

Claims in respect of any other amounts payable in respect of the Bonds shall be prescribed and 
become void unless made within 10 years following the due date for payment thereof.

12. Replacement of Bonds and Coupons

If any Bond or Coupon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at 
the specified office of any Paying and Conversion Agent subject to all applicable laws and 
stock exchange requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in 
connection with such replacement and on such terms as to evidence and indemnity as the 
Issuer may require. Mutilated or defaced Bonds or Coupons must be surrendered before 
replacements will be issued.

13. Meetings of Bondholders, Modification and Waiver, Substitution 

(a) Meetings of Bondholders

The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of Bondholders to consider 
matters affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution of a 
modification of any of these Conditions or any provisions of any Transaction Document. Such 
a meeting may be convened by the Issuer or the Trustee and shall be convened by the Issuer if 
requested in writing by Bondholders holding not less than 10 per cent. in principal amount of 
the Bonds for the time being outstanding. The quorum for any meeting convened to consider 
an Extraordinary Resolution will be one or more persons holding or representing a clear 
majority in principal amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned 
meeting one or more persons being or representing Bondholders whatever the principal 
amount of the Bonds so held or represented, unless the business of such meeting includes 
consideration of proposals, inter alia, (i) to change the Original Maturity Date or the Extended 
Maturity Date, or the First Call Date (other than deferring the First Call Date) or the dates on 
which interest is payable in respect of the Bonds, (ii) to modify the circumstances in which the 
Issuer or Bondholders are entitled to redeem the Bonds pursuant to Condition 6(b), (c) or (e), 
(iii) to reduce or cancel the principal amount of, or interest on, the Bonds or to reduce the 
amount payable on redemption of the Bonds or to reduce the Interest Rate or the Additional 
Interest Rate, (iv) to modify the basis for calculating the principal amount or the interest 
payable in respect of the Bonds, (v) to modify the provisions relating to the determination of 
the Initial Conversion Price, (vi) to modify the provisions relating to, or cancel, the 
Conversion Rights (other than pursuant to or as a result of any amendments to these 
Conditions and the Trust Deed made pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of 
Condition 10(B)(g) ("Newco Scheme Modification"), and other than a reduction to the 
Conversion Price), (vii) to increase the Conversion Price (other than in accordance with these 
Conditions or pursuant to a Newco Scheme Modification), (viii) to change the currency of the 
denomination or any payment in respect of the Bonds, (ix) to amend the definition of QIPO, 
(x) to change the governing law of the Bonds or any Transaction Document (other than the 
governing law of the Trust Deed and the Bonds in the case of a substitution of the Issuer (or 
any previous substitute or substitutes) under Condition 13(c)) or (xi) to modify the provisions 
concerning the quorum required at any meeting of Bondholders or the majority required to 
pass an Extraordinary Resolution, in which case the necessary quorum will be one or more 
persons holding or representing not less than two-thirds, or at any adjourned meeting not less 
than one-half, in principal amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding. Any 
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Extraordinary Resolution duly passed shall be binding on Bondholders (whether or not they 
were present at the meeting at which such resolution was passed) and on all Couponholders.

The Trust Deed provides that a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the holders of 
not less than 75 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of Bonds outstanding shall for all 
purposes be as valid and effective as an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of 
Bondholders duly convened and held. Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one 
document or several documents in the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more 
Bondholders.

No consent or approval of Bondholders or Couponholders shall be required in connection with 
any Newco Scheme Modification.

(b) Modification and Waiver

The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Bondholders or the Couponholders, to (i) 
any modification of any of the provisions of any Transaction Document or any deed or 
agreement supplemental to any Transaction Document, the Bonds, the Coupons or these 
Conditions which in the Trustee’s opinion is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made 
to correct a manifest error or an error which, in the opinion of the Trustee, is proven or to 
comply with mandatory provisions of law, and (ii) any other modification to any Transaction 
Document or any deed or agreement supplemental to any Transaction Document, the Bonds, 
the Coupons or these Conditions (except as mentioned in the Trust Deed), and any waiver or 
authorisation of any breach or proposed breach, of any of the provisions of any Transaction 
Document or any deed or agreement supplemental to any Transaction Document, the Bonds, 
the Coupons or these Conditions which is, in the opinion of the Trustee, not materially 
prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders and Couponholders. The Trustee may, without 
the consent of the Bondholders or Couponholders, determine any Event of Default or a 
Potential Event of Default (as defined in the Trust Deed) should not be treated as such, 
provided that in the opinion of the Trustee, the interests of Bondholders and the 
Couponholders will not be materially prejudiced thereby. Any such modification, 
authorisation, waiver or determination shall be binding on the Bondholders and the 
Couponholders and, if the Trustee so requires, shall be notified to the Bondholders promptly 
in accordance with Condition 16. 

(c) Substitution

The Trustee may, without the consent of the Bondholders or Couponholders, agree to any 
substitution as provided in, and for the purposes of, Condition 10(g) or to the substitution in 
place of the Issuer (or any previous substitute or substitutes under this Condition) as the 
principal debtor under the Bonds, the Coupons and the Trust Deed of any Subsidiary of the 
Issuer subject to (a) the Bonds being unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the Issuer, 
and (b) the Bonds continuing to be convertible or exchangeable into Ordinary Shares as 
provided in these Conditions mutatis mutandis as provided in these Conditions, with such 
amendments as the Trustee shall consider appropriate provided that in any such case, (x) the 
Trustee being satisfied that the interests of the Bondholders will not be materially prejudiced 
by the substitution, and (y) certain other conditions set out in the Trust Deed being complied 
with. In the case of such a substitution the Trustee may agree, without the consent of the 
Bondholders, to a change of the law governing the Bonds and/or the Trust Deed provided that 
such change would not in the opinion of the Trustee be materially prejudicial to the interests of 
the Bondholders. Any such substitution shall be binding on the Bondholders and shall be 
notified to the Bondholders promptly in accordance with Condition 16.

(d) Entitlement of the Trustee

In connection with the exercise of its functions (including but not limited to those referred to 
in this Condition) the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the Bondholders as a class 
and, in particular but without limitation, shall not have regard to the consequences of the 
exercise of its trusts, powers or discretions for individual Bondholders or Couponholders 
resulting from their being for any purpose domiciled or resident in, or otherwise connected 
with, or subject to the jurisdiction of, any particular territory, and the Trustee shall not be 
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entitled to require, nor shall any Bondholder or Couponholder be entitled to claim, from the 
Issuer or any other person any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence 
of any such exercise upon individual Bondholders or Couponholders.

14. Enforcement

The Trustee may at any time, at its discretion and without notice, take such steps, action or 
proceedings against the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce the provisions of any Transaction 
Document, the Bonds and the Coupons, but it shall not be bound to take any such proceedings 
or any other steps or action in relation to the Trust Deed, the Bonds or the Coupons unless (i) 
it shall have been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution or so requested in writing by the 
holders of at least one-quarter in principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding, and (ii) it 
shall have been indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction. No 
Bondholder or Couponholder shall be entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer unless the 
Trustee, having become bound so to proceed, fails so to do within a reasonable period and the 
failure shall be continuing. 

15. The Trustee

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief 
from responsibility, including relieving it from taking proceedings unless indemnified and/or 
secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction. The Trustee is entitled to enter into business 
transactions with the Issuer and any entity related to the Issuer without accounting for any 
profit. The Trustee may rely without liability to Bondholders or Couponholders on a report, 
confirmation or certificate or any advice of any accountants, financial advisers, financial 
institution or other expert, whether or not addressed to it and whether their liability in relation 
thereto is limited (by its terms or by any engagement letter relating thereto entered into by the 
Trustee or in any other manner) by reference to a monetary cap, methodology or otherwise. 
The Trustee may accept and shall be entitled to rely on any such report, confirmation or 
certificate or advice and such report, confirmation or certificate or advice shall be binding on 
the Issuer, the Trustee and the Bondholders and Couponholders in the absence of manifest 
error. 

16. Notices

All notices regarding the Bonds will be valid if published in one leading daily newspaper in 
the United Kingdom (which is expected to be the Financial Times) or, if this is not possible, in 
one other leading English language daily newspaper with general circulation in Europe and (so
if the Bonds are listed on the London Stock Exchange and the rules of the London Stock 
Exchange so permit or require) given by filing a notice with a Regulatory Information Service 
approved by the UK Listing Authority. The Issuer shall also ensure that all notices are duly 
published in a manner which complies with the rules and regulations of any stock exchange or 
other relevant authority on which the Bonds are for the time being listed. Any such notice 
shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if required to be 
published in more than one newspaper or in more than one manner, on the date of the first 
such publication in all the required newspapers or in each required manner. If publication as 
provided above is not practicable, notice will be given in such other manner, and shall be 
deemed to have been given on such date, as the Trustee may approve.

Couponholders will be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice 
given to the Bondholders in accordance with this Condition.

17. Further Issues 

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Bondholders and the 
Couponholders create and issue further notes, bonds or debentures either having the same 
terms and conditions in all respects as the outstanding notes, bonds or debentures of any series 
(including the Bonds) or in all respects except for the first payment of interest on them and the 
first date on which Conversion Rights may be exercised and so that such further issue shall be 
consolidated and form a single series with the outstanding notes, bonds or debentures of any 
series (including the Bonds) or upon such terms as to interest, conversion, premium, 
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redemption and otherwise as the Issuer may determine at the time of their issue. Any further 
notes, bonds or debentures forming a single series with the outstanding notes, bonds or 
debentures of any series (including the Bonds) constituted by the Trust Deed or any deed 
supplemental to it shall, and any other notes, bonds or debentures may, with the consent of the 
Trustee, be constituted by a deed supplemental to the Trust Deed. The Trust Deed contains 
provisions for convening a single meeting of the Bondholders and the holders of notes, bonds 
or debentures of other series in certain circumstances where the Trustee so decides.

18. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Bonds under the 
Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.

19. Governing Law

The Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Bonds and the Coupons and any non-contractual 
obligations arising out of or in connection with them are governed by, and shall be construed 
in accordance with, English law.

The Bond Deed of Pledge is governed by Cyprus law and the Deed of Priority and Share 
Retention Agreement are governed by English law.
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SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE BONDS WHILE IN GLOBAL FORM

The Global Bond contains provisions which apply to the Bonds while they are in global form, some of 
which modify the effect of the terms and conditions of the Bonds set out in this document.  The 
following is a summary of certain terms of those provisions. References herein to "Global Bond" shall 
be to the global bond representing the Initial Bonds and the global bond representing the First Tranche 
of Additional Bonds.

1. General

The Bonds are represented by the Global Bond without coupons attached.

On the Closing Date the Global Bond was deposited on behalf of the subscribers of the Bonds with the 
Common Depositary.  Upon deposit of the Global Bond, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or the 
Alternative Clearing Stream (each as defined under "Notices" below) (as the case may be) will credit 
each subscriber of the Bonds with the principal amount of Bonds for which it has subscribed and paid.

2. Exchange

This Global Bond is exchangeable in whole but not in part (free of charge to the holder) for the 
definitive Bonds described below if the Global Bond is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg or the Alternative Clearing System (each as defined under "Notices" below) and any such 
clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of 
holidays, statutory or otherwise) or permanently ceases business by the holder giving notice to the 
Principal Paying and Conversion Agent.

On or after the Exchange Date the holder of the Global Bond may surrender the Global Bond to or to 
the order of the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent.  In exchange for the Global Bond, the Issuer 
shall deliver, or procure the delivery of, an equal aggregate principal amount of duly executed and 
authenticated definitive Bonds having attached to them all Coupons in respect of interest which has not 
already been paid on the Global Bond.

"Exchange Date" means a day falling not less than 60 days after that on which the notice requiring 
exchange is given and on which banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of 
the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent is located and in the cities in which Euroclear and 
Clearstream, Luxembourg or, if relevant, the Alternative Clearing System (each defined under 
"Notices" below) are located.  

Except as otherwise described therein, the Global Bond is subject to the Conditions and the Trust Deed 
and, until the Global Bond is exchanged for definitive Bonds, its holder shall be entitled to the same 
benefits as if it were the holder of the definitive Bonds for which it may be exchanged and as if such 
definitive Bonds had been issued on the date of the Global Bond.

3. Payments

Principal, and interest and any other amounts in respect of the Global Bond shall be paid to its holder 
against presentation and (if no further payment falls to be made on it) surrender of it to or to the order 
of the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent in respect of the Bonds (or to or to the order of such 
other Paying and Conversion Agent as shall have been notified to the Bondholders for this purpose) 
which shall endorse such payment or cause such payment to be endorsed in the appropriate schedule to 
the Global Bond (such endorsement being prima facie evidence that the payment in question has been 
made). No person shall however be entitled to receive any payment on the Global Bond falling due 
after the Exchange Date, unless exchange of the Global Bond for definitive Bonds is improperly 
withheld or refused by or on behalf of the Issuer.  

For the purposes of any payments made in respect of the Global Bond, Condition 7(f) (Presentation 
Date) shall not apply, and all such payments shall be made on a day on which commercial banks are 
foreign exchange markets are open in the financial centre of the currency of the Bonds.
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4. Notices

So long as the Global Bond is held on behalf of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. ("Euroclear") or 
Clearstream Banking, société anonyme ("Clearstream, Luxembourg") or any other clearing system as 
shall have been approved by the Trustee (the "Alternative Clearing System"), notices required to be 
given to Bondholders may be given by their being delivered to Euroclear and Clearstream, 
Luxembourg or, as the case may be, the Alternative Clearing System, rather than by publication as 
required by the Conditions.  Any notice is deemed to have been given to the Bondholders on the day on 
which such notice is delivered to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or, as the case may be, the 
Alternative Clearing System.  

5. Prescription

Claims in respect of principal and interest in respect of the Global Bond will become void unless it is 
presented for payment within a period of ten years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case 
of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 3).

6. Meetings

For the purposes of any meeting of Bondholders, the holder of the Global Bond shall (unless the Global 
Bond represents only one Bond) be treated as two persons for the purposes of any quorum 
requirements of a meeting of Bondholders and, at any such meeting, as having one vote in respect of 
each US$0.01 in principal amount of Bonds.

7. Purchase and Cancellation

Cancellation of the Bond represented by the Global Bond which is required by the Conditions to be 
cancelled will be effected by reduction in the principal amount of the Global Bond.

8. Trustee's Powers

In considering the interests of Bondholders in circumstances where the Global Bond is held on behalf 
of any one or more of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and an Alternative Clearing System, the 
Trustee may, to the extent it considers it appropriate to do so in the circumstances, (a) have regard to 
such information as may have been made available to it by or on behalf of the relevant clearing system 
or its operator as to the identity of its accountholders (either individually or by way of category) with 
entitlements in respect of the Global Bond and (b) consider such interests on the basis that such 
accountholders were the holder of the Global Bond.  

9. Redemption at the option of the Issuer

The options of the Issuer provided for in Conditions 6(b) and 6(c) shall be exercised by the Issuer 
giving notice to the Bondholders within the time limits set out in and containing the information 
required by the relevant Condition.

10. Conversion 

Subject to the requirements of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, the Conversion Right (as 
defined in the Conditions) attaching to Bonds represented by the Global Bond may be exercised by the 
presentation of one or more Conversion Notices (as defined in the Conditions) together with the Global 
Bond to the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent or such other Agent as shall have been notified to 
the holder of the Global Bond for such purpose for annotation and the principal amount of the Bonds 
will be reduced in the register accordingly.  The provisions of Condition 5 of the Bonds will otherwise 
apply. 
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TAXATION

The following summary is based upon UK law and what is understood by the Issuer to be HM Revenue 
and Customs' practice as at the date of this document.  Both law and practice may change, possibly 
with retrospective effect.  The summary is intended as a general guide, not a complete analysis, and 
may not apply to certain categories of Bondholder, such as Bondholders who hold their Bonds for the 
purposes of a trade, and deals with only some of the UK tax consequences of acquiring, holding and 
disposing of Bonds and Ordinary Shares.  

Bondholders who are in any doubt as to their tax position, whether resident in the UK or elsewhere 
and whether subject to tax in the UK or under the laws of any other jurisdiction, should consult their 
professional advisers without delay.

Withholding Tax

There is generally an obligation to withhold or deduct an amount for or on account of UK income tax 
from payments of interest on interest-bearing securities where the interest in question has a UK source.  
The interest payable on the Bonds is from a UK source.  However, the Bonds should constitute "quoted 
Eurobonds" within the meaning of section 987 of the Income Tax Act 2007 (the "ITA 2007") for so 
long as they carry a right to interest and continue to be listed on a recognised stock exchange within the 
meaning of section 1005 ITA 2007.  The LSE is a recognised stock exchange for these purposes and 
the Bonds will be treated as listed if they are included in the Official List of the UKLA (within the 
meaning of and in accordance with the provisions of Part 6 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000) and admitted to trading on the LSE. HM Revenue and Customs ("HMRC") have confirmed that 
securities that are admitted to trading on the Professional Securities Market satisfy the condition of 
being admitted to the LSE. While the Bonds are and continue to be "quoted Eurobonds", payments of 
interest on the Bonds may be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of UK income 
tax as the withholding obligation does not apply to quoted Eurobonds.

If the Bonds are not listed or cease to be listed on a recognised stock exchange, interest on the Bonds 
will, on any dated when the Bonds are not listed, generally be paid under deduction of UK income tax 
at the basic rate (currently 20 per cent.) subject to such relief as may be available under the provisions 
of any applicable double taxation treaty or to any other exemption which may apply.

The Issuer will not be required to withhold or deduct any amount for or on account of UK tax from 
dividend payments on the Ordinary Shares.

Provision of Information

Bondholders should note that where any interest on the Bonds is paid or credited to them (or to any 
person acting on their behalf) by any person in the UK acting on behalf of the Issuer (a "Paying 
Agent") or is received by any person in the UK acting on behalf of the relevant Bondholder (other than 
solely by clearing or arranging the clearing of a cheque) (a "Collecting Agent"), then the Paying Agent 
or the Collecting Agent (as the case may be) may, in certain circumstances, be required to supply to 
HMRC details of the payment and certain details relating to the Bondholder (including the 
Bondholder's name and address).  These provisions will apply whether or not the interest has been paid 
subject to withholding or deduction for or on account of UK income tax and whether or not the 
Bondholder is resident in the UK for UK tax purposes.  Where the Bondholder is not so resident, the 
details provided to HMRC may, in certain circumstances, be passed by HMRC to the tax authorities of 
the jurisdiction in which the Bondholder is resident for tax purposes.

EU Savings Directive

Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income, each Member State is 
required to provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest or 
other similar income paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual or certain other limited 
types of entities resident in that other Member State.  However, for a transitional period, Austria and 
Luxembourg may instead apply withholdings in relation to such payments (subject to a procedure 
whereby, on meeting certain conditions, the beneficial owner of the interest or other similar income 
may request that no interest be withheld) deducting tax at rates rising over time to 35 per cent., unless 
during such period they elect otherwise.  The transitional period is to terminate at the end of the first 
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full fiscal year following agreement with certain non-EU countries to the exchange of information 
relating to such payments. 

A number of non-EU countries, including Switzerland, and certain dependent or associated territories 
of certain member states, have agreed to adopt similar measures (either provision of information or 
transitional withholding) in relation to payments made by a person within its jurisdiction to an 
individual resident in a Member State.  In addition, the Member States have entered into reciprocal 
provision of information or transitional withholding arrangements with certain of those dependant or 
associated territories in relation to payments made by a person in a Member State to an individual or 
certain other residual entities resident in one of those territories.

On 15 September 2008 the European Commission issued a report to the Council of the European Union 
on the operation of the Directive, which included the Commission's advice on the need for changes to 
the Directive. On 13 November 2008, the European Commission published a more detailed proposal 
for amendments to the Directive, which included a number of suggested changes. The European 
Parliament approved an amended version of this proposal on 24 April 2009 but discussions relating to 
the proposal are still ongoing at Council level. If any of those proposed changes (or indeed any other 
changes) are made to the Directive, they may amend or broaden the scope of the requirements 
described above.  Investors who are in any doubt as to these positions should consult their professional 
advisers.

UK Stamp Duty and Stamp Duty Reserve Tax ("SDRT")

No United Kingdom stamp duty or SDRT should be payable on the issue of the Bonds.

No United Kingdom stamp duty will be payable on the transfer by delivery of Bonds.  No SDRT will 
generally be payable on an agreement to transfer the Bonds, including transfers within a clearance 
system so long as: (1) the Bonds are held by (or by a nominee or agent for) a provider of clearance 
services and such person has not made an election under section 97A of the Finance Act 1986; or (2) 
no such agreement to transfer is entered into in contemplation of, or as part of, an arrangement for a 
takeover of the Issuer and both the Bonds and the Ordinary Shares into which they can convert are and 
continue to be listed (as is intended) on a recognised stock exchange (HMRC have confirmed that 
securities that are admitted to trading on the PSM satisfy the condition of being admitted to the LSE, 
and that the LSE is a recognised stock exchange for these purposes).

No UK stamp duty or SDRT is payable on any issue of Ordinary Shares upon conversion of the Bonds 
other than an issue to issuers of depositary receipts or providers of clearance services (or their 
nominees or agents (but see further below)).

The written conveyance or transfer on sale of an Ordinary Share will be liable to ad valorem stamp 
duty, generally at the rate of 0.5 per cent. of the amount or value of the consideration for the transfer, 
and rounded-up to the nearest £5.  The purchaser normally pays the stamp duty.  An exemption from ad 
valorem stamp duty is available on an instrument transferring Ordinary Shares where the amount or 
value of the consideration is £1,000 or less, and it is certified on the instrument that the transaction 
effected by the instrument does not form part of a larger transaction or series of transactions for which 
the aggregate consideration exceeds £1,000. 

An unconditional agreement to sell an Ordinary Share will generally give rise to a liability on the 
purchaser to SDRT, at the rate of 0.5 per cent. of the amount or value of the consideration for the sale.  
If a duly stamped transfer in respect of the agreement is produced within six years of the date that the 
agreement is entered into or (if later) the date that it becomes unconditional, any SDRT paid is 
repayable generally with interest, and the SDRT charge (including any outstanding liability to SDRT) 
is cancelled.

Issues or transfer of Ordinary Shares (1) to, or to a nominee or agent for, a person whose business is or 
includes issuing depositary receipts within section 67 or section 93 of the Finance Act 1986 or (2) to, or 
to a nominee or agent for, a person providing a clearance service within section 70 or section 96 of the 
Finance Act 1986, will generally be subject to stamp duty or SDRT at 1.5 per cent. of the amount or 
value of the consideration or, in certain circumstances, the value of the shares transferred (rounded up 
to the nearest £5 in the case of stamp duty) unless, in the case of a transfer to a clearance service, the 
clearance service in question has made an election under section 97A of the Finance Act 1986 which 
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applies to the Ordinary Shares.  Under section 97A of the Finance Act 1986, clearance services may, 
provided they meet certain conditions, elect for the 0.5 per cent. rate of stamp duty or SDRT to apply to 
transfers of securities within such services instead of the 1.5 per cent. rate applying to an issue or 
transfer of such securities into the clearance service.

The European Court of Justice decision in HSBC Holdings plc and Vidacos Nominees Ltd. v. HMRC 
handed down on 1 October 2009 found that this 1.5 per cent. charge on issuing UK shares into 
clearance services is contrary to EU law, at least in certain circumstances.  Also on 1 October 2009, 
HMRC announced that, with immediate effect, it will not seek to apply the 1.5 per cent. SDRT charge 
on the issue of shares into a clearance service within the European Union.  It is understood that 
HMRC's practice is to take the stamp duty and SDRT approach for issues of convertible bonds into a 
clearance service within the EU.  The position may change further if certain other cases currently being 
brought are decided on the taxpayer's favour.  Specific professional advice should be sought before any 
transfer or issue of Ordinary Shares into a clearance service or between clearance services.

Under the CREST system for paperless share transfers, no stamp duty or SDRT will arise on a transfer 
of Ordinary Shares into the CREST system unless such transfer is made for a consideration in money 
or money's worth, in which case a liability to SDRT (usually at a rate of 0.5 per cent.) will arise.  
Paperless transfers of Ordinary Shares within CREST will be liable to SDRT rather than stamp duty at 
the rate of 0.5 per cent. of the amount or value of the consideration payable.

Intergovernmental Approach to Improving International Tax Compliance and Implementing 
FATCA

On 8 February 2012, the Joint Statement regarding an Intergovernmental Approach to Improving 
International Tax Compliance and Implementing FATCA was issued ("Joint Statement") by the UK 
Government together with the Governments of France, Germany, Italy, Spain and the United States.  
Pursuant to the Joint Statement, the UK Government is consulting on introducing legislation that will 
broaden the scope of information that is provided by it to certain other tax authorities and vice versa.  
Such changes, when introduced, may impact Bonds which have already been issued.

IF YOU ARE NOT RESIDENT IN THE UK OR ARE SUBJECT TO TAX IN ANY OTHER 
JURISDICTION OR IF YOU ARE IN ANY DOUBT AS TO YOUR TAX POSITION, YOU 
SHOULD CONSULT AN APPROPRIATE PROFESSIONAL ADVISER WITHOUT DELAY.

THIS SUMMARY DOES NOT DETAIL THE INCOME TAX, CORPORATION TAX OR CAPITAL 
GAINS TAX CONSEQUENCES OF A DISPOSAL OR HOLDING OF ORDINARY SHARES.
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE 

United States

The Bonds and the Ordinary Shares to be issued or delivered upon conversion of the Bonds have not 
been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the 
"Securities Act") and may not be offered or sold within the United States except pursuant to an 
exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act.  
The Bonds may not be offered or sold within the United States except in accordance with Rule 903 of 
Regulation S under the Securities Act ("Regulation S"). 

United Kingdom

Any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the 
FSMA) in connection with the issue or sale of any Bonds has only been communicated or caused to be 
communicated and will only be communicated or caused to be communicated in circumstances in 
which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer.

In addition, anything done in relation to the Bonds in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom 
must be done in compliance with all applicable provisions of the FSMA.

General

No action has been or will be taken in any jurisdiction that would permit a public offering of the 
Bonds, or possession or distribution of the Listing Particulars or any other offering or publicity material 
relating to the Bonds, in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

1. Listing

Application has been made to the FSA in its capacity as competent authority under the FSMA for the 
Bonds to be admitted to the Official List of the UKLA.  Application has been made to the LSE for the 
Bonds to be admitted to trading on the PSM.  It is expected that admission of the Bonds to the Official 
List and admission to trading of the Bonds on the PSM will be granted on or around 11 April 2012. It is 
expected that dealings in the Bonds will commence on 12 April 2012.

The Issuer shall apply to have the Ordinary Shares issuable upon conversion of the Bonds listed for 
trading on the LSE's EEA Regulated Market.

2. Stock Exchange

The listing of the Bonds on the LSE will be expressed in pounds sterling as a percentage of their 
principal amount (exclusive of accrued interest). Transactions will normally be effected for settlement 
in pounds sterling for delivery on the third business day in London after the date of the transaction.

3. Authorisation

The Issuer has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in connection with the 
issue and performance of its obligations under the Bonds.  The creation and issue of the Bonds has 
been authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer dated 6 May 2012 and a 
resolution of a committee of the Board of Directors of the Issuer dated 12 January 2012.

4. Expenses

The Issuer estimates that the total expenses related to the issue of the Bonds will be approximately 
US$45,000.

5. Clearing

The Bonds have been accepted for clearance through Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear. The 
Common Code for the Bonds is 054102496.  The International Securities Identification Number for the 
Bonds is XS0541024963.  The address of Euroclear is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert I, B-1210 Brussels, 
Belgium, and the address of Clearstream, Luxembourg is 42 Avenue JF Kennedy, L-1855, 
Luxembourg.

6. Financial and Trading Position

There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since 31 December 2010, nor 
has there been any significant change in the financial or trading position of the Group since 30 June 
2011.

7. Financial Information

The consolidated financial statements of the Issuer contained in Annex A (Issuer's 2009 Annual 
Report) have been audited without qualification for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 by 
Baker Tilly UK Audit LLP ("Baker Tilly"), 2 Bloomsbury Street, London, WC1B 3ST, United 
Kingdom, a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants. Baker Tilly's audit report included a 
section entitled "Emphasis of matter – going concern" in which Baker Tilly noted that at the time of the 
audit report proposed financing arrangements had not been committed and that such fact, along with 
other matters described in note 2 to the financial statements, indicated the existence of material 
uncertainty which may have cast doubt about the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. After  
31 December 2009, the Issuer raised financing through the issue of US$50,000,000 Conditional 
Convertible Bonds due 2013 on 13 October 2010 and the production and sale of gas from the Issuer's 
Western Plant commenced in September 2010. Neither of these facts existed as at 31 December 2009. 
It should be noted that the Ernst & Young LLP's audit report in respect of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Issuer for the financial year ended 31 December 2010, as discussed below, made no 
such "Emphasis of matter" statement.
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Baker Tilly resigned with effect from 9 July 2010 and there were no circumstances connected with 
their resignation which they considered should be brought to the attention of the members or creditors 
of the Issuer.

The consolidated financial statements of the Issuer contained in Annex B (Issuer's 2010 Annual 
Report) have been audited without qualification for the financial year ended 31 December 2010 by 
Ernst & Young LLP of 1 More Place, London SE1 2AF, United Kingdom, a member of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants.

None of the figures contained in the interim financial statements included in Annex C (Issuer's 2011 
Unaudited Interim Financial Statements) have been audited.

8. Material Contracts

(a) Contracts relating to the Bonds

The following contracts directly concerning the issue of the Bonds were entered into by a 
member of the Group and are, or may be, material: 

(i) the first supplemental trust deed dated 13 January 2012 between the Issuer and the 
Trustee inter alia, constituting the First Tranche of Additional Bonds and appointing 
the Trustee to act in that capacity (the "First Supplemental Trust Deed");

(ii) the trust deed dated 13 October 2010 between the Issuer and the Trustee, inter alia, 
constituting the Issuer's US$50,000,000 Conditional Convertible Bonds due 2013 and 
appointing the Trustee to act in that capacity (the "Original Trust Deed") which, 
together with the First Supplemental Trust Deed constitute the "Trust Deed";

(iii) the paying and conversion agency agreement dated 13 October 2010 between, the 
Issuer, Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch and the Trustee setting out, inter alia, the 
terms of appointment and duties of Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch in its capacity 
as Principal Paying and Conversion Agent (the "Paying and Conversion Agency 
Agreement"); and

(iv) the bond deed of pledge dated 13 October 2010, between the Issuer and the Trustee, 
under which the Issuer's obligations under the Bonds are secured by a second priority 
security over pledged shares and other charged assets of RAECL (the "Bond Deed of 
Pledge");

(v) the deed of priority dated 13 October 2010, between the Issuer, the Trustee and EBRD, 
pursuant to which the security granted under the Bond Deed of Pledge and the EBRD 
Deed of Pledge (as defined below) is shared as between EBRD and the Trustee and the 
Bondholders in respect of the obligations secured by the EBRD Deed of Pledge (as 
defined below) and the Bond Deed of pledge as described therein (the "Deed of 
Priority");

(vi) the share retention agreement dated 13 October 2010, between RAECL and the Trustee 
pursuant to which RAECL has agreed not to effect any change in its equity interest in, 
or transfer or pledge (or otherwise grant any lien over), any of its shares in the capital 
of, Diall without prior written consent of the Trustee or with the approval of an 
extraordinary resolution of Bondholders (the "Share Retention Agreement");

(vii) the purchase agreement dated 11 October 2010, between the Issuer and Deutsche Bank 
AG, London Branch.

(b) Other Contracts

The following contracts (not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business) 
have been entered into by members of the Group and are, or may be material or contain 
provisions under which any member of the Group has any obligation or entitlement which is 
material to the Group as at the date of these Listing Particulars:
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(i) The EBRD Facility

The Convertible Loan Agreement

On 18 September 2009, the Issuer entered into the Convertible Loan Agreement with 
EBRD to borrow up to US$60 million prior to 18 March 2011 (the "Convertible 
Loan"). The loan was fully drawn up prior to 18 March 2011.  The Convertible Loan 
was obtained to finance the development of the Western Fields, including the 
construction of the Western Plant, and to provide the capital requirements for 
exploration and appraisal drilling as well as the preparation of a feasibility study for the 
second gas plant in the Eastern Fields.

The agreement contains a number of covenants in favour of EBRD.

The EBRD Deed Of Pledge

On 18 September 2009 the Issuer entered into a deed of pledge with EBRD, pursuant to 
which the Issuer's obligations under the Convertible Loan Agreement are secured by a 
first priority security over pledged shares and other charted assets of RAECL (the 
"EBRD Deed of Pledge"); 

The EBRD Share Retention Agreement

In connection with the Convertible Loan Agreement, on 18 September 2009, RAECL 
entered in a share retention agreement with EBRD, pursuant to which RAECL agreed 
not to effect any change in its equity interest in, or transfer or pledge (or otherwise 
grant any lien over), any of its shares in the capital of, Diall without prior written 
consent of EBRD (the "EBRD Share Retention Agreement").

(ii) The Gazprom Contract

On 11 August 2010, Diall entered into an agreement with OOO Saratov Gas Company, 
a subsidiary of Gazprom for the sale and purchase of gas (the "Gazprom Contract"). 
The Gazprom Contract is valid until 31 December 2015. The Gazprom Contract 
provides that from September 2010 to December 2010 (the "Initial Period") Diall may 
deliver up to 140 million cubic meters of gas to Saratov Gas at the rate of 
approximately US$62 per 1000 cubic meters of gas. Under the Gazprom Contract,
Diall sold 237 million cubic meters of gas during 2011.  On 1 July 2011 the sales price 
increased to approximately US$72 per 100 cubic meters of gas.  The sale price is 
calculated as a discount to a weighted average selling price for industrial and 
residential gas consumers in Saratov region determined by the Russian Federal Tariff 
Service. The Gazprom contract also sets out monthly contractual volumes and average 
daily contractual volumes of the gas to be delivered in each month within the Initial 
Period. The average daily contractual volume is calculated by dividing the monthly 
contractual volume by the number of days in the month in which the gas will be 
delivered.

The Gazprom Contract may be terminated by Saratov Gas if Diall repeatedly fails to 
deliver gas of the quality as agreed in the Gazprom Contract. The Gazprom Contract 
may also be terminated by Diall if Saratov Gas repeatedly fails to make timely 
payments for the delivered gas. Either party shall be entitled to terminate the Gazprom 
Contract should the occurrence and/or effect of the force majeure circumstances last 
longer than three months. The party terminating the Gazprom Contract must notify the 
other party not later than 90 days before the expected date of termination of the 
Gazprom Contract.

(iii) The EPCM Contract

On 10 July 2007, Diall entered into an agreement with Ventech Engineers International 
Corp. ("Ventech") for the re-engineering, dismantling, relocation, procurement and 
construction management of Diall's sulphur recovery unit, tail gas plant and gas plant 
(the "EPCM Contract").
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The EPCM Contract provides that Diall is entitled at any time and for any reason to 
terminate the EPCM Contract, in whole or in part, by giving a written notice to 
Ventech. Ventech, on the other hand, may terminate the EPCM Contract if Diall fails to 
make any payment within 45 days after receipt of an invoice from Ventech. In the 
event of a failure by Diall to fulfil any of its obligations under the EPCM Contract, if 
such failure is not cured within 15 days of receipt from Ventech of written notice to 
this effect, Ventech shall have the right to immediately terminate the EPCM Contract. 
The governing law of the EPCM Contract is the laws of the state of Texas in the US.

As at 31 December 2011, the outstanding amounts payable to Ventech amounted to 
US$7 million.

(iv) The RNK Contract

On 30 January 2009, Diall entered into an infrastructure development agreement with 
OOO RosNefteComplect ("RNK") for the gas construction and re-engineering of the 
Western Plant supplied by Ventech (the "RNK Contract").

As at 31 December 2011, the outstanding amount payable by the Group to RNK 
amounted to US$2.3 million.

(v) The NewTech Contract

On 30 December 2009, Diall entered into an agreement with OOO NewTech Services 
("NewTech") for the drilling of an exploration well in the Nepryakhinskoye area. The 
total contractual value is approximately US$15.7 million. On 5 April 2011, Diall 
entered into an agreement with NewTech for the drilling of an additional exploration 
well in the Muravlinskoye area.  The total contractual value is approximately US$14.8 
million.

As at 31 December 2011, the outstanding amount payable by the Issuer to NewTech 
amounted to US$2.1 million.

9. Documents on Display

Copies of the following documents may be inspected during normal business hours at the offices of the 
Paying and Conversion Agent during the 12 months starting on the date on which these Listing 
Particulars are made available to the public as required by the prospectus rules made by the FSA:

(a) the Articles of Association of the Issuer;

(b) the Issuer's 2009 annual report, which contains the annual audited consolidated financial 
statements of the Issuer as at and for the financial year ended 31 December 2009, together 
with the notes thereto and the auditors' report thereon (the "2009 Annual Report");

(c) the Issuer's 2010 annual report, which contains the annual audited consolidated financial 
statements of the Issuer as at and for the financial year ended 31 December 2010, together 
with the notes thereto and the auditors' report thereon (the "2010 Annual Report");

(d) the unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the six months ended 30 June 
2011 (the "2011 Interim Unaudited Financial Statements");

(e) the First Supplemental Trust Deed;

(f) the Trust Deed;

(g) the Paying and Conversion Agency Agreement;

(h) the Bond Deed of Pledge;

(i) the Deed of Priority;

(j) the Escrow Deed;
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(k) the Share Retention Agreement;

(l) the Convertible Loan Agreement;

(m) the EBRD Deed of Pledge; and

(n) the EBRD Share Retention Agreement.

In addition, these Listing Particulars are also available at the website of the Regulatory News Service 
operated by the LSE at www.londonstockexchange.com/gbpricenews/marketnews

10. Information relating to the Ordinary Shares

The International Securities Identification Number for the Ordinary Shares is: GB00B64Z0D56. If a 
QIPO occurs, the prospectus for the QIPO will contain further details relating to the Ordinary Shares.

www.londonstockexchange.com/gbpricenews/marketnews
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GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

"2D seismic" seismic data acquired in a grid that is relatively 
broad, and is processed in two dimensions;

"3D seismic" seismic data acquired in a grid that is relatively 
close spaced and dense, and is processed in three 
dimensions;

"appraisal well" a well drilled as part of an appraisal drilling 
programme which is carried out to determine the 
physical extent, reserves and likely production rate 
of a field;

"bbl/bbls" barrels;

"bcfa" billion cubic feet per annum;

"bcma" billion cubic metres per annum;

"carbonate" a class of sedimentary rock whose chief mineral 
constituents (95 per cent. or more) are calcite and 
aragonite (both CaCO3) and dolomite 
CaMg(CO3)2, a mineral that can replace calcite 
during the process of dolomitisation.  Limestone, 
dolostone or dolomite, and chalk are carbonate 
rocks. Carbonate rocks can serve as hydrocarbon 
reservoir rocks, particularly if the porosity has been 
enhanced through dissolution. They rely on 
fractures for permeability;

"Carboniferous" a geological period 295 million to 354 million years 
before present;

"Caspian Depression" low-lying flatland region encompassing the 
northern part of the Caspian Sea;

"condensate" hydrocarbons which are in the gaseous state under 
reservoir conditions and which become liquid when 
temperature or pressure is reduced. A mixture of 
pentanes and higher hydrocarbons;

"/d" per day;

"Devonian" a geological period between 417 million and 354 
million years before present;

"flaring" a process by which waste gas, which is not feasible 
to use or transport, is eliminated. Flaring is also 
used as a safety system for plant operations in case 
additional gas needs to be flared due to operational 
issues;

"fracturing" fracturing reservoir rock hydraulically to enhance 
productivity;

"hydrocarbon" a compound containing only the elements hydrogen 
and carbon. May exist as a solid, a liquid or a gas. 
The term is mainly used in a catch-all sense for oil, 
gas and condensate.
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"km" kilometre;

"km2" square kilometre;

"km3" thousand cubic metres per day;

"Lower Permian" the earliest epoch of the Permian geological period;

"m3" cubic metre;

"Permian" a geological period 250 million to 295 million years 
before present;

"Pre-Caspian basin" a major salt dome basin and the deepest such basin 
in the world located to the north of the Caspian 
Sea;

"possible reserves" those additional reserves which analysis of 
geoscience and engineering data indicate are less 
likely to be recoverable than probable reserves;]

"probable reserves" those additional reserves which analysis of 
geoscience and engineering data indicate are less 
likely to be recovered than proved reserves;]

"proved reserves" those quantities of petroleum, which by analysis of 
geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated 
with reasonable certainty to be commercially 
recoverable, from a given date forward, from known 
reservoirs and under defined economic conditions, 
operating methods and government regulations;]

"prospective resources" those quantities of petroleum which are estimated 
as of a given date to be potentially recoverable from 
undiscovered accumulations;]

"reservoir" a porous and permeable rock formation in which 
gas and oil has accumulated and can be produced;

"reserves" those quantities of petroleum anticipated to be 
commercially recoverable by application of 
development projects to known accumulations from 
a given date forward under defined conditions. 
Reserves include proved, probable and possible 
reserve categories, which are defined elsewhere in 
this glossary;

"resources" quantities of petroleum which includes prospective 
resources, defined elsewhere in this glossary;

"tcf" trillion cubic feet;
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Executive Chairman’s Statement 
 

 
 

Vostok Energy Public Limited Company (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group” or “Vostok”) remain focused on 
adding shareholder value through increasing reserves and production. The Group’s work programme has been based on 
three principal objectives: continued exploration of the hydrocarbon potential of the Bortovoy licence (the “licence”) via 
additional seismic and exploratory drilling; appraisal of the Group’s known reserves through appraisal/development drilling 
and re-evaluation of existing seismic and other technical data; and commercialising the gas reserves through construction of a 
gas processing facility while increasing available production capacity through development drilling and acid matrix and 
fracturing programmes on selected wells. 
 
Exploration Activities 
 
In December 2010 the Group completed drilling its first Devonian well in the eastern area of the licence. Testing of the well 
began in January 2011. Subsequent to year-end the deeper horizons in the Devonian were successfully tested resulting in a 
significant increase in reserves for the eastern licence area.  
 
The Devonian prospect was identified by our geological team based on the 3D seismic acquired during the previous year as 
part of our on-going seismic acquisition. At year-end, a 300 square kilometre 3D seismic acquisition programme was 
underway to further delineate prospects in the eastern area of the licence. 
 
Appraisal/Development Activities 
 
During the year an extensive acid matrix programme was completed in the western area of the licence providing production 
capabilities for the western gas plant that now exceed production capacity by over 50%.  
 
Commercialisation 
 
With the start-up of the gas processing facility in November 2010, the Group achieved a key milestone in its strategy with the 
commercialisation of the reserves in the western area of the licence.  
 
The Company expects now to be able to fund its current operations and a basic capital programme from cash flow. The goal 
is to obtain funds for the construction of a second gas processing plant in the eastern area of the licence through an Initial 
Public Offering of shares or other fundraising to be completed in the latter part of 2011. 
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Business Review 
 
 

 
 

 

Review of Operations 
Drilling and re-entries 

Exploration drilling 

West Area: 

No exploratory drilling was undertaken in the west area of the licence during 2010. 
 
East Area: 
 
Lower Permian: 

In the eastern area of the licence the Group completed drilling the Timoninskoye 44 exploration well which was begun during 
Q4 of 2009 in fulfilment of licence commitment obligations. The well was drilled to a total depth of 1800m. to test a lower 
Permian Timoninskoye bank margin reef prospect. Geophysical logs and core data over the prospective lower Permian 
intervals indicated that the reservoir section was of lower than anticipated porosity and permeability albeit hydrocarbon (oil) 
saturated. Initial completion and testing of this interval failed to recover hydrocarbons in commercial quantities and at year end 
the well was suspended pending proposed further evaluation and possible acid fracturing. Two additional lower Permian 
exploration wells, Muravlinskaya -1 and East Lipovskaya -1 were drilled during Q1 and Q2 2010, however, both wells 
encountered similar hydrocarbon, oil and gas saturated, low porosity and permeability reservoir sections in the prospective 
lower Permian reservoir intervals. Completion and testing undertaken on the Muravlinskaya-1 well recovered both oil and gas 
in non-commercial quantities whilst the anticipated reservoir interval in the East Lipovskoye -1 well failed to recover significant 
quantities of hydrocarbons.  

The drilling location of both wells had been selected based upon structural interpretation of the initial processing of 2008-2009 
3D seismic data undertaken by the acquisition company. During 2010 Vostok’s technical staff subsequently commissioned the 
reprocessing of this data to be undertaken by Paradigm Geophysical Ltd., the contractor which had previously processed all 
of the 2D seismic data acquired by Vostok during 2007 – 2009. The interpretation of the Paradigm processing of the 3D data 
available during Q3 2010 indicates that both the Muravlinskaya-1 and East Lipovskoye-1 were likely not optimally located on 
the lower Permian bank margin reef structure. At year end both wells were suspended pending further evaluation and possible 
further completion and testing using acid fracturing techniques. 

 
Devonian: 
 
The Nepryakhinskaya -1 Devonian exploration well commenced drilling in April 2010 and completed drilling at a total depth of 
4650 metres in the lower Devonian in late November. The well was logged using both Russian and western geophysical 
logging services and based upon both preliminary log analysis and high background gas shows whilst drilling the well was 
being cased to total depth at year end.  

Development drilling  

As a result of a successful development drilling in the Karpenskoye Field during 2009 no additional development wells were 
required to be drilled for gas deliverability in the west area of the Licence in 2010. 

Well re-entries and recompletions 

During 2010 the Company acquired all rights to three additional wells within the Karpenskoye field area, wells No. 7, No. 19, 
and No. 52.  These wells are located within the hydrocarbon-bearing area of the field and are scheduled for re-completion and 
testing during 2011. 

Acid fracturing and stimulation  

Two wells, Karpenskoye-13 and Karpenskoye 17 of Vostok’s 7 well acid fracturing and stimulation programme began in the 
Karpenskoye Field during Q4 2009 were successfully treated and tested early in 2010. The additional gas production from 
these 2 wells resulted in production capability of the field exceeding the 1.47 million m3 per day maximum capacity 
requirement of the gas plant. 

Seismic activity 

Conventional 2D seismic 

During 2010 further seismic interpretation work and selected custom reprocessing was ongoing on the Group’s extensive 2D 
seismic data base which was acquired in 2007 and 2008 and upon older existing 2D seismic data.  

Where possible this data was integrated with data from existing wells to increase the inventory of exploration prospects and 
leads on the licence. 
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Review of Operations (continued) 
3D Seismic  

Interpretation of the deeper Devonian and Carboniferous intervals in the easternmost licence area revealed a number of 
prospective exploration plays based upon which the Group commenced drilling the  Nepryakhinskaya-1 Devonian exploration 
well during April 2010. In addition, the structural detail provided by 3D data for the Devonian interval has assisted in 
developing play concepts elsewhere on the licence.  A 150 square kilometers 3D seismic acquisition programme covering the 
West Lipovskoye field and Timoninskoye prospect areas located immediately to the west of the 2008-09 3D programme was 
begun during Q4 2009 and continued during Q1 2010. Acquisition of this survey was, however only partially completed due to 
surface access problems caused by an early spring thaw. A third 180 km2 3D seismic acquisition campaign was begun late in 
2010 and was ongoing at year end. This survey will complete the acquisition of data outstanding in the 2009 -10 programme 
area and will extend the Company’s area of 3D coverage to the west to include the Kochkurovskoye area. 

Geological and geophysical evaluations 

West Area 

In the western area of the licence geophysical and geological work undertaken since 2007 has provided for the identification 
of prospect leads on the continuation of the lower Permian bank margin between the Karpenskoye and Mokrousovskoye fields 
and for refinement of potential future lower Permian exploration drilling prospects in the Krasnokutskoye area. In the area to 
the north and west of the Mokrousovskoye field this work has also allowed for refinement of prospect leads relating to the 
upper Carboniferous bank margin which was identified in 2008 and possible deeper middle and upper Devonian structural 
prospects. No further geophysical or geological work was undertaken in the west area during 2010. 

Central Area 

Interpretation of the conventional 2D seismic acquired in 2008 across the central area of the licence demonstrated that the 
central area, of the licence lying between the Mokrousovskoye and Pavlovskoye fields, is occupied by a basement uplift which 
has structurally elevated older, Devonian and Carboniferous sediments by about 1000m relative to the east and west areas 
and displaced the basin margin southwards beyond the boundary of the licence.  The central licence area is currently 
indicated to be less prospective than the remaining areas of the licence and no additional geological or geophysical work was 
conducted on the area during 2010. 

East Area 

The east area of the licence has been the Company’s main area of focus for geophysical and geological work during 2010 in 
support of proposed future development and exploitation of both gas and liquids.  

Devonian and Carboniferous:  

Due to their potential magnitude and significance the emphasis of geological and geophysical work conducted during 2010 
has been primarily upon the potential prospective resources of the Devonian interval. This work was undertaken in an effort to 
further identify the depositional, structural and tectonic controls that have been in play to develop seismically identified 
prospects, and to understand the influences that these factors have exerted upon defining the prospectivity of overlying 
sedimentary intervals, particularly the Carboniferous.  

Based upon positive indications that were encountered whilst drilling the Nepriyakhinskaya-1 Devonian exploration well during 
Q3 and Q4 of 2010, the company developed a contingent schedule and strategy for drilling additional Devonian wells in 
combination with superimposed Carboniferous prospects during 2011. 

Lower Permian:  

Additional work on lower Permian prospects drilled during 2010 as well as prospects proposed for future drilling was also 
initiated during 2010. This involved attempting to rationalize the results of recently drilled lower Permian wells based upon 
interpretation of customized reprocessing of 3D seismic data by Paradigm Geophysical Ltd in Moscow in combination with 
seismic character analysis. It is hoped that these studies will aid in defining those areas of lower Permian carbonate reef build 
ups with higher primary (depositional) porosity that can serve as hydrocarbon reservoirs. 

Reserves evaluation 

In October 2010 Vostok’s independent engineers, Miller and Lents, prepared a revised reserves evaluation report as of 1 
September 2010 in support of the Company’s initiative to secure a UK public listing.  Miller and Lents revised their 31 May 
2010 estimate of economic recoverable 3P reserves of the Group from 728.5 Bcf of natural gas and 21.7 MMBbl of oil and 
condensate to 714 Bcf and 20.0 MMBbl of oil and condensate and their estimate of Proven P1 Reserves from 526 to 519 Bcf 
of gas and from 15.6 to 13.3 MMBbl of oil.  Proven natural gas reserves of the Group increased overall from 390 Bcf to 545 
Bcf.
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Review of Operations (continued) 
 

Future developments 

Other than for two infill oil development wells in the Karpenskoye field no further drilling is proposed for the west area during 
2011.  Instead the Group will continue to focus its drilling and completion activities together with its geological and geophysical 
activity upon evaluating and increasing reserves and resources in the eastern area of the licence. This will involve an 
exploration drilling programme comprising at least one Devonian exploration well to be drilled on the Muravlinskaya prospect, 
a possible second Devonian exploration well to be drilled based upon the interpretation results of 3D seismic currently being 
acquired and one lower Permian exploration well. 
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Financial review 
Review of 2010 results 

The Annual Report and Financial Statements are prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as 
adopted by the European Union (“EU”). The Group uses US dollars as its presentation currency.  The Group revenue for 2010 
was 276 thousand USD (2009 – 46 thousand USD) and the loss after taxation was 22.490 million USD (2009 – 11.860 million 
USD). Detailed Group financial information is set out in the audited financial statements for 2010 on pages 13-45 of this 
report.  

The Group is predominantly in an exploration and development phase and standard key performance indicators such as 
growth in sales, returns on invested capital and employee retention figures are not true indicators of group performance. The 
key performance indicators at 31 December were:   
              
             2010    2009 

Proven gas reserves in billion cubic feet (1) 519.0 544.8 
Proven oil reserves in millions of barrels (1)   13.3  14.6 
Available production capacity of gas in million cubic feet per day   72.2 59.5 
Revenue for the year (in millions of USD) (2)    0.3   0.0 
Loss for the year (in millions of USD)   22.5 11.1 

 

(1) The gas and oil reserves are based on the most recent independent engineer’s reports. The decrease in reserves 
resulted from re-evaluating the field structures on the licence based on recent drilling and re-entry results and the 
interpretation of recently acquired 3D seismic. 

(2) The increase in revenue resulted from the gas plant which was under commissioning and had some limited 
production from November 2010 to the end of the year. 

On 26 November 2010 the Company achieved a major milestone with first gas production from the Karpenskoye gas plant. At 
year-end, the gas plant was still going through commissioning and had only intermittent production. 

Corporate events 

On 20 July 2010 the Company issued an additional 1,840,000 shares to the Employee Benefit Trust (the “EBT”) bringing the 
total number shares issued to the EBT for employees to 3,800,000.   

On 13 October 2010 the Company finalised a convertible debt financing of 50 million USD with Deutsch Bank, the proceeds of 
which were to be used to complete the development of the gas plant and cover corporate administrative expenses. The debt 
is convertible at a price of an Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) which is being planned by the Company for 2011. 

Charitable donations and social responsibility 

The primary Group operations are in the Saratov region in Russia and it is one of the goals of the Group to provide support to 
the local community to ensure the region benefits from the Group’s presence on an enduring basis. During the year, the 
Group spent 121 thousand USD (2009 – 201 thousand USD) on sponsorships and charitable donations for local government 
and non-governmental agencies that support local development and industry and for agencies focusing on maintaining and 
improving local environmental standards.  

Events since the end of the year 
There have been no significant events since the end of the year. 
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Risk management 
Financial  

The Finance Director is responsible for the Company’s financial risk management function and the Audit Committee provides 
oversight of this while ultimate approval on financial decisions remains with the Board of Directors.  

Operations and commercial 

The main activity of the Group is the exploration, development and production of gas. The Group currently sells all gas 
produced to a subsidiary of OJSC Gazprom, the Saratov Gas Company LLC. The selling price as set out in the agreement is 
calculated at a 20% discount to the weighted average selling price for commercial and domestic gas consumers in the 
Saratov region as determined by the Russian Tariff Service. For 2010, this price was 61.72 USD (1,927 roubles) per thousand 
cubic meters of gas. The contract sets out volumes to be delivered however the volumes can be amended based on mutual 
agreement and Gazprom is only required to pay for the gas actually delivered. 

There is oil and condensate associated with the production of gas reserves. The Group sells the oil and condensate at “spot” 
rates based on contracts with selected customers who pay for the oil at or prior to delivery.  Given the limited oil production to 
date, the Group does not maintain any fixed price or long term marketing contracts.  Although gas and oil market prices may 
fluctuate, as a general policy, the Group does not and does not intend to hedge gas and oil sales. Under appropriate 
circumstances such as taking advantage of attractive prices, the Group may engage in longer term sales contracts and price 
hedging. 
 
The Group maintains insurance over operations as required by local regulations. In addition, the Group maintains 
internationally placed insurance coverage for their field assets, drilling and operating activities in Russia in recognition of the 
risks associated with expanded operations.  While the Group recognises the inherent political and economic risks of working 
in Russia, the Group has made the decision not to carry any political risk or associated business interruption coverage. The 
Group reviews overall insurance requirements regularly to ensure a proper balance between exposure and coverage. 
 
Operating environment 

Ongoing operations and those of similar companies in Russia are subject to the prevailing economic, political and regulatory 
uncertainties. 

The Russian economy, while deemed to be of market status beginning in 2002, continues to display certain traits consistent 
with that of a market in transition.  These characteristics have in the past included higher than normal inflation, lack of liquidity 
in the capital markets and the existence of currency controls which cause the national currency to be illiquid outside Russia.  
The continued success and stability of the Russian economy will be significantly impacted by the government’s continued 
actions with regard to supervisory, legal and economic reforms. 
 
Taxation 

Russian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations and changes which can occur frequently.  
Management’s interpretation of such legislation as applied to the transactions and activity of the Group in Russia may be 
challenged by the relevant regional and federal authorities.  Based on reviews and audits performed to date by the relevant 
authorities, there have been no significant tax fines or penalties incurred and management believes that as of 31 December 
2010, its interpretation of the relevant legislation is appropriate and the Group’s tax and currency positions will be sustained. 

Strategic and reputational 

The Company is committed to promoting and developing high standards of corporate responsibility.  Responsibility for 
ensuring that these are followed lies with the Board of Directors and senior executive officers and staff.  The Company 
believes that by incorporating high standards into its corporate culture, the Company’s risk profile is reduced.  
 
A comprehensive set of procedures and policies is maintained at both head office and the operational level to ensure effective 
operations.  The Company reviews the Group’s policies and procedures on an ongoing basis including environmental policies 
to ensure compliance with local and international standards. The Group has developed a comprehensive environmental 
monitoring and reporting system and when required, the Company employs independent advisors to ensure good practise is 
achieved.  
 
Financial Risks 
 
A review of financial risks is included in note 26 to the Financial Statements. 



Vostok Energy Plc 

Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010 

Directors’ Report 
 
 

 
 

 

The directors of the Company present their report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010. 
 
Principal activity and review of the business 
 
The principal activities of the Group during the year were exploration, development and production of natural gas and 
hydrocarbon liquids.  The Group’s operating activities during 2010 were in Russia where the Group holds a sub-soil licence for 
geological exploration and production of hydrocarbons.  
 
Business Review 
 
A review of the Group’s business during the year and its future prospects is included in the Executive Chairman’s Statement 
and Business Review on pages 3-8 which should be read in conjunction with this report of which they form part and in which 
they are incorporated by reference. 
 
Board of Directors 
The directors at 31 December 2010 and 2009 are as given below except where noted otherwise:  

Charles Jamieson   
Robert Cathery    
Blaine Karst  
Roger Cagle    
Ronald Harris    
John Orange (appointed 9 September 2010)  
Mark Sadykhov   
Jacob Ulrich   
Aric Cunningham (resigned 17 February 2011) 
Kevin Bortz (resigned 14 March 2011) 
Alexander Capelson (resigned 21 April 2011)  

Dividends 
The directors do not recommend a dividend for the year (2009 − $nil). 

Audit and Risk Committee and Remuneration Committee 
The Board currently has an Audit and Risk Committee and a Remuneration Committee.  

The role of the Audit and Risk Committee is to review and monitor the integrity of the financial reporting by the Company, to 
review the Group’s internal control and risk management systems and oversee the relationship with the external auditors.  
The Audit and Risk Committee meets and discusses issues throughout the year and approves the audit plan and audited 
financial report for submission to the Board for approval.  

The Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible for determining and recommending to the Board the framework for 
executive remuneration.  It is also responsible for the design of share incentive plans and allocation and issue of shares to 
employees under such plans.  The Remuneration Committee meets as required to discuss and determine remuneration 
issues and formally reports their activities and makes recommendations to the Board for approval. 
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Subsidiaries 
 
The Company had the following subsidiaries at 31 December 2010 (all are owned directly by the Company unless otherwise 
noted): 
 

Active subsidiaries 
Country of 

incorporation 

Effective 
ownership 

percentage 
  2009 2010 

Royal Atlantic Energy (Cyprus) Limited (“RAECL”) Cyprus 100 100 

Diall Alliance LLC – 100% subsidiary of RAECL (“DIALL”) Russia 100 100 

Vostok Energy Ltd. United States 100 100 

Vostok Energy Resources Limited (“VERL”) United Kingdom 100 100 

Vostok (Cyprus) Limited (“VCL”) Cyprus 100 100 

    
Inactive subsidiaries    

Zhaikinvest LTD LLP (“Zhaikinvest”) – inactive since 2007 Kazakhstan 75 75 

Vostok Energy Company, CJSC (“VEC”) – inactive since 2009 Russia 100 100 

 
 
Directors’ Responsibilities 
 
The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and regulations.  
 
Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and Company financial statements for each financial year.  The 
directors have elected under company law to prepare Group and Company financial statements in accordance with IFRS as 
adopted by the EU.  
 
The financial statements are required by law and IFRS adopted by the EU to present fairly the financial position of the Group 
and the Company and the financial performance of the Group. The Companies Act 2006 provides in relation to such financial 
statements that references in the relevant part of that Act to financial statements giving a true and fair view are references to 
their achieving a fair presentation. 
 
Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the group and the company and of the profit or loss of the group for that period.  
 
In preparing the group and company financial statements, the directors are required to: 

a. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
b. make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
c. state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs adopted by the EU; 
d. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the group and 

the company will continue in business. 
 
The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s 
and the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and the 
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.  They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
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Statement as to disclosure of information to the auditor 
The directors who were in office on the date of approval of these financial statements have each confirmed that as far as they 
are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditor is unaware.  Each of the directors has also confirmed 
that they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that it has been communicated to the auditor. 
 
Auditor 
A resolution to re-appoint Ernst and Young as auditors will be proposed at the Company’s forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting.  

By order of the Board 
 
 
 
 
Tony Hunter 
Secretary 
20 May 2011 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF Vostok Energy Plc 
We have audited the financial statements of Vostok Energy Plc. for the year ended 31 December 2010 which comprise the 
Group and Parent Company Statements of Financial Position, the Group Statements of Comprehensive Income, the Group 
and Parent Company Statements of Cash Flow, the Group and Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity and the 
related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. 

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 
Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, 
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.   

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor 
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an 
opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and the parent company’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial 
and non-financial information in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If 
we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion: 

� the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as 
at 31 December 2010 and of the group’s and the parent company’s loss for the year then ended; 

� the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European 
Union; and  

� The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in 
our opinion: 

� adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

� the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

� certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

� we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

  

 

Mick Bardella, (Senior Satutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor 
London 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 
       
     2010 2009 
    Notes USD '000 USD '000 
 
Revenue     267 46 
     ________ ________ 
 
Operating expenses    4 (4,364) (3,410) 
Administrative expenses    5 (13,252) (10,291) 
Other gains/(losses)    7 (540) 1,921 
     ________ ________ 
 
Total expenses     (18,156) (11,780) 
     ________ ________  
 
Operating Loss     (17,889) (11,734) 
 
Finance income    8 19 250 
Finance costs    9 (4,620) (376) 
     ________ ________ 
 
Loss before taxation     (22,490) (11,860) 
 
Income tax benefit/(expense)    13 2,981 (1,341) 
     ________ ________ 
 
Loss for the year     (19,509) (13,201) 
  
Other comprehensive income: 
Foreign exchange movements on 
Translation of foreign entities     (2,060) 3,369 
     ________ ________ 
 
Total comprehensive income     (21,569) (9,832) 
     ________ ________ 
 
     2010 2009 
     USD USD 
Loss per share during the year (Note 13): 
 
-basic     0.10 0.07 
 
-diluted     0.10 0.07 
     ________ ________ 
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 
at 31 December 2010 
   2010 2009 
   Notes USD '000 USD '000 
Non-current assets 
Intangible assets  15 58,140 36,233 
Property, plant and equipment  16 210,433 160,651 
Trade and other receivables  17 8,993 13,430 
Deferred tax  13 6,828 5,389 
   ________ ________ 
 
   284,394 215,703 
   ________ ________ 
 
Current assets 
Inventories  18 60 33 
Trade and other receivables  19 24,522 15,570 
Cash and cash equivalents  20 18,147 18,361 
   ________ ________ 
 
   42,729 33,964 
   ________ ________ 
 
Total assets   327,123 249,667 
   ________ ________ 
 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables  21 10,754 6,087 
   ________ ________ 
 
Non-current liabilities 
Borrowings  22 99,801 8,018 
Provisions  23 7,922 9,900 
   ________ ________ 
 
   107,723 17,918 
   ________ ________ 
 
Total liabilities   118,477 24,005 
   ________ ________ 
 
Net assets   208,646 225,662 
   ________ ________ 
 
Equity 
Share capital  24 1,870 1,851 
Share premium  24 50,569 295,674 
Own shares held  24 (11,600) (5,983)  
Equity component of convertible debt  24 6,048 1,964 
Currency translation reserve  24 (11,759) (9,699)  
Share option reserve  24 2,598 1,426 
Accumulated reserves/(deficit)  24 170,920 (59,571) 
   ________ ________ 
 
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent   208,646 225,662 
   ________ ________ 
 
 
These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors. 
 
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
Blaine Karst, 
Director 
20 May 2011 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
for the year ended 31 December 2010         
  
    Equity   

    component of Currency Share Accumulated 
 Share Share Own shares convertible translation option reserves/ Total 
 capital premium held debt reserve reserve (deficit) equity 
 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 
 
 
Balance at 1st January 2009 1,701 252,195 - - (13,068) 594 (46,370) 195,052 
 ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 
Total comprehensive 
income for the period - - - - 3,369 - (13,201) (9,832) 
Transactions with owners 
Share issues 150 45,833 - - - - - 45,983 
Own shares issued to the 
employee benefit trust -  - (5,983) - - - -       (5,983) 
Equity element of convertible debt - - - 1,964 - - - 1,964 
Share issue costs - (2,354) - - - - - (2,354) 
Share option charge - - - - - 832 - 832 
 ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
Total of transactions with owners 150 43,479 (5,983) 1,964 - 832 - 40,442 
 ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

Balance at 31 December 2009 1,851 295,674 (5,983) 1,964 (9,699) 1,426 (59,571) 225,662 
 ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 
Total comprehensive 
income for the year - - - - (2,060) - (19,509) (21,569) 
Transactions with owners 
Share issues 19 (244,402) - - - - 250,000 5,617 
Own shares issued to the 
employee benefit trust - - (5,617) - - - - (5,617) 
Equity element of convertible debt - - - 4,084 - - - 4,084 
Share issue costs - (703) - - - - - (703) 
Share option charge - - - - - 1,172 - 1,172 
 ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
Total of transactions with owners 19 (245,105) (5,617) 4,084 - 1,172 250,000 4,553 
 ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
Balance at 31 December 2010 1,870 50,569 (11,600) 6,048 (11,759) 2,598 170,920 208,646 
 ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 

     2010 2009 
    Notes USD '000 USD '000 
Operating activities 
Loss for the year     (19,509) (13,201) 
Adjustments to reconcile loss for the year to net cash flow used from operating activities: 
Tax for the year    13 (2,981) 1,341 
Net finance costs    8,9 4,601 126 
Foreign exchange losses/(gains)    7 178 (638) 
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation    15,16 1,073 596 
Share based payments    12 1,172 832 
Movement in provisions     122 (1,504) 
Working capital adjustments: 
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables    4,787 87 
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories     (27) 22 
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables     4,816 3,077 
     ________ ________ 
 
Net cash flow used in operating activities     (5,768) (9,262) 
     ________ ________ 
 
Investing activities 
Interest received     8 19 250 
Payments to acquire intangible assets     (21,957) (8,068) 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment     (58,360) (93,891) 
     ________ ________ 
 
Net cash flow used in investing activities     (80,298) (101,709) 
     ________ ________ 
 
Financing activities 
Proceeds on issue of share capital     - 36,943 
Costs on share capital transactions     (4,355) - 
Interest paid     (2,278) (113) 
Proceeds from new borrowings      93,364 6,693 
Repayment of long-term borrowings     - (2,168) 
     ________ ________ 
 
Net cash flow from financing activities     86,731 41,355 
     ________ ________ 
 
Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    665 (69,616) 
Net foreign exchange difference     (879) 2,507 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year   20 18,361 85,470 
     ________ ________ 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year   20 18,147 18,361 
     ________ ________ 
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1 Corporate Information 
 

a) Organisation and principal activities 
 

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in Great Britain. The principal activities of the Company 
and its subsidiaries are the exploration, development, and production of hydrocarbons. The Group’s operating 
activities are in Russia, where the Group holds a sub-soil license for geological exploration and production of 
hydrocarbons. The registered office of the Company is Masters House, 107 Hammersmith Road, London, 
England, W14 0QH. 
 
The Group comprises the Company and its significant subsidiaries as set out below: 
 
Operating Entity    Principal Activity    Country of Incorporation 
 
Vostok Energy Plc   Management and holding company  United Kingdom 
Vostok Energy Resources Limited  Financing subsidiary   United Kingdom 
Royal Atlantic Energy (Cyprus) Limited Holding company    Cyprus 
Vostok (Cyprus) Limited   Holding company    Cyprus 
Diall Alliance LLC   Oil and gas exploration   Russia 
Vostok Energy Ltd   Administrative centre   United States 
 

b) Russian business environment and country risk 
 
The Group’s operations are subject to country risk being the economic, political and social risks inherent in doing 
business in Russia.  These risks include matters arising out of the policies of the Government, economic 
conditions, imposition of, or changes to, taxes and regulations and foreign exchange rate fluctuations. Refer to 
Note 26 for more information on key risks. 
 

c) Financial risk management 
 
The Group’s long term success is exposed to the effect of fluctuations of oil and gas prices in the local markets 
which are influenced by international prices.  Refer to Note 26 for a description of other risks. 
 

2 Significant Accounting Policies 
 

a) Authorisation of financial statements and statement of compliance with IFRSs 
 
The financial statements for the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 were authorised for issue by the 
board of directors and the balance sheet was signed on the board’s behalf by Blaine Karst.  
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU as they apply to 
the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The principal accounting policies 
adopted are set out below. 
 

b) Basis of preparation 
 

The Group’s financial statements are presented in US dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars (USD) except when otherwise indicated. 
    

c) Changes in accounting policies 
 

The accounting policies adopted by the Group at 31 December 2010 have been consistently applied in all 
periods presented.  During the period, the following standards have been adopted in these financial statements: 
 
IFRS 2 Share based payment (Revised) 
 
The IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 2 that clarified the scope and the accounting for cash-settled share-
based payment transactions.  The Group adopted this amendment as of 1 January 2010.  It did not have an 
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group in any of the periods presented. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Revised) and IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
(Amended) 
 
As there were no business combinations or changes in the ownership interest of a subsidiary without loss of 
control, the change in accounting policy as a result of the changes in the standards has had no impact on the 
financial position or performance of the Group in any of the periods presented. 
 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items 
 
The amendment clarifies that an entity is permitted to designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow 
variability of a financial instrument as a hedged item.  As the Group has not entered into any such hedges in any 
period presented, the Group has concluded that the amendment will have no impact on the financial position or 
performance of the Group. 
 
IFRIC 17 Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners 
 
The interpretation provides guidance on accounting for arrangements whereby and entity distributes non-cash 
assets to shareholders either as a distribution of reserves or as dividends. The adoption of the interpretation did 
not have any impact on the Group. 
 
IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers 
 
The interpretation applies to entities that receive from customers items of property, plant and equipment or cash 
for the acquisition of construction of such items. These assets are then used to connect customers to a network 
or to provide ongoing access to a supply of goods or services. As the group does not enter into such 
transactions this interpretation has no impact on the Group. 
 
Improvements to IFRSs 2009 
 
In May 2009 the IASB issued an omnibus of amendments to its standards, primarily with a view to remove 
inconsistencies and clarify wording.  The adoption of the amendments did not have any impact on the financial 
position or performance of the Group in any period presented. 

 
IAS 24   Related Party Disclosures (Amendment) 
IAS 32  Financial Instruments: Presentation – Classification of Rights Issues 
IFRS 9  Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement 
IFRIC 14  Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement (Amendment) 
IFRIC 19  Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments (Endorsed) 
 
Improvements to IFRSs 2010 
 
In May 2010 the IASB issued Improvements to IFRSs,  an omnibus of amendments to its IFRS standards. The 
amendments have not been adopted as they become effective for annual periods on or after 1 July 2010 or 1 
January 2011. The amendments listed below are considered to have a reasonably possible impact on the 
Group: 
 
IFRS 3  Business Combinations 
IFRS 7  Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
IAS 1  Presentation of Financial Statements 
IAS 27   Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

 
The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations as appropriate in future periods 
will have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group. 
 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, there were no Standards and Interpretations relevant 
to the Group operations in issue but not yet effective or endorsed (unless otherwise stated). 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
d) Basis of consolidation 

 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as 
at 31 December each year. 
 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of their acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains 
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.  Control comprises the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies of the investee so as to obtain benefit from its activities and is 
achieved through direct or indirect ownership of voting rights; currently exercisable or convertible potential voting 
rights; or by way of contractual agreement.  The financial statements of subsidiaries used in the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting year-end as the parent company and 
are based on consistent accounting policies.  All intergroup balances and transactions, including unrealised 
profits arising from them, are eliminated. 

e) Comparative figures 
 

Where a change in presentational format of the consolidated financial statements has been made during the 
year, comparative figures have been restated accordingly. 
 

f) Business combinations 
 

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.  The assets and liabilities of 
the acquiree are measured at fair value on the date of acquisition.  The results of acquired operations are 
included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the date on which control was obtained.  
Combinations of businesses under common control have been accounted for using the pooling of interests 
method. 
 

g) Foreign currency translation 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the spot exchange 
rate ruling at the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.  All differences are 
taken to profit or loss. 
 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 
 
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into USD at the rate of exchange ruling at the 
balance sheet date.  Income and expenses are translated at weighted average exchange rates for the year.  The 
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.  On disposal of a foreign entity, 
the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in 
profit or loss. 
 
The functional currency of the Company is the US dollar while the functional currency of its Russian subsidiaries 
is the Russian ruble (“RUB”).  

h) Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, 
excluding discounts, rebates, VAT and other sales taxes. The following criteria must also be met before revenue 
is recognised: 

Sale of goods 

Revenue associated with the sale of oil and gas is recognized when the title passes to the customer. 

Finance income 

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method.  The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to 
its net carrying amount. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

i) Borrowing costs 
 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to 
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. Capitalisation of borrowing costs 
is suspended during extended periods in which active development is interrupted. All other borrowing costs are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 

j) Taxation 
 
Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet 
date. 
 
Deferred income tax is recognised on all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, with the following exceptions: 

• where the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting 
nor taxable profit or loss; 

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of 
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and 

• deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences, carried forward tax credits or tax losses can 
be utilised. 

 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply when the related asset is realised or liability is settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 
 
Income tax is charged or credited to other comprehensive income if it relates to items that are credited or 
charged to other comprehensive income. Otherwise income tax is recognised in profit or loss. 

k) Share-based payments 
 
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at 
which they are granted and is recognised as an expense over the vesting period, which ends on the date on 
which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award.  Fair value is determined by an appropriate 
pricing model with the assistance of an external valuer if required.  In valuing equity-settled transactions, no 
account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the Company 
(market conditions).  
 
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional 
upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is 
satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied. 
 
At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent to 
which the vesting period has expired and management’s best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of non-
market conditions and of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest or, in the case of an 
instrument subject to a market condition, treated as vesting as described above.  The movement in cumulative 
expense since the previous balance sheet date is recognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding entry in 
equity. 
 
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified or a new award is designated as replacing a cancelled 
or settled award, the cost based on the original award terms continues to be recognised over the original vesting 
period.  In addition, an expense is recognised over the remainder of the new vesting period for the incremental 
fair value of any modification, based on the difference between the fair value of the original award and the fair 
value of the modified award, both as measured on the date of the modification. No reduction is recognised if this 
difference is negative. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any 
cost not yet recognised in profit or loss for the award is expensed immediately.  Any compensation paid up to the 
fair value of the award at the cancellation or settlement date is deducted from equity, with any excess over fair 
value treated as an expense in profit or loss. 

l) Intangible assets – exploration and evaluation expenditures 
 
The Group has adopted the successful efforts method of accounting for oil and gas assets, with regard to the 
requirements of IFRS 6 “Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources”. 

Drilling, seismic and other costs 

All costs incurred in technical services, seismic data, and for exploration and appraisal activities are initially 
capitalised as intangible assets on a well by well basis until the results of the drilling have been determined.  If 
commercial reserves have been discovered and development has been approved, the carrying values of the 
related intangible assets are reclassified as development and production assets.  If commercial reserves have 
not been discovered, the costs are charged to profit or loss after appraisal activities are completed. 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the 
carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount and in any event 
prior to the transfer of the carrying value to development and production assets.  When facts and circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the impairment will be measured, presented 
and disclosed in accordance with IAS 36 ‘Impairment of assets’. 

Sub-soil licences 

Costs incurred prior to the award of oil and gas licences, concessions and other exploration rights are expensed 
in profit or loss.  Costs incurred on the acquisition of a licence interest are initially capitalised on a licence by 
licence basis and are capitalised within intangible fixed assets and held un-depleted until the exploration phase 
on the licence is complete or commercial reserves have been discovered at which time the costs are reclassified 
as development and production assets. 

For amortization purposes, useful lives are estimated as follows: 

Sub-soil licences — 25 years 

Other licenses — 5 years 
 

m) Property, plant and equipment 

Oil and gas assets 

Oil and gas assets are stated at cost less accumulated depletion or accumulated depreciation and impairment 
costs. Costs incurred to develop commercial reserves and bring them into production together with their related 
exploration and evaluation expenditures are capitalised within property, plant and equipment on a field by field 
basis. Major facilities may be capitalised separately if they relate to more than one field or to the licence area as 
a whole. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it either enhances the economic benefits of the 
development/production asset or replaces part of the existing development/production asset.  Any costs 
remaining associated with the part replaced are expensed.  Directly attributed overheads and finance costs are 
capitalised where they relate to specific exploration and development activities. 

Motor vehicles, office equipment and furniture 

Motor vehicles, office equipment and furniture are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. 

Depletion 

Depletion is provided on oil and gas properties in production, including related pipeline costs, using the unit of 
production method, based on proven reserves, applied to the sum of the total capitalised exploration, evaluation 
and development costs, together with estimated future development and decommissioning costs at current 
prices. Depletion is provided based on the expected production profile on a field by field basis which may exceed 
the existing licence period. It is standard industry practice in Russia to receive licence extensions providing 
production plans demonstrate that additional time is required to economically produce the field. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Depreciation 

Major oil and gas facilities that have a shorter useful life than the related production expected from the fields are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the facility. Depreciation is provided on motor 
vehicles, office equipment and furniture at rates calculated to write off the cost, less estimated residual value, 
evenly over its expected useful life.  

For depreciation purposes, useful lives are estimated as follows: 

Buildings, facilities  − 15-30 years 

Office equipment and furniture − 5 years 

Furniture and fixtures  − 5 years 

Motor vehicles and machinery − 5 years 

Decommissioning and environmental restoration provision 

The decommissioning and environmental restoration provision is calculated at the net present value of the total 
costs expected to be incurred at the end of the producing life of each field in the removal and decommissioning 
of the production, storage and transportation facilities currently in place.  The cost of recognizing the provision is 
included as part of the cost of the relevant assets within exploration and development costs or property, plant 
and equipment and is charged to profit or loss on a unit of production basis. 

n) Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 
 
The carrying amounts for non-current assets are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.  If there are indicators of impairment, an exercise is 
undertaken to determine whether the carrying values are in excess of their recoverable amount.  Such review is 
undertaken on an asset by asset basis, except where such assets do not generate cash flows independent of 
other assets, in which case the review is undertaken at the cash generating unit level. 
 
If the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds the recoverable amount, a provision is 
recorded to reflect the asset at the lower amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

Calculation of recoverable amount 

The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of their value in use and fair value less costs to sell. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset.  For an asset that does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.  The Group’s cash 
generating units are the smallest identifiable groups of assets that generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. 

Reversals of impairment 

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had 
been recognised. 
 

o) Inventories 
 
Inventories represent unsold natural gas and hydrocarbon liquids in storage recorded at the lower of cost or net 
realizable value on a first-in first-out basis.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

p) Financial assets 
 
Financial assets are recognised when the Group becomes party to the contracts that give rise to them and are 
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; loans and receivables; held-to maturity 
investments; or as available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate.  The Group determines the classification of 
its financial assets at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at 
each financial year-end.  When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, being 
the transaction price plus, in the case of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly 
attributable transaction costs.  The Group considers whether a contract contains an embedded derivative when 
the entity first becomes a party to it.  The embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract if it is not 
measured at fair value through profit or loss and when the economic characteristics and risks are not closely 
related to those of the host contract.  Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract 
that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required. 
 
All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, being the date that the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset.  Transactions require delivery of assets within the timeframe generally 
established by regulation or convention in the market place.  The subsequent measurement of financial assets 
depends on their classification, as follows: 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market, do not qualify as trading assets and have not been designated as either fair value 
through profit and loss or available-for-sale.  Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method if the time value of money is significant. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when 
the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. 

Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables, which generally have 30-90 day terms, are recognised and carried at the lower of their 
original invoiced value and recoverable amount.  Where the time value of money is material, receivables are 
carried at amortised cost.  Provision is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to 
recover balances in full. Balances are written off when the probability of recovery is assessed as being remote. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include balances with banks and short-term investments with maturities of three 
months or less at the date acquired. 

q) Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired. 

Assets carried at amortised cost 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).  The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced, through the use of an allowance account.  The amount of the loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss 
is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss, to the extent that the 
carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. 
 
In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence (such as the 
probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the company owing the obligation) that the Group 
will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of the invoice.  The carrying amount of 
the receivable is reduced through use of an allowance account.  Impaired debts are derecognised when they are 
assessed as irrecoverable. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
r) Interest bearing loans and borrowings 

 
Obligations for loans and borrowings are recognised when the Group becomes party to the related contracts and 
are measured initially at the fair value of consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. 
 
Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settlement or otherwise cancellation of liabilities are recognised 
respectively in finance income and finance cost. 

s) Financial liabilities and equity 
 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to substance of the contractual arrangements 
entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group 
after deducting all of its liabilities. 

t) Equity Instruments 
 
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

Convertible debt 

Instruments where the holder has the option to redeem for cash or convert into a pre-determined quantity of 
equity instruments are classified as compound instruments in the balance sheet and presented partly as a 
liability and partly within equity.  
 
At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate 
for a similar non-convertible instrument. The difference between the proceeds of issue and the fair value 
assigned to the liability component, representing the embedded option to convert the liability into equity of the 
Group, is included in equity.  
 
Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible debt based on 
their relative carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion relating to the equity component is charged 
directly against equity. 
 
The interest expense on the liability component is calculated by applying the prevailing market interest rates for 
similar non-convertible debt to the instrument. The difference between this amount and the interest paid is added 
to the carrying value of the convertible debt. 

u) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 
 
A financial asset or liability is generally derecognised when the contract that gives rise to it is settled, sold, 
cancelled or expires.  Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, such that 
the difference in the respective carrying amounts together with any costs or fees incurred are recognised in profit 
or loss. 

v) Employee benefit trust 
 
The Group operates an employee benefit trust (“EBT”) which holds shares in the Company. The Group and 
Company record the assets and liabilities of the EBT as their own. The shares in the Company owned by the 
EBT are presented as a reduction in equity shareholders’ funds in the consolidated and parent company balance 
sheet and included in a separate negative reserve described as “Own shares held”. 

w) Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities as well as the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period.  Actual outcomes could differ from those estimates. 
 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made judgements that have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Taxation 

The Company’s subsidiaries in Russia are subject to routine tax audits and also a process whereby tax 
computations are discussed and agreed with the appropriate authorities.  Whilst the ultimate outcome of such 
tax audits and discussions cannot be determined with certainty, management estimates the level of provisions 
required for both current and deferred tax on the basis of professional advice and the nature of current 
discussions with the tax authority concerned. 

Estimates and assumptions 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet 
date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below.  

Fair value of acquisition  

Upon acquisition, assets and liabilities, including exploration and evaluation assets, are included in the financial 
statements at their fair market value.  The actual value that will be realised from exploration and evaluation 
assets is inherently uncertain and reflects a wide range of factors including but not limited to geographical and 
geophysical factors, future costs and commodity prices, the duration of the licence and its term and the 
availability of financial and other resources required to progress exploration and development activities. 

Impairment review of intangible assets and oil and gas plant and equipment (Notes 15 and 16) 

Management is required to assess the level of the Group’s commercial reserves, which are utilised in 
determining the depletion charge for the period and assessing whether any impairment charge is required.  The 
Group utilizes independent experts and their own internal expertise to assess the commercial viability of 
reserves and any future capital expenditures, on a field by field basis. 

Sub-soil licences (Note 15) 

The Group is subject to periodic reviews of its activities by governmental authorities in Russia with respect to the 
requirements of its sub-soil licences and seeks amendments to the licences when supported by the results of 
ongoing exploration and development activities.  The requirements under the licences are subject to 
interpretation and enforcement policies of the relevant authorities.  In management’s opinion, as of 31 December 
2010, there are no serious non-compliance issues that will have an adverse effect on the financial position or the 
operating results of the Group. 

Decommissioning and environmental restoration (Note 23) 

The Group operates in the upstream oil industry in the Russian Federation and its activities may have an impact 
on the environment.  The enforcement of environmental regulations in the Russian Federation is evolving and 
the enforcement posture of government authorities is continually being reconsidered.  The Group periodically 
evaluates its obligations related thereto.  The outcome of environmental liabilities under proposed or future 
legislation, or as a result of stricter interpretation and enforcement of existing legislation, cannot reasonably be 
estimated at present, but could be material. 
 
Under the current levels of enforcement of existing legislation, management believes there are no significant 
liabilities in addition to amounts which are already accrued and which would have a material adverse effect on 
the financial position of the Group. 

Share-based payments (Note 12) 

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted.  Judgement is required in determining the most 
appropriate valuation model for a grant of equity instruments, depending on the terms and conditions of the 
grant.  Management is also required to use judgement in determining the most appropriate inputs to the 
valuation model including expected life of the option, volatility and dividend yield.  The assumptions and models 
used are disclosed in Note 12. 
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3 Segment information 

 
The Group’s operations comprise one class of business being oil and gas exploration, development and production. 
The primary Group operation is in one geographical region which is Russia.  Companies incorporated outside of 
Russia are mainly administrative centers which primarily support the operations in Russia. 

 
4 Operating expenses 
    2010 2009 
    USD '000 USD '000 

 Repair and maintenance    195 870 
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation    891 425 
Rental, heating and other operating costs    443 369 
Environmental and conservation    206 294 
Material and transport services    1,150 292 
Operations and property insurance    204 273 
Property, transport, environmental and water utilization taxes    521 243 
Expensed exploration and development costs    145 238 
Salaries and benefits    333 223 
Subsoil usage royalties    38 55 
Mineral extraction tax    14 46 
Other costs    154 43 
Land rental    70 39 
     ________ ________ 
 
     4,364 3,410 
     ________ ________ 
 

 
5 Administrative expenses 
    2010 2009 
    USD '000 USD '000 

 
Salaries and benefits    6,986 4,869 
Professional fees    3,348 2,930 
Office    1,615 1,280 
Travel and training    890 976 
Depreciation    182 171 
Insurance    231 65 
     ________ ________ 
 
     13,252 10,291 
     ________ ________ 
 

6 Auditor’s remuneration 
    2010 2009 
    USD '000 USD '000 

Auditor’s remuneration for services included in professional fees: 
Statutory audit - Company    152 150 
Subsidiary audits    40 138 
Taxation and advisory services    61 157
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7 Other gains and losses 
    2010 2009 
    USD '000 USD '000 
 

Exceptional operating items: 
Reversal of impairment of intangible assets    - (41) 
Reversal of impairment of property, plant and equipment    - (1,602) 
Provision against prepayments    122 139 

 
Exchange (gain)/loss    178 (638) 
Sponsorships and charitable donations    121 201 
Other losses    119 20 
     ________ ________ 
 
     540 (1,921) 
     ________ ________ 
 
The reversal of the impairment charges for 2009 is a reversal of a provision set up in 2007. The reversal is primarily 
for gas plant costs of 873 thousand USD that are now believed to have future value and for well drilling and re-entry 
costs of 770 thousand USD that the Group had not expected to be recovered based on production tests in 2007. 
During 2009 the decision was made to re-enter the  wells and apply further acid fracturing stimulation of old and new 
target zones and it has now been determined that the well costs will be recoverable through future production 
revenues 

 
The provision against prepayments of 122 thousand USD (2009 – 139 thousand USD) is for advance payments on 
contracts where the services were not provided and costs are not recoverable (Note 19). 
 
The exchange (gain)/loss is the result of changes in exchange rates from the time a transaction is recorded until it is 
settled. The majority of the loss of 178 thousand USD (2009 – 638 thousand USD gain) was incurred by subsidiary 
operations in Russia.  

 
8 Finance income 
    2010 2009 
    USD '000 USD '000 
 

Interest on short-term deposits    19 250 
     ________ ________ 

 
9 Finance costs 
    2010 2009 
    USD '000 USD '000 
 

Interest on non-current liabilities    - 113 
Unwinding of discount on provisions    1,089 101 
Other finance costs    3,531 162 
     ________ ________ 

 
    4,620 376 
    ________ ________ 
 

For 2009 the interest on non-current liabilities relates to non-current borrowings (Note 22). The unwinding of the 
discount on provisions relates to the decommissioning provision (Note 23).  For 2010 other finance costs relate to 
costs incurred in contemplation of a planned public listing of the Company shares. In 2009 the other finance costs 
relate to a commitment charge on the loan facility (Note 22). 
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10 Directors’ emoluments 
 

Included in staff costs are directors’ emoluments of 2.381 million USD (2009 – 2.192 million USD) and fees payable 
to non-executive directors of 66 thousand USD (2009 – 23 thousand USD).   
 
The highest paid director’s emoluments was 1.246 million USD (2009 − 1.084 million USD) which includes an accrual 
for share based payments of 796 thousand USD (2009 – 455 thousand USD).  
 
During 2009 the Company advanced funds to the Chief Operating Officer to cover employment taxes in Russia. At 31 
December 2009 the Company had advances receivable of 133 thousand USD as a result of the actual Russian 
employment tax liability being less than originally estimated. All advances were recovered in 2010 and there were no 
advances receivable at 31 December 2010. 

 
11 Staff costs 
    2010 2009 
    USD '000 USD '000 
 

Wages and salaries    5,816 3,424 
Share-based payment benefits    1,172 832 
Social security costs    795 657 
Rental benefits    383 354 

    ________ ________ 
 
    8,166 5,267 
    ________ ________ 

 
Total salaries and benefits for the Group includes 333 thousand USD (2009 – 223 thousand USD) recorded as 
operating expenses, 6.986 million USD (2009 – 4.869 million) included in administrative expenses and 847 thousand 
(2009 – 175 thousand USD) recorded as seismic, development and drilling included in intangible assets and 
construction costs included in property, plant and equipment.  
 
The average monthly number of employees (including executive directors) for the year for the Group was as follows: 

    2010 2009 
    No. No. 
    

Operations    89 38 
Head office and administration    76 65 
     ________ ________ 

 
    165 103 
    ________ ________ 
 

The Group does not have any employee retirement or pension benefit plan; however, funds are paid into the required 
government pension funds or social benefit programmes for all its employees as they arise. 
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12 Share-based payments 

 
The Company grants awards of shares to staff as reward for past service and incentive to continue to work for the 
Group. The shares are normally held jointly with the employee and the Employee Benefit Trust awarded at fair 
market value to senior management and key employees of the Company at nil cost.  The share awards vest at 
specified time intervals and vesting is dependent on staff remaining in full employment with the Company for a three 
year period. The awards are equity settled. 

 
The fair value of the share awards was estimated at the grant date using a Black Scholes simulation model, taking 
into account the terms and conditions upon which the awards were granted.  

 
The following table shows details of share awards outstanding during the year: 

    2010 2009 
    Shares Shares 
    

As at 1 January     2,460,000 1,960,000 
Granted during the year     1,340,000 500,000 
     ________ ________ 
 

As at 31 December     3,800,000 2,460,000 
     ________ ________ 
 

Vested at 31 December     2,820,000 896,667 
    ________ ________ 
 

The following table lists the inputs to the model ($ amounts are USD): 
    2010 2009 
   

Award grant date     20 July 1 October 
Number of awards    1,340,000 500,000 
Fair value at grant date     $1.52 $1.52 
Share price at grant date     $1.53 $1.53 
Amount payable by executive     $3.05 $nil 
Risk free rate    6% 6% 
Dividend yield    nil nil 
Expected volatility    29.7% 32.7% 
Expected life of awards    1.5 years 2 years 
Weighted average remaining contractual life of share options at the end of the year   0.96 years 1.1 years 

 
Expected volatility is based on historic share price movements. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that 
the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be the actual outcome. Maximum term 
for the awards is three years. For key employees the probability that not all the awards will vest due to the resignation 
was set at 0% (2009 – 20%). No other features of options’ terms were incorporated into the measurement of fair 
value. 

The following table lists liabilities arising from share-based payment transactions (amounts are in thousand US$): 

     2010 2009 

Carrying value of liability on share-based awards    2,598 1,426 
Number of awards    1,959 852 
 

The expense recognized for share-based payments in respect of employee services received during the year is 
1.172 million USD (2009 – 832 thousand USD). 

Share options 

In 2010, 1,340,000 shares (2009 – 500,000 shares) were approved as compensation to key employees and the 
senior management of the Group subject to vesting conditions being met, such shares vesting over a three year 
period from the date set in the joint operating agreements between employees and the EBT. The actual shares 
issued to the EBT for the year were 1,840,000 (2009 – 1,960,000 shares). 
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13 Tax 
 
 The tax charge for the year comprises: 
    2010 2009 
    USD '000 USD '000 
 

Current tax – UK tax    (1,495) 1,495 
Current tax – foreign tax     - 36 
Deferred tax    (1,486) (190) 

    ________ ________ 
 
    (2,981) 1,341 
    ________ ________ 

 
The income tax benefit in the statement of comprehensive income is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax 
in the UK of 28% (2009 - 28%).  The differences are reconciled below: 

    2010 2009 
    USD '000 USD '000 
 

Loss before taxation    (22,490) (11,860) 
     ________ ________ 
Tax at applicable rate of tax of 28%  
(2009 – 28%)    (6,297) (3,321) 
 
Tax effect of: 
-  unrecognized tax losses     3,492 1,341 
-  effect of different foreign tax rates    606 202 
-  items not deductible for tax    661 985 
-  non-taxable expense    - (180) 
-  derecognition of items from prior year    52 308 
-  foreign exchange loss    - 458 
-  other    (1,495) 1,548 

    ________ ________ 
 

Total tax (benefit)/expense reported in profit or loss    (2,981) 1,341 
    ________ ________ 
 

The effect of different foreign tax rates is the result of losses incurred in subsidiaries located in countries where lower 
levels of tax rates are applied.  

 
As at 31 December 2010 the Group has unrecognised deferred tax asset on tax losses which arose in the UK of 
16.386 million USD (2009 – 11.949 million USD), in the US of 1.623 million USD (2009 – 727 thousand USD) and in 
Russia of 1.994 million USD (2009 – 1.882 million USD).   

Deferred tax has not been provided for these losses on the basis that it is not sufficiently certain there will be 
adequate taxable profits arising in the future to offset against the tax losses.  The losses incurred in the UK are 
available to carry forward indefinitely for offset against future taxable profits. The losses arising in the US will expire 
20 years from the year incurred; the losses in Russia will expire 10 years from the year incurred. 
 
There was no tax charge / (credit) to equity during the year (2009 – nil). 
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13 Tax (continued) 

 
Deferred tax 

 
The deferred tax included in the balance sheet is as follows: 

    2010 2009 
    USD '000 USD '000 
 

Deferred tax assets 
- tax losses carried forward    8,926 6,180 
- current assets    518 1,072 
- property, plant and equipment    334 - 
 
Deferred tax liabilities 
- intangible assets    (2,950) (1,633) 
- property, plant and equipment    - (230) 
      ________ ________ 
 

    6,828 5,389 
    ________ ________ 
 

 The movement in the net deferred tax asset in the consolidated financial statements is as follows: 
 

    2010 2009 
    USD '000 USD '000 
 
 As at 1 January    5,389 5,344 

Credited to profit or loss    1,486 190 
Net exchange adjustment    (47) (145) 
     ________ ________ 
 
As at 31 December    6,828 5,389 
     ________ ________ 
 
A net deferred tax asset has been recognised on the basis that there will be sufficient taxable profits, based on the 
group’s profit forecast, against which these temporary differences can be utilised. 

 
The deferred tax included in profit or loss is as follows: 

    2010 2009 
    USD '000 USD '000 
 

Deferred tax assets 
- tax losses carried forward    (2,804) (1,755) 
- property, plant and equipment    (562) - 
- current assets    - (1,375) 
 
Deferred tax liabilities 
- intangible assets    1,326 1,633 
- property, plant and equipment    - 1,078 
- other allowances    - 229 
- current assets    554 - 
     ________ ________ 

   
    (1,486) (190) 
    ________ ________ 
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14 Loss per share 

 
The calculation of basic loss per ordinary share is based on the loss for the period and the weighted average number 
of shares in issue ($ amounts in USD’000). 

    2010 2009 
     

Loss for the purposes of basic loss per share     19,509 13,201 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic loss per share  186,143,458 175,280,273 
 
Loss per share (amounts in USD): 
Basic     0.10 0.07 
Diluted     0.10 0.07 
 
As the Group has made a loss in the period, basic and diluted loss per share are equal.
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15 Intangible Assets 

                 Exploration and evaluation expenditures                
        
   Sub-soil Drilling,   
   licence seismic & Sub-soil  
   rights other costs licenses Total 
   USD’000 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000  

Cost: 
Balance at 1 January 2009   1,000 16,942 17,604 35,546 
  
Translation difference   - (16) (2) (18) 
Additions (write-offs)   (1,000) 6,831 - 5,831 

   ________ ________ ________ ________  
 

At 31 December 2009   - 23,757 17,602 41,359 
 
Translation difference   - (201) (21) (222) 
Additions and reclassifications    22,397 - 22,397 
   ________ ________ ________ ________  

 
At 31 December 2010   - 45,953 17,581 63,534 

   ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 

Amortisation and impairment: 
Accumulated balance at 1 January 2009   (1,000) (5,150) (7) (6,157) 

 
Amortisation for the year   - - (10) (10) 
Reversal of impairment charge   - 41 - 41 
Write-offs   1,000 - - 1,000 

   ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 

At 31 December 2009   - (5,109) (17) (5,126) 
 
Amortisation for the year   - (260) (8) (268) 
   ________ ________ ________ ________  

 
At 31 December 2010   - (5,369) (25) (5,394) 

   ________ ________ ________ ________ 

Net book value: 
At 31 December 2009   - 18,648 17,585 36,233 
   ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
At 31 December 2010   - 40,584 17,556 58,140 

   ________ ________ ________ ________  

The subsoil licence rights related to Zhaikinvest, a subsidiary of the Group, for a licence to operate in Kazakhstan. 
The decision was made not to proceed with this project and the asset was fully provided for in 2007 and written off in 
2009. 
 
Amortisation is recognized in profit or loss as part of operating expenses (Note 4). Impairment and reversal of 
impairment provisions are recognized in profit or loss as part of other gains and losses (Note 7).  
 

Included in sub-soil licences is the Bortovoy license, which is the license area that the Group operates, located in the 
Saratov region of Russia. The sale of the licence and the sale of major assets belonging to the Group are restricted 
pursuant to the convertible loan agreement and the conditional convertible bond agreement (Note 22). 
 
In management’s opinion, as at 31 December 2010 there is no serious non-compliance issues in respect of the 
licences that would have an adverse effect on the financial position or the operating results of the Group. 
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16 Property, plant and equipment 
     Other  
     equipment  
   Oil and gas Motor and  
   assets vehicles furniture Total 
   USD ‘000 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 

Cost: 
Balance at 1 January 2009   60,869 400 450 61,719 
Translation differences   1,678 (11) 142 1,809 
Additions   98,700 33 12 98,745 
Disposals   (158) (10) (7) (175) 
   ________ ________ ________ ________  
 
At 31 December 2009   161,089 412 597 162,098 

Translation differences   (985) (1) (1) (987) 
Additions   55,478 65 55 55,598 
Disposals   (3,747) - (2) (3,749) 
   ________ ________ ________ ________  
 
At 31 December 2010   211,835 476 649 212,960 
   ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
Depreciation: 
Accumulated balance at 1 January 2009   (2,119) (113) (166) (2,398) 
Translation differences   (9) - (12) (21) 
Depreciation and depletion   (451) (78) (119) (648) 
Disposals   8 7 3 18 
Reversal of impairment charge   1,602 - - 1,602 
   ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
At 31 December 2009   (969) (184) (294) (1,447) 

Depreciation and depletion   (870) (87) (126) (1,083) 
Disposals   1 - 2 3 
   ________ ________ ________ ________  
 
At 31 December 2010   (1,838) (271) (418) (2,527) 
   ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
Net book value: 
At 31 December 2009   160,120 228 303 160,651 
   ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
At 31 December 2010   209,997 205 231 210,433 
   ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
Depletion is charged to profit or loss through operating expenses (Note 4). Depreciation is charged to the profit or 
loss through operating expenses (Note 4) and administrative expenses (Note 5). During the year 278 thousand USD 
(2009 –62 thousand USD) of depreciation was capitalized and included as additions to property plant and equipment. 
 
The sale of all or a substantial part of the assets belonging to the Group is restricted pursuant to the convertible loan 
agreement and the conditional convertible bond agreement (Note 22). 
 
The amount of interest capitalized into property, plant and equipment was 3.509 million USD (2009 – 68 thousand 
USD).
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17 Trade and other receivables – non current 
     2010 2009  
     USD '000 USD '000 
 

Other receivables   3,043 8,659 
Prepayments   5,950 4,771 

   ________ ________ 
 
   8,993 13,430 
   ________ ________ 
 

Prepayments are advance payments on contracts for capital projects relating to exploration, development and 
production and therefore classified as non-current assets. Other receivables are for value added taxes which are to 
be used as an offset against future value added tax liabilities but are not expected to be recovered within the next 
twelve months. 
 

18 Inventories 
    2010 2009 
     USD '000 USD '000 
 

Natural gas and hydrocarbon liquids   60 33 
   ________ ________ 
 
   60 33 
   ________ ________ 
 

Inventory represents amounts of natural gas and hydrocarbon liquids held in storage pending sales to customers. 
The major component of inventory costs expensed during the period as a part of operating expenses was 52 
thousand USD (2009 – 101 thousand USD) for mineral extraction and sub-soil usage royalty taxes (Note 4). 
 

19 Trade receivables and other receivables - current 
    2010 2009 
     USD '000 USD '000 
 

Tax receivables   20,017 10,164 
Prepayments   2,222 4,629 
Other   2,168 775 
Trade receivables   115 2 

   ________ ________ 
 
   24,522 15,570 
   ________ ________ 
 

Prepayments are advance payments for services to be rendered within the next twelve months.  Tax receivables 
relate primarily to value added tax payments that are expected to be recovered within the next twelve months.   
 

Other receivables includes 1.767 million USD (2009 – 430 thousand USD) relating to the current portion of amortized 
costs for non-current borrowings (Note 22). For 2009 other receivables also includes 3.516 million USD of prepaid 
costs for the non drawn-down portion of the convertible loan.  

 
The amounts shown in prepayments are net of provisions as the Group does not expect to recover advance 
payments on the related contracts. Movements in the provision were as follows:  
 

     2010 2009 
      USD '000 USD '000 
 

At 1 January   1,004 1,068 
Charge for the year   122 139 
Amounts written off   (232) (203) 

   ________ ________ 
 

At 31 December   894 1,004 
   ________ ________  
 

No trade receivables have been pledged as security for any credit facilities. 
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20 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash is kept on deposit with banks and earns interest at the daily deposit rates or placed in short-term deposits such 
as money market funds which can be redeemed upon demand.  At 31 December 2010 the cash and cash 
equivalents totaled 18.147 million USD (2009 – 18.361 million USD). 

 
21 Current liabilities 
    2010 2009 
     USD '000 USD '000 
 

Trade and other payables   8,351 3,421 
Accruals   2,403 1,171 
Current tax payable   - 1,495 

   ________ ________ 
 
   10,754 6,087 
   ________ ________ 
 

22 Non-current borrowings 
    Effective 
    Interest 2010 2009 
    Rate USD '000 USD '000 
 
    

Amounts due in less than 5 years: 
Convertible loan issued 18 September 2009   LIBOR + 4% 51,923 3,183 
Convertible bond issued 13 October 2010   10% 46,111 - 

    ________ ________  
 
    98,034 3,183 

Net amounts due in more than 5 years:     
Convertible loan   LIBOR + 4% - 4,405 

    ________ ________ 
 
    98,034 7,588 
    ________ ________ 
 

Current borrowings (assets) (Note 19)    (1,767) (430) 
Non-current borrowings (liabilities)    99,801 8,018 

    ________ ________ 
 

Net convertible debt    98,034 7,588 
    ________ ________ 

 
 
Convertible loan comprises: 
Drawdown of the loan    60,000 10,000 
Equity element    (6,048) (1,964) 

    ________ ________ 
 
    53,952 8,036 

Cost of borrowing    (5,538) (516) 
Capitalized interest    3,509 68 

    ________ ________ 
 

Net convertible loan    51,923 7,588 
    ________ ________ 

 
Convertible bond comprises: 
Drawdown of the bond    50,000 - 
Cost of borrowing    (3,889) - 

    ________ ________ 
 

Net convertible bond    46,111 - 
    ________ ________ 
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22 Non-current borrowings (continued) 
 

On 18 September 2009, the Company entered into a convertible loan agreement to borrow up to 60 million USD. The 
convertible loan was drawn down in full at 31 December 2010.  

 
The loan is convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at any time up to 18 March 2012 at the loan holder’s 
option. Conversions done prior to 19 March 2011 are to be converted at a price of 3.0531 USD per share.  From 19 
March 2011 to 18 March 2012, the loan is convertible at 3.0531 USD per share plus a pro-rated amount of margin 
payments at 4% interest made up to the time of the conversion. For any unconverted amounts, the loan is to be 
repaid in six equal semi-annual installments beginning 15 June 2013 and ending on 15 December 2015.  

 
On 13 October 2010 the Company entered into a convertible bond agreement (the “bond”) to borrow up to 50 million 
USD. The bond was drawn down in full at 31 December 2010. 
 
The bond is convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at any time up to 6 April 2013 at the bond holder’s 
option. To determine the number of ordinary shares received upon conversion, the amount of the bond to be 
converted is divided by the share price paid by investors for ordinary shares of the Company at the time of a 
Qualifying Initial Public Offering (the “QIPO”) as defined in the convertible bond agreement. At the Company’s option, 
the conversion of the bond can be forced if the ordinary shares of the Company trade at a value of 50% above the 
QIPO price for at least 20 dealing days in any period of 30 consecutive dealing days any time prior to 6 April 2013. 
For any unconverted amounts, the bond is to be repaid in full in one installment on 13 April 2013. 
 
The net proceeds received from the issue of the convertible loan are split between a debt component and an 
embedded equity element. The fair value of the convertible loan component for the drawdowns taken in 2010 have 
been calculated as the present value of the contracted future cash flows using an assumed market interest rate of 
LIBOR plus 7% (2009 –  9%). The equity element is calculated as the difference between the principal amount and 
the fair value of the convertible loan. The fair value of the convertible bond drawdown has been calculated at the 
present value of the contracted future cash flows using an assumed market interest rate of 12%.  

 
The interest charged for the year for the convertible loan and bond is calculated by applying the effective market 
interest rate of the assumed market interest rate to the liability component for the period since the convertible loan or 
bond was drawn-down. The short term part of the convertible loan calculated at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate is negative. 

 
23 Decommissioning Provision 
    2010 2009 
     USD '000 USD '000 
 

Beginning of period   9,900 675 
Change in provision   588 5,917 
Unwinding of discount   1,089 101 
Reserve adjustment due to estimates change   (3,599) 2,931 
Translation of differences   (56) 276 
    ________ ________  

 
   7,922 9,900 
   ________ ________  
 

The provision is for decommissioning and environmental restoration costs relating to the Bortovoy licence. The 
decrease in the provision recorded in 2010 of 1.978 million USD was due to the revision of inflation and discount 
rates used in the calculation of the present value of future decommissioning and environment restoration costs.  
 
Under the current levels of enforcement of existing legislation, management believes there are no significant liabilities 
in addition to amounts which are already accrued and which would have a material adverse effect on the financial 
position of the Group. 
 
The liability becomes payable at the end of the useful life of each well and the gas plant which ranges from 20 to 30 
years. 
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24 Equity 

 
Authorised and issued share capital 

    2010 2009 
     USD ‘000 USD '000 
 

250,000,000 ordinary shares of USD 0.01 each    2,500 2,500  
   ________ ________  

     Ordinary  Share Share Own 
   Shares Amount capital Premium shares held 

Allotted, called up and fully paid  No. USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 
 

At 1 January 2009  170,068,760 260,023 1,701  252,195 - 
 

Share issue 20 January 2009  1,460,000 4,457 14 4,443 (4,457) 
Share issue 15 June 2009  500,000 1,526 5 1,521 (1,526) 
Share issue 24 September 2009  13,101,438 40,000 131 39,869 - 
Share issue costs  - - - (2,354) - 

 ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 

At 31 December 2009  185,130,198 306,006 1,851 295,674 (5,983) 
 

Share premium reduction 30 June 2010  - - - (250,000) - 
Share issue 20 July 2010  1,840,000 5,607 19 5,598 (5,617) 
Share issue costs  - - - (703) - 

 ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 

At 31 December 2010  186,970,198 311,613 1,870 50,569 (11,600) 
 ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 

Redeemable shares 
 
At 31 December 2010 there were 50,000 redeemable shares at 1 pound sterling in issue. The shares were issued 
during the year in connection with the conversion of the Company to a public limited company. 
  
Own shares held 

 
The Company has approval to transfer up to 4,460,000 shares to the EBT for allocation to officers and employees of 
the Group. The formal establishment of the EBT was completed on 20 January 2009. In 2010 1,840,000 shares 
equal to one percent of called up share capital were issued pursuant to the EBT (2009 – 1,960,000 shares). For 
presentation purposes, the shares held in the EBT are included as own shares held. 

 
On 30 June 2010 the Company reduced share premium by 250 million USD as part of the process of converting to a 
public limited company. 

 
Currency translation reserve 

 
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of subsidiaries whose functional currency are not in US dollars into the group’s presentation 
currency. 

 
Share option reserve 

 
The share option reserve relates to the fair value of the equity settled share based payments that have been 
expensed through profit or loss. 

 
Equity element of convertible debt 

 
The equity element of convertible debt is the difference between the principal amount and the fair value of the loan 
and bond convertible debts reflecting values of the convertible option of the debt instruments.  
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25 Operating lease obligations 
 

Operating lease payments are mainly rentals by the Group for land, office space and equipment required for use on a 
temporary basis. Leases are normally signed on a short term basis of one to two years with options to extend.  

 
Lease payments under operating leases recognized in the statement of comprehensive income for the year were 
1.021 million USD (2009 − 918 thousand USD). 

 
At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:        

    2010 2009 
     USD '000 USD '000 

  
Within one year   781 510 
In two to five years   243 35 
More than five years   191 201 
    ________ ________ 
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26 Financial instruments 

Financial instruments recognised in the balance sheet  

  Other financial   
   Loans and  liabilities at  
 receivables amortised cost Total 
 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 
Year ended 31 December 2010 

Financial assets 
Trade and other receivables 299 - 299 
Current borrowings - 1,767 1,767 
Cash and cash equivalents 18,147 - 18,147 
 ________ ________ ________ 
 
 18,446 1,767 20,213 
 ________ ________ ________ 
Financial liabilities 
Trade and other payables - 8,351 8,351 
Non-current borrowings - 99,801 99,801 
 ________ ________ ________ 
 
 - 108,152 108,152 
 ________ ________ ________ 
As at 31 December 2009 

Financial assets 
Trade and other receivables 205 - 205 
Current borrowings - 430 430 
Cash and cash equivalents 18,361 - 18,361 
 ________ ________ ________ 
 
 18,566 430 18,996 
 ________ ________ ________ 

Financial liabilities 
Trade and other payables - 3,421 3,421 
Non-current borrowings - 8,018 8,018 
 ________ ________ ________ 
 
 - 11,439 11,439 
 ________ ________ ________ 
 
 
The Group had no financial instruments held at fair value through profit and loss, held to maturity or available for sale 
and no derivatives used for hedging.  

 
The main financial risks faced by the Group through its normal business activities are credit risk, foreign currency 
risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. 
 
Interest rate risk  
 
The Group has financial assets and liabilities which are exposed to interest rate risk. Changes in interest rates 
impacting borrowings change either their fair value (fixed rate borrowings) or their future cash flows (floating rate 
borrowings).  

 
Whilst fixed rate interest bearing borrowings are not exposed to cash flow interest rate risk, there is no opportunity for 
the Group to enjoy a reduction in borrowing costs in markets where rates are falling. In addition, the fair value risk 
inherent in fixed rate borrowing means that the Group is exposed to unplanned costs should borrowings be 
restructured or repaid early as part of the liquidity management process. In contrast, whilst floating rate borrowings 
are not exposed to changes in fair value, the Group is exposed to cash flow risk as costs increase if market rates 
rise. 

 
Interest on financial instruments classified as floating rate is re-priced at intervals of less than one year. Interest on 
financial instruments classified as fixed rate is fixed until the maturity of the instrument. The other financial 
instruments of the Group that are not included in the tables below are non-interest bearing and are therefore not 
subject to interest rate risk. 
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26 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

The following tables set out the carrying amount, by maturity of the Group’s financial instruments that are exposed to 
interest rate risk: 

 
 Within 1 year 1-2 years 3 + years Total 
 USD ‘000 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 
 
Year ended 31 December 2010 
Floating rate 
Cash and cash equivalents 18,147 - - 18,147 
Borrowings 1,767 2,152 (101,953) (98,034) 
 ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
Year ended 31 December 2009 
Floating rate 
Cash and cash equivalents 18,361 - - 18,361 
Borrowings 430 440 (8,458) (7,588) 
 ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
A one per cent increase/decrease in interest rates on floating rate assets and liabilities would have 
decreased/increased property, plant and equipment by 449 thousand USD. In 2009 a one percent increase/decrease 
in interest rates on floating rate assets and liabilities would have decreased/increased loss before taxation by 4 
thousand USD and would impact the Group’s equity by the same value. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the potential exposure of the Group to loss in the event of non-performance by a counter-party.  The 
amount that best represents the maximum credit exposure of the Group’s financial assets is the carrying value of the 
financial assets at the balance sheet date.   

 
This risk arises principally from cash and cash equivalents.  Management’s policy is to hold cash and cash 
equivalents in reputable financial institutions of which 91.9% (2009 – 66.4%) of cash and cash equivalents are held in 
reputable financial institutions in the UK. To limit exposure to credit risk on trade receivables, management’s policy is 
to sell only to financially solid customers and use prepayments or payment upon delivery for product sales whenever 
possible. The average credit period taken on sale of goods is less than seven days. There is no allowance for 
estimated irrecoverable amounts from sale of goods for the year (2009 − nil). 

 
Maximum credit risk exposure relating to financial assets is represented by carrying value as at the balance sheet 
date. 
 
Foreign currency risk 
 
Fluctuations in exchange rates can have significant effects on the Group’s reported profit or loss.  The Group’s 
financial assets and liabilities give rise to transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from transactions 
in a currency other than the Group’s functional currency. 

 
The Group’s primary operations are within Russia where the functional currency of the Group’s subsidiaries is the 
Russian ruble (“RUB”).  The currencies giving rise to this foreign currency risk are US dollar based intra-group 
borrowings and payables.  The recent instability of the RUB to US dollar has increased the risks of significant 
unrealized gains and losses associated with the intra-group borrowings. To mitigate this risk the Group has 
restructured the majority of intra-group borrowings to ruble based loans using Group companies with ruble functional 
currencies. 

 
Cash balances in the Group are usually held in US dollars, but smaller amounts may be held in pounds sterling or 
local currencies to meet operating and administrative expenses or to comply with local legislation.  The Group does 
not have formal arrangements to mitigate foreign exchange risks at this time however as circumstances dictate, the 
Group considers hedging positions to protect the value of any cash balances it holds in non-US dollar currency or to 
protect against exchange fluctuations on future non-USD denominated commitments or obligations. 
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26 Financial instruments (continued) 

 
The following table demonstrates the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk based on gross amounts: 
        
        Russian  
     US dollar Sterling Euro ruble Total 
     USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 
 
Year ended 31 December 2010 
Cash and cash equivalents  16,536 188 1 1,422 18,147 
Trade and other receivables  30 72 - 197 299 
Trade and other payables  (2,577) (1,041) (13) (4,720) (8,351) 
Borrowings  (98,034) - - - (98,034) 
  ________ ________ ________ ________ _______ 
 
  (84,045) (781) (12) (3,101) (87,939) 
  ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
Year ended December 2009 
Cash and cash equivalents  12,601 174 - 5,586 18,361  
Trade and other receivables  30 172 - 3 205 
Trade and other payables  (828) (86) (9) (2,498) (3,421)  
Borrowings  (7,588) - - - (7,588) 
  ________ _______ ________ ________ _______ 
 
  4,215 260 (9) 3,091 7,557 
  ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
A ten per cent strengthening of US dollar against the following currencies would have decreased loss before tax and 
impact the Group’s equity by the amounts shown below.  For a ten per cent strengthening of the US dollar against 
the euro there is no significant impact on loss before tax or on the Group’s equity. This analysis assumes that all 
other variables remain constant and the analysis is performed on the same basis for 2009. 
 
      Effect on loss 
      before tax/equity 
      USD '000 
Year ended 31 December 2010 
Pounds sterling      78 
Russian ruble      310 
 
Year ended 31 December 2009 
Pounds sterling      (26) 
Russian ruble      (309) 
 
A ten percent weakening of the US dollar against the above currencies would have had an equal but opposite effect 
on the basis that all other variables remain constant. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that sources of funding for the Group’s business activities may not be available. 

 
Management is continually monitoring cash requirements for the Group and evaluating potential sources to fund its 
operating and capital expenditures. All Group entity operations are controlled through annual and monthly budget 
reviews to mitigate liquidity risk. It is the goal of management to ensure adequate funding is available through an 
appropriate mix of debt and equity instruments.  In 2010 the Group arranged a convertible debt financing facility 
(Note 22) of 50.0 million USD (2009 – 60.0 million USD) to complete the construction of its gas processing facility 
and cover other development and exploration costs. 
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26 Financial instruments (continued) 

 
The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 
payments. 
     Less than 3 to 12 1 to 5   
    On demand 3 months  months years >5 years  Total 
    USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 
Year ended 31 December 2010 
Trade and other payables   - 8,351 - - - 8,351 
Non-current borrowings   - 1,925 5,775 126,956 - 134,656 
   ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
Year ended 31 December 2009 
Trade and other payables   - 3,421 - - - 3,421  
Non-current borrowings   - 113 351 8,531 3,496 12,491 
   ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

 
Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities 

 
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Group’s financial 
instruments that are carried in the financial statements.  Fair value has been determined as at the balance sheet date 
by discounting the estimated future cash flows at prevailing interest rates. 
 
                         Book Value                            Fair Value   
   
     2010 2009  2010   2009 
     USD ‘000 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 18,147 18,361 18,147 18,361 
Trade and other receivables 299 205 299 205 
Trade and other payables (8,351) (3,421) (8,351) (3,421) 
Borrowings (98,034) (7,588) (98,034) (7,588) 
 ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
Capital management 
 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order 
to support its business and maximize shareholder value. The Group has no externally imposed capital requirements. 
The Group’s aim is to finance its operations through equity and debt financing.  

 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern in 
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend 
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. No changes 
were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009. 

 
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is non-current borrowings divided by capital. The Group’s 
strategy is to reduce its gearing when the opportunity arises. Capital comprises equity attributable to the equity 
holders of the parent. 
        2010    2009 
        USD '000    USD '000 
 
Borrowings   98,034 7,588 
Capital   208,646 225,662 
Gearing ratio   47% 3% 
        ________ ________ 
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27 Related party transactions 

 
Transactions with related parties 
     Amounts Amounts 
   Charges Purchases owed by owed to 
   to related from related related related 
   parties parties parties parties 
   USD ‘000 USD '000 USD '000 USD '000 
Entities with key management personnel of the Group: 
2010 226 11,358 127 665 
2009 92 375 172 236 
 
Transactions primarily relate to the provision of goods and services from companies whose Boards have common 
directors with the Company’s Board. 

Sales and purchases between related parties are made at normal market prices. Outstanding balances with entities 
other than subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and cash settlement is expected within thirty days of invoice. 
Terms and conditions for transactions with subsidiaries are the same, with the exception that balances are placed on 
intercompany accounts with no specified credit period. The Group has not provided or benefited from any guarantees 
for any related party receivables or payables. During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group has not made 
any provision for doubtful debts relating to amounts owed by related parties (2009 – nil). 

Key management compensation 
 

Key management is considered to comprise all senior executives and directors of the Company including the CEO, 
COO, Executive Vice President, Vice President Exploration and Development and the Finance Director. 

 
     2010 2009 
     USD '000 USD '000 
 
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits    2,523 2,052 
Share-based payments     1,172 832 
     ________ ________ 
 
     3,695 2,884 
     ________ ________ 

 
The share-based payments represent the IFRS 2 charge for the period. 

 
28 Capital commitments 

 
The Group has commitments pursuant to its sub-soil licence agreements to continue to explore and develop the 
licence area.  Management estimates that at 31 December 2010 no such non-accrued licence commitments exist 
(2009 – 2.8 million USD). 

 
Prior to 31 December 2010 the Group entered into contracts relating to work on the new gas plant, drilling, work-over 
and seismic services as part of the normal business activity. Pursuant to these contracts, there were outstanding 
work commitments still to be delivered of 8.4 million USD (2009 – 14.8 million USD). 

 
29 Contingencies 

 
Russian business operating environment 

 
During the year ended 31 December 2010 all of the Group’s business was conducted in Russia through its 
investment in subsidiaries operating in the oil and gas industry. These operations and those of similar companies in 
Russia are subject to the economic, political and regulatory uncertainties prevailing in Russia.  

 
The Russian economy, while deemed to be of market status beginning in 2002, continues to display certain traits 
consistent with that of a market in transition. These characteristics have in the past included higher than normal 
historic inflation, lack of liquidity in the capital markets, and the existence of currency controls, which cause the 
national currency to be illiquid outside Russia. Whilst there have been improvements in the Russian economic 
situation, such as an increase in gross domestic product, Russia continues to develop economic reforms and 
improve its legal, tax and regulatory frameworks to bring it more in line with a stable market economy. The future 
stability of the Russian economy is largely dependent upon these reforms and developments and the effectiveness of 
economic, financial and monetary measures undertaken by the government. 
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29 Contingencies (continued) 
 
Taxation 

 
Russian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations, and changes, which can occur 
frequently. Management’s interpretation of such legislation as applied to the transactions and activity of the Group 
may be challenged by the relevant regional and federal authorities. Recent events within the Russian Federation 
suggest that the tax authorities are taking a more assertive position in its interpretation of the legislation and 
assessments and as a result, it is possible that transactions and activities that have not been challenged in the past 
may be challenged. As such, significant additional taxes, penalties and interest may be assessed. It is not practical to 
determine the amount of unasserted claims that may manifest, if any, or the likelihood of any unfavorable outcome. 
Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect of taxes for three calendar years preceding the 
year of review. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods. 

 
Management believes that the Group has complied with all regulations, and paid and accrued all taxes that are 
applicable. However, it is possible that the relevant local or national governmental authorities may attempt to revise 
their previous approach to such transactions and assess additional income and other taxes and duties against the 
Group. 

 
Restoration, rehabilitation, and environmental costs 

 
The Group operates in the upstream gas industry in the Russian Federation and its activities may have an impact on 
the environment. The enforcement of environmental regulations in the Russian Federation is evolving and the 
enforcement posture of government authorities is continually being reconsidered. The Group periodically evaluates 
its obligation related thereto. The outcome of environmental liabilities under proposed or future legislation, or as a 
result of stricter interpretation and enforcement of existing legislation, cannot reasonably be estimated at present, but 
could be material. Under the current levels of enforcement of existing legislation, management believes there are no 
significant liabilities in addition to amounts which are already accrued and which would have a material adverse effect 
on the financial position of the Group. 
 
Sub-soil licenses 
 
The Group is subject to periodic reviews of its activities by Russian governmental authorities with respect to the 
requirements of its oilfield licences. Management of the Group corresponds with governmental authorities to agree on 
remedial actions, if necessary, to resolve any findings resulting from these reviews. Failure to comply with the terms 
of a licence could result in fines, penalties, licence limitation, suspension or revocation. The Group’s management 
believes any issues of non-compliance will be resolved through negotiations or corrective actions without any 
materially adverse effect on the financial position or the operating results of the Group. Management believes that in 
practice the relevant authorities rarely suspend or restrict the licences, especially at the exploration stage, and tend 
to terminate licences only in the event of continuous non-compliance and the failure of the licence holder to remedy 
breaches. The Group is attempting to comply with its licence requirements and has not received any official warnings 
or notifications about continuous non-compliance or any risk of suspension, restriction or termination. 

 
30 Post balance sheet events 

 
There were no significant post balance sheet events. 

 
31 Foreign exchange rates 

 
The exchange rate at the year-end was 30.4769 RUB to 1 USD (2009 – 30.3135) and the average exchange rate for 
the year was 30.3692 RUB to 1 USD (2009 – 31.7409). For UK operations, the exchange rate at the period end was 
0.6464 £ to 1 USD (2009 – 0.6193) and the average exchange rate for the period was 0.6329 £ per 1 USD (2009 – 
0.6408). 
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  2010 2009 
 Notes USD’000 USD’000 
Non –current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 5 233 298 
Investments in subsidiaries 6 348,229 264,465 
 
  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

  348,462 264,763 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Current assets 
Trade and other receivables 7 3,952 4,567 
Cash and cash equivalents  16,752 12,287 
  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

  20,704 16,854 
  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Total assets  369,166 281,617 
  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 8 4,889 2,784 
 
Non-current borrowings 9 99,801 8,018 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Total liabilities 104,690 10,802 
  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Net assets  264,476 270,815 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Equity 
Share capital 10 1,870 1,851 
Share premium 10 50,569 295,674 
Own shares held 10 (11,600) (5,983) 
Currency translation reserve 10 45 27 
Share option reserve  10 2,598 1,426 
Equity component of convertible debt 9 6,048 1,964 
Accumulated reserves/(deficit)  214,946 (24,144) 
  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Total equity attributable to owners of the parent  264,476 270,815 
  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

 
These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors. 
 
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors 
 
 
 
Blaine Karst 
Director 
20 May 2011 
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    Equity element  Currency Share     
  Share Own of convertible Share translation option Accumulated Total 
  capital shares held debt premium reserve reserve deficit equity 
  USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Balance at 1 January 2009 1,701 – – 252,195 29 594 (15,645) 238,874 
 ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – (2) – (8,499) (8,501) 
Transactions with owners 
Share issues 150 – – 45,833 – – – 45,983 
Own shares issued to the employee  
benefit trust – (5,983) – – – – – (5,983) 
Equity element of convertible debt – – 1,964 – – – – 1,964 
Share issue costs – – – (2,354) – – – (2,354) 
Share option charge – – – – – 832 – 832 
 ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 

Total of transactions with owners 150 (5,983) 1,964 43,479 – 832 – 40,442 
 ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 

Balance at 31 December 2009 1,851 (5,983) 1,964 295,674 27 1,426 (24,144) 270,815  
 ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 18 – (10,910) (10,892) 
Transactions with owners 
Share issues 19 – – (244,402) – – 250,000 5,617 
Own shares issued to the employee  
benefit trust – (5,617) – – – –  – (5,617) 
Equity element of convertible debt – – 4,084 – – – – 4,084 
Share issue costs – – – (703) – – – (703) 
Share option charge – – – – – 1,172 – 1,172 
 ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 

Total of transactions with owners 19 (5,617) 4,084 (245,105) – 1,172 250,000 4,553 
 ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 

Balance at 31 December 2010 1,870 (11,600) 6,048 50,569 45 2,598 214,946 264,476 
          ––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––
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 2010 2009 
 Notes USD’000 USD’000 
Operating activities 
Net cash flow used in operating activities 11 (5,518) (8,314) 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Net cash used in operating activities (5,518) (8,314) 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Investing activities 
Investments in subsidiaries (76,617) (103,516) 
Interest income on cash investments 5 210 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 5 (58) (126) 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Net cash used in investing activities (76,670) (103,432) 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Financing activities 
Proceeds on issue of share capital (4,335) 36,943 
Interest payments on long term liabilities (2,278) (112) 
Proceeds from convertible debt 93,364 6,693 
Repayment of non-current borrowings – (2,168) 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Net cash provided by financing activities 86,751 41,356 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,563 (70,390) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 12,287 82,695 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (98) (18) 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 16,752 12,287 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 
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1. Corporate information 
Organisation and principal activities 

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in Great Britain.  The principal activity of the 
Company is the management of investments in subsidiaries engaged in the exploration, development, and 
production of hydrocarbons.  The Company’s main operating subsidiary is in Russia where the subsidiary 
holds a sub-soil licence for geological exploration and production of hydrocarbons. To assist in 
management operations, the Company has a registered branch office in Moscow, Russia. The registered 
UK office of the Company is Masters House, 107 Hammersmith Road, London, England, W14 0QH. 

2. Significant accounting policies 
The Company’s accounting policies, key accounting estimates and judgements follow those of the Group 
as set out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. The following accounting policies also apply 
to the Company. 

Basis of preparation  

The financial statements are presented in US dollars. No income statement is presented by the Company 
as permitted by section 408(3) of the Companies Act 2006. 

Investments in subsidiaries 

Non-current investments in subsidiaries are included in the financial statements at cost.  The Company 
assesses investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value of an investment may not be recoverable.  If any such indication of impairment exists, the 
Company makes an estimate of its recoverable amount.  Where the carrying amount of an investment 
exceeds its recoverable amount, the investment is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. 

3. Taxation 
As at 31 December 2010 the Company has unrecognised deferred tax assets which arose in the UK of 
16.386 million USD (2009 - 11.949 million USD). Deferred tax has not been provided for these losses on 
the basis that it is not sufficiently certain there will be adequate taxable profits arising in the future to offset 
against the tax losses. The losses incurred in the UK are available to carry forward indefinitely for offset 
against future taxable profits.  

4. Loss attributable to members of the parent company 
The loss dealt with in the financial statements of the parent company is 10.910 million USD (2009 – 8.499 
million USD). 
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5. Property, plant and equipment  
 Office equipment Motor  
 and furniture vehicles Total 
 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 
Cost: 
At 1 January 2009 346 − 346 
Additions 114 61 175  
Disposals   (6) − (6) 
Translation differences 12 3 15 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––  

At 31 December 2009 466 64 530 
Additions 26 32 58 
Disposals   (2) − (2) 
Translation differences − (1) (1) 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––  

At 31 December 2010 490 95 585 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––  

Depreciation: 
Accumulated depreciation at 1 January 2009 115 − 115 
Charge for the year 96 10 106 
Disposals (2) − (2) 
Translation differences 13 − 13 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––  

At 31 December 2009 222 10 232 
Charge for the year 104 18 122 
Disposals (2) − (2) 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––  

At 31 December 2010 324 28 352   
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––  

Net book value: 
At 31 December 2009 244 54 298 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––  

At 31 December 2010 166 67 233  
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––  

6. Investments in subsidiaries 
  Investment in  Loans to   
  subsidiary subsidiary 
  undertakings undertakings  Total 
  USD’000 USD’000  USD’000 

Balance at 1 January 2009  30,593 128,070  158,663 
Additions  11,213 94,589  105,802 
  ––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––  ––––––––––––––– 

Balance at 31 December 2009  41,806 222,659  264,465 
Additions  253,819 −  253,819 
Disposals  − (170,055)  (170,055) 
  ––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––  ––––––––––––––– 

Balance at 31 December 2010  295,625 52,604  348,229 
  ––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––  ––––––––––––––– 

Information on investments in subsidiaries can be found in the Directors’ Report in the consolidated 
financial statements. The investment costs relate to the acquisition and funding of exploration and 
development operations in Russia.   

All loans to subsidiaries are demand loans but are classified as long term as the Company does not expect 
to demand repayment of the advances in 2011.  

No interest was charged on loans to subsidiaries in the year (2009 – $nil). 
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7. Trade and other receivables 
 2010 2009 
 USD’000 USD’000 

Prepayments and deposits 325 372 
Tax receivables 614 46 
Other receivables 3,013 4,149 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

 3,952 4,567 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Prepayments and deposits are advance payments for services to be rendered within the next twelve 
months.  Tax receivables relate primarily to value added tax payments that are expected to be recovered 
within the next twelve months.   

Other receivables includes 1.767 million USD (2009 – 430 thousand USD) relating to the current portion of 
amortized costs for non-current borrowings (Note 9). For 2009 other receivables also includes 3.516 million 
USD of prepaid costs for the non drawn-down portion of the convertible loan.  
 

8. Trade and other payables 
 2010 2009 
 USD’000 USD’000 

Trade payables 3,641 804 
Accruals and other payables 1,248 1,940 
Short-term borrowings − 40 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

 4,889 2,784 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

 

9. Non-current borrowings  
 Effective interest 2010 2009 
 rate USD’000 USD’000 

Net amounts due in less than 5 years: 
Convertible loan issued 18 September 2009 LIBOR + 4% 51,923 3,183 
Convertible bond issued 13 October 2010 10% 46,111 − 
  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

  98,034 3,183 
Amounts due in more than 5 years: 
Convertible loan LIBOR + 4% − 4,405 
  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

  98,034 7,588 
  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

  
Current borrowings (assets) (Note 7)  (1,767) (430) 
Non-current borrowings (liabilities)  99,801 8,018 

   ________ ________ 
 

Net convertible bond  98,034 7,588 
   ________ ________
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9. Non-current borrowings (continued) 
Convertible debt comprises: 

Drawdown of the loan  60,000 10,000 
Equity element  (6,048) (1,964) 
  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

  53,952 8,036 
Cost of borrowing  (5,538) (516) 
Capitalized interest  3,509 68 
  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Net convertible loan  51,923 7,588 
  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

 

Convertible bond comprises:   

Drawdown of the bond  50,000 − 
Cost of borrowing  (3,889) − 
  ––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––   

Net convertible bond  46,111 − 
  ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

 
On 18 September 2009 the Company entered into a convertible loan agreement to borrow up to 60 million 
US$. The convertible loan was drawn down in full at 31 December 2010. 

The loan is convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at any time up to 18 March 2012 at the loan 
holder’s option. Conversions done prior to 19 March 2011 are to be converted at a price of 3.0531 US$ per 
share. From 19 March 2011 to 18 March 2012, the loan is convertible at 3.0531 US$ per share plus a pro-
rated amount of margin payments at 4% interest made up to the time of the conversion. For any 
unconverted amounts, the loan is to be repaid in six equal semi-annual installments beginning 15 June 
2013 and ending on 15 December 2015. 

On 13 October 2010 the Company entered into a convertible bond agreement (the “bond”) to borrow up to 
50 million US$. The bond was drawn down in full at 31 December 2010.  

The bond is convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at any time up to 6 April 2013 at the 
bondholder’s option. To determine the number of ordinary shares received upon conversion, the amount of 
the bond to be converted is divided by the share price paid by investors for ordinary shares of the 
Company at the time of a Qualifying Initial Public Offering (the “QIPO”) as defined in the convertible bond 
agreement. At the Company’s option, the conversion of the bond can be forced if the ordinary shares of the 
Company trade at a value of 50% above the QIPO price for at least 20 dealing days in any period of 30 
consecutive dealing days any time prior to 6 April 2013. For any unconverted amounts, the bond is to be 
repaid in full in one installment on 13 April 2013.  

The net proceeds received from the issue of the convertible loan are split between a debt component and 
an embedded equity element. The fair value of the convertible loan for the drawdowns taken in 2010 has 
been calculated as the present value of the contracted future cash flows using an assumed market interest 
rate of LIBOR plus 7% (2009 — 9%). The equity element is calculated as the difference between the 
principal amount and the fair value of the convertible loan. The fair value of the convertible bond drawdown 
has been calculated at the present value of the contracted future cash flows using an assumed market 
interest rate of 12%.  

The interest charged for the year for the convertible loan and bond is calculated by applying the effective 
market interest rate of the assumed market interest rate to the liability component for the period since the 
convertible loan or bond was drawn-down. The short term part of the convertible loan calculated at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate is negative. 
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10. Equity 
Authorised and issued share capital  
   2010 2009 
Authorised   USD’000 USD’000 
 
250,000,000 ordinary shares of USD 0.01 each   2,500 2,500 
   ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

In 2009, the shareholders approved an increase in the authorized share capital of the Company from 
200,000,000 to 250,000,000 shares. 
 Ordinary shares Share Share Own  
 Shares Amount capital premium shares held 
Allotted, called up and fully paid No. USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 
 
At 1 January 2009 170,068,760 260,023 1,701 252,195 − 
 
Share issue 20 January 2009  1,460,000        4,457 14 4,443         (4,457) 
Share issue 15 June 2009  500,000            1,526 5 1,521 (1,526) 
Share issue 24 September 2009 13,101,438 40,000 131 39,869 − 
Share issue costs − − −      (2,354)        − 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

 

At 31 December 2009 185,130,198 306,006 1,851 295,674 (5,983)  
 
Share premium reduction 30 June 2010 −  −      − (250,000) −        
Share issue 20 July 2010 1,840,000            5,607 19 5,598 (5,617) 
Share issue costs − − − (703) − 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 
At 31 December 2010 186,970,198 311,613 1,870 50,569 (11,600) 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Redeemable shares 
 
At 31 December 2010 there were 50,000 redeemable shares at 1 pound sterling in issue. The shares were 
issued during the year in connection with the conversion of the Company to a public limited company. 

Own shares held 

The Company has approval to transfer up to 4,460,000 shares to the EBT for allocation to officers and 
employees of the Group. The formal establishment of the EBT was completed on 20 January 2009. In the 
current year 1,840,000 shares were issued pursuant to the EBT (2009 – 1,960,000). For presentation 
purposes, the shares held in the EBT are included as own shares held. 

On 30 June 2010 the Company reduced the share premium account by 250 million US$ as part of the 
process of converting to a public liability company. 

Currency translation reserve 

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation 
of the financial statements of subsidiaries whose functional currency are not in US Dollars into the Group’s 
presentation currency. 

Share option reserve 

The share option reserve relates to the fair value of the equity-settled share based payments that have 
been expensed through profit or loss. 

Equity element of convertible debt 

The equity element of convertible debt is the difference between the principal amount and the fair value of 
the loan and bond convertible debts reflecting values of the convertible option of the debt instruments. 
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11. Reconciliation of loss from operations to net cash used in operating activities 
 2010 2009 
 USD’000 USD’000 

Loss before taxation (10,910) (8,499) 
Adjustments for:  
Foreign exchange losses 52 17 
Tax for the year (705) 1,495 
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 122 106 
Net finance costs 3,531 275 
Interest income on cash invested (5) (210) 
Accrued share based payments 1,172 832 
Increase in trade and other receivables 615 (4,217) 
Increase in trade and other payables 610 1,887 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Net cash flow used in operating activities (5,518) (8,314) 
  ––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––
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12. Share-based payments 

The Company grants awards of shares to staff as reward for past service and incentive to continue to 
work for the Group. The shares are normally held jointly with the employee and the Employee Benefit 
Trust.  awarded at fair market value Senior management and key employees of the Company at nil cost.  
The share awards vest at specified time intervals and vesting is dependent on staff remaining in full 
employment with the Company for a three year period. The awards are equity settled. 

The fair value of the share awards was estimated at the grant date using a Black Scholes simulation 
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the awards were granted.  

The following table shows details of share awards outstanding during the year: 
 2010 2009 
 Shares Shares 

As at 1 January   2,460,000 1,960,000 
Granted during the year 1,340,000 500,000 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

As at 31 December 3,800,000 2,460,000 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Vested at 31 December 2,820,000 898,667 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

 
The following table lists the inputs to the model: 
   2010 2009 

Award grant date  20 July 1 October 
Number of awards  1,340,000 500,000 
Fair value at grant date  $1.52 $1.52 
Share price at grant date  $1.53 $1.53 
Amount payable by executive   $3.05 $nil 
Risk free rate  6% 6% 
Dividend yield  nil nil 
Expected volatility   29.7% 32.7% 
Expected life of awards  1.5 years 2 years 
Weighted average remaining contractual life of share options 
at the end of the year  0.96 years 1.1 years
   

Expected volatility is based on historic share price movements. The expected volatility reflects the 
assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be the 
actual outcome. Maximum term for the awards is three years. For key employees the probability that not 
all the awards will vest due to the resignation was set at 0% (2009 – 20%). No other features of options’ 
terms were incorporated into the measurement of fair value. 

The following table lists liabilities arising from share-based payment transactions (amounts are in 
thousand USD): 
   2010 2009 

Carrying value of liability on share-based awards   2,598 1,426 
Intrinsic value of vested awards 1,959 852 

The expense recognised for share-based payments in respect of employee services received during the 
year is 1,172 thousand USD (2009 – 832 thousand USD). 

Share options 

In 2010, 1,340,000 shares (2009 – 500,000 shares) were approved as compensation to key employees 
and the senior management of the Group subject to vesting conditions being met, such shares vesting 
over a three year period from the date set in the joint operating agreements between employees and the 
EBT. The actual shares issued to the EBT for the year were 1,840,000 (2009 – 1,960,000 shares). 
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13. Financial instruments 

Financial instruments recognised in the balance sheet  
 

   
 
 

Loans and 
receivables 

Other financial 
liabilities at 

 amortised cost Total 
     USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 
Year ended 31 December 2010       
Financial assets        
Non-current investments     52,604 − 52,604 
Trade and other receivables     157 − 157 
Current borrowings     − 1,767 1,767 
Cash and cash equivalents     16,752 − 16,752 
     ––––––– ––––––– ––––––– 
     69,513 1,767 71,280 

     –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– 

Financial liabilities        

Trade and other payables     − 3,641 3,641 
Non-current borrowings     − 99,801 99,801 
     ––––––– ––––––– ––––––– 
     − 103,442 103,442  
     –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– 

Year ended 31 December 2009       

Financial assets        
Non-current investments     222,659 − 222,659 
Trade and other receivables     203 − 203 
Current borrowings     − 430 430 
Cash and cash equivalents     12,287 − 12,287 
     ––––––– ––––––– ––––––– 
     235,149 430 235,579 

     –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– 

Financial liabilities        

Trade and other payables     − 804 804 
Short-term borrowings     − 40 40 
Non-current borrowings     − 8,018 8,018 
     ––––––– ––––––– ––––––– 
     − 8,862 8,862 

     –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– 

The Company had no financial instruments held at fair value through profit and loss, held to maturity and no 
derivatives used for hedging.  

The main financial risks faced by the Company through its normal business activities are interest rate risk, 
credit risk, foreign currency risk and liquidity risk. 
Interest rate risk  

The Company has financial assets and liabilities which are exposed to interest rate risk. Changes in interest 
rates impacting borrowings change either their fair value (fixed rate borrowings) or their future cash flows 
(floating rate borrowings).  

Whilst fixed rate interest bearing borrowings are not exposed to cash flow interest rate risk, there is no 
opportunity for the Company to enjoy a reduction in borrowing costs in markets where rates are falling. In 
addition, the fair value risk inherent in fixed rate borrowing means that the Company is exposed to 
unplanned costs should borrowings be restructured or repaid early as part of the liquidity management 
process. In contrast, whilst floating rate borrowings are not exposed to changes in fair value, the Company is 
exposed to cash flow risk as costs increase if market rates rise. 
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13. Financial instruments (continued) 

Interest on financial instruments classified as floating rate is re-priced at intervals of less than one year. 
Interest on financial instruments classified as fixed rate is fixed until the maturity of the instrument. The other 
financial instruments of the Company that are not included in the tables below are non-interest bearing and 
are therefore not subject to interest rate risk. 

The following tables set out the carrying amount, by maturity of the Company’s financial instruments that are 
exposed to interest rate risk. 
 Within 1 year 1-2 years  3-5 years > 5 years Total 
 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Year ended 31 December 2010 

Floating rate  
Cash and cash equivalents 16,752 − − − 16,752 
Borrowings 1,767 2,152 (101,953) − (98,034) 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Year ended 31 December 2009 

Floating rate 
Cash and cash equivalents 12,287 − − − 12,287 
Borrowings 430 440 (8,458) − (7,588) 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

A one per cent increase/decrease in interest rates on floating rate assets and liabilities would have 
decreased/increased investments in subsidiaries by 449 thousand USD (2009 – 4 thousand USD). 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the potential exposure of the Company to loss in the event of non-performance by a counter- 
party.  The amount that best represents the maximum credit exposure of the Company’s financial assets is 
the carrying value of the financial assets at the balance sheet date. 

This risk arises principally from cash and cash equivalents.  Management’s policy is to hold cash and cash 
equivalents in reputable financial institutions of which 99.4% (2009 – 99.2%) of cash and cash equivalents 
are held in reputable financial institutions in the UK. 

Maximum credit risk exposure relating to financial assets is represented by carrying value as at the balance 
sheet date. 

Foreign currency risk 

Fluctuations in exchange rates can have significant effects on the Company’s reported profit or loss. The 
Company’s financial assets and liabilities give rise to transactional currency exposures. Such exposures 
arise from transactions in currencies other than the Company’s functional currency. 

Cash balances in the Company are usually held in US dollars, but smaller amounts may be held in pounds 
sterling or local currencies to meet operating and administrative expenses or to comply with local legislation. 

The Company does not have formal arrangements to mitigate foreign exchange risks at this time however 
as circumstances dictate, the Group considers hedging positions to protect the value of any cash balances it 
holds in non-US dollar currency or to protect against exchange fluctuations on future non-USD denominated 
commitments or obligations. 
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13. Financial instruments (continued)  

The following table demonstrates the Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk based on gross amounts: 
 

 
US dollar Sterling Euro 

  Russian 
ruble Total 

 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Year ended 31 December 2010    

Intercompany advances 52,604 − − − 52,604 
Cash and cash equivalents 16,467 188 − 97 16,752 
Trade and other receivables 101 − − 56 157 
Trade payables (2,540) (1,041) (13) (45) (3,639) 
Borrowings (98,034) − − − (98,034) 
 –––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– 

Year ended 31 December 2009 
 
Intercompany advances 222,659 − − − 222,659 
Cash and cash equivalents 12,015 173 − 99 12,287 
Trade and other receivables 30 173 − − 203 
Trade payables (636) (86) (9) (73) (804) 
Borrowings (7,588) − − − (7,588) 
 –––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– 

A ten per cent strengthening of US dollar against the following currencies would have decreased loss before 
tax and impact the Company’s equity by the amounts shown below.  For a ten per cent strengthening of the 
US dollar against the euro there is no significant impact on loss before tax or on the Company’s equity. This 
analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant and the analysis is performed on the same basis 
for 2009. 
     Effect on loss 
     before tax/equity 
    USD '000 
Year ended 31 December 2010 

Pounds sterling    85 
Russian ruble    (11) 
 
Year ended 31 December 2009 

Pounds sterling    (26) 
Russian ruble    (3) 

A ten percent weakening of the US dollar against the above currencies would have had an equal but 
opposite effect on the basis that all other variables remain constant. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that sources of funding for the Company’s business activities may not be available. 

Management is continually monitoring cash requirements for the Company and evaluating potential sources 
to fund its operating and capital expenditures. All Company entity operations are controlled through annual 
and monthly budget reviews to mitigate liquidity risk. It is the goal of management to ensure adequate 
funding is available through an appropriate mix of debt and equity instruments.  In 2010 the Group arranged 
a convertible debt financing facility (Note 9) of 50.0 million USD (2009 – 60.0 million USD) to complete the 
construction of its gas processing facility and cover other development and exploration costs. 
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13. Financial instruments (continued)  

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2010 
and 2009 based on contractual undiscounted payments.  
  Less than  3 to 12 
 On demand 3 months months 1 to 5years  >5 years  Total 
 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 
Year ended 31 December 2010 

Trade payables  − (3,641) − − − (3,641) 
Non-current borrowings − 1,925 5,775 126,956 − 134,656 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 

 
Year ended 31 December 2009 

Trade payables  − (804) − − − (804) 
Non-current borrowings − 113 351 8,531 3,496 12,491 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities 

Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Company’s 
financial instruments that are carried in the financial statements. Fair value has been determined as at the 
balance sheet date by discounting the estimated future cash flows at prevailing interest rates. 
 Book value Fair value 
 2010 2009 2010 2009 
 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 
 
Intercompany advances 52,604 222,659 52,604 222,659 
Cash and cash equivalents 16,752 12,287 16,752 12,287 
Trade and other receivables 157 203 157 203 
Trade payables  (3,641) (804) (3,641) (804) 
Current borrowings − (40) − (40) 
Borrowings (98,034) (7,588) (98,034) (7,588) 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

Capital management 

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital 
ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value. The Company has no externally 
imposed capital requirements. The Company’s aim is to finance its operations through equity and debt 
financing.  

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.  To maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Company may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new 
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.  No changes were made in the capital management objectives, policies 
or processes during the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009. 

The Company monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is non-current borowings divided by capital.  The 
Company’s strategy is to reduce its gearing when the opportunity arises. Capital comprises equity. 

 2010 2009 
 USD’000 USD’000 
Borrowings 98,034 7,588 
Capital 264,476 270,815 
Gearing ratio 37% 3% 



Vostok Energy Plc 

Notes to the parent company financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2010 

 
 

 

14. Related party transactions 

Obligations to related parties 
As at 31 December 2010 the Company had no non-current obligations to related parties as all obligations 
were paid out during the year. 
Transactions with related parties 
   Amounts Amounts 
 Charges Purchases owed by  owed to 
 to related from related related   related 
 parties parties parties parties 
 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Entities with key management of the Company: 

2010 223 100 1 − 
2009 92 204 172 245 

The Company advances funds to its subsidiaries.  There was no interest accrued on the advances in 2010 
(2009 − $nil). See Note 6 that details movements and year-end balances in respect of subsidiary 
undertakings. 

Key management compensation 

Key management is considered to comprise senior executives and directors of the Company including the 
COO, Executive Vice President, Vice President Exploration and Development and the Finance Director. 
 2010 2009 
 USD’000 USD’000 

Salary and other short term employee benefits 1,362 1,469 
Share-based payments 1,172 832 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

 2,534 2,301 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

The share-based payments represent the IFRS 2 charge for the period. 

During 2009 the Company advanced funds to the Chief Operating Officer to cover employment taxes in 
Russia. At 31 December 2009 the Company had advances receivable of 133 thousand US$ as a result of 
the actual Russian employment tax liability being less than originally estimated. All advances were 
recovered in 2010 and there were no advances receivable at 31 December 2010. 

15. Operating lease obligations 
Operating lease payments primarily represent rentals payable by the Company for office space and 
equipment required for use on a temporary basis.  Longer term office leases will be entered into if terms are 
favourable but would include break clauses providing for a one to two year notice period.  

Lease payments under operating leases recognised in profit or loss for the year were 342 thousand USD 
(2009 − 561 thousand USD). 

At the balance sheet date, the Company had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments 
under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows: 
 2010 2009 
 USD’000 USD’000  

Within one year 358 127 
2 – 5 years 208 109 
 ––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––– 

16. Post balance sheet events 
There have been no post balance sheet events requiring disclosure. 
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 PART X—FINANCIAL INFORMATION   

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   

  

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 

31 December 

Unaudited 6 

months 

ended 30 

June 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 Notes 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

  USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Revenue 4 1,153 46 267 60 13,965 

Operating expenses 5 (4,252) (3,410) (4,364) (1,444) (8,737) 

Administrative expenses 6 (9,145) (10,291) (13,252) (5,965) (7,194) 

Other (losses)/gains 8 (6,435) 1,921 (540) (269) (19) 

Total expenses  (19,832) (11,780) (18,156) (7,678) (15,950) 

Operating Loss  (18,679) (11,734) (17,889) (7,618) (1,985) 

Finance income 4 1,749 250 19 12 5 

Finance costs 9 (887) (376) (4,620) (786) (840) 

Loss before taxation  (17,817) (11,860) (22,490) (8,392) (2,820) 

Income tax benefit/(expense) 13 5,574 (1,341) 2,981 474 (771) 

Loss for the year  (12,243) (13,201) (19,509) (7,918) (3,591) 

Other comprehensive income:       

Foreign exchange movements on translation 

of foreign entities  (13,287) 3,369 (2,060) (6,640) 20,506 

Total comprehensive income attributable 

to owners of the parent  (25,530) (9,832) (21,569) (14,558) 16,915 

 

Loss per share during the period (USD):       

—basic 14 0.08 0.07 0.10 0.04 0.02 

—diluted 14 0.08 0.07 0.10 0.04 0.02 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

  

Year ended 31 

December 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 31 

December As at 30 June 

 Notes 2008 2009 2010 2011 

  USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Non-current assets      

Intangible assets 15 29,389 36,233 58,140 69,333 

Property, plant and equipment 16 59,321 160,651 210,433 242,023 

Trade and other receivables 17 18,620 13,430 8,993 4,553 

Deferred tax 13 5,344 5,389 6,828 6,626 

  112,674 215,703 284,394 322,535 

Current assets      

Inventories 18 55 33 60 71 

Trade and other receivables 19 2,371 15,140 22,755 16,305 

Cash and cash equivalents 20 85,470 18,361 18,147 6,313 

  87,896 33,534 40,962 22,689 

Total assets  200,570 249,237 325,356 345,224 

Current liabilities      

Trade and other payables 21 2,675 6,087 10,754 11,598 

Non-current liabilities      

Borrowings 22 2,168 7,588 98,034 99,271 

Decommissioning provisions 23 675 9,900 7,922 7,847 

  2,843 17,488 105,956 107,118 

Total liabilities  5,518 23,575 116,710 118,716 

Net assets  195,052 225,662 208,646 226,508 

Equity      

Share capital 24 1,701 1,851 1,870 1,870 

Share premium 24 252,195 295,674 50,569 50,569 

Own shares held 24 — (5,983) (11,600) (11,600) 

Equity component of convertible debt 24 — 1,964 6,048 6,048 

Currency translation reserve 24 (13,068) (9,699) (11,759) 8,747 

Share-based payments reserve 24 594 1,426 2,598 3,545 

Accumulated (deficit)/reserves 24 (46,370) (59,571) 170,920 167,329 

Total equity attributable to owners of the 

parent  195,052 225,662 208,646 226,508 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

For the years ended 31 December 2008, 2009 and 2010 

 

Share 

capital 

Share 

premium 

Own 

shares 

held 

Equity 

component of 

convertible 

debt 

Currency 

translation 

reserve 

Share 

option 

reserve 

Accumulated 

(deficit)/ 

reserves 

Total 

equity 

 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Balance at 1 January 

2008 1,147 89,675 — — 219 160 (34,127) 57,074 

Total comprehensive 

income for the year — — — — (13,287) — (12,243) (25,530) 

Transactions with 

owners         

Share issues 554 168,604 — — — — — 169,158 

Share issue costs — (6,084) — — — — — (6,084) 

Share option charge — — — — — 434 — 434 

Total of transactions 

with owners 554 162,520 — — — 434 — 163,508 

Balance at 

31 December 2008 1,701 252,195 — — (13,068) 594 (46,370) 195,052 

2009         

Total comprehensive 

income for the year — — — — 3,369 — (13,201) (9,832) 

Transactions with 

owners         

Share issues 150 45,833 — — — — — 45,983 

Own shares issued to 

the employee benefit 

trust — — (5,983) — — — — (5,983) 

Equity element of 

convertible debt — — — 1,964 — — — 1,964 

Share issue costs — (2,354) — — — — — (2,354) 

Share option charge — — — — — 832 — 832 

Total of transactions 

with owners 150 43,479 (5,983) 1,964 — 832 — 40,442 

Balance at 

31 December 2009 1,851 295,674 (5,983) 1,964 (9,699) 1,426 (59,571) 225,662 

2010         

Total comprehensive 

income for the year — — — — (2,060) — (19,509) (21,569) 

Transactions with 

owners         

Share issues 19 (244,402) — — — — 250,000 5,617 

Own shares issued to 

the employee benefit 

trust — — (5,617) — — — — (5,617) 

Equity element of 

convertible debt — — — 4,084 — — — 4,084 

Share issue costs — (703) — — — — — (703) 

Share option charge — — — — — 1,172 — 1,172 

Total of transactions 

with owners 19 (245,105) (5,617) 4,084 — 1,172 250,000 4,553 

Balance at 

31 December 2010 1,870 50,569 (11,600) 6,048 (11,759) 2,598 170,920 208,646 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

For the six months ended 30 June 2010 (unaudited) and 2011 

 

Share 

capital 

Share 

premium 

Own 

shares 

held 

Equity 

component of 

convertible 

debt 

Currency 

translation 

reserve 

Share 

option 

reserve 

Accumulated 

(deficit)/ 

reserves 

Total 

equity 

 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Balance at 1 January 

2010 1,851 295,674 (5,983) 1,964 (9,699) 1,426 (59,571) 225,662 

Total comprehensive 

income for the period — — — — (6,640) — (7,918) (14,558) 

Transactions with 

owners         

Reduction of share 

premium on the 

conversion to a PLC — (250,000) — — — — 250,000 — 

Share costs related to 

unissued shares — (441) — — — — — (441) 

Own shares issued to 

the employee benefit 

trust — — — — — — — — 

Equity element of 

convertible debt — — — 4,084 — — — 4,084 

Share issue costs — (703) — — — — — (703) 

Share option charge — — — — — 686 — 686 

Total of transactions 

with owners — (251,144) — 4,084 — 686 250,000 3,626 

Balance at 30 June 

2010 1,851 44,530 (5,983) 6,048 (16,339) 2,112 182,511 214,730 

Balance at 1 January 

2011 1,870 50,569 (11,600) 6,048 (11,759) 2,598 170,920 208,646 

Total comprehensive 

income for the period — — — — 20,506 — (3,591) 16,915 

Transactions with 

owners         

Share issues — — — — — — — — 

Own shares issued to 

the employee benefit 

trust — — — — — — — — 

Equity element of 

convertible debt — — — — — — — — 

Share issue costs — — — — — — — — 

Share option charge — — — — — 947 — 947 

Total of transactions 

with owners — — — — 20,506 947 (3,591) 17,862 

Balance at 30 June 

2011 1,870 50,569 (11,600) 6,048 8,747 3,545 167,329 226,508 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

  

Year ended 

31 

December 

Year ended 31 

December 

Year ended 

31 

December 

Unaudited 6 

months 

ended 30 

June 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 Notes 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

  USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Operating activities       

Loss for the year  (12,243) (13,201) (19,509) (7,918) (3,591) 

Adjustments to reconcile loss for the year to 

net cash flow from operating activities:       

Tax for the year 13 (5,574) 1,341 (2,981) (474) 771 

Net finance costs 4,9 (862) 126 4,601 774 835 

Foreign exchange losses/(gains)  8 382 (638) 178 163 (48) 

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation  15,16 426 596 1,073 500 1,506 

Share based payments 12 434 832 1,172 686 947 

Movement in provisions  5,653 (1,504) 122 54 (88) 

Working capital adjustments:       

Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables  3,083 87 4,787 (759) 78 

Decrease/(Increase) in inventories   (23) 22 (27) 33 (11) 

Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables   (2,755) 3,077 4,816 73 (45) 

Net cash flow used in operating activities  (11,479) (9,262) (5,768) (6,868) 354 

Investing Activities       

Interest received 4 1,749 250 19 12 5 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (53,038) (93,891) (58,360) (29,170) (12,802) 

Payments to acquire intangible assets   (9,993) (8,068) (21,957) (11,089) (6,847) 

Decrease/(Increase) in other non-current assets  — — — — 9,812 

Acquisition of minority interest in RAECL   (10,842) — — — — 

Net cash flow used in investing activities   (72,124) (101,709) (80,298) (40,247) (9,832) 

Financing Activities       

Interest paid  (1,465) (113) (2,278) (931) (3,809) 

Proceeds on issue of share capital   153,984 36,943 — — — 

Costs on share capital transactions   — — (4,355) (441) (586) 

Proceeds from new borrowings  — 6,693 93,364 50,000 — 

Repayment of long-term borrowings   (94) (2,168) — — — 

Repayment of short-term borrowings   (56) — — — — 

Net cash flow from financing activities  152,369 41,355 86,731 48,628 (4,395) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  68,716 (69,616) 665 1,513 (13,873) 

Net foreign exchange difference   681 2,507 (879) (702) 2,039 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 20 16,073 85,470 18,361 18,361 18,147 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 20 85,470 18,361 18,147 19,172 6,313 
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NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

1. Corporate Information 

(a) Organization and principal activities 

Vostok Energy Plc (the “Company”) is a public limited company incorporated in Great Britain. The principal activities of 
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are the exploration, development, and production of hydrocarbons. The 
Group’s operating activities are in Russia, where the Group holds a sub-soil license for geological exploration and 
production of hydrocarbons. The registered office of the Company is Masters House, 107 Hammersmith Road, 
London, England W14 0QH. 
The ultimate parent of the Group is Vostok Energy Plc. The Group comprises the Company and its significant 

subsidiaries as set out below: 

Operating Entity Principal Activity Country of Incorporation 

Vostok Energy Plc Management and holding company UK 

Vostok Energy Resources Limited Financing subsidiary UK 

Royal Atlantic Energy (Cyprus) Limited Holding company Cyprus 

Vostok (Cyprus) Ltd Holding company Cyprus 

Diall Alliance LLC Oil and gas exploration Russia 

Vostok Energy Ltd Administrative centre United States 

 

(b) Russian business environment and country risk 

The group operations are subject to country risk being the economic, political and social risks inherent in doing 
business in Russia.  These risks include matters arising out of the policies of the Government, economic conditions, 
imposition of, or changes to, taxes and regulations and foreign exchange rate fluctuations.  Refer to Note 27 for more 
information on key risks. 
 

(c) Financial risk management 

The Group’s long term success is exposed to the effect of fluctuations of oil and gas prices in the local markets which 
are influenced by international prices.  Refer to Note 27 for a description of other risks. 
 

2. Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) Authorisation of financial statements and statement of compliance with IFRSs 

The results for the 6 month period ended 30 June 2010 are unaudited. 

The financial statements for the Group for the period ended 30 June 2011 were authorized for issue by the board of 

directors and the balance sheet was signed on the board’s behalf by Blaine Karst. 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

as adopted by the European Union as they apply to the financial statements of the Group for the period ended 30 June 

2011. 

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below. 

(b) Basis of preparation 

The Group’s financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The financial statements are 

presented in US Dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars (USD’000) except when otherwise 

indicated. 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

as adopted by the European Union as they apply to the financial statements of the Group for the period ended 30 June 

2011. 

(c) Changes to accounting policies 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the interim condensed consolidated financial statements are 

consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual financial statements for the year ended 31 

December 2010, except for the adoption of new standards and interpretations as of 1 January 2011, noted below: 
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IAS 24 Related Party Transactions (Amendment) 

The IASB has issued an amendment to IAS 24 that clarifies the definitions of a related party. The new definitions 

emphasise a symmetrical view of related party relationships as well as clarifying in which circumstances persons and 

key management personnel affect related party relationships of an entity. 

Secondly, the amendment introduces an exemption from the general related party disclosure requirements for 

transactions with a government and entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the same 

government as the reporting entity. The adoption of the amendment did not have any impact on the financial position 

or performance of the Group. 

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (Amendment) 

The amendment alters the definition of a financial liability in IAS 32 to enable entities to classify rights issues and 

certain options or warrants as equity instruments. The amendment is applicable if the rights are given pro rata to all of 

the existing owners of the same class of an entity’s non-derivative equity instruments, to acquire a fixed number of the 

entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount in any currency. The amendment has had no effect on the financial 

position or performance of the Group. 

IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement (Amendment) 

The amendment removes an unintended consequence when an entity is subject to minimum funding requirements 

(MFR) and makes an early payment of contributions to cover such requirements. The amendment permits a 

prepayment of future service cost by the entity to be recognised as pension asset. The Group is not subject to 

minimum funding requirements in Euroland. The amendment to the interpretation therefore had no effect on the 

financial position or performance of the Group. 

Improvements to IFRSs (issued May 2010) 

In May 2010, the IASB issued its third omnibus of amendments to its standards, primarily with a view to removing 

inconsistencies and clarifying wording. There are separate transitional provisions for each standard. The adoption of 

the following amendments resulted in changes to accounting policies, but did not have any impact on the financial 

position or performance of the Group. 

 IFRS 3 Business Combinations: The measurement options available for non-controlling interest (NCI) have been 

amended. Only components of NCI that constitute a present ownership interest that entitles their holder to a 

proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation shall be measured at either fair value or at the 

present ownership instruments’ proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components are 

to be measured at their acquisition date fair value. 

 IFRS 7 Financial Instruments — Disclosures: The amendment was intended to simplify the disclosures provided by 

reducing the volume of disclosures around collateral held and improving disclosures by requiring qualitative information 

to put the quantitative information in context. The Group reflects the revised disclosure requirements in Note 27. 

Other amendments resulting from Improvements to IFRSs to the following standards did not have any impact on the 

accounting policies, financial position or performance of the Group: 

IFRS 3 Business Combinations — Clarification that contingent consideration arising from business combination prior to 

adoption of IFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3 (2005) 

 IFRS 3 Business Combinations — Unreplaced and voluntarily replaced share-based payment awards and its 

accounting treatment within a business combination 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: The amendment clarifies that an option to present an analysis of each 

component of other comprehensive income may be included either in the statement of changes in equity or in the 

notes to the financial statements. 

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements — applying the IAS 27 (as revised in 2008) transition 

requirements to consequentially amended standards 

IAS 34 Interim Financial Statements: The amendment requires additional disclosures for fair values and changes in 

classification of financial assets, as well as changes to contingent assets and liabilities in interim condensed financial 

statements. 

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes — in determining the fair value of award credits, an entity shall consider 

discounts and incentives that would otherwise be offered to customers not participating in the loyalty programme.  
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The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations as appropriate in future periods will 

have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group. 

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, there were no Standards and Interpretations relevant to the 

Group operations in issue but not yet effective or endorsed (unless otherwise stated). 

 

(d) Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 

31 December each year for the years 2008, 2009 and 2010 and for the periods ending 30 June for years 2010 and 

2011. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of their acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and 

continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. Control comprises the power to govern the financial 

and operating policies of the investee so as to obtain benefit from its activities and is achieved through direct or indirect 

ownership of voting rights; currently exercisable or convertible potential voting rights; or by way of contractual 

agreement. The financial statements of subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

are prepared for the same reporting year-end as the parent company and are based on consistent accounting policies. 

All intergroup balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from them, are eliminated. 

(e) Comparative figures 

Where a change in presentational format of the consolidated financial statements has been made during the year, 

comparative figures have been restated accordingly. 

(f) Business combinations 

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2010 are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The 

assets and liabilities of the acquiree are measured at fair value on the date of acquisition. The results of acquired 

operations are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the date on which control was 

obtained. Business combinations after 1 January 2010 have been accounted for using the acquisition method.  The 

cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at the acquisition date 

fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree.  Combinations of businesses under common 

control have been accounted for using the pooling of interests method. 

(g) Foreign currency translation 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the spot exchange rate 

applicable at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 

retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange applicable at the balance sheet date. All differences are 

recognised in profit or loss. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates applicable as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a 

foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates applicable at the date when the fair value was determined. 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into US dollars at the rate of exchange applicable at the 

balance sheet date. Income and expenses are translated at weighted average exchange rates for the year. The 

resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign entity, the 

deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or 

loss. 

The functional currency of the Company is the US dollar while the functional currency of its Russian subsidiary is the 

Russian ruble (“RUB”). 

(h) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 

revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding 

discounts, rebates, VAT and other sales taxes. The following criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 

Sale of goods 

Revenue associated with the sale of natural gas and hydrocarbon liquids is recognised when the title passes to the 

customer. 
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Finance income 

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate 

that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to its net 

carrying amount. 

(i) Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets 

that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of 

those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income 

earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted 

from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended during extended 

periods in which active development is interrupted. All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 

period in which they are incurred. 

(j) Taxation 

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 

authorities, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred income tax is recognised on all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 

and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, with the following exceptions: 

• where the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor 

taxable profit or loss; 

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the 

reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not 

reverse in the foreseeable future; and 

• deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 

against which the deductible temporary differences, carried forward tax credits or tax losses can be utilised. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to 

apply when the related asset is realised or liability is settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively 

enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Income tax is charged or credited to other comprehensive income if it relates to items that are credited or charged to 

other comprehensive income. Otherwise income tax is recognised in profit or loss. 

(k) Share-based payments 

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity 

instruments at the date at which they are granted and is recognised as an expense over the vesting period, which ends 

on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award. Fair value is determined by an 

appropriate pricing model with the assistance of an external valuer if required. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no 

account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the Company 

(market conditions). 

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a 

market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided 

that all other performance conditions are satisfied. 

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent to which the 

vesting period has expired and management’s best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of non-market conditions 

and of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest or, in the case of an instrument subject to a market 

condition, treated as vesting as described above. The movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance 

sheet date is recognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding entry in equity. 

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified or a new award is designated as replacing a cancelled or 

settled award, the cost based on the original award terms continues to be recognised over the original vesting period. 

In addition, an expense is recognised over the remainder of the new vesting period for the incremental fair value of any 

modification, based on the difference between the fair value of the original award and the fair value of the modified 

award, both as measured on the date of the modification. No reduction is recognised if this difference is negative. 
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Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any cost not 

yet recognised in profit or loss for the award is expensed immediately. Any compensation paid up to the fair value of 

the award at the cancellation or settlement date is deducted from equity, with any excess over fair value treated as an 

expense in profit or loss. 

(l) Intangible assets—exploration and evaluation expenditures 

The Group has adopted the successful efforts method of accounting for oil and gas assets. 

Drilling, seismic and other costs 

All costs incurred in technical services, seismic data, and for exploration and appraisal activities are initially capitalised 

as intangible assets on a well by well basis until the results of the drilling have been determined. If commercial 

reserves have been discovered and development has been approved, the carrying values of the related intangible 

assets are reclassified as development and production assets. If commercial reserves have not been discovered, the 

costs are charged to profit or loss after appraisal activities are completed. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the 

carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount and in any event prior to 

the transfer of the carrying value to development and production assets. When facts and circumstances suggest that 

the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the impairment will be measured, presented and disclosed in 

accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of assets”. 

Sub-soil licences 

Costs incurred prior to the award of sub-soil licences, concessions and other exploration rights are expensed in profit 

or loss. Costs incurred on the acquisition of a licence interest are initially capitalised within intangible fixed assets on a 

licence by licence basis and are capitalised and held un-depleted until the exploration phase on the licence is complete 

or commercial reserves have been discovered at which time the costs are reclassified as development and production 

assets. 

For amortization purposes, useful lives are estimated as follows: 

Sub-soil licences – 25 years 

Other licenses – 5 years 

(m)  Property, plant and equipment 

Oil and gas assets 

Oil and gas assets are stated at cost less accumulated depletion or accumulated depreciation and impairment costs. 

Costs incurred to develop commercial reserves and bring them into production together with their related exploration 

and evaluation expenditures are capitalised within property, plant and equipment on a field by field basis. Major 

facilities may be capitalised separately if they relate to more than one field or to the licence area as a whole. 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it either enhances the economic benefits of the development/production 

asset or replaces part of the existing development/production asset. Any costs remaining associated with the part 

replaced are expensed. Directly attributed overheads and finance costs are capitalised where they relate to specific 

exploration and development activities. 

Motor vehicles, office equipment and furniture 

Motor vehicles, office equipment and furniture are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Depletion 

Depletion is provided on oil and gas properties in production, including related pipeline costs, using the unit of 

production method, based on proven reserves, applied to the sum of the total capitalised exploration, evaluation and 

development costs, together with estimated future development and decommissioning costs at current prices. 

Depletion is provided based on the expected production profile on a field by field basis which may exceed the existing 

licence period. It is standard industry practice in Russia to receive licence extensions providing production plans 

demonstrate that additional time is required to economically produce the field. 

Depreciation 

Major oil and gas facilities that have a shorter useful life than the related production expected from the fields are 

depreciated on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the facility. Depreciation is provided on motor 
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vehicles, office equipment and furniture at rates calculated to write off the cost, less estimated residual value, evenly 

over its expected useful life. 

For depreciation purposes, useful lives are estimated as follows: 

Buildings, facilities   — 15–30 years 

Office equipment and furniture — 5 years 

Furniture and fixtures  — 5 years 

Motor vehicles and machinery — 5 years 

Decommissioning and environmental restoration provision 

The decommissioning and environmental restoration provision is calculated at the net present value of the total costs 

expected to be incurred at the end of the producing life of each field in the removal and decommissioning of the 

production, storage and transportation facilities currently in place. The cost of recognizing the provision is included as 

part of the cost of the relevant assets within exploration and development costs or property, plant and equipment and 

is charged to profit or loss on a unit of production basis. 

(n) Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 

The carrying amounts for intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment if events or 

changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If there are indicators of impairment, an 

exercise is undertaken to determine whether the carrying values are in excess of their recoverable amount. Such 

review is undertaken on an asset by asset basis, except where such assets do not generate cash flows independent of 

other assets, in which case the review is undertaken at the cash generating unit level. 

If the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds the recoverable amount, a provision is recorded 

to reflect the asset at the lower amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

Calculation of recoverable amount 

The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of their value in use and fair value less costs to sell. In assessing 

value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that 

does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined 

for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. The Group’s cash generating units are the smallest identifiable 

groups of assets that generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or 

groups of assets. 

Reversals of impairment 

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been 

recognised. 

(o) Inventories 

Inventories represent unsold natural gas and hydrocarbon liquids in storage and are recorded at the lower of cost or 

net realizable value on a first-in first-out basis. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 

of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. 

(p) Financial assets 

Financial assets are recognised when the Group becomes party to the contracts that give rise to them and are 

classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; loans and receivables; held-to maturity investments; or 

as available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at 

initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year-end. When 

financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, being the transaction price plus, in the case of 

financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. The Group considers 

whether a contract contains an embedded derivative when the entity first becomes a party to it. The embedded 

derivatives are separated from the host contract if they are not measured at fair value through profit or loss and when 

the economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract. Reassessment only occurs 

if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be 

required. 
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All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, being the date that the Group commits to 

purchase or sell the asset. Transactions require delivery of assets within the timeframe generally established by 

regulation or convention in the market place. The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their 

classification, as follows: 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 

an active market, do not qualify as trading assets and have not been designated as either fair value through profit and 

loss or available-for-sale. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method if the time value 

of money is significant. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are 

derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. 

Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables, which generally have 30-90 day terms, are recognised and carried at the lower of their original 

invoiced value and recoverable amount. Where the time value of money is material, receivables are carried at 

amortised cost. Provision is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to recover balances 

in full. Balances are written off when the probability of recovery is assessed as being remote. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include balances with banks and short-term investments with maturities of three months or 

less at the date acquired. 

(q) Impairment of financial assets 

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 

Assets carried at amortised cost 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the 

amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 

estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial 

asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying 

amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised in profit 

or loss. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to 

an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any 

subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss, to the extent that the carrying value of the 

asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. 

In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence (such as the 

probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the company owing the obligation) that the Group will not 

be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable 

is reduced through use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are assessed as 

irrecoverable. 

(r) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

Obligations for loans and borrowings are recognised when the Group becomes party to the related contracts and are 

measured initially at the fair value of consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs. 

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method. 

Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settlement or otherwise cancellation of liabilities are recognised 

respectively in finance income and finance cost. 

(s) Financial liabilities and equity 

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements 

entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after 

deducting all of its liabilities. 

(t) Equity Instruments 

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 
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Convertible debt 

Instruments where the holder has the option to redeem for cash or convert into a pre-determined quantity of equity 

instruments are classified as compound instruments in the balance sheet and presented partly as a liability and partly 

within equity. 

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for a 

similar non-convertible instrument. The difference between the proceeds of issue and the fair value assigned to the 

liability component, representing the embedded option to convert the liability into equity of the Group, is included in 

equity. 

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible debt based on their 

relative carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion relating to the equity component is charged directly against 

equity. 

The interest expense on the liability component is calculated by applying the prevailing market interest rates for similar 

non-convertible debt to the instrument. The difference between this amount and the interest paid is added to the 

carrying value of the convertible debt. 

(u) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 

A financial asset or liability is generally derecognised when the contract that gives rise to it is settled, sold, cancelled or 

expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 

terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 

derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, such that the difference in the respective 

carrying amounts together with any costs or fees incurred are recognised in profit or loss. 

(v) Employee benefit trust 

The Group operates an employee benefit trust (“EBT”) which holds shares in the Company. The Group record the 

assets and liabilities of the EBT as their own. The shares in the Company owned by the EBT are presented as a 

reduction in equity shareholders’ funds in the consolidated and parent company balance sheet and included in a 

separate negative reserve described as “Own shares held”. 

(w) Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 

affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities as well as the disclosure of contingent 

assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 

reporting period. Actual outcomes could differ from those estimates. 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made judgements that have a significant 

effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: 

Taxation 

The Company’s subsidiaries in Russia are subject to routine tax audits and also a process whereby tax computations 

are discussed and agreed with the appropriate authorities. Whilst the ultimate outcome of such tax audits and 

discussions cannot be determined with certainty, management estimates the level of provisions required for both 

current and deferred tax on the basis of professional advice and the nature of current discussions with the tax authority 

concerned. 

Share-based payments (Note 12) 

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 

instruments at the date at which they are granted. Judgement is required in determining the most appropriate valuation 

model for a grant of equity instruments, depending on the terms and conditions of the grant. Management is also 

required to use judgement in determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including expected life of 

the option, volatility and dividend yield. The assumptions and models used are disclosed in Note 12. 

Estimates and assumptions 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date 

that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 

next financial year are discussed below. 
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Fair value of acquisition 

Upon acquisition, assets and liabilities, including exploration and evaluation assets, are included in the financial 

statements at their fair value. The actual value that will be realised from exploration and evaluation assets is inherently 

uncertain and reflects a wide range of factors including but not limited to geographical and geophysical factors, future 

costs and commodity prices, the duration of the licence and its term and the availability of financial and other resources 

required to progress exploration and development activities. 

Impairment review of intangible assets and oil and gas plant and equipment (Notes 15 and 16) 

Management is required to assess the level of the Group’s commercial reserves, which are utilised in determining the 

depletion charge for the period and assessing whether any impairment charge is required. The Group utilizes 

independent experts and their own internal expertise to assess the commercial viability of reserves by estimating 

reserve data, future levels of production, future sales prices for products sold and future operating, development and 

decommissioning and environmental restoration costs. The estimates are based on management’s opinion that the 

licence can be extended past its current expiry date in 2025. 

Sub-soil licences (Note 15) 

The Group is subject to periodic reviews of its activities by governmental authorities in Russia with respect to the 

requirements of its sub-soil licences and seeks amendments to the licences when supported by the results of ongoing 

exploration and development activities. The requirements under the licences are subject to interpretation and 

enforcement policies of the relevant authorities. Management must use judgment in determining the extent and nature 

of work required to fulfill the licence requirements. 

Decommissioning and environmental restoration (Note 23) 

The Group operates in the upstream oil industry in the Russian Federation and its activities may have an impact on the 

environment. The enforcement of environmental regulations in the Russian Federation is evolving and the enforcement 

posture of government authorities is continually being reconsidered. The Group periodically evaluates its obligations 

related thereto. The outcome of environmental liabilities under proposed or future legislation, or as a result of stricter 

interpretation and enforcement of existing legislation, cannot reasonably be estimated at present, but could be 

material. 

3. Segment information 

The Group has only one operating and reportable segment as it operates in one principal area of activity being oil and 

gas exploration, development and production. The Group operates in one geographical region which is Russian 

Federation. Companies incorporated outside of Russia are mainly administrative centres which primarily support the 

operations in Russia.  

The revenue for the 6 months ending 30 June 2011 of 13.965 million USD was generated in Russia and includes gas 

sales of 10.426 million USD and condensate and oil sales of 3.539 million USD. All gas sales are to one customer 

under a long term contract with terms reviewed annually while condensate and oil are sold to different buyers under 

terms based on current market conditions. 

4. Revenue and other income 

 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 

31 December 

Unaudited 6 

months ended 

30 June 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Revenue from gas sales — — 7 — 10,426 

Revenue from crude oil and condensate sales 1,153 46 260 60 3,539 

Total revenue 1,153 46 267 60 13,965 

 

Interest on short-term deposits  1,749 250 19 12 5 

 

Revenue from gas sales is entirely generated through sales to Gazprom Open Joint Stock Company through its 

regional affiliate, Saratov Gas Company.   
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5. Operating expenses 

 

Year ended 31 

December 

Year ended 31 

December 

Year ended 31 

December 

Unaudited 6 

months ended 

30 June 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Repair and maintenance  141 870 195 99 218 

Depreciation, depletion and amortization 282 425 891 272 898 

Rental, heating and other operating costs 551 369 443 127 582 

Environmental and conservation  176 294 206 150 107 

Material and transport services  272 292 1,150 193 2,436 

Operations and property insurance  188 273 204 119 86 

Property, transport, environmental and 

water utilization taxes  279 243 521 210 1,134 

Expensed exploration and development 

costs  1,093 238 145 62 53 

Salaries and benefits  393 223 333 113 719 

Subsoil usage royalties  65 55 38 27 20 

Mineral extraction tax  601 46 14 14 2,146 

Other individually immaterial costs  188 43 154 28 290 

Land rental  23 39 70 30 48 

 4,252 3,410 4,364 1,444 8,737 

6. Administrative expenses 

 

Year ended 31 

December 

Year ended 31 

December 

Year ended 31 

December 

Unaudited 6 

months ended 

30 June 

6 months ended 

30 June 

 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Salaries and benefits  3,731 4,869 6,986 3,154 3,540 

Professional fees  3,092 2,930 3,348 1,599 2,220 

Office  1,081 1,280 1,615 676 729 

Travel and training  1,005 976 890 422 563 

Depreciation  144 171 182 90 109 

Insurance  92 65 231 24 33 

 9,145 10,291 13,252 5,965 7,194 

7. Auditors’ remuneration 

 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 31 

December 

Unaudited 6 

months ended 

30 June 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Auditors remuneration for services:      

   Statutory audit of Group accounts  132 150 152 13 223 

   Statutory audit of subsidiary’s’ accounts 159 138 40 40 19 

   Tax advisory and other non-audit 

   services  236 157 61 51 16 
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8. Other gains and losses 

 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 31 

December 

Unaudited 6 

months ended 

30 June 

6 months 

ended 30 June 

 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Exceptional operating items:      

   Impairment/(reversal of impairment)/ of 

intangible assets 4,919 (41) — — — 

   Reversal of impairment of property, plant 

and equipment — (1,602) — — — 

   Provision against prepayments (Note 19) 732 139 122 54 (88) 

Exchange (gain)/loss 382 (638) 178 163 (48) 

Sponsorships and charitable donations 272 201 121 77 117 

Other (gain)/loss 130 20 119 (25) 38 

 6,435 (1,921) 540 269 19 

The reversal of the impairment charges for 2009 is a reversal of a provision set up in 2007. The reversal is primarily for 

gas plant costs of 873 thousand USD that are now believed to have future value and for well drilling and re-entry costs 

of 770 thousand USD that the Group had not expected to be recovered based on production tests in 2007. During 

2009 the decision was made to re-enter the wells and apply further acid fracturing stimulation of old and new target 

zones and it has now been determined that the well costs will be recoverable through future production revenues.  

For 2008 the impairment provision was for the write off of drilling and testing costs for a dry hole. 

The provision against prepayments in the reporting period decreased by 88 thousand USD due to recovery of bad 

debts for which allowances were made in 2010. The provision in 2010 — 122 thousand USD, 6 months ended June 

2010 — 54 thousand USD, 2009 — 139 thousand USD, 2008 — 732 thousand USD is for advance payments on 

contracts where the services were not provided and costs are not recoverable. In 2008 costs primarily related to 

advances for design work on a de-sulfuring facility. 

The exchange (gain)/loss is the result of changes in exchange rates from the time a transaction is recorded until it is 

settled. The gain of 48 thousand USD (2010 — 178 thousand USD loss, 6 months ended June 2010 — 163 thousand 

USD loss, 2009 — 638 thousand USD gain, 2008 — 382 thousand USD loss) was incurred mainly by the parent 

company of the group. 

9. Finance costs 

 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 

31 December 

Unaudited 6 

months ended 

30 June 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Interest on non-current liabilities  455 113 — —  

Interest on short term borrowings  1 — — —  

Total Interest  456 113 — —  

Unwinding of discount on provisions (Note 24) 431 101 1,089 521 400 

Other finance costs  — 162 3,531 265 440 

 887 376 4,620 786 840 

For 2009 the interest on non-current liabilities relates to non-current borrowings (Note 22). For 2008 the interest relates 

primarily to a debt incurred on the acquisition of the minority interest of Royal Atlantic Energy (Cyprus) Limited 

(“RAECL”) that was paid out in 2008. Other finance costs relate to commitment charge on the EBRD loan facility in 

2009 and finance costs incurred in preparation for IPO in 2010 and first 6 month of 2011. The finance costs include 

unwinding of the discount on the decommissioning and environmental restoration provision (Note 23). 
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10. Directors’ emoluments 

Included in staff costs are directors’ emoluments of 1.557 million USD (2010 — 2.381 million USD, 6 months ended 30 

June 2010 — 1.309 million USD, 2009 — 2.192 million USD, 2008 — 1.231 million USD) and fees payable to non-

executive directors of 58 thousand USD (2010 — 66 thousand USD, 6 months ended 30 June 2010 — 16 thousand 

USD, 2009 — 23 thousand USD, 2008 — 35 thousand USD).  

The highest paid director’s emoluments was 1.106 million USD (2010 — 1.246 million USD, 6 months 30 June 2010 — 

689 thousand USD, 2009 — 1.084 million US, 2008 — 542 thousand USD) which includes an accrual for share based 

payments of 947 thousand USD (2010 — 796 thousand USD, 6 months 30 June 2010 — 398 thousand USD, 2009 — 

455 thousand USD, 2008 — 190 thousand USD). 

During 2009 the Company advanced funds to the Chief Operating Officer to cover employment taxes in Russia. At 

31 December 2009 the Company had advances receivable of 133 thousand USD as a result of the actual Russian 

employment tax liability being less than originally estimated. All advances were recovered in 2010 and there were no 

advances receivable at 30 June 2011 (2008 – nil). 

11. Staff costs 

 

Year ended 31 

December 

Year ended 31 

December 

Year ended 31 

December 

Unaudited 6 

months ended 

30 June 

6 months ended 

30 June 

 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Wages and salaries  2,772 3,424 5,816 2,183 2,722 

Share-based payment benefits 434 832 1,172 686 947 

Social security costs  581 657 795 477 515 

Rental benefits  393 354 383 164 172 

 4,180 5,267 8,166 3,510 4,356 

Total salaries and benefits for the Group for the period ended 30 June 2011 includes 719 thousand USD (2010 — 333 

thousand USD, 6 months ended 30 June 2010 — 113 thousand USD, 2009 — 223 thousand USD, 2008 — 

393 thousand USD) recorded as operating expenses, 3.540 million USD (2010 — 6.986 million USD, 6 months ended 

30 June 2010 — 3.154 million USD, 2009 — 4.869 million USD, 2008 — 3.731 million USD) included in administrative 

expenses and 97 thousand USD (2010 — 847 thousand USD, 6 months ended 30 June 2010 — 243 thousand USD, 

2009 — 175 thousand USD, 2008 — 56 thousand USD) recorded as seismic, development, and drilling included in 

intangible assets and construction costs included in PP&E. 

The average monthly number of employees (including executive directors) for the period for the Group was as follows: 

 

Year ended 31 

December 

Year ended 31 

December 

Year ended 31 

December 

Unaudited 6 

months ended 

30 June 

6 months 

ended 30 June 

 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

Operations  42 38 89 78 95 

Head office and administration 57 65 76 52 148 

 99 103 165 130 243 

The Group does not have any employee retirement or pension benefit plan; however, funds are paid into the required 

government pension funds or social benefit programmes for all its employees as they arise. 
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12. Share-based payments 

The Company grants awards of shares to staff as reward for past service and incentive to continue to work for the 

Group.  The shares are normally held jointly with the employee and the Employee Benefit Trust awarded at fair market 

value to senior management and key employees of the Company at nil cost.  The share awards vest at specified time 

intervals and vesting is dependent on staff remaining in full employment with the Company for a three year period.  

The awards are equity settled. 

The fair value of the share awards was estimated at the grant date using a Black-Scholes simulation model, taking into 

account the terms and conditions upon which the awards were granted. 

The following table shows details of share awards outstanding at period end: 

 

Year ended 31 

December 

Year ended 31 

December 

Year ended 31 

December 

Unaudited 6 

months ended 

30 June 

6 months 

ended 30 June 

 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

As at 1 January  1,460,000 1,960,000 2,460,000 2,460,000 3,800,000 

Granted during the period  500,000 500,000 1,340,000 — — 

As at end of period  1,960,000 2,460,000 3,800,000 2,460,000 3,800,000 

Vested at end of period  — 896,667 2,820,000 1,316,667 3,688,333 

The following table lists the inputs to the Black-Scholes model ($ amounts are USD): 

 

Year 

ended 31 

December 

Year 

ended 31 

December 

Year 

ended 31 

December 

Unaudited 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

Award grant date  1 October 1 October 20 July — — 

Number of awards  500,000 500,000 1,340,000 — — 

Fair value at grant date  $1.52 $1.52 $1.52 — — 

Share price at grant date  $1.53 $1.53 $1.53 — — 

Amount payable by executive  $nil $nil $3.05 — — 

Risk free rate  6% 6% 6% — — 

Dividend yield  nil nil nil — — 

Expected volatility  38.3% 32.7% 29.7% — — 

Expected life of awards  2 years 2 years 1.5 years — — 

Weighted average remaining contractual life 

of share options at the end of the year  1.6 years 1.1 years 0.96 years 0.9 years 0.3 years 

Expected volatility is based on historic share price movements. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the 

historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be the actual outcome. Maximum term for 

the awards is three years. For key employees the probability that not all the awards will vest due to the resignation was 

set in 2010 and the first half of 2011 at 0% (2009 – 20%, 2008 – 20%). No other features of options’ terms were 

incorporated into the measurement of fair value. 

The following table lists liabilities arising from share-based payment transactions (amounts are in thousand USD): 

 

Year 

ended 31 

December 

Year 

ended 31 

December 

Year 

ended 31 

December 

Unaudited 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

Charge to equity on share-based awards 594 1,426 2,598 2,112 3,545 

Intrinsic value of vested awards — 852 1,959 1,278 2,724 
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The expense recognized for share-based payments in respect of employee services received during the period is 

947 thousand USD (2010 — 1,172 thousand USD, 6 months ended 30 June 2010 — 686 thousand USD, 2009 — 

832 thousand USD, 2008 — 434 thousand USD). 

Share options 

In the first 6 months of 2011 and 2010 no shares were approved as compensation to key employees and the senior 

management of the Group.  In 2010, 1,340,000 of such shares were approved (2009 – 500,000 shares, 2008 – 

500,000 shares) subject to vesting conditions being met, such shares vesting over a three year period from the date 

set in the joint operating agreements between employees and the EBT. No actual shares were issued to the EBT for 

the first 6 months of 2011 and 2010 (2010 - 1,840,000 shares, 2009 – 1,960,000 shares, 2008 — nil). 
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13. Tax 

The tax charge for the year comprises: 

 

Year ended 

31 

December 

Year ended 

31 

December 

Year ended 

31 

December 

Unaudited 6 

months 

ended 30 

June 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Current tax—UK tax  — 1,495 (1,495) — — 

Current tax—foreign tax  26 36 — — — 

Deferred tax  (5,600) (190) (1,486) (474) 771 

 (5,574) 1,341 (2,981) (474) 771 

The income tax benefit in the statement of comprehensive income is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in 

the UK of 26.5% (2010 and 2009 — 28%, 2008 — 28.5%). The differences are reconciled below: 

 

Year ended 

31 

December 

Year ended 

31 

December 

Year ended 

31 

December 

Unaudited 6 

months 

ended 30 

June 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Loss before taxation  (17,817) (11,860) (22,490) (8,392) (2,820) 

Tax at applicable rate of tax of 26.5% (2010 

and 2009 – 28%, 2008—28.5%)  (5,078) (3,321) (6,297) (2,350) (747) 

Tax effect of:      

—unrecognized tax losses  1,143 1,341 3,492 991 1,374 

—effect of different foreign tax rates  498 202 606 238 (244) 

—effect of change in tax rate  404 — — — — 

—items which are not deductible for tax  591 985 661 304 193 

—income/(expense) which is not taxable  22 (180) — 85 — 

—derecognition of items from prior year  166 308 52 — — 

—foreign exchange (gain)/loss  (3,320) 458 — (115) — 

—other  — 1,548 (1,495) 373 195 

Total tax (benefit)/expense reported in profit 

or loss  (5,574) 1,341 (2,981) (474) 771 

The effect of different foreign tax rates is the result of losses incurred in subsidiaries located in countries where lower 

levels of tax rates are applied. 

As at 30 June 2011, the group has unrecognised deferred tax assets which arose in the UK of 20.310 million USD 

(2010 — 16.386 million USD, 6 months ended 30 June 2010 — 15.487 million USD, 2009 — 11.949 million USD, 2008 

— 7.899 million USD), in the US of 2.128 million USD, (2010 — 1.623 million USD, 6 months ended 30 June 2010 — 

1.135 million USD, 2009 — 727 thousand USD, 2008 — 579 thousand USD) in Russia of 1.994 million USD (2010 —

1.994 million USD, 6 months 30 ended June 2010 — 1.998 million USD, 2009 — 1.882 million USD, 2008 — 2.200 

million USD). 

Deferred tax has not been provided for these losses on the basis that it is not sufficiently certain there will be adequate 

taxable profits arising in the future to offset against the tax losses. The losses incurred in the UK are available to carry 

forward indefinitely for offset against future taxable profits. The losses arising in the US will expire 20 years from the 

year incurred; the losses arising in Russia will expire 10 years from the year incurred. 

 

Deferred tax 

 

The deferred tax included in the balance sheet is as follows: 
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Year ended 

31 

December 

Year ended 

31 

December 

Year ended 

31 

December 

Unaudited 6 

months 

ended 30 

June 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Deferred tax assets      

—tax losses carried forward  4,430 6,180 8,926 7,671 9,020 

—current assets — 1,072 518 508 455 

—other allowances 231 — — 25 — 

—property, plant and equipment 

 

849 

 

— 

 

334 

 

— 

 

511 

 

Deferred tax liabilities      

—intangible assets — (1,633) (2,950) (2,382) (3,360) 

—property, plant and equipment — (230) — (123) — 

—current assets (166) — — — — 

 5,344 5,389 6,828 5,699 6,626 

The movement in the net deferred tax asset in the consolidated financial statements is as follows: 

 

Year ended 

31 

December 

Year ended 

31 

December 

Year ended 

31 

December 

Unaudited 6 

months 

ended 30 

June 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

As at 1 January  784 5,344 5,389 5,389 6,828 

Credited to profit or loss 5,600 190 1,486 474 (771) 

Net exchange adjustment (1,040) (145) (47) (164) 569 

As at year end 5,344 5,389 6,828 5,699 6,626 

A net deferred tax asset has been recognised on the basis that there will be sufficient taxable profits, based on the 

group’s profit forecast, against which these temporary differences can be utilised. 
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The deferred tax included in profit or loss is as follows: 

 

Year ended 

31 

December 

Year ended 

31 

December 

Year ended 

31 

December 

Unaudited 6 

months 

ended 30 

June 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Deferred tax assets      

—tax losses carried forward  (4,826) (1,755) (2,804) (1,772) — 

—property, plant and equipment (1,337) — (562) (48) (146) 

—current assets — (1,375) — 521 — 

 

Deferred tax liabilities      

—intangible assets — 1,633 1,326 — 657 

—property, plant and equipment — 1,078 — — — 

—other allowances 159 229 — 811 260 

—current assets — — 554 — — 

—effect from change in tax rate 404 — — 14 — 

 (5,600) (190) (1,486) (474) 771 

 

14. Loss per share 

The calculation of basic loss per ordinary share is based on the loss for the period and the weighted average number 

of shares in issue. 

 

Year ended 31 

December 

Year ended 31 

December 

Year ended 31 

December 

Unaudited 6 

months 

ended 30 

June 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Loss for the purposes of basic loss 

per share 12,243 13,201 19,509 7,918 3,591 

Weighted average number of 

ordinary shares for the purposes of 

basic loss per share 148,456,397 175,280,273 186,143,458 182,079,178 186,970,198 

Loss per share:      

Basic 0.08 0.07 0.10 0.04 0.02 

Diluted 0.08 0.07 0.10 0.04 0.02 

As the Group has made a loss in the period, basic and diluted loss per share are equal. 

 



Vostok Energy Plc 

 Interim Report and Financial Statements 2011 

 

 23  

 

 

15. Intangible assets 

 Exploration and evaluation expenditures 

 

Sub-soil 

licence 

rights 

Drilling, 

seismic & 

other costs 

Sub-soil 

licenses Total 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Cost:     

Balance at 1 January 2008 1,000 25,888 32,970 59,858 

Translation differences — (2,635) (11) (2,646) 

Additions — 9,301 9 9,310 

Transfers — (15,612) (15,364) (30,976) 

At 31 December 2008 1,000 16,942 17,604 35,546 

2009     

Translation differences — (16) (2) (18) 

Additions (write-offs)  (1,000) 6,831 — 5,831 

31 December 2009 — 23,757 17,602 41,359 

2010     

Translation differences — (201) (21) (222) 

Additions — 22,397 — 22,397 

At 31 December 2010 — 45,953 17,581 63,534 

2011     

Translation differences — 3,646 8 3,654 

Additions — 7,687 25 7,712 

At 30 June 2011 — 57,286 17,614 74,900 

     

Amortisation and impairment:     

At 1 January 2008 (1,000) (1,651) (7) (2,658) 

Translation differences — (231) 3 (228) 

Amortisation for the year — — (3) (3) 

Impairment charge — (4,919) — (4,919) 

Transfers — 1,651 — 1,651 

At 31 December 2008 (1,000) (5,150) (7) (6,157) 

2009     

Amortisation for the year — — (10) (10) 

Reversal of impairment charge — 41 — 41 

Write-offs 1,000 — — 1,000 

At 31 December 2009 — (5,109) (17) (5,126) 

2010     

Amortisation for the year — (260) (8) (268) 

At 31 December 2010 — (5,369) (25) (5,394) 

2011     

Translation differences — (25) (4) (29) 

Amortisation for the period — (141) (3) (144) 

At 30 June 2011 — (5,535) (32) (5,567) 

     

Net book value:     

At 31 December 2008 — 11,792 17,597 29,389 

At 31 December 2009 — 18,648 17,585 36,233 

At 31 December 2010 — 40,584 17,556 58,140 

At 30 June 2011 — 51,751 17,582 69,333 
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The sub-soil licence rights related to Zhaikinvest, a subsidiary of the Group, for a licence to operate in Kazakhstan. The 

decision was made not to proceed with this project and the asset was fully provided for in 2007 and written off in 2009. 

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss as part of operating expenses (Note 5). Impairment and reversal of 

impairment provisions are recognised in profit or loss as part of other gains and losses (Note 8). 

During 2008, the Group transferred 30.976 million USD of exploration and evaluation costs net of impairment 

allowances of 1.651 million USD to property, plant and equipment in accordance with IFRS 6. Upon completing the 

required tests for impairment, the Board determined that based on the reserve report from the independent engineers 

and the financings completed during 2008, the development of the western area of the licence had achieved both 

technical feasibility and commercial viability in 2008. 

Included in sub-soil licenses is the Bortovoy license, which is the license area that the Group operates, located in the 

Saratov region of Russia.  The sale of the license and the sale of major assets belonging to the Group are restricted 

pursuant to the convertible loan agreement and the conditional convertible bond agreement (Note 22). 

In management’s opinion, as at 30 June 2011, there were no serious non-compliance issues in respect of the licenses 

that would have an adverse effect on the financial position or the operating results of the Group. 
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16. Property, plant and equipment 

 

Oil and 

gas assets 

Motor 

vehicles 

Other 

equipment 

and 

furniture Total 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Cost:     

At 1 January 2008 3,436 439 368 4,243 

Translation differences (6,528) (78) (16) (6,622) 

Transfer from intangible assets 30,976 — — 30,976 

Additions 33,189 100 98 33,387 

Disposals (204) (61) — (265) 

At 31 December 2008 60,869 400 450 61,719 

2009     

Translation differences 1,678 (11) 142 1,809 

Additions 98,700 33 12 98,745 

Disposals (158) (10) (7) (175) 

At 31 December 2009 161,089 412 597 162,098 

2010     

Translation differences (985) (1) (1) (987) 

Additions 55,478 65 55 55,598 

Disposals (3,747) — (2) (3,749) 

At 31 December 2010 211,835 476 649 212,960 

2011     

Translation differences 14,982 44 11 15,037 

Additions 19,399 341 33 19,773 

Disposals (1,662) (91) (2) (1,755) 

At 30 June 2011 244,554 770 691 246,015 

Depreciation, Depletion and Impairment:     

Accumulated balance at 1 January 2008 (158) (45) (75) (278) 

Translation differences (78) (11) 4 (85) 

Depreciation and depletion (252) (89) (95) (436) 

Disposals 20 32 — 52 

Transfer from intangible assets (1,651) — — (1,651) 

At 31 December 2008 (2,119) (113) (166) (2,398) 

2009     

Translation differences (9) — (12) (21) 

Depreciation and depletion (451) (78) (119) (648) 

Disposals 8 7 3 18 

Reversal of impairment charge 1,602 — — 1,602 

At 31 December 2009 (969) (184) (294) (1,447) 

2010     

Depreciation and depletion (870) (87) (126) (1,083) 

Disposals 1 — 2 3 

At 31 December 2010 (1,838) (271) (418) (2,527) 

2011     

Translation differences (117) (22) (7) (146) 

Depreciation and depletion (1,296) (67) (74) (1,437) 

Disposals 82 36 — 118 

At 30 June 2011 (3,169) (324) (499) (3,992) 

Net book value:     

At 31 December 2008 58,750 287 284 59,321 

At 31 December 2009 160,120 228 303 160,651 

At 31 December 2010 209,997 205 231 210,433 

At 30 June 2011 241,385 446 192 242,023 
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Depletion is charged to profit or loss through operating expenses (Note 5). Depreciation is charged to profit or loss 

through operating expenses (Note 5) and administrative expenses (Note 6). During the period 75 thousand USD (2010 

— 278 thousand USD, 2009 — 62 thousand USD, 2008 — 13 thousand USD) of depreciation of plant infrastructure 

was capitalized and included as additions to property plant and equipment. 

The sale of all or a substantial part of the assets belonging to the Group is restricted pursuant to the convertible loan 

agreement and the conditional convertible bond agreement (Note 22). 

The amount of interest capitalized into property, plant and equipment was 6.051 million USD (2010 — 3.509 million 

USD, 2009 — 68 thousand USD, 2008 — nil). 

17. Trade and other receivables — non-current 

 

Year 

ended 31 

December 

Year 

ended 31 

December 

Year 

ended 31 

December 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Other receivables 5,072 8,659 3,043 — 

Prepayments 13,548 4,771 5,950 4,553 

 18,620 13,430 8,993 4,553 

Prepayments are advance payments on contracts for capital projects relating to exploration, development and 

production and therefore classified as non-current assets. Other receivables are for value added taxes which are to be 

used as an offset against future value added tax liabilities but are expected to be recovered after twelve months. 

18. Inventories 

 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 

31 December 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Natural gas and hydrocarbon liquids 55 33 60 71 

 55 33 60 71 

Inventory represents amounts of natural gas and hydrocarbon liquids held in storage pending sales to customers.  
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19. Trade receivables and other receivables—current 

 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 

31 December 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Tax receivables 635 10,164 20,017 12,772 

Prepayments 1,449 4,629 2,222 2,053 

Other 198 345 401 680 

Trade receivables 89 2 115 800 

 2,371 15,140 22,755 16,305 

Prepayments are advance payments for services to be rendered within the next twelve months. Tax receivables relate 

primarily to value added tax payments that are expected to be recovered within the next twelve months. 

The amounts shown in prepayments are net of provisions as the Group does not expect to recover advance payments 

on the related contracts. Movements in the provision were as follows: 

 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 

31 December 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

At 1 January 605 1,068 1,004 894 

Charge for the period 732 139 122 (88) 

Amounts written off (269) (203) (232) 66 

At the end of the period  1,068 1,004 894 872 

 

No trade receivables have been pledged as security for any credit facilities. 

20. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash is kept on deposit with banks and earns interest at the daily deposit rates or placed in short-term deposits such 

as money market funds which can be redeemed upon demand. At 30 June 2011 the cash and cash equivalents 

totalled 6.313 million USD (2010 — 18.147 million USD, 6 months ended 30 June 2010 — 19.172 million USD, 

2009 — 18.361 million USD, 2008 — 85.470 million USD). 
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21. Current liabilities 

 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 

31 December 

Year ended 

31 December 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Trade payables 2,336 3,421 8,351 6,215 

Accruals and other payables 339 1,171 2,403 5,383 

Current tax payable — 1,495 — — 

 2,675 6,087 10,754 11,598 

22. Non-current borrowings 

  

Year ended 

31 

December 

Year ended 

31 

December 

Year ended 

31 

December 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 

Effective 

Interest Rate 2008 2009 2010 2011 

  USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Net amounts due in less than 5 years:      

Convertible loan issued 18 September 2009 LIBOR + 4% — 3,183 51,923 53,159 

Convertible bond issued 13 October 2010  10% — — 46,111 46,111 

Energy Growth Management Services 6% 1,760 — — — 

Logan Energy Resources Inc. LIBOR + 3% 408 — — — 

      

  2,168 3,183 98,034 99,271 

Net amounts due in more than 5 years:      

Convertible debt LIBOR + 4% — 4,405 — — 

  2,168 7,588 98,034 99,271 

      

Convertible loan comprises:      

Drawdown of the loan  — 10,000 60,000 60,000 

Equity element  — (1,964) (6,048) (6,048) 

  — 8,036 53,952 53,952 

Cost of borrowing  — (516) (5,538) (6,844) 

Capitalized interest  — 68 3,509 6,051 

Net convertible loan  — 7,588 51,923 53,159 

 

Convertible bond comprises:      

Drawdown of the bond  — — 50,000 50,000 

Cost of borrowing  — — (3,889) (3,889) 

Capitalized interest  — — — — 

Net convertible bond   — — 46,111 46,111 

 

On 18 September 2009 the Company entered into a convertible loan agreement to borrow up to 60 million USD. The 

convertible loan was drawn down in full at 31 December 2010. 

The loan is convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at any time up to 18 March 2012 at the loan holder’s 

option. Conversions done prior to 19 March 2011 are to be converted at a price of 3.0531 USD per share. From 

19 March 2011 to 18 March 2012, the loan is convertible at 3.0531 USD per share plus a pro-rated amount of margin 

payments at 4% interest made up to the time of the conversion. For any unconverted amounts, the loan is to be repaid 

in six equal semi-annual installments beginning 15 June 2013 and ending on 15 December 2015. 
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On 13 October 2010 the Company entered into a convertible bond agreement (the “bond”) to borrow up to 50 million 

USD. The bond was drawn down in full at 31 December 2010.  

The bond is convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at any time up to 6 April 2013 at the bondholder’s option. 

To determine the number of ordinary shares received upon conversion, the amount of the bond to be converted is 

divided by the share price paid by investors for ordinary shares of the Company at the time of a Qualifying Initial Public 

Offering (the “QIPO”) as defined in the convertible bond agreement. At the Company’s option, the conversion of the 

bond can be forced if the ordinary shares of the Company trade at a value of 50% above the QIPO price for at least 20 

dealing days in any period of 30 consecutive dealing days any time prior to 6 April 2013. For any unconverted 

amounts, the bond is to be repaid in full in one installment on 13 April 2013.  

The net proceeds received from the issue of the convertible loan are split between a debt component and an 

embedded equity element. The fair value of the convertible loan for the drawdowns taken in 2010 has been calculated 

as the present value of the contracted future cash flows using an assumed market interest rate of LIBOR plus 7% 

(2009 — 9%). The equity element is calculated as the difference between the principal amount and the fair value of the 

convertible loan. The fair value of the convertible bond drawdown has been calculated at the present value of the 

contracted future cash flows using an assumed market interest rate of 12%.  

The interest charged for the year for the convertible loan and bond is calculated by applying the effective market 

interest rate of the assumed market interest rate to the liability component for the period since the convertible loan or 

bond was drawn-down. The short term part of the convertible loan calculated at amortized cost using the effective 

interest rate is negative. 
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23. Decommissioning provision 

 

Year 

ended 31 

December 

Year 

ended 31 

December 

Year 

ended 31 

December 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Beginning of period 245 675 9,900 7,922 

Change in provision 126 5,917 588 48 

Unwinding of discount 431 101 1,089 400 

Reserve adjustment due to estimates change — 2,931 (3,599) (1,186) 

Translation of differences (127) 276 (56) 663 

 675 9,900 7,922 7,847 

The provision is for decommissioning and environmental restoration costs relating to the Bortovoy licence. The 

decrease in the provision recorded in 2011 of 75 thousand USD (2010 – 1.978 million USD) was due to the revision of 

inflation and discount rates used in the calculation of the present value of future decommissioning and environment 

restoration costs. The increase in the provision recorded in 2009 of 9.225 million USD was primarily for forecasted 

decommissioning and dismantling costs related to the gas processing plant and related infrastructure. 

Under the current levels of enforcement of existing legislation, management believes there are no significant liabilities 

in addition to amounts which are already accrued and which would have a material adverse effect on the financial 

position of the Group. 

The liability becomes payable at the end of the useful life of each well and the gas plant which ranges from 20 to 30 

years. 
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24. Equity 

Authorised and issued share capital 

 

As at 31 

December 

As at 30 

June 

 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Ordinary shares of USD 0.01 each 2,500 2,500 

For 2008 the authorised share capital of the Company was 200,000,000 shares. In 2009, the shareholders approved 

an increase in the authorised share capital to 250,000,000 shares. 

Allotted, called up and fully paid Ordinary Shares 

Share 

capital 

Share 

Premium 

Own 

shares held 

 No. USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

At 1 January 2008 114,655,000 90,865 1,147 89,675 — 

Share issue 20 May 2008 52,413,760 160,000 524 159,476 — 

Share issue 21 July 2008 3,000,000 9,158 30 9,128 — 

Share issue costs — — — (6,084) — 

At 31 December 2008 170,068,760 260,023 1,701 252,195 — 

2009      

Share issue 20 January 2009 1,460,000 4,457 14 4,443 (4,457) 

Share issue 15 June 2009 500,000 1,526 5 1,521 (1,526) 

Share issue 24 September 2009 13,101,438 40,000 131 39,869 — 

Share issue costs — — — (2,354) — 

At 31 December 2009 185,130,198 306,006 1,851 295,674 (5,983) 

2010      

Share premium reduction 30 June 2010 — — — (250,000) — 

Share issue 20 July 2010 1,840,000 5,607 19 5,598 (5,617) 

Share issue costs — — — (703) — 

At 31 December 2010 186,970,198 311,613 1,870 50,569 (11,600) 

2011      

At 30 June 2011 186,970,198 311,613 1,870 50,569 (11,600) 

 

Own shares held 

The Company has approval to transfer up to 4,460,000 shares to the EBT for allocation to officers and employees of 

the Group. The formal establishment of the EBT was completed on 20 January 2009. In 2011 no shares were issued 

pursuant to the EBT (2010 — 1,840,000, 2009 — 1,960,000, 2008 — nil). For presentation purposes, the shares held 

in the EBT are included as own shares held. 

On 30 June 2010 the Company reduced the share premium account by 250 million USD as part of the process of 

converting to a public liability company. 
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Currency translation reserve 

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the 

financial statements of subsidiaries whose functional currency are not in US Dollars into the Group’s presentation 

currency. 

Share option reserve 

The share option reserve relates to the fair value of the equity settled share based payments that have been expensed 

through profit or loss. 

Equity element of convertible debt 

The equity element of convertible debt is the difference between the principal amount and the fair value of the loan and 

bond convertible debts reflecting values of the convertible option of the debt instruments 

25. Acquisition of non-controlling interest in RAECL 

On 24 July 2007, the Company entered into a transaction to acquire the remaining 30% non-controlling interest 

shareholdings in RAECL for 28 million USD. The terms included an 8 million USD cash payment and a deferred 

payment of 20 million USD. On 21 July 2008, the Company paid out its debt obligation of 21.5 million USD which 

included interest of 1.5 million USD. The terms of the payment were 12.3 million USD in cash and 3,000,000 shares in 

the Company valued at 9.2 million USD. 

26. Operating lease obligations 

Operating lease payments are mainly rentals by the Group for land, office space and equipment required for use on a 

temporary basis. Leases are normally signed on a short term basis of one to two years with options to extend. 

Lease payments under operating leases recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the period were 758 

thousand USD (2010 — 1.021 million, 6 months ended 30 June 2010 — 465 thousand USD, 2009 — 918 thousand 

USD, 2008 — 748 thousand USD). 

At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows: 

 

As at 31 

December 

As at 31 

December 

As at 31 

December 

As at 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Within one year 507 510 781 712 

In two to five years 109 35 243 247 

More than five years — 201 191 207 
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27. Financial instruments 

Financial instruments recognised in the balance sheet 

 

Loans and 

receivables 

Other 

financial 

liabilities at 

amortised 

cost Total 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

As at 30 June 2011    

Financial assets    

Trade and other receivables  800 — 800 

Cash and cash equivalents 6,313 — 6,313 

 7,113 — 7,113 

Financial liabilities    

Trade payables — 6,215 6,215 

Non-current borrowings — 99,271 99,271 

 — 105,486 105,486 

As at 31 December 2010    

Financial assets    

Trade and other receivables  299 — 299 

Cash and cash equivalents 18,147 — 18,147 

 18,446 — 18,446 

Financial liabilities    

Trade payables — 8,351 8,351 

Non-current borrowings — 98,034 98,034 

 — 106,385 106,385 

As at 31 December 2009    

Financial assets    

Trade and other receivables  205 — 205 

Cash and cash equivalents 18,361 — 18,361 

 18,556 — 18,556 

Financial liabilities    

Trade payables — 3,421 3,421 

Non-current borrowings — 7,588 7,588 

 — 11,009 11,009 

As at 31 December 2008    

Financial assets    

Trade and other receivables  287 — 287 

Cash and cash equivalents 85,470 — 85,470 

 85,757 — 85,757 

Financial liabilities    

Trade payables — 2,336 2,336 

Non-current borrowings — 2,168 2,168 

 — 4,504 4,504 

The Group had no financial instruments held at fair value through profit and loss, held to maturity or available for sale 

and no derivatives used for hedging. 

The main financial risks faced by the Group through its normal business activities are credit risk, foreign currency risk, 

liquidity risk and interest rate risk. 
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Interest rate risk 

The Group has financial assets and liabilities which are exposed to interest rate risk. Changes in interest rates 

impacting borrowings change either their fair value (fixed rate borrowings) or their future cash flows (floating rate 

borrowings). 

Whilst fixed rate interest bearing borrowings are not exposed to cash flow interest rate risk, there is no opportunity for 

the Group to enjoy a reduction in borrowing costs in markets where rates are falling. In addition, the fair value risk 

inherent in fixed rate borrowing means that the Group is exposed to unplanned costs should borrowings be 

restructured or repaid early as part of the liquidity management process. In contrast, whilst floating rate borrowings are 

not exposed to changes in fair value, the Group is exposed to cash flow risk as costs increase if market rates rise. 

Interest on financial instruments classified as floating rate is re-priced at intervals of less than one year. Interest on 

financial instruments classified as fixed rate is fixed until the maturity of the instrument. The other financial instruments 

of the Group that are not included in the tables below are non-interest bearing and are therefore not subject to interest 

rate risk. 

The following tables set out the carrying amount, by maturity of the Group’s financial instruments that are exposed to 

interest rate risk: 

 

Within 

1 year 1–2 years 3+ years Total 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

As at 30 June 2011     

Floating rate     

Cash and cash equivalents 6,313 — — 6,313 

Borrowings — (68,314) (30,957) (99,271) 

As at 31 December 2010     

Floating rate     

Cash and cash equivalents 18,147 — — 18,147 

Borrowings — 2,152 (100,186) (98,034) 

As at 31 December 2009     

Floating rate     

Cash and cash equivalents 18,361 — — 18,361 

Borrowings — 440 (8,028) (7,588) 

As at 31 December 2008     

Fixed rate     

Borrowings — (1,760) — (1,760) 

Floating rate     

Cash and cash equivalents 85,470 — — 85,470 

Borrowings — (408) — (408) 

A one percent increase/decrease in interest rates on floating rate assets and liabilities would have 

decreased/increased property, plant and equipment by 291 thousand USD (2010 – 449 thousand USD). In 2009 a one 

percent increase/decrease in interest rates on floating rate assets and liabilities would have decreased/increased loss 

before taxation by 4 thousand USD (2008 — nil) and would impact the Group’s equity by the same value. 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the potential exposure of the Group to loss in the event of non-performance by a counter-party. The 

amount that best represents the maximum credit exposure of the Group’s financial assets is the carrying value of the 

financial assets at the balance sheet date. 

This risk arises principally from cash and cash equivalents. Management’s policy is to hold cash and cash equivalents 

in reputable financial institutions of which 51.5% (2010 — 91.9%, 6 months ended 30 June 2010 — 73.8%, 2009 — 

66.4%, 2008 — 96.3%) of cash and cash equivalents are held in reputable financial institutions in the UK. To limit 

exposure to credit risk on trade receivables, management’s policy is to use prepayments or payment upon delivery for 

product sales whenever possible. The average credit period taken on sale of goods is less than fourteen days. There 
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have been no instances of default in the past on the trade receivables from the customers, therefore there is no 

allowance for estimated irrecoverable amounts from sale of goods for the period ending 30 June 2011 (2010 — nil, 6 

months ended 30 June 2010 — nil, 2009 — nil, 2008 — nil). 

Maximum credit risk exposure relating to financial assets is represented by carrying value as at the balance sheet date. 

Provisions for doubtful debts are recognised against prepayments based on estimated irrecoverable amounts 

determined by reference to past default experience of the counterparty and an analysis of the counterparty’s current 

financial position. The movements in the provisions against prepayments are presented in the Note 19. 

Foreign currency risk 

Fluctuations in exchange rates can have significant effects on the Group’s reported profit or loss. The Group’s financial 

assets and liabilities give rise to transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from transactions in a 

currency other than the Group’s functional currency. 

The Group’s primary operations are within Russia where the functional currency of the Group’s subsidiaries is the 

Russian Ruble. The currencies giving rise to this foreign currency risk are US Dollar based intra-group borrowings and 

payables. The recent instability of the Russian Ruble to US dollar has increased the risks of significant unrealized 

gains and losses associated with the intra-group borrowings. To mitigate this risk the Group has restructured the 

majority of intra-group borrowings to Ruble based loans using Group companies with Ruble functional currencies.  

Cash balances in the Group are usually held in US dollars, but smaller amounts may be held in pounds sterling or local 

currencies to meet operating and administrative expenses or to comply with local legislation. The Group does not have 

formal arrangements to mitigate foreign exchange risks on cash balances at this time however as circumstances 

dictate, the Group considers hedging positions to protect the value of any cash balances it holds in non-US dollar 

currency or to protect against exchange fluctuations on future non-US dollar denominated commitments or obligations. 

The following table demonstrates the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk based on gross amounts: 

 US dollar 

Pounds 

sterling 

Canadian 

dollar Euro 

Russian 

ruble Total 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

As at 30 June 2011       

Cash and cash equivalents 2,850 398 — — 3,065 6,313 

Trade and other receivables  — — — — 800 800 

Trade payables (254) (865) (26) (2) (5,068) (6,215) 

Borrowings (99,271) — — — — (99,271) 

 (96,675) (467) (26) (2) (1,203) (98,373) 

As at 31 December 2010       

Cash and cash equivalents 16,536 188 — 1 1,422 18,147 

Trade and other receivables  30 72 — — 197 299 

Trade payables (2,577) (1,041) — (13) (4,720) (8,351) 

Borrowings (98,034) — — — — (98,034) 

 (84,045) (781) — (12) (3,101) (87,939) 

As at 31 December 2009       

Cash and cash equivalents 12,601 174 — — 5,586 18,361 

Trade and other receivables  30 172 — — 3 205 

Trade payables (828) (86) — (9) (2,498) (3,421) 

Borrowings (7,588) — — — — (7,588) 

 4,215 260 — (9) 3,091 7,557 

As at 31 December 2008       

Cash and cash equivalents 82,484 269 — — 2,717 85,470 

Trade and other receivables  — 107 — — 90 197 

Trade payables (301) (255) (34) (71) (1,675) (2,336) 

Borrowings (2,168) — — — — (2,168) 

 80,015 121 (34) (71) 1,132 81,163 
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A 10 percent strengthening of the US dollar against the following currencies would have decreased loss before tax and 

impacted the Group’s equity by the amounts shown below. For a 10 per cent strengthening of the US dollar against the 

Canadian dollar or euro, there is no significant impact on loss before tax or on the Group’s equity. This analysis 

assumes that all other variables remain constant and the analysis is performed on the same basis for 2009 and 2008. 

 

Effect on loss 

before tax/equity 

 USD ’000 

6 month period ended 30 June 2011  

Pounds sterling 47 

Russian ruble 120 

Year ended 31 December 2010  

Pounds sterling 78 

Russian ruble  310 

Year ended 31 December 2009  

Pounds sterling (26) 

Russian ruble  (309) 

Year ended 31 December 2008  

Pounds sterling (12) 

Russian ruble (113) 

A ten percent weakening of US dollar against the above currencies would have had an equal but opposite effect on the 

basis that all other variables remain constant. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that sources of funding for the Group’s business activities may not be available. 

Management is continually monitoring cash requirements for the Group and evaluating potential sources to fund its 

operating and capital expenditures. All Group entity operations are controlled through annual and monthly budget 

reviews to mitigate liquidity risk. It is the goal of management to ensure adequate funding is available through an 

appropriate mix of debt and equity instruments.. In 2010 the Group arranged a convertible debt financing facility (Note 

22) of 50.0 million USD (2009 — 60.0 million USD) to complete construction of its gas processing facility and cover 

other development and exploration costs. 

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 

payments. 

 

On 

demand 

Less than 

3 months 

3 to 

12 months 

1 to 

5 years >5 years Total 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

As at 30 June 2011       

Trade and other payables — 6,215 — — — 6,215 

Borrowings — 1,925 5,775 123,200 — 130,900 

As at 31 December 2010       

Trade and other payables — 8,351 — — — 8,351 

Borrowings — 1,925 5,775 126,956 — 134,656 

As at 31 December 2009       

Trade and other payables  3,421 — — — 3,421 

Borrowings  113 351 8,531 3,496 12,491 

As at 31 December 2008       

Trade and other payables — 2,336 — — — 2,336 

Borrowings — — — 2,290 — 2,290 
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Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities 

Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Group’s financial 

instruments that are carried in the financial statements. Fair value has been determined as at the balance sheet date 

by discounting the estimated future cash flows at prevailing interest rates. 

Book Value at 

 

As at 31 

December 

As at 31 

December 

As at 31 

December 

As at 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Cash and cash equivalents 85,470 18,361 18,147 6,313 

Trade and other receivables  287 205 299 800 

Trade and other payables (2,336) (3,421) (8,351) (6,215) 

Borrowings (2,168) (7,588) (98,034) (99,271) 

 

 

Fair Market Value at 

 

As at 31 

December 

As at 31 

December 

As at 31 

December 

As at 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Cash and cash equivalents 85,470 18,361 18,147 6,313 

Trade and other receivables  287 205 299 800 

Trade and other payables (2,336) (3,421) (8,351) (6,215) 

Borrowings (1,994) (7,588) (98,034) (99,271) 

Capital management 

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order to 

support its business and maximize shareholder value. The Group has no externally imposed capital requirements. The 

Group’s aim is to finance its operations through equity and debt financing. 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in 

order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 

structure to reduce the cost of capital. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend 

payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. No changes 

were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the periods ended 30 June 2011, 31 December 2010, 2009 

and 2008. 

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is non-current borrowings divided by capital. The Group’s 

strategy is to reduce its gearing when the opportunity arises. Capital comprises equity attributable to the equity holders 

of the parent. 

 

As at 31 

December 

As at 31 

December 

As at 31 

December 

As at 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Borrowings 2,168 7,588 98,034 99,271 

Capital  195,052 225,662 208,646 226,508 

Gearing ratio 1% 3% 47% 44% 
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28. Related party transactions 

Transactions with related parties 

 

Charges 

to 

related 

parties 

Purchases 

from 

related 

parties 

Amounts 

owed by 

related 

parties 

Amounts 

owed to 

related 

parties 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Entities with key management personnel of the Group     

     For the period ending 30 June 2011 — 3,910 759 139 

     For the year ending 31 December 2010  226 11,358 127 665 

     For the year ending 31 December 2009  92 375 172 236 

     For the year ending 31 December 2008  84 102 91 118 

Transactions primarily relate to the provision of goods and services from companies whose boards have common 

directors with the Company’s Board. 

Sales and purchases between related parties are made on an arm’s length basis and are subject to a written contract 

on commercial terms. Outstanding balances with entities are unsecured, interest free and cash settlement is expected 

within thirty days of invoice. The Group has not provided or benefited from any guarantees for any related party 

receivables or payables. During the period ended 30 June 2011, the Group has not made any provision for doubtful 

debts relating to amounts owed by related parties (2010 — nil, 2009 — nil, 2008 — nil). 

Key management compensation 

Key management is considered to comprise all senior executives and Directors including the CEO, COO, Vice 

President of Exploration and Development, Vice President of Operations, Executive Vice President and the Finance 

Director. 

 

As at 31 

December 

As at 31 

December 

As at 31 

December 

6 months 

ended 30 

June 

 2008 2009 2010 2011 

 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 USD ’000 

Salaries and other short-term 

employee benefits 1,659 2,052 2,523 1,137 

Share-based payments 434 832 1,172 947 

 2,093 2,884 3,695 2,084 

The share-based payments represent the IFRS 2 charge for the period. 

29. Capital commitments 

The Group has commitments pursuant to its sub-soil licence agreements to continue to explore and develop the 

licence area. Management estimates that at 30 June 2011 no such non-accrued licence commitments exist (2010 — 

nil, 6 months ended 30 June 2010 — 2.3 million USD, 2009 — 2.8 million USD, 2008 — 5.1 million USD). 

Prior to 30 June 2011 the Group entered into contracts relating to work on the new gas processing plant, drilling, work-

over and seismic services as part of the normal business activity. Pursuant to these contracts, there were outstanding 

work commitments still to be delivered of 24.7 million USD (2010 — 8.4 million USD, 6 months ended 30 June — 18.6 

million USD, 2009 — 14.8 million USD, 2008 — 20.9 million USD). 
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30. Contingencies 

Russian business operating environment 

During the period ended 30 June 2011, all of the Group’s business in Russia was conducted through its investment in 

subsidiaries operating in the oil and gas industry. These operations and those of similar companies in Russia are 

subject to the economic, political and regulatory uncertainties prevailing in Russia. 

The Russian economy, while deemed to be of market status since 2002, continues to display certain traits consistent 

with that of a market in transition. These characteristics have in the past included higher than normal historic inflation, 

lack of liquidity in the capital markets, and the existence of currency controls, which cause the national currency to be 

illiquid outside Russia. Whilst there have been improvements in the Russian economic situation, such as an increase in 

gross domestic product, Russia continues to develop economic reforms and improve its legal, tax and regulatory 

frameworks to bring it more in line with a stable market economy. The future stability of the Russian economy is largely 

dependent upon these reforms and developments and the effectiveness of economic, financial and monetary 

measures undertaken by the government. 

Taxation 

Russian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations, and changes, which can occur 

frequently. Management’s interpretation of such legislation as applied to the transactions and activity of the Group may 

be challenged by the relevant regional and federal authorities. Recent events within the Russian Federation suggest 

that the tax authorities are taking a more assertive position in their interpretation of the legislation and assessments 

and as a result, it is possible that transactions and activities that have not been challenged in the past may be 

challenged. As such, significant additional taxes, penalties and interest may be imposed. It is not practical to determine 

the number of unasserted claims that may manifest, if any, or the likelihood of any unfavourable outcome. Fiscal 

periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect of taxes for three calendar years preceding the year of 

review. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods. 

Management believes that the Group has complied with all regulations, and paid and accrued all taxes that are 

applicable. However, it is possible that the relevant local or national governmental authorities may attempt to revise 

their previous approach to such transactions and impose income and other taxes and duties on the Group. 

Restoration, rehabilitation, and environmental costs 

The Group operates in the upstream oil and gas industry in the Russian Federation and its activities may have an 

impact on the environment. The enforcement of environmental regulations in the Russian Federation is evolving and 

the enforcement posture of government authorities is continually being reconsidered. The Group periodically evaluates 

its obligations related thereto. The quantum of environmental liabilities under proposed or future legislation, or as a 

result of stricter interpretation and enforcement of existing legislation, cannot reasonably be estimated at present, but 

could be material. Under the current levels of enforcement of existing legislation, management believes there are no 

significant liabilities in addition to amounts which are already accrued and which would have a material adverse effect 

on the financial position of the Group. 

Sub-soil licenses 

The Group is subject to periodic reviews of its activities by Russian governmental authorities with respect to the 

requirements of its sub-soil licences. Management of the Group corresponds with governmental authorities to agree on 

remedial actions, if necessary, to resolve any findings resulting from these reviews. Failure to comply with the terms of 

a licence could result in fines, penalties, licence limitation, suspension or revocation. The Group’s management 

believes any issues of non-compliance will be resolved through negotiations or corrective actions without any 

materially adverse effect on the financial position or the operating results of the Group. Management believes that in 

practice the relevant authorities rarely suspend or restrict licences, especially at the exploration stage, and tend to 

terminate licences only in the event of continuous non-compliance and the failure of the licence holder to remedy 

breaches. The Group is attempting to comply with its licence requirements and has not received any official warnings 

or notifications about continuous non-compliance or any risk of suspension, restriction or termination. 
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31. Post balance sheet events 

There were no significant post balance sheet events. 

32. Foreign exchange rates 

The exchange rate at the period end was 28.0758 RUB to 1 USD (2010 — 30.4769 RUB, 6 months ended 30 June 

2010 — 30.1954, 2009 — 30.3135, 2008 — 29.380) and the average exchange rate for the period was 28.6242 RUB 

to 1 USD (2010 — 30.3692, 6 months ended 30 June 2010 — 30.0676, 2009 — 31.7409, 2008 — 24.8575). For UK 

operations, the exchange rate at the period end was 0.6250 £ to 1 USD (2010 — 0.6464, 6 months ended 30 June 

2010 — 0.6925, 2009 — 0.6193, 2008 — 0.6910) and the average exchange rate for the period was 0.6214 £ per 

1 USD (2010 — 0.6329, 6 months ended 30 June 2010 — 0.6537, 2009 — 0.6408, 2008 — 0.5320). 
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(B): ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

RELATING TO THE GROUP 

The Directors 

Vostok Energy Plc 

4/5 Park Place 

London SW1A 1LP 

[  ●  ] 2011 

Dear Sirs, 

[  ●  ] 

Vostok Energy plc (the “Company”) 

We report on the financial information for the years ended 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008 set out in Part X, 

Section A of this Prospectus (the “Historical Financial Information”). The Historical Financial Information has been 

prepared for inclusion in the Prospectus dated [  ●  ] 2010 on the basis of the accounting policies set out in note 2 to 

the Historical Financial Information. This report is required by item 20.1 of Annex I of the Prospectus Directive 

Regulation and is given for the purpose of complying with that item and for no other purpose. 

Save for any responsibility arising under Prospectus Rule 5.5.3R(2)(f) to any person as and to the extent there 

provided, and to the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not assume any responsibility and will not accept any liability 

to any other person for any loss suffered by any such other person as a result of, arising out of, or in connection with 

this report or our statement, required by and given solely for the purposes of complying with item 23.1 of Annex I to the 

Prospectus Directive Regulation, consenting to its inclusion in the Prospectus. 

Responsibilities 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for preparing the Historical Financial Information on the basis of 

preparation set out in note [  ●  ] to the Historical Financial Information and in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. 

It is our responsibility to form an opinion as to whether the Historical Financial Information gives a true and fair view, for 

the purposes of the Prospectus, and to report our opinion to you. 

Basis of opinion 

We conducted our work in accordance with the Statements of Investment Reporting issued by the Auditing Practices 

Board of the United Kingdom. Our work included an assessment of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures 

in the Historical Financial Information. It also included an assessment of significant estimates and judgments made by 

those responsible for the preparation of the Historical Financial Information and whether the accounting policies are 

appropriate to the entity’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered 

necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Historical Financial 

Information is free from material misstatement whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. 

Our work has not been carried out in accordance with auditing or other standards and practices generally accepted in 

other jurisdictions and, accordingly, should not be relied upon as if it has been carried out in accordance with those 

standards and practices. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the Historical Financial Information gives, for the purposes of the Prospectus, a true and fair view of the 

state of affairs of the Group as at the dates stated and of its losses, cash flows and changes in equity for the periods 

then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. 
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Declaration 

For the purposes of Prospectus Rule 5.5.3R(2)(f), we are responsible for this report as part of the Prospectus and 

declare that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the information contained in this report is, to the best of 

our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no omissions likely to affect its import. This declaration is 

included in the Prospectus in compliance with item 1.2 of Annex I and item 1.2 of Annex III of the Prospectus Directive 

Regulation. 

Yours faithfully 

Ernst & Young LLP 
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